
Copyright is owned by the Author of the thesis.  Permission is given for 
a copy to be downloaded by an individual for the purpose of research and 
private study only.  The thesis may not be reproduced elsewhere without 
the permission of the Author. 
 



AN INVESTIGATION INTO THE PERFORMANCE REPORTING 
PRACTICES AND ACCOUNTABILITY OF MALAYSIAN LOCAL 

AUTHORITIES 

A Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfilment of the Requ irements for the Degree of 

Doctor of Philosophy 

in 

Accountancy 

at Massey University, (Wellington), New Zealand 

Norida Basnan 

2010  



ABSTRACT 

Within the context of New Publ ic Management (NPM), the research aim s  to investigate 
the practices of annual report ing of performance-related information and accountabi l ity 
o f  Malaysian local authorities and whether such practices meet the local authorities' 
stakeh olders' expectations of information necessary for assessing and monitoring the 
performance of local authorities. The aim is to make recommendations about the future 
d irection of externa l  performance reporting o f  Malaysian local authorities. To achieve 
this  and associated a ims, the research addresses the fol lowing research questions: (I) 
What do stakeholders of  Malaysian local authorities understand by the term 
'accou ntabil ity' with regards to local authorities? (2) What type of i n formation do the 
stakeholders expect and consider necessary for assessing and monitoring the 
performance of local authorities? (3) How important is it for each informational item to 
be d i sc losed in annual reports of local authorities to the stakeholders? (4) What type of 
i n formation items do expert stakeholders agree is necessary for assessing and 
monitoring the performance of local authorities and what is the importance of such 
i te m s  for disclosure? (5 ) How can the information and its importance for disclosure, as 
agreed by the experts, be organised as a disc losure index for assessing the extent and 
qual i ty of information d i sc losure? (6) What is the extent and qual i ty of disclosure of 
i n formation with in the annual reports of Malaysian local authorit ies? (7) Does the 
i n formation being d isclosed in the annual reports meet the expectations of  stakeholders? 
(8) To what extent is accountabi l ity being d ischarged through annual performance 
reporting of local authorities? 

The research employs a q uestionnaire survey, a Delphi exercise (a means of seeking 
consensus of expert opinions), and a content analysis of annual reports. Both descriptive 
and analytical approaches are employed to support the analysis  of the results. The 
find ings of the research indicate that despite a strong interest amongst stakeholders for 
greater accountabi l ity of Malaysian local authorities, a standard definit ion and scope of 
accountabi l ity has not emerged. The need to give an account has been recognised by the 
stakeholders with an emphasis on performance reporting within the context of NPM. 
The findings also show that the extent and qual ity of annual reports of Malaysian local 
authorities is relat ively low in that the information disclosed lacks detailed information 
and is insufficient for the assessment and monitoring of the performance of such 
a uthorities. Further, the findings suggest the d ischarge of accountabi l ity by local 
a uthorities through external annual performance reporting should and could be 
i mproved. 

T he findings contribute to our understanding of accountabil ity as interpreted by key 
stakeholders of local authorities located within the context of a developing country. In  
a ddition, the findings contribute to the body of l iterature that documents aspects of  
NPM, namely performance reporting, accountabi l i ty for performance and public 
accountabi l ity. With regards to Malaysia specifically, the findings could potentially 
assist public sector adm inistrators and will be of  significance to pol icy makers interested 
i n  improving the performance management o f  Malaysian pub l ic entities, particularly 
t hat of local authorities. 
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1 . 1  INTRODUCTION 

CHAPTE R  1 

INTRODUCTION 

Publ ic  sectors around the world are frequently criticised for inefficiency, poor 

performance and issues relating to accountabi l ity. These days, governments are under 

i ncreasing pressure to be "more productive and effective - to achieve not only the 

greatest degree of economy and efficiency possib le but also to secure desired outcomes 

in respect to economic and social development" (Aucoin & Heintzman, 2000, p.45). 

This pressure is caused by greater demands for demonstrated performance with respect 

to results. ln Malaysia, it has been made clear that the public is interested not only in 

accountabil ity for financial management of the publ ic sector but also i n  accountability 

for its operational performance. The Malaysian publ ic is demanding more answerability 

from public sector organisations, as seen in the number of complaints made by the 

pub l ic through the Publ ic Complaints Bureau (Siddiquee, 2006) and i ncreas ingly critical 

reports produced by local media (for example, Berita Harian, 2008 ;Utusan Malaysia, 

2008 ;  The Sun, 2006). 

ln response to these concerns, governments of both developed and developing countries, 

inc luding Malaysia, have undertaken administrative reform and reorganisation. 

A lthough aspects of the reform agenda have varied among individual countries, it is 

widely acknowledged that the broad thrust of public management reforms is framed 

with i n  New Public Management (NPM) (see for example Guthrie, Olson & Humphrey, 

1 99 9 ;  Lapsley, 1 999). NPM has a clear focus on efforts or in itiatives designed to 

ach ieve accountabi l ity through results (Guthrie et al . ,  1 999; Hood, 1 995;  Parker & 
Gould,  1 999). The emphasis of NPM on resu lts and performance has led to changes in 

management of, and reporting on, outputs and outcomes which, it is argued, wi l l  lead to 

more efficient and effective publ ic administration (Aucoin & Heintzman, 2000). The 

accountabil ity aspect of  NPM is based on cal ls for greater accountabi l ity, that is, for 

pub l ic sector managers to be held accountable for performance and for improved public 

accountabi l ity. Such accountabi l ity is discharged through the report ing of  performance 

i n formation to a broad group of stakeholders. 



Within the context of one specific part of the Malaysian publ ic sector ( local authorities), 

this research investigates the understanding of local authority stakeholders of the 

concept of accountabi l ity with regards to local authorities, the scope, nature and 

importance of disclosure of information expected by the stakeholders and the d ischarge 

of accountabi l ity through annual performance report ing. This is achieved by exploring 

the perceptions of stakeholders of Malaysian local authorities, examining the reporting 

of information necessary for assessing and monitoring the performance of local 

authorities and identifying whether the disclosure expectations that stakeholders have 

for the discharge of accountabi l ity obl igations are be ing met. 

M uch of the reported international research has focused on accountabi l ity w ithin the 

context of developed countries where stakeholders, it has been argued, are more 

sophisticated and have greater capacity (and opportunity) to exercise their  rights for 

information compared to stakeholders of public sector entities located in less developed 

countries (Coombs & Tayib, 2000). 

The current research provides empirical evidence on how NPM, and spec ifically 

performance accountabil ity, is operational ised with in Malaysian local authorities and 

m akes an important contribution to the knowledge of NPM in re lation to the 

performance accountabil ity aspect of a specific publ ic sector group - local authorities or 

local government in a develop ing country. Research on the Malaysian environment 

provides one response to a call [by Pol l itt (2006)]  for more empirical research to be 

undertaken with in the broad realm of public sector accountabil ity and in the context of 

developing countries. 

ln addit ion to its developing nation status, Malaysia also practices a nominative 

representative governance system where the mayor/pres ident and counci l lors of the 

local authority are appointed by the state government unl ike most developed western 

countries which practice a democratically elected local authority system .  Thi s  research, 

looking from a Malaysian perspective, seeks to offer new knowledge and development 

of the concept of accountabi l ity in  the international publ ic sector accounting context. 
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This i ntroductory chapter explains the background to the research. It includes a general 

overview of publ ic sector reforms internationally with particu lar reference to NPM.  This 

is  fol lowed by a discussion on Malaysian NPM-type reforms and the reforms 

undertaken by Malaysian local authorities in particu lar, to provide the research context. 

Fol lowing these d iscussions, the motivation for carrying out the research on 

performance reporting and accountab i l ity is explained. This is fol lowed by the aims, 

objectives and scope of the research, as wel l  as the thesis  outl ine. Th is  chapter 

concludes with a section which h igh l ights the publ ications of part of the research 

find ings. The overall structure of the research is shown in F igure 1 . 1  in which the 

I ntroduction Chapter is highl ighted. 
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Figure 1 . 1 :  Thesis Structure: the Position of Chapter One 
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1.2 NPM GENERALLY AND INTERNATIONALLY 

Over the last two decades, management of the public sector has undergone substantial 

reform in both developed and developing countries. The old administrative system, 

wh ich included a pol icy-administration dichotomy, rule-based administration, and 

d i v i sion of labour and h ierarchy (Peters, 1 996), has come under severe criticism for 

being inefficient, costly, rigid, corrupt and unaccountable (Hughes, 1 992). Attempts to 

address the weaknesses of the old system, via a number of internal and external reforms, 

have resulted in the development of a modern public sector administrative system. The 

external reforms, focused on strengthening government democracy and administration 

and internal reforms, worked towards e nhancing organisational efficiency and 

e ffectiveness (Leemans, 1 976). 

The development of public sector reforms international ly covered three phases: the first 

d uring the 1 960s and 1 970s; the second from the mid 1 970s to the late 1 980s, and the 

th ird beginning in the late 1 980s (Wollmann, 2003). The first phase, the planning 

period, involved pol itical and administrative modernisation through reorganisation of 

governmental and ministerial structures, decentral isation of pol it ical and administrative 

functions and territorial reforms. The second phase aimed to achieve institutional 

c hanges, which were carried out via deregulation and the privatisation of public assets. 

Publ ic sector reforms in the third phase have been related to N PM-type reforms 

( Wol lmann, 2003), where NPM has been acclaimed as a paradigm shift  in public 

administration (Hague, 2007). NPM was driven by a combination of economic, social 

and pol itical factors such as a fiscal crisis of government, poor performance, 

authoritative bureaucracy, lack of accountabi l ity, corruption and changes in people' s  

expectations (Common, 1 998;  Minogue, 1 998) .  

N PM suggests an implementation of various reform in itiatives with an assumption that 

private sector management techniques and market mechanisms w i l l  improve public 

sector efficiency and effectiveness. NPM thus stresses the need for private sector 

approaches to be adopted in public sector organisations and sees the role of the publ ic 

sector officials as accountable managers who are empowered with a particular 

responsib i l ity (Hood, 1 99 5 ;  Parker & Gould, 1 999). 
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As a modern development of  the publ ic management tradition, NPM's g lobal impact is 

s ign ificant. Due to its rapid d issemination, N P M  has been regarded as a g lobal paradigm 

for publ ic management (Turner, 2002). Whi le there i s  no globally cohesive model of 

N P M  (Common, 1 999; Hood, 1 99 1 ;  Wol lmann, 2003), common elements of NPM can 

be identified. They include decentralisation of management, conversion of  government 

departments into enterprises, an increased use of markets and competition in the 

provision of publ ic services and performance-based accountabil ity (Aucoin, 1 990; 

H ood, 1 99 1 ;  Samaratunge, A lam & Teicher, 2008). Under NPM, publ ic managers are 

g iven greater flexibil ity and freedom in thei r  management of publ ic resources but they 

m ust also provide greater m anagerial performance accountabil ity (Batley, 1 999; Hood, 

1 99 1 ,  1 995). The emphasis on greater accountabi l i ty means publ ic managers are 

accountable beyond fiscal compl iance. This i ncludes performance accountabi l ity to a 

broad group of stakeholders (Gray & Jenkins, 1 993; Hood, 1 995 ; Parker & Guthrie, 

1 993)  including accountab i l i ty to the publ ic in general (Behn, 1 998; Haque, 2007) as 

pub l ic accountabil ity is v ital in improving publ ic sector performance (Haque, 2000). 

Publ ic managers are required to provide satis factory explanations for their actions in 

ensuring efficiency in the use of resources and qual ity of services. They are also 

answerable to the publ ic for their actions and inactions for which they are subject to 

both external and internal sanctions (Haque, 1 994; Romzek, 2000). 

I n  developing countries, N PM-type reforms typically became an integral part of the 

publ ic sector reform during the 1 990s (ADB, 2004; Samaratunge & Bennington, 2002). 

The common themes underpinn ing NPM reforms in these countries, and especially in 

East Asia, have been a greater emphasis on accountabil ity, an increased concern for 

performance, and implementation of private sector practices in the public service 

(Turner, 2002). The reforms have been undertaken to support national, social and 

economic development agendas such as to faci l itate private sector involvement in the 

economy, to attract foreign d i rect investment (Samaratunge et al . ,  2008), and to promote 

e fficiency and effectiveness of administration (Leemans, 1 976). This research focuses 

on NPM in Malaysia and particularly Malaysian local authorities. 

Malaysia has been categorised as an "enthusiastic diner" of NPM, due to i ts "selective 

borrowing and modification of foreign NPM models while simu ltaneously pursuing 

domest ic innovations" (Turner, 2002, pp. l 497, 1 505). However, there sti 1 1  exists 

trad itional top-down bureaucratic structures and behaviours (Haque, 2003, 2007). 
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Accord ing to Haque (2003, 2007) the reform initiatives were constrained by the 

country 's  un ique political system and a culture dominated by ethnic identity 1 • Given 

these pol itical and social constra ints, it is interesting to know the extent to which the cal l  

for greater and improved accountabi l i ty (both performance and publ ic accountabi l ity), 

as inspired by N PM has been operationalised in the Malaysian publ ic sector. Therefore 

an empirical research with in the Malaysian context provides a significant contr ibution to 

the international l iterature. The fact that the NPM-type reforms that have been 

implemented have differed from these of other countries due to the different pol itical, 

economic and social contexts (Samaratunge et al., 2008), means that the contribution of 

a Malaysia-based study, that adds a developing country ' s  v iewpoint to the existing 

l iterature, is undoubtedly valuable. 

1.3 NPM IN MALAYSIA AND MALA YSIAN LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

I n  Malays ia, the NPM-type reform s  have been implemented to achieve the country's 

broad nat ional goals wh ich include the achievement of  macroeconomic stabi l ity and 

industrial development (Samaratunge et al., 2008) by i nducing a more efficient and 

market-driven administration (Siddiquee, 2006; Swee & Kevasapany, 2006). 

Some of the earl iest publ ic sector reform initiatives in Malaysia can be traced back to 

the 1 960s. The reform initiatives during this phase aimed to stabi l ise the newly formed 

nation, main tain ing the traditional public management functions in order to help 

transform the Malaysian civi l services into a modern and dynamic admin istration 

(Yusoff, 1 994). ln the 1 970s, the reforms focused on the development of admin istration 

and the creation of public sector enterprises and statutory bodies. The 1 980s and 1 990s 

saw the implementation of many publ ic sector reform in itiatives identified as being 

N PM-type reforms. Common ( 1 999) outl ined factors which have driven the NPM 

reforms in Malaysia, and especial ly the reforms undertaken during the 1 990s. These 

include economic development, global isation, pol itics and the role of international 

organisations. The pol itical factor has been recognised as the most influential driver of 

publ ic sector reforms in Malaysia (Kaul, 1 996). The government motivation to 

undertake the reforms, which aimed to improve its administrative processes, was to 

ensure cont inuous pol itical support from the constituents in order to stay m power 

Details about Malaysia's pol itical and social structure are discussed in Chapter Two. 
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(Common, 1 999). It is also c laimed that i nternational organisations such as the World 

Bank, the Asian Development Bank and International Monetary Fund ( IMF) put 

pressure on Malaysia to undertake publ ic sector reforms, especial ly in  the late 1 980s 

(Gomez & Jomo, 1 997). Malaysia's h igh economic growth from 1 987 unti l  the Asian 

financial crisis in 1 997 also put pressure on the government to carry out various 

reforms. The reforms aimed at improving c iv i l  service capacity and introducing publ ic

private sector relationships in order to sustain the outstanding economic development. I n  

response to the impact o f  global isation, the government implemented reform strategies 

aimed at creat ing a national competitive advantage through i ncreased economic growth 

and investment and enhanced ski l ls  of publ ic personnel (Common, 1 999). For example, 

in the 1 990s, the government' s  concerns with global impacts were reflected by reform 

strategies out l ined in national economic plans such as the Sixth Malaysian Plan 1 99 1 -

1 995 (Awang, 1 995).  

N PM-type reforms in Malaysia have been implemented across al l  levels of public sector 

administration, from federal to state government departments and agencies including 

local authorities. 

The NPM reform in itiatives carried out in the local authorities and in a l l  public sector 

organisations during the 1 980s and 1 990s can be classified into two types - manageria l  

and financial . Restructuring the public management system was the focus of the reforms 

carried out in the 1 980s which aimed to strengthen the professional competency of the 

civi l  service and to develop administrative leadership (ADB, 2004). In order to 

encourage co-operation between the publ ic and private sectors with aims to improve the 

national economy, the ' Malaysia I ncorporated' policy was introduced in 1 983 (PMD, 

200 1 ;  Yusoff, 1 994). A long with th is  pol icy, the government adopted the Privatisation 

Master-Plan, which focused on vital sectors such as telecommunication, e lectric ity and 

transportations and aimed to reduce spending and the state' s  fiscal burden and to 

strengthen market forces (Haque, 2007).  Several serv ices of local authorities such as 

sol id waste disposal, sewerage service and water suppl ies were privatised 

(S ingaravel loo, Md .Sid in, Sambasivan & Mohd Noor, 2006). 

Fol lowing these in it iatives, Total Qual i ty Management (TQM) and Quality Control 

C i rc les (QCCs) were introduced in local authorities and al l  publ ic sector organisations 

a imed at generating a work culture that encouraged innovation, productiv ity and 
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participatory management (Samaratunge et. al., 2008). Further, a C lients' Charter was 

implemented. This  is  a written commitment of government agencies, including local 

authorities, to the del ivery of services to their respective customers. It also acts as a 

strong pledge to provide qual ity services that meet customers' needs. 

In terms of financial reform initiatives, local authorities have been required to use an 

accrual accounting system since the introduction of the Local Government Act 1 976. 

However, a fund (vote) accounting system is sti l l  being practised alongside accrual 

accounting (Othman, 200 I )  as the budgeting system in local authorities sti l l  remains (to 

date) based on a modified cash basis, the Modified Budgeting System (MBS). 

The MBS has been introduced to rep lace the Programme Performance Budgeting 

System (which involved cash-based budgeting). The MBS has been fully implemented 

in local authorities and al l publ ic sector organisations since 1 995 .  MBS emphasises 

decentralised management by matching authority and accountabi l ity. Under MBS, local 

authorities are required to provide a programme agreement with the Treasury in the 

annual budget paper, specifying the inputs and expected outputs and impacts of a 

particular programme or service. This is to develop a more accountable system of  

management i n  both legal compliance and service or  programme performance (Xavier, 

2000). MBS is supported by the M icro Accounting System that provides cost 

information for the output of each programme or activity carried out by publ ic sector 

organisations. To ensure continuous improvement in publ ic sector reforms, 

benchmarking was i ntroduced in 1 999 (PMD, 1 999) to help encourage public agencies 

to consistently engage in the reform programmes, inculcate l earning from others, 

improve expertise and encourage co-operat ion (Mohamad, 2004) .  

Furthermore, in order to improve accountabi l ity of c iv i l  servants in their financial 

management responsibi l ities, an i nternal auditing system was introduced in public sector 

organisations. To date, local authorities are not compulsorily required by the Treasury 

C i rcular No. 2/2004 to have an internal audit unit. However, it was reported that th i rty

o ne (2 1 percent o f  the total local authorities in Malaysia) voluntari ly had an internal 

audit unit (Report o f  I nternal Audit Seminar, 2007). 

I n  the 2000s, the greater emphasis on performance has been more apparent in public 

sector organisations  including local authorities. The implementation of  Key 
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Performance Indicators (KPI) in the middle of 2005 has required al l federal government 

agencies to establ ish KPI  and to report these to higher authorities. However, the 

imp lementation of KPI in local authorities that are placed under state government 

ju ri sdiction is dependent on the acceptance of the respective state governments (Public 

Administration Development C ircular No.2/2005) and to date, the external reporting of 

K P I  is  not yet mandatory. 

Overal l ,  NPM reforms in the Malaysian publ ic sector, including local authorities, have 

e mphasised decentralisation, a greater role for accounting, the adoption of  specific 

private management techniques and results/performance-based accountabi l ity. With the 

implementation of various N PM-type reforms, local authorities are expected to provide 

more efficient and effect ive delivery of services and be more accountable for their 

performance and to their stakeholders, includ ing the public. However, there have been, 

and sti l l  are, increased demands for local authorities to have even greater transparency 

and accountabil ity for their management (Buang, 2006; Berita Harian, 2005 ; Berita 

Harian, 2008; Phang, 2008 ;  The Star, 2005 ;  The Sun, 2005 ; Utusan Malaysia, 2008).  

According to Phang (2008, p .3), the Malaysian public are expecting more efficient and 

e ffective de l ivery of services by local authorities but there is a gap in "the demand and 

supply both in service delivery and in judgements" of local authorities. I t  has also been 

reported that higher authorities, such as state governments, are beginn ing to express 

d issatisfaction with the performance of local authorities and are seeking greater 

accountabi l i ty from them for more efficient and effective service performance 

(Abdul lah, 2006; The New Straits Times, 2003 ; S inar Harian, 2008). The publ ic demand 

for better service performance, and the increasing public criticism and decl in ing public 

trust in government agencies highlights the need for greater publ ic and performance 

accountabi l ity. These needs are examined in this current research.  

1 .4 MOTIVATIONS TO RESEARCH 

It has been claimed that N PM reforms that call for improved accountabi l ity in both 

performance and public accountabil ity can actual ly inhibit the aims that they promote. I t  

has been c laimed that the reforms have emphasised procedural and economic criteria, 

such as efficiency and productivity, over publ ic concerns such as equal ity and 

representation (Haque, 2000; Parker & Gould, 1 999). Another publ ic accountabil ity 
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challenge h ighlighted by H aque (2000, 2007) is related to the parties to whom a public 

manager is  supposed to be accountable. NPM reforms have tended to reduce some 

social rights, in that publ ic managers are accountable to customers and ignore other 

members o f  the public such as low-income citizens. It has a lso been pointed out that the 

introduction of publ ic-private partnerships or outsourc ing as prescribed by NPM also 

creates a challenge to publ ic accountabi l ity because it is not clear who is accountable for 

what ( Haque, 2007). In the case of Malaysia, the question has been raised as to whether 

public accountabil ity has been compromised as a result of the introduction and 

expansion of public-private partnerships (Sarji ,  1 996).  Aucoin (2000) impl ied that 

publ ic accountabil ity that emphasises probity, fai rness and impartial ity should not be 

compromised for improved performance as the result of the implementation of NPM

type reforms. The drive for performance criteria - effic iency and effect iveness - cannot 

be detached from the broader publ ic's accountabi l ity concerns (Parker & Guthrie, 

1 993).  These indicate that the discharge of public accountabil ity under N P M  needs to be 

balanced w ith an emphasis on accountabi l ity for performance. In this respect, Haque 

(2000, p.6 1 1 )  suggests that "greater transparency and public access to relevant 

information" need to be given greater attention. Greater transparency has been 

recogn ised as a key e lement in enhancing public accountability (Ezzamel, Hyndman, 

Johnsen & Lapsley, 2007; Koppel, 2005). It is argued that greater transparency and 

publ ic accessibil ity to information that wi l l  consequently improve the d ischarge of 

publ ic accountabil ity can be manifested through reporting, particularly the external 

performance reporting that provides performance information to a w ider group of 

stakeholders. The publ ic and other stakeholders can make an informed j udgement on the 

performance of publ ic organ isations if  they are provided with relevant performance 

information such as information on the qual ity, quantity and cost of services provided 

and act iv it ies undertaken. The provision of such i nformation is an important aspect of 

accountabi l ity (Coy, Fischer & Gordon, 200 I; Rutherford, 2000). 

I n  addition to improved publ ic accountabil ity, performance reporting a l lows an ent ity to 

demonstrate its internal and external achievements (Barrett, 1 997; Lee, 2008; OECD, 

2004). It has become the preferred method to achieving greater efficiency and 

effectiveness (Pal lot, 1 99 1  ). The importance and advantages of performance report ing in 

promoting greater managerial performance accountab i l ity as prescribed by NPM has 

been widely recognised in the l iterature (for example, Christensen & Yoshimi, 2003; 

OECD, 1 995;  Pol l itt & Bouckaert, 2000). Comp lete and accurate information on an 
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organisation ' s  operations and performance, such as through performance reporting, may 

also allow the monitoring of the behaviour of publ ic officials (Schacter, 2000) and 

overall organisational performance (World Bank, 1 999). I t  i s  therefore argued in the 

current research that performance reporting through the medium of annual reports may 

discharge greater accountabi l ity in terms of both performance and publ ic accountabil ity. 

Within the theoretical framework of accountabi l ity and the context of NPM, 

performance and public accountabi l ity are the focus of th is  research.  Perfo rmance 

reporting, through the medium of annual reports and as a technique to promote the 

performance accountabil ity aspect of NPM, is examined through a case study of 

Malaysian local authorities. Given the fact that the Malaysian publ ic sector, inc luding its 

local authorit ies, has undergone significant NPM-type transformation, the expectations 

of NPM which call for greater accountabi l ity should be met. Therefore, Malaysian local 

authorities provide a relevant and appropriate research context to empirically examine 

NPM-type accountabil ity. In addition, to date, knowledge of how NPM expectations of 

the discharge of accountabi l ity have come to be operational ised in Malaysian local 

authorities is sti l l lim ited.2 For example, Saidin, Tayib, Engku Ali  and Samsud in  (2006) 

and Tayib, Coombs and Am in ( 1 999) focused only on the financial reporting of local 

authorities and the information expectations of the local authorities' tax payers . Nei lson 

and Mucciarone (2007) l imited their study to examining the reporting of performance 

indicators. The current research focuses not only on financial informat ion but also non

financial performance informat ion and it has also taken into consideration the 

informational and disclosure expectations of a broad group of stakeholders of local 

authorities. Another study, by Singaravel loo et al . (2006), a lthough recognis ing the 

importance of performance measurement in local authorities, did not examine the 

external reporting of performance. To date, there is no study that examines the 

accountabi l ity of and the discharge of accountabi l ity through external performance 

reporting by Malaysian local authorit ies. In terms of measuring the level of d isclosure, 

Coombs and Tayib (2000) deve loped an index based on C IPF A Code of Practice on 

Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom and appl ied the index to annual 

reports of Malaysian local authorities. The current research, on the other hand, employs 

a broader perspective in developing the disclosure index. The informat ion and 

disclosure expectations of a broad group of stakeholders and also of expert stakeholders 

are considered. 

2 The related Malaysian studies are reviewed in Chapter Five, Section 5 .6 .  
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The current research responds to the call  by Steccolini (2004) to address issues of how 

an annual report can be used as a vehicle to discharge organisational accountabi l ity and 

the identification by previous researchers of the need for research to improve the qual ity 

o f  performance reporting as an accountabi l ity mechanism (Car! in & Guthrie, 200 I ;  

Guthrie & Parker, 1 998; Lee, 2008; Pol l itt & Bouckaert, 2000). However, the l iterature 

to date has found that the type of performance information required often varies from 

one context to another (Lee, 2008). The current research addresses this i ssue by 

identifYing the re levant information for assessing and monitoring the performance of 

local authorities and the importance of such information for disclosure from a 

stakeholder perspective. 

Therefore, th is  current research addresses the fol lowing research questions: 

Research Question 1 
What do stakeholders of Malaysian local authorities understand by the term 

'accountabi l ity'  with regards to local authorities? 

Research Question 2 
What type o f  information do the stakeholders expect and consider necessary for 

assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities? 

Research Question 3 
How important is it for each informational item to be disclosed in annual reports of 

local authorities to the stakeholders? 

Research Question 4 
What type of  information items do expert stakeholders agree is necessary for 

assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities and what is the 

importance of such items for disclosure? 

Research Question 5 
How can the information and its importance for disclosure, as agreed by the experts, 

be organised as a disc losure index for assess ing the extent and qual ity of information 

disclosure? 

Research Question 6 
What is the extent and qual ity of disclosure of information within the annual reports 

of Malaysian local authorities? 
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Research Question 7 
Does the information being disclosed in the annual reports meet the expectations of 

stakeholders? 

Research Question 8 
To what extent is accountabil ity being discharged through annual performance 

reporting of local authorities? 

1 . 5  RESEARCH AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 

The aims of the research are to investigate the performance report ing pract ices and 

accountability of Malays ian local authorities and ascertain whether such practices meet 

the expectations of the local authorities '  stakeholders. Meeting the expectations of a 

broader stakeholder group is important for public accountabi l ity purposes. Eventually, 

the aim is to make recom mendations about the future d i rection of external performance 

reporting of Malaysian local authorities. 

By addressing the research questions out l ined tn the earlier section, the fol lowing 

object ives are involved in achieving the aims:  

I .  To explore the concept of accountabi l i ty from the perspective of Malaysian 

stakeholders and the stakeholders' understanding of their re lat ionship with local 

authorities. 

2 .  To identify the type of information that a broad group of stakeholders expect to 

enable them to assess and monitor the performance of Malaysian local 

authorities. 

3 .  To identify the stakeholders' perceptions o f  the importance o f  information items 

for disclosure. 

4 .  To identify experts' perceptions of  and agreement on  the information necessary 

for assessing and monitoring the performance of Malaysian local authorities and 

the importance of such information for d isc losure. 

5 .  To develop a special purpose disc losure index to assess the extent and qual ity of 

performance information publ ished in annual reports o f  Malaysian local 

authorities. 

6.  To evaluate the extent and qual ity of  disc losure of performance reporting within 

the annual reports by applying the developed d isclosure index. 
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7 .  To ascertain whether the informational and d isclosure expectations of 

stakeholders are being met. 

8. To ascertain the extent to which accountabi l ity ts being discharged through 

performance report ing.  

1 .6 RESEARCH SCOPE 

The scope of the research is l im ited to one part of the Malaysian publ ic sector ( local 

authorit ies). Local authorities are the government agencies that deal most directly with 

the pub l ic as ratepayers and consumers. The authorities are expected by the publ ic to 

fu lfi l  pub l ic needs using rates or taxes paid to the authorities. The authorities may also 

be expected to justify their actions in relation to their use of public mon ies. Therefore, 

local authorities provide a better avenue to examine the issues of publ ic accountabi l ity 

and the d ischarge of such accountabi l ity through annual performance reporting than 

other government agencies. 

This research involves an examination of the annual reports of local authorities and is 

l imited to reports publ ished in 2003, 2004 and 2005 .  These were identified as the latest 

reports avai lable during the period of data col lection (August to November 2006). 

Therefore, the findings are l im ited to up to the year 2 005 . Detailed j ustifications for the 

se lection of the 2003, 2004 and 2005 annual reports are provided i n  Chapter Six, 

Section 6.2.3 .2. 

The statutory requirements pertaining to the annual reporting by local authorities are 

out l i ned in  the Local Government Act 1 976. The report ing requirements are, however, 

largely uninformative as to speci fic form and content. Further, there is no statutory 

requ i rement specifical ly for local authorities that extends the reporting of  performance 

beyond the provision of trad itional financial statements. Therefore th i s  research could 

not determine the level of compl iance with statutory requirements for annual report 

disclosures. Instead, the research adopts an accountabi l ity framework with respect to 

stakeholders' informational and d isclosure expectations in examining the practice of 

performance reporting. This research also involves a questionnaire survey of local 

authorities' key stakeholders, as identified from a l iterature review that have an 

accountabi l ity relationship with local authorities. Other stakeholders are beyond the 

scope of this research. 

1 5  



1 .7 THESIS OUTLINE 

As i l lustrated in F igure 1 . 1 , th is  thesis comprises ten chapters, each of which is outl ined 

as fol lows to assist in  navigating the thesis contents. 

Chapter One: Introduction to research background and outline of the thesis 

Chapter Two: Background to Malaysian local authorities 

The aim of this chapter is to provide background information on Malaysia i n  general 

and on Malaysian local authorities (MLAs) in particular. This chapter h igh l ights the 

structure of M LAs and the re lat ionship between the authorities and the federal and state 

governments, and discusses the local authorit ies' funct ions and sources of finance. The 

background information provided in this chapter is i mportant for understanding the 

setting of the research and the accountabil ity framework within MLAs that are d iscussed 

in Chapter Four. 

Chapter Three: Research methodology 

This chapter provides a discussion on middle-range thinking (MRT), the perspective 

appl ied in the current research. This perspective suggests that phenomena can only be 

explained by ' skeletal ' or partia l/incomplete theories and that empirical deta i l s  are 

needed to complete the theories. This chapter brings to the fore the concept of  a skeletal 

theoretical framework as the M RT perspective has suggested. 

Chapter Four: Theoretical framework of accountability 

This chapter develops and proposes a theoretical framework of accountabi l i ty that is 

used in guiding the empirical investigations undertaken in the research. The framework 

is developed around the issues of what is accountabi l ity, to whom accountabi l ity is 

owed in general and to MLAs i n  particular, the nature of the accountabi l ity relationship 

between M LAs and their stakeholders, for what accountabil ity is rendered (with a 

particular reference to MLAs), and how accountabi l ity i s  discharged, with a particular 

focus on the annual report and the current requirements for annual and performance 

reporting o f  MLAs. The theoretical framework that is used to guide empirical 

investigations is extended in Chapter F ive. 

Chapter Five: Performance reporting and the discharge of accountability 

This chapter extends the discussion of the theoretical framework of th is  research to 

include a d iscussion on theory of performance reporting and disclosure. A rev iew of 
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l iterature surrounding the issues relat ing to the d ischarge of accountabi l ity through 

annual performance reporting and d isclosure is presented. This chapter also provides a 

review of relevant Malaysian studies that show the relevance of this research. 

Chapter Six: Research method 

Having developed and proposed the theoretical framework of this research, this chapter 

discusses how the empirical investigations were carried out. Specifically, th i s  chapter 

explains the methods of data col lection and analysis. The methods include a 

questionnaire survey, a Delph i exerc ise and a content analysis of annual reports. The 

process of developing the disc losure index to be used for content analys is and the 

scoring procedure are also discussed. The results obtained from employing these 

research methods are reported in Chapters Seven, Eight and Nine. 

Chapter Seven: Results and discussion: stakeholders ' perceptions of the 

accountability of Malaysian local authorities and expectations on performance 

information disclosure 

This chapter reports the results obtained from the questionnaire survey. Specifical ly, it 

reports and discusses the understand ing of a broad group of stakeholders of M LAs, on 

the concept of accountabil ity and thei r  relationship with local authorities. In addition, it 

reports and discusses the information necessary for accessing and monitor ing the 

performance of local authorities and the importance of such information for d i sc losure 

as perceived by the broad group of  stakeholders. 

Chapter Eight: Results and discussion: experts ' agreement on the disclosure of 

performance information and finalisation of disclosure index 

This chapter reports the results obtained from the Delphi exercise - an opin ion-seeking 

exercise that i nvolves an expert panel .  Specifically it reports and discusses  the 

agreement/consensus of the experts on the information necessary for mon itoring and 

assessing the performance of local authorities and the importance of information  for 

disc losure. The final isation of the d isc losure index that was used in the content analysis 

of annual reports is based on the experts' agreement and the determination of qual ity 

criteria and is presented in this chapter. 

Chapter Nine: Results and discussion: extent and quality of performance reporting 

and the discharge of accountability through annual reporting 

By applying the disclosure index, the scores for extent and qual ity of annual reports of 

local authorities are determined. Th is chapter reports and discusses the results obtained 
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from the scoring of the annual reports of local authorities. I t  concludes with a discussion 

of the discharge of accountabi l ity by M LAs through performance reporting by 

examining whether the informational and d isc losure expectations of the stakeholders are 

being met. 

Chapter Ten: Summary, recommendations and conclusion 

A summary of the thesis, recommendations for performance reporting by Malaysian 

local authorities and future research, and the overall concl usion of the research are 

provided in this chapter. 

1 .8 PUBLICATIONS 

To date, two papers have been accepted for publ ication: 

• Stakeholders' perceptions on the accountabil ity of Malaysian local authorities, 

Advances in Public Interest Accounting Review, (20 1 0, forthcom ing). 

• Performance report ing by Malaysian local authorities: identifYing stakeholder needs, 

Financial, Accountability and Management, (20 1 0, forthcoming). 

The first paper addresses the understand ing of stakeholders of Malaysian local 

authorities of the concept of accountabi l i ty and their relationship with local authorities. 

The second paper identi ties the perceptions of stakeholders of the in formation that they 

expect to enable them to assess and monitor the performance of local authorities, and on 

the importance of such items for disclosure in annual reports of local authorities. Further 

papers that report on the findings of the research and the expectation gap are being 

developed. 
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CHAPTER TWO 

BACKGROUND TO MALA YSIAN LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

2 . 1  INTRODUCTION 

The aim of this chapter is to provide background information on Malaysia in general 

and on Malaysian local authorities in particular. This chapter h ighl ights the structure of 

the authorities and their relationship w ith the federal and state governments and 

d iscusses the functions and sources of fi nance of local authorities. The background 

i nformation provided i n  this chapter is important for understanding the setting of the 

research. Fol lowing this  i ntroductory section, th is chapter consists of four other sections 

- Section 2.2 :  Brief background to Malaysia and the Malaysian system of government; 

Section 2 .3 :  The structure of Malaysian local authorities; Section 2 .4 :  The relationship 

between the local authorities and the state and federal governments; and Section 2.5 :  

Function and finance - which describes the functions and sources o f  finance of the local 

authorities. This chapter concludes with a summary in Section 2.6. F igure 2 . 1  shows the 

posit ion of this chapter in relation to the thesis. 
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2.2 BRIE F  BACKGROUND TO MALAYSIA AND THE MALA YSIAN SYSTEM 

OF GOVERNMENT 

Malaysia is a federation of th i rteen states and three federal territories. It is a 

constitutional monarchy, which upholds the principles o f  parl iamentary democracy. The 

population of 26.9 mil l ion comprises three major ethnic  groups - Malay, Chinese and 

Indian (Samaratunge et al. , 2008). I t  i s  a former Brit ish colony and inherited an 

administration system heavi ly influenced by the British colonial model. The parl iament, 

which is m odel led after the British Westminster system ,  consists of the King ( Yang Di 

Pertuan Agung), the Lower House (Dewan Rakyat) of e lected representatives and the 

Upper House (Dewan Negara) of appointed senators. The King has a five-year term and 

is appointed by the Conference of Rulers (Sultans) from the rulers of n ine states .3 The 

King has discretionary powers over matters of re l igion and the Malay culture and 

tradition. The federal government consists of legislative, judicial and executive 

authorities with the King as the constitutional monarch (Onn, 1 986; Mi lne, 1 967). As 

stipu lated in the Federal Constitution, the executive power is vested in the hands of the 

King but is exercisable by a cabinet of ministers led by the prime minister. The cabinet 

members are appointed by the King (based on the suggestion of the prime min ister) to 

advise h im in the exercise of his function. The prime min ister, appointed by the K ing, is  

the leader of the party that has a majority in the Lower House. The cabinet is 

col lectively responsible to Parl iament. The structure of the federal government is  

summarised in  Figure 2.2 .  

The federal government admin istrat ion process is through the ministries; each m i nistry 

is responsible for one or more departments, statutory bodies and public corporations. 

The departments were set up to implement pol icies and carry out the activities of the 

respective m in istries. Statutory bod ies are organisations which have autonomy in 

management and financial matters, and are establ ished through an Act of Parl iament 

(Othman, 200 1 ) . These bodies are considered government organisations and not l imited 

companies as they are not bound to the Companies Act 1 965 .  Other federal government 

admin istrative entities are public corporations, which include government-owned and 

government-control led companies and are governed by the Companies Act 1 965 .  

3 
Four other states do not have rulers but governors, appointed every four years by the K i ng. 
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Figure 2.2: The Structure of  the Federal Government 
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At  the state level, each state has "unicameral legislature" (UNESCAP, 2002, p.4) - the 

state legislature assembly, with the state ruler or governor ( in  the states where there is 

no hereditary ru ler) as the supreme head (EIU, 2006). The members of the state 

assembly are elected representat ives (e lected at least every five years). The federal 

cabinet equivalent of each state government is called the State Executive Com m ittee 

( EXCO) which is chaired by the chief minister. At the state level, the government 

administrative entities consist of  local authorities (c ity, municipal and district counci ls), 

departments, statutory bodies and pub I ic corporations. The structure of the state 

governments is shown in Figure 2 .3 .  
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Figure 2.3 : The Structure of tbe State Governments 
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I n  terms of legislative power between the federal and state governments, the Ninth 

Schedule of the Federal Constitution specifies the constitutional d iv ision of legislative 

power between the two levels  of government. The division is shown in Table 2. I .  

Table 2 . 1 : The Division of Power/Responsibi lities between the Federal and State 
Governments 

Federal Responsibilities State Responsibilities Shared Responsibilities 

External affairs Muslim religious law Social wel fare 
Defence and security Land ownership and use Public health 
Trade, commerce and industry Agriculture and forestry Town and country planning 
Shipping, communication and State works and water supply, Drainage and i rrigation 
transport when not federalised Rehabi l i tation of mining land 
Water supply, rivers and canals Loans for state development and soi I erosion 
Finance and taxation and public debt National parks and wildl ife 
Education and health Malay reservation and custom 
Labour and social security Local authorities4 
Public works and utili ties 
Local Authorities of Federal 
Territories 

Adapted from Phang (2008, p.2) 

4 
The term ' local government' is used in the Federal Constitution. In fact, the terms ' local 

government' and · local authority' are often used interchangeably in Malaysia (Othman, 200 1  ). 
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As Table 2 . 1 indicates, the constitution stipulates that all local authorities (except 

authorit ies of the federal territories) fal l  under the exclusive j urisdict ion of their 

respective state governments. The local authorities located within the federal territories 

d i rectly fal l  under the j ur isd iction of the federal government (Federal Constitution, item 

4 i n  l i st I I  of the Ninth Schedulei . The following sub-section provides a detailed 

d i scuss ion of the local authorities. 

2.3 THE STRUCTURE OF MALAYSIAN LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

Local authorities are semi-autonomous entities within the state framework. As stipu lated 

i n  the Federal Constitution, local authorities have l im ited jurisdiction, that is, they can 

only perform functions spec ified in the statutes and within their j urisd iction. The wider 

legis lative powers remain with the state government. [n other words, the respective state 

government has the power to control the authorities and to ensure their proper 

functioning. Local authorities are the dominant state government adm in istrative entity in  

local areas. The Town and Country Planning Act, t 976 (Section 5) stipulates that a local 

authority approves and controls  all planning and development appl ications in its area. 

The early forms of local authorities tended to be model led on British institutions as a 

resu lt o f  Malaysia having been coloni sed by Britain for nearly two centuries (Norris, 

1 980) .  However, over t ime local authorities in Malaysia have evolved into "a system 

having its own identity, characteristics and laws that reflect the soc ioeconom ic and 

pol i tical environment of the country" (UNESCA P, 2002, p. 8). 

Both during British rule and after independence in 1 957, an election system was 

imp lemented at the local level .  Local residents e lected their  mayor/pres ident and counci l  

members. However, in  1 965  elections of  local authorities were halted due to  i nternal 

adm in istrative and political problems such as an unequal ethnic balance in urban areas 

(S ingaravel loo et al . ,  2006) and the violent confrontation of Indonesia against the newly 

formed Malaysian federation in 1 964 (UNESCA P, 2002). Elected and autonomous local 

government was replaced by a "bureaucrat ic dominant type of l ocal government" 

(Cheema and Hussein, 1 978,  p .580), from 1 965 on .  Since then, Malaysia has adopted a 

nom inative representation system at its local leve l ,  where the ru l ing party holds power 

5 
The local authorities of the Federal Terri tories are beyond the scope of the current research. 
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i n  the local ity in that the state government appoints the mayor/president and al l  other 

counci l  members. 

By the early seventies, there were a large number of local authorities (3 74 i n  Peninsular 

Malaysia) which were relatively small, non-autonomous and not practical (UN E SCAP, 

2002). This led to restructuring and reforming of the local administrative system as wel l  

as  the adoption of the Local Government Act 1 976 (widely known in Malaysia as  Act 

1 7 1  ). As stipulated in the act, local authorities were consol idated into three main 

categories according to the s ize of their population and annual revenue: city 

counci l s/hal l s, municipal counci l s  and district counc i ls .  To be categorised as a city 

council or hall, the popu lation should be more than 500,000 and the annual revenue 

should be more than 1 00 mi l l ion Malaysian Ringgits (MYR). As a municipal council, 

the population should be more than 1 50,000 and the annual revenue more than MYR 20 

mi l l ion. For d istrict counci ls, the population shou ld be fewer than 1 50,000 and the 

annual revenue fewer than MYR 20 mil l ion. As a whole (Peninsular and East Malaysia), 

there are 1 46 local authorit ies made up of twelve c ity counci ls/hal ls ,  th irty-seven 

municipal counci ls and n inety-seven district counci l s  (as at October 2008) .  O f  1 46 local 

authorities, n inety-eight are located in Peninsular Malaysia compris ing e ight city 

counci l s/c i ty hal ls, thirty-three munic ipal counc ils and fifty-seven district councils6 

(Ministry of  Housing and Local Government, www.kpkt.gov.mv, accessed on 9 October 

2008). The organisational structure of local authorities is depicted in Figure 2.4. 

6 The scope of the current research is the city counc i ls/city hal ls  and municipal counci ls in 
Peninsular Malaysia and this is justified in Chapter Six. 
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Figure 2.4: Organisational Structure of Local Authorities 
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As shown in F igure 2 .4, local authorities are under the responsibi l ity of the State 

Committee for Local Government (a committee under the State Executive Comm ittee). 

Each local authority (city hal l/counci l ;  municipality or district counci l)  (as specified in 

Act 1 7 1 )  consists of a president (or a mayor for city hal ls), and between eight and 

twenty-four other council lors who are appointed by the respective state government for 

a three-year term, with the option of reappointment (Phang, 2 008)7. This panel of 

counci l lors is equivalent to a board o f  directors in an organisation (Coombs & Tayib, 

2 000). The majority of the counci l lors should be persons resid ing in the local authority 

area and must have wide experience i n  local government affairs or have achieved h igh 

standing within a particular profession or the commercial sector to make them, in the 

v iew of the state authority, capable of representing the interests of the local comm unity 

(Section I 0 of Act 1 7 1  ). This gives flexibil ity in appointing counci l lors for the ranks of 

government officials, politic ians, professionals and business persons or any other groups 

7 For the three local authorities located within the three federal territories, their mayors/presidents 
and other counci l  members are appointed by the minister of federal territory with the consent of the prime 
minister. 
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m the community (Cheema & Hussein, 1 978).  This provision also ensures that the 

representatives are chosen from local res idents who understand the specific needs of the 

local community .  However, in most cases council lors are pol iticians from the rul ing 

party (Phang, 2008). 

The main responsib i l ity of the counci l  members is to decide broad policies related to the 

local authority and to oversee their i mplementation. Each counci l  is supported by a 

system of committees established to help the local authority in management and 

decision-making. Predominant power l ies w ith the mayor/president. I n  the case of a 

conflict between council lors and the mayor/president, the matter is referred to the chief 

m in ister of the state government (Cheema & Hussein, 1 978).  The day-to-day 

administration of a local authority is in the hands of the executive, made up of the 

mayor/president and the heads of departments. Supporting personnel of each department 

carry out dai ly operations for local authorities. The mayor/president chairs both the 

council and the executive. 

The following section detai ls the relationship between local authorities and both the 

state and federal governments. 

2.4 THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN LOCAL AUTHORITIES, THE STATE 

GOVERNMENT AND THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT 

The Federal Constitution stipulates that local authorities be subject to the jurisdiction of 

the state governments, which hold wide administrative and financial controls over local 

authorities. As Figure 2 .5  shows, the state government has control over local authorities 

through the State Committee for Local Government. 
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Figure 2.5: The Relationship between Local Authorities and the Federal and State 
G overnments 
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The powers of the state governments inc lude the power to approve local authorities' 

budgets, the power to approve the appointment and dism issal of mayors/presidents, 

counci l lors and other staff, the power to withhold confirmation of by-laws and the 

power to withhold the imposition of rates by local authorities (Cheema & Hussein, 

1 978). Any directions issued by the state governments also b ind local authorities and the 

authorities are required to furnish the state governments with all information related to 

their properties and activities (Faruqi,  200 I ) . Figure 2.5 also shows the relationship 

between local authorities and the federal government. 

The federal government deals with local authorities primarily through the Ministry of 

Housing and Local Government. The ministry provides advice to the local authorities in 

matters especially related to legal and major pol icy issues (Article SA, the Federal 

Constitution). The ministry has a direct re lationship with the state government (in 

particular the State Committee for Local Government), through the National Counci l  for 

Local Government, chaired by the deputy prime m inister, to monitor the affairs of local 
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authorities. The Federal Constitution (Article 95A) provides for the National Counci l  for 

Local Government to act as a forum for federal ,  state and local authorities to co-ordinate 

pol icies and laws relating to local level administration. 

The power of  the federal government, through the national counci l, is restricted to 

ensuring un iformity of legislation and policy, giving advice and technical assistance and 

providing a mechanism for co-ord ination (Cheema & Hussein, 1 978). In  this regard, the 

National Counci l  for Local Government has an authority only for approved pol icy in 

terms of administrative control .  In  addition, the federal government transfer of  local 

authority grants is also made through the state government through this  relationship. 

Beyond the relationship, direct i nterference by the federal government in the financial 

affairs of local authorities is i mpossible (Faruqi, 200 1 ) . The fol lowing section provides a 

d iscussion about the function and sources of finance of local authorities. 

2.5 FUNCTION AND FINANCE 

The functioning of a local authority is based on the principle of ultra-vires, in that it can 

only undertake an activity and perform its function with in specific acts and bylaws. 

According to Abdullah (2006), there are two key roles of loca: t  authorities that impact on 

the l ives o f  the local community. The first relates to the provision of bas ic services and 

the second relates to regulation of the use of land and business activ ity within the 

local ity .  The roles or functions of local authorities are specified in Act 1 7 1 , which 

provides local authorities with a comprehensive set of functions and responsibi l ities. In 

order to he lp  the authorities to perform their functions under the act, two other laws are 

also appl ied - the Town and Country Planning Act 1 976 and the Street, Drainage and 

Bui lding Act 1 974. The functions cover the environment, publ ic interests and 

development. These include both mandatory funct ions (such as waste collection, 

provi sion of street l ighting and conduct of activities in relation to pub l ic health) and 

discretionary functions (such as the provision of amenities, maintenance o f  recreational 

parks and undertaking of commercial activities) (UNESCAP, 2002). Nowadays, 

although major services such as town planning, street l ighting, and maintenance of local 

roads st i l l  remain with local authorities, the provision of some services has shifted to 

other agencies of the state and federal governments (for example, management of rivers 

and water suppl ies) and to pri vate companies (for example, solid waste and d isposal and 
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sewerage services) (Singaravel loo et al . ,  2006). The contracting out of services to 

private companies is one of the N PM initiatives towards achieving greater efficiency in 

service del i very, whereby the companies are accountable for qual ity services. Within the 

contracting out arrangement, local authorities sti l l  retain responsibil ity for monitoring 

the del ivery o f  the services accord ing to publ ic criteria (Greene, 2002). Given the wide 

scope of function and respons ib i l ity, the source of income or finance of local authorities 

has become i ncreasingly important, as it determ ines the efficiency and effectiveness of 

local authorities· operations. 

Sources of i ncome or finance of local authorities inc lude assessment taxes or rates, 

l icences and perm its, rentals, grants from the state and federal governments, car parking 

charges, planning fees, fines and interest and loans (Min istry of Housing and Local 

Government, www.kpkt.gov.mv, accessed on 9 Oct. 2008) .  Assessment taxes or rates 

are rates on property in a particular locality, which includes residential and industrial 

properties. The taxes are col lected directly from the property owners on the basis of an 

annual assessment of the improved value8 of the holding (Section 1 30, Act 1 7 1 ) . These 

taxes are the main source of income for local authorities. I n  the year 2003, assessment 

tax made up more than 60 percent of total revenue for almost all local authorities 

(Singaravel loo & Subramaniam 2 006) especial ly for c i ty and municipal counci ls. 

S ingaravel loo and Subramaniam (2006) state that city and municipal counc i ls have a 

higher percentage of assessment taxes and smal ler percentage of grants than district 

counci ls  as they have more taxable property holdings including residential houses, 

commercia l and industrial bui ld ings which al low these councils to earn more revenue 

from the assessment taxes source. District councils are more dependent on government 

grants. L icence fees are to be paid by appl icants applying for l icences to carry out 

trading activit ies within the authorities' j urisdiction. Renta ls are imposed upon users for 

renting local authorities' properties. Charges are received from consumers for services 

provided such as fees for burial faci l ities and charges for refuse col lection. F ines and 

compounds are imposed for offences such as l ittering and i l legal parking. In terms of 

financial support, ideal ly (as determ ined 
.
by Act 1 7 1 )  local authorit ies shou ld be 

financial l y  autonomous, but due to financial deficiency, they also receive grants from 

the state government and federal governments (received through the state government). 

8 Improved value is defined by Act 1 7 1  as "the price that an owner wi l l ing and not obliged, to sel l  
might reasonably expect to obtain from a wi l l ing purchaser with whom he has been bargaining for the sale 
and purchase o f  the holding". The Act al lows for the option of rental or market value as a basis for rate 
assessment. 
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This averaged less than I 0 percent of  total revenue in the year 2000 (Setapa & Y ee, 

2003). Another source of finance is loans from the state or federal governments (through 

the Federal Treasury) and financial i nst itutions which are subject to approval by the 

state government. 

In summary, four sources of income or finance support the operations of local 

authorities - ( l )  assessment taxes which are to be paid to local authorities by owners of 

properties situated in a particular locality; (2) the income ( in terms of charges) received 

by the authorities which is based on services provided; (3 ) the financial assistance in 

terms of grants received from the governments to fulfil their obligatory duties such as 

launching grants for local authorities' restructuring projects, development grants for 

implementing socioeconomic projects especially towards upgrading services provided 

and road maintenance and drainage grants; and (4) loans from governments and 

financial institutions, which are based on a contractual agreement. The accountabi l ity 

relat ionsh ip between local authorities and the providers of finance for the authorities is 

discussed in Chapter Four. 

2.6 CHAPTER SUMMARY 

This chapter is important for understanding the background of the research and the 

context of Malaysian local authorities. The chapter describes the structure of the 

authorities, their  relationship with both the state and federal governments; and their 

function and sources of finance. Thi s  background is  re levant for understanding the 

accountabi l ity of the authorities. The relationship between local authorities and both 

governments and providers of their fi nance determines the nature of accountabi l ity that 

exists between them. As Haque ( 1 997, p .3)  states, "the modes of accountabi l ity of local 

institutions [also] depend on their organ izational nature, structure and composition." 

The theoretical framework of accountabil ity and accountabi l ity of  Malaysian local 

authorities is discussed in Chapter Four. The framework is used to underpin the current 

research's empirical investigations. The next chapter describes the research methodo logy 

or perspective employed by the current research in undertaking the empirical 

investigations. 
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CHAPTER THREE 

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY 

3. 1 INTRODUCTION 

This chapter describes the perspect ive within which the current research is based -

m iddle-range th inking ( MRT). This  perspective views the world from the m iddle 

d imension which acknowledges that reality exists in actual ity but only ' skeleta l '  

genera l isations about reality are possible.  Within th is  perspective, phenomena can only 

be explained by ' skeletal '  or partial/i ncomplete theories and empirical details are needed 

to complete the theories. Specifical ly, Section 3 .2 provides a d iscussion on MRT, with a 

part icular focus on theory position, methodology position and change position. The 

appl ication of MRT in the current research is d iscussed in Section 3.3 with an 

i l lustration or flow chart that shows the research process. This chapter concludes with a 

chapter summary in Sect ion 3 .4. Figure 3 . 1  shows the l inks between th is  chapter and the 

thesis as a whole. 
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Figure 3 .1 :  Thesis Structure: the Position of Chapter Three 

Introduction 

A ims 
Objectives 
Context
NPM 
C hapter 1 

Research 
Context 

Malaysian 
Local 
Authorities 
Chapter 2 

Accountabi l ity 

Chapter 4 

- E""n�ich- - - 11 1 

Performance 
Reporting and Disclosure 

C hapter 5 

Research 
M ethods 

Chapter 6 

Questionnaire 
Survey 

Delphi 
Exercise 

Annual 
reports 
content 
analysis 

Results and 
Discussion: 
Stakeholders' 
informational 
and 
disclosure 
expectations 
Chapter 7 

Results and 
Discussion: 
Experts' 
agreement 
on 
information 
necessary 
for assessing 
and 
monitoring 
performance 

Chapter 8 

Results and 
Discussion: 
Extent and 
quality of 
annual 
performance 
report ing 

Chapter 9 

Conclusion and 
Recommendations 

Chapter 1 0  

33  



3.2 THE RESEARCH PERSPECTIVE - MIDDLE-RANGE THINKING (MRT) 

The current research adopts the m iddle-range thinking (MRT) perspective to research; a 

phi losophical perspective o f  knowledge as envis ioned by Laughlin ( 1 98 7, 1 995a) in 

understanding the technical and social value of accounting. Specifically, in the context 

of the current research, the social value is considered through engagement with 

stakeholders of Malaysian local authorities to gain an understanding of the ir  perceptions 

of and expectations on the accountabi l ity of local authorities. Further, the technical 

value is considered when the current practices of performance reporting within the 

annual reports are analysed. S ince there are opportunities for researchers to v iew the 

world fro m  the middle ground (Hooks, Davey & Coy, 2002), this perspective is an 

alternative research dimension . It has been introduced to both preserve the strengths and 

avoid the weaknesses of the pos itive and interpretive perspectives (Laughl in, 1 995a, 

l 995b ), which fal l  along the objective-subjective array (continuum) of research 

perspective. 

The posit ive perspective is the traditional perspective of the objective continuum. 

Within this perspective, the fundamental nature of the phenomena being investigated 

(ontology) is considered as "real ist" ontology (Guba, 1 990, p . l 9); that is, the existence 

of the social world or reality is already "out there" in  the world (Cohen, Manion & 
Morrison, 2000, p.6; Guba 1 990; p.20). lt is obj ective and singular and exists 

independently of the researcher (Creswel l, 1 994, M organ & Smircich, 1 980). Therefore, 

in deriving the knowledge (epistemological ly), the researcher is regarded as independent 

to that research (Creswell ,  1 994). According to Bisman (2002), as a posit ive perspective 

is a h igh ly objectivist view of a s ingle real ity, the real ity can only be described by 

measurable practices; the phenomena can be accurate ly described in terms of theories 

and generalisations can be made. Methodological ly,  the positive perspective is 

com monly al igned with scienti fic investigation in that i t  involves quantitative methods 

of data collection and analysis (Cohen et al., 2000; MacKenzie & Knipe, 2006). Pre

stated questions or hypotheses are empirically tested under controlled conditions (Guba, 

1 990). Reality is discovered by searches for causal explanations and fundamental laws, 

hypotheses are tested and the findings can be general ised (Amaratunga, Baldry, Sarshar 

& Newton, 2002). 

Whi le the positive perspective and its scientific method have been proven to be 

successfu l, especially in the field of  natural science, in the social sciences, the paradigm 
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i s  often criticised. General ly, the bel ief that human behaviour is explained by general 

laws has not been accepted (Cohen et al ., 2000). The assumption is that phenomena is 

' control lable' and can be accurate ly described in terms of theories and genera l ised. 

However, when it comes to human actions and interactions, the positive perspective is 

not concerned with people ' s  thoughts, feelings and behaviour. Human behaviour is 

regarded as "passive, essentially determined and contro l led" (Cohen et al., 2000, p. l 9). 

In a social science context, people's  feel ings, opinions and behaviour cannot be ignored 

but the posit ive perspective suggests that human behaviour can be rational ised by 

scientific explanation. Social sc ientists bel ieve that posit ivists fai l  to give answers about 

i mportant areas of l i fe (Habermas, 1 972). This is a s ignificant weakness of the positive 

perspective which makes it inappropriate for studying many aspects of the social world. 

As a part of the subjective continuum, interpretive perspective views real i ty as "a 

projection of individual imagination" (Morgan & Smircich, 1 980, p.493) or "the product 

of individual consciousness" (Cohen et al., 2000, p .5) .  Therefore, the interpretive 

perspective involves subjectivity (Guba & Lincoln, 1 988) .  Interpretivists are i nterested 

in explaining the social order and seek to understand the subjective experience of 

indiv iduals (Be lkaoui, 1 994). Within the epistemological assumption, the inte rpretivist 

assumes that there is an interaction between the researcher and what they are 

researching, and emphasises the importance of understanding the processes of  the 

interaction (Creswel l, 1 994; Morgan & Smircich, 1 980), because knowledge is  seen as 

individual, subjective and unique (Burre l l  & Morgan, 1 979). Therefore, the task of the 

researcher goes beyond measurement to develop an understanding of phenomena. 

Methodologically, research with in this perspective should be approached from the 

naturalistic and subjective standpoints, in order to give an account of actual or real 

c i rcumstances. In  general, the interpretive perspective does not begin with theory but 

rather theory is inductively developed (Creswel l, 2003) .  Researchers main ly rely on 

qual itative methods which are usual ly unstructured and context specific, and which 

provide narrative and interpretational description of phenomena (Holmes, Hodgson & 
Nevel l, 1 99 1 ;  Wiersma, 1 995).  However, in order to support or expand the qual i tative 

data and deepen the description, quantitative aspects may also be taken into account 

(Cohen et a l . ,  2000; MacKenzie & Knipe, 2006). Thus, a mixed method approach is 

used, which provides quantitat ive information to enrich the qual itative findings. This 

could overcome the l imitations of  the positivist paradigm in providing a better 

understanding of actions and events. 
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Nevertheless, the interpretive perspective a lso has its l imitations. While general isations 

are often considered i mportant in order to shape or improve practice and pol icy (as i n  

the positive perspective), the interpretive perspective is  criticised for its incapacity to 

make such generalisations (Bisman, 2002). In addition, the interpretive perspective is 

criticised for neglecting the power of external-structural forces to shape behaviour and 

events and for putting art ificial boundaries around subjects' behaviour (Cohen. et al . ,  

2000). 

In summary, both positive and interpret ive perspectives each have their strengths and 

weaknesses and neither perspective actually prescribes nor prohibits the use of e ither 

methodological approach (quantitative or qualitative). However, a phi losoph ical 

research perspective which involves a combined methodological approach may provide 

a richer understand ing than one restricted by a part icular methodology. According to 

B isman (2002), 

Such an approach [a combined methodological approach] would need to 

recognize the val idity of both quantitative and qualitative methodologies, retain 

scientific rigour, and acknowledge the value of richness and context, as we l l  as 

the importance of general izabi l i ty . . . . the approach would also need to inc lude 

methods reflecting these alternative views and capture 'empirical' data however 

defined. (p .8) 

Arguably, MRT can provide these features. MRT uses a m iddle-range combination of 

theory9, methodology 10 and change 1 1  characteristics in positioning itself (Laughl in 

1 995a, 2004, 2007).  

I n  relation to theory, MRT recognises that prior general isations are possible but can only 

be 'skeletal' theories. Skeletal theories are those that enl ighten some prior broad 

understanding of social phenomena to be investigated (Chua & Witcher, 2005) and are 

partial and incomp lete theories (Laughl in 2004). They cannot stand on their own, but 

9 'Theory involves deciding on a view about ( i )  the nature of the world and ( i i )  what constitutes 
k nowledge and how it relates to the current focus of investigation - referred to as ontology and 
e8istemology respectively in Burrel l  and Morgan ( 1 979): (Laughlin, 1 995a, p.66). 
1 "Methodology involves taking a position on an amalgam of the nature and role of the observer 
i n  the discovery process - Burrel l  and Morgan's human nature assumption; and the level of theoretical 
formality in defining the nature of the discovery methods - Burrell and Morgan·s methodology" �Laughlin, 1 995a, p.66). 
1 ·'Change i nvol ves taking a position on whether the investigation is intentional ly geared to 

achieve change in the phenomena being investigated - Burrell and Morgan's society assumption'' 
( Laughlin, 1 995a, p.66). 
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empirical detai ls are needed to complete the theories to make them meaningful 

( Laughl in ,  l 995a). In  addition, according to Laughl in (2007), the skeletal theories are 

used to "guide and provide a conceptual language for analysing empirical situations" 

(p .275) suggesting that the empirical deta i l  is as important as the skeletal theory. 

Laughl in  (2004) holds the v iew that any empirical phenomena can on ly be explained by 

skeletal theories, in that there are structures that underlie social situations and 

behaviours, but they can be defined neither in generalisable patterns nor totally 

randomly.  This suggests that the MRT perspective contradicts the objectivists' view 

which assumes prior theory is complete and rel ies on a prior definable theory in the 

d iscovery of knowledge and that empirical detai l is just data for testing the theory, either 

verifying or falsifying it ( Laughl in, 2004, 2007). Further, MRT's position in relation to 

theory contrasts the subjectivists' view in which understanding is context-specific and 

may require no prior theory as each i nvestigated situation is viewed as "unique" and 

"separate" (Laughl in, 2007, p.275). 

In terms of methodology, MRT preserves subjectivity but sets some l imits on how 

subjectiv ity can be operational ised in that it does not tota lly depend on the observer' s 

j udgment and experiences (Laughlin, 2004). The discovery process is flexible and 

d iverse; the nature o f  methods is definable but is subject to refinement (Laughl in, 

l 99 5 a, l 995b, 2004). Laughlin (2007) states that methodological ly, subjectivity and 

structured formality are accepted in M RT, in that the role of researcher subjectivity is  

structured and both qual itative and quantitative methods can be employed. 

Central to MRT is its "change position" which is the "leve l of emphasis given to the 

crit ique of the status quo and need for change" (Laughlin 1 995b, p.296; Laughl in, 

2004) .  MRT maintains a m iddle position which al lows the poss ib i l ity of the status quo 

cont i nu ing but considers change possibi l ities - the possibil ity to bring about change to 

the status quo of phenomena. The status quo can be challenged i n  a constructive way, 

but change to the status quo is not necessarily required in al l s i tuations nor is it an 

expected outcome (Broadbent & Laughl in, 1 997;  Laughlin, 1 995a, 1 995b, 2004). As 

Laughl in  (2004) states :  

The argument for a ' m iddle position' i s  that there needs to  be  mechanisms to 

judge when change should be pursued . . .  the abil ity to judge whether the resulting 

understanding should lead to change or not and how to make this decision is key 

to middle range th inking. (p.269) 
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In  contrast, the positive and interpretive perspectives take a low change position which 

rules out change considerations (Laughlin, 2007). The low change position is 

represented in the posit ive perspective by subjectiv ity avoidance as change is prescribed 

as subj ective. In the interpretive perspective, the low change position i s  taken because 

the d i verse subjective v iews make a j udgment to change impossible (Laugh l in 2004). 

Laughl in  (2004, 2007) emphasises that MRT is not a compromise between the positive 

and interpretive perspectives nor is it a simplistic assumption of a m iddle point between 

the two perspectives, but rather a d istinct position in its own, "a genu ine third way" of 

research (Laughlin, 2004, p .270). No specific research approach "has total privi lege to 

c laim some 'absolute' status - all wi l l  only ever provide partial insights into the world" 

(Laughl in, 2007, p.270). The researcher argues that the main issue for researchers is to 

have clarity about the research approach used and understand its strengths and 

weaknesses. 

The app l ication of the MRT perspective 111 the. current research is d iscussed 111 the 

fol lowing section. 

3.3 THE APPLICATION OF MRT IN THE RESEARCH 

W ithin the ontological view of MRT, this research acknowledges that real ity exists in 

actuality but on ly skeletal general isations about real ity are possible. In this regard, this 

research maintains that the development of analyses in social settings wi l l  always 

require skeletal theory to be located in an empirical and contextual investigation, in that 

the theory is complemented by empirical detai l .  W ithin the MRT epistemological view, 

th is  research examines the phenomena (for example, performance reporting and 

accountabi l ity of Malaysian local authorities) through the eyes of participants rather 

than completely through those of the researcher. This recognises a subjective 

interpretation of reality, in that real ity can also be understood through human 

experience. 

This research seeks to be descriptive, critical and normative in nature as suggested by 

Cooper and Sherer ( 1 984 ). Incorporation of these three aspects provides a broad 

framework for analysing annual reports and understand ing the phenomena. In  this 
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regard, MRT is bel ieved to be appropriate for this research. As emphasised by Laughlin 

( l 995a, p .80), in MRT "[the data should be] heavily descriptive but also analytical". 

The descriptive element of the research involves determining and reporting on the extent 

of differences and simi larities in stakeholders' informational expectations, the 

accountabi l ity perceptions and characteristics of key stakeholder groups, as wel l  as the 

extent and q ual ity of performance information disclosure .  Crit ical, as wel l  as analytical 

elements, i nvolve analysing and reporting infonnational expectations of stakeholders 

within the context of accountabi l ity. The normative e lement is reflected in the 

recommendations for annual report ing i ncluding performance reporting as indicated by 

stakeholders. An MRT perspective provides for these three aspects in the research 

because it a l lows flexibil i ty and diversity in the research process, encouraging both the 

employment of quantitative and qual itative methods to data collection and analysis. 

Importantly, both methods are incorporated in the research process because of their 

relevance to the purpose and objectives of the research. The recommendations made for 

annual reporting, including performance reporting as expected by stakeholders, may 

provide the impetus for change especially if current practice is found to be inadequate . 

Therefore, M RT, which has some emphasis on the need for change of the status quo, is 

seen as consistent with the purpose of this current research and thus appropriate as a 

methodology. 

The appl ication of MRT in this research is shown m Figure 3.2 which outlines the 

research process. By adopting M RT, the skeletal theory in its incomplete nature 

provides gu idance for examining the empirical situation with the aim of developing 

understandi ng. With this in mind,  the research process (as shown in Figure 3 .2, phase 

one) com mences with the sketching of a theoretical scheme or ' skeleton' from the 

l iterature rev iew in relation to the accountabi lity - to whom accountabi l ity is rendered 

and for what. 
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Figure 3.2 : Research Process - Application of Middle-Range Thinking 
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L iterature out l in ing stakeholders' or users' information needs, performance annual 

reporting for the d ischarge of accountabi l ity and disclosure ind ices provide the basis for, 

and guidance to, se lecting a draft l ist of potential information items for respondents to 

assess, for developing a draft disclosure index and for evaluating the current practice of 

annual performance reporting of one sector of public organisations in a developing 

country such as Malaysian local authorities. As shown in Figure 3 .2, the initial process 

(phase one) is then fol lowed by empirical investigations at phase two that involve three 

stages in order to achieve the objectives of the research. 

Objectives one, two and three: 

• To explore the concept of accountabi l ity from the perspective of Malaysian 

stakeholders and the stakeholders' understanding of their relationship with local 

authorities. 

• To identify the type of information that a broad group of stakeholders expect to 

enable them to assess and monitor the performance of Malaysian local 

authorities. 

• To ident ify the stakeholders' perceptions of the importance of information items 

for disclosure. 

Stage one: Exploring stakeholders' understanding of accountabil ity and identifying 

the stakeholders ' informational expectat ions to assess and monitor performance of 

local authorities and their perceptions of the importance of information for 

disclosure. 

Objectives four and five: 

• To identify experts' perceptions of  and agreement on the information necessary 

for assessing and monitoring the performance of Malaysian local authorit ies and 

the importance of such information for disclosure. 

• To develop a special purpose disclosure index to assess the extent and qual ity of 

performance information publ ished in annual reports of  Malaysian local 

authorities. 

Stage two: Reconci l ing and val idating the information necessary for assessing and 

monitoring the performance of local authorities and the relative importance 

weightings of disclosure of such infonnation. 
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Objectives six, seven and  eight: 

• To evaluate the extent and quality of d i sc losure of performance reporting within 

the annual reports by applying the developed disclosure index. 

• To ascertain whether the informational and disclosure expectations of 

stakeholders are being met. 

• To ascertain the e xtent to which accountabi l ity 1s being discharged through 

performance report ing. 

Stage three: Evaluat ing the extent and qual ity of the information d i sc losure. 

Final ly, as shown at phase three of Figure 3 .2 ,  the research process was concluded by 

providing recommendations for performance reporting of Malaysian local authorities 

based on the stakeholders ' expectations. 

The findings obtained fro m  the empirical invest igations, in relation to the Malaysian 

stakeholders' understanding of accountabi l ity and their informational expectations, may 

enrich the skeletal theory developed m phase one m terms of the 

understanding/knowledge of accountabi l ity and stakeholders ' informational 

requirements for accountabi l ity purposes in the context of a developing country. 

3.4 CHAPTER SUMMARY 

The underlying perspective or paradigm to understand phenomena m this study is 

m idd le-range thinking (MRT). By adopting MRT, the theoretical frame is not a 

predictor of relationships but rather a guide to empirical investigations. A s  MRT al lows 

subjectiv ity and structured formality, the research process involved both quantitative 

and qual itative methods .  The review of l iterature was undertaken at the in itial phase of 

the research process to provide a theoretical framework for empirical investigations. The 

empirical investigations involved a questionnaire survey, a Delphi  exercise and a 

content analysis of annual reports as methods for data col lection. These methods are 

explained in Chapter S ix. The next chapter discusses the theoretical fra mework for the 

current research. 
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CHAPTER FOUR 

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK OF ACCOUNTABILITY 

4 . 1  INTRODUCTION 

This chapter provides a theoretical framework of accountabil ity that is used in guiding 

the empirical investigations undertaken in this research. The framework i s  developed 

around the fol lowing accountabil ity issues: the meaning and c lass ification of 

accountabi l ity, the nature o f  the accountabi l ity relationship, 'accountabi l ity to whom',  

'accountabi l ity for what' and the discharge of accountabi l ity. The current research seeks 

to explore the concept o f  accountabil ity from the perspective of a broad group of 

stakeholders and thus the above-mentioned issues need to be addressed. I n  addition, the 

research identifies the i n formational expectations of stakeholders in the context of 

accountabi l ity so as to assess whether the informational expectations are being met by 

Malaysian local authorities. This is done by examin ing the disclosed information and 

comparing the analysis w ith the informational and disclosure expectat ions of 

stakeholders. 

Following  the introduction section, the structure of this chapter is as fol lows: Section 

4.2 discusses accountabi l ity in terms of its meaning. Section 4.3 discusses c lassification 

of accountabil ity into two d imensions - dimension of relationship and d imension of the 

scope of  account. Section 4.4 discusses 'accountabi l ity to whom' and Section 4.5 

discusses 'accountability for what ' .  Accountabi l ity within Malaysian local authorit ies is 

discussed in Section 4 .6 .  The d ischarge of accountabi l ity with a part icular focus on 

annual report is discussed in Section 4 .  7. F inal ly, Section 4.8 presents the chapter 

summary. The position of this chapter in relation to the thesis is shown i n  F igure 4 . 1 .  
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Figure 4. 1 :  Thesis Structure: the Position of Chapter Four 
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4.2 MEANING O F  ACCOUNTAB ILITY 

The term accountabi l ity is derived from the old French word comptes a rendre which 

means the "rendering of accounts" (Dubnick, 1 998, p.68). However, the rendering of 

accounts has come to be understood d i fferently by different people (Bovens, 2007a), 

suggesting that accountabil ity is a complex and indefinite term (Day & Klein, 1 987; 

M ulgan, 2000; S inclair, 1 995; Wall & Martin, 2003) and a standardised meaning 

remains elusive (Budding, 2004; Goddard, 2005; Mulgan, 2000; Mulgan & Uhr, 2000). 

It has been described in legalistic terms by some (for example, Thynne & Goldring, 

1 987) and yet cast by others as a rather nebulous concept lacking a clear defin ition, 

dependent on the "ideologies, motifs and language" of the t ime and with "discipl ine

specific meanings" (S inclair, 1 995, p.22 1 ) .  

Accountabil ity is  more than respons ib i l ity (Parker & Gould, 1 999). It is backward

looking, inquir ing into actions that have already taken place (Mulgan, 2000) and has the 

additional requirement of evaluating the performance (Hoskin, 1 996). Accountabi l i ty 

may encourage responsiveness but is d ifferent from responsiveness, in that it requires a 

justification of conduct (Mulgan, 2003) .  Accountabil ity is not the same as transparency 

given that transparency does not constitute a real form of accountabi l ity (Fisher, 2004), 

but transparency is an important requi rement for accountabi l ity (Bovens, 2007a). 

Despite its complex, variable and contestable meaning (Bovens, 2007a), accountabi l ity 

has been w idely referred to as the 'giving and demanding of reasons for conduct' (for 

example, Bovens, 2007a; Day & Kl ien, 1 987; Pol l itt, 2003 ;  Robert & Scapens, 1 985 ;  

Romzek & Dubnick, 1 998) in wh ich people are required to explain and take 

responsib i l ity for their actions (Roberts & Scapens, 1 985) .  Specifical ly, accountabi l ity is  

about an obl igation: the person or organisation entrusted with the responsib i l i ty (the 

accountor) is obliged to explain and j ustify their conduct to the person or organisation 

who assigned the responsibil ity (the accountee) (Day & Kl ien, 1 987; Gray & Jenkins, 

1 993). In  this regard, the accountees are given certain ' rights' to request explanations 

(Goddard, 2005). 

The obl igations for explaining and j usti fying are met when the accountor provides the 

accountee with information on the accountor's actions and/or conduct. This includes 

information on activities, processes, output, outcomes or performance - both financial 
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and overal l  performance (Laughlin, 1 990;  Patton, 1 992; Shende & Bennett, 2004). 

Subsequently, the accountee has an opportunity to ask further questions about the 

information provided (Bovens 2007a). The informing aspect impl ies one way 

transmission, or comm unication of information from the accountor to the accountee. 

The informing aspect also indicates transparency in reporting wh ich is important to 

enhance accountabi l ity as control purpose (Aucoin & Hientzman, 2000). Explanation 

and j ustification of such information indicates answerabi l ity (Brinkerhoff, 200 I ), which 

is the essence of accountab i l ity. 

I n  addition to the aspects of informing, explaining and j ustifying, accountabi l ity also 

requires the possib i l ity of sanctions, where an accountee has the right to deliver 

j udgement (Bovens 2 007a; Mulgan, 2000) by imposing formal or informal sanctions 

(for example, disc ip l inary measures or negative public ity) if the actions of, and answers 

by, the accountor are unsatisfactory to the accountee (Bovens 2007a; Keohane, 2003). 

J udgement or assessment of performance is important to stimulate improvements in 

pol icy, organisations and management (Aucoin & Hientzman, 2000).  According to 

Aucoin and Hientzman, the aspect of judgement or assessment of performance 

h ighl ights the purpose of accountabi l i ty as continuous improvement. 

The current research attempts to make the concept of accountabil ity more defined for 

the purpose of empirical analysis. As Reed (2004) argues, "the prec ise meaning [of 

accountabil ity] depends on implementat ion variables within speci fic contexts which 

change over time" (p. l ) .  For the purpose of th is research, accountabi I ity is  referred to as 

an obligation to render an account where one party (the accountor) is accountable to 

another (the accountee), in that the accountor must account for h i s/her conduct or 

actions. This requ i res not only a report but also an explanation and j ustification of 

conduct/actions by the accountor to the accountee, who has the right to obtain the 

information for evaluation purposes. Explanation and justification of actions taken 

imp l ies a literal accounting/reporting function (Patton, 1 992).  The current research's 

definition of accountabil ity is re lated to the two aspects that encompass the core 

meaning of accountabi l ity as discussed earl ier - communication  o f  information and 

answerabi l ity (which involves explanation and j ustification). A lthough judgement has 

a l so been recognised as one of the core meanings of accountabi l ity, it is not the focus of 

th is  research. This i s  because the aspects of communicat ion of information and 

answerabil ity are the components of accounting and reporting (the concern of the 
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current research), while j udgment (which has the possibi l ity of a sanction) does not have 

an account ing interpretation (Van Peursem, 1 992). In addition, given the fact that 

accountabi l ity is a mult ifaceted concept, the current research also recogni ses that there 

are various classifications o f  accountabi l ity. These are discussed in the fol lowing 

section. 

4.3 C LASSIFICATION O F  ACCOUNT ABILITY 

A broad range of accountabi l ity classifications have been identified in the l iterature. 

However, the classification s  that are relevant to the current research can be divided into 

two dimensions - first, on the basis of the relationship between accountor and 

accountee, and second, on  the basis of the scope of account. The accountabi l ity 

class ifications under these two dimensions are shown in Table 4. 1 .  

Table 4. 1 :  Accountability Classification 

Accountability Classification� · Prior Studies 

Dimension of relationship: 
Hierarchical/political/vertical accountability Bovens (2007b ); Brinkerhoff (200 I ); 

Romzek (2000); Sinclair ( 1 995); 
Public/social accountabil ity Bovens (2007b); S inclair ( 1 995) 
Legal/administrative/diagonal accountabi l ity Bovens (2007b); Romzek (2000) 
Horizontal accountabi lity Bovens (2007b) 

Dimension of the scope of account: 
Accountab i l i ty for probity and legal i ty/financial Bovens (2007b ); Brinkerhoff (200 I ); 
accountabi l ity or code Gray & Jenkins ( 1 993 ) ; Stewart ( 1 984) 
Process/procedural accou nta bi I i t  y Bovens (2007b ); Stew art ( 1 984) 
Performance and programme/managerial accountabi l ity or Bri nkerhoff (200 I ); Gray & Jenkins 
code ( 1 993); Sinclair ( 1 995) ;  S tewart ( 1 984) 
Policy accountabi lity Stewart ( 1984) 

4.3. 1 D imension of Relationship 

As shown in Table 4 . 1 ,  the c lassifications that concern the part ies involved in the 

accountabi l ity relationship include hierarchical, publ ic, legal and horizontal 

accountabil ity. Accountabi l ity is classified as hierarchical if it involves a supervisor

subord inate relationship where the supervisors c losely supervi se and control the 

subordinates (Bovens, 2007b; Romzek, 2000). Part ies involved in this c lassification of 
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accountabi l ity include the min ister, the president, the commander-in-ch ief, and head of 

department or  manager (Romzek, 2000). 

Whi le h ierarchical accountabi l ity is  based on the superior-subordinate re lationship, 

pol itical accountabil ity is based on the chain of princ ipal-agent (Romzek, 2000). Public 

servants and their organisations as agents, who have been delegated authority by the 

cabinet m in isters, are accountable  to the ministers who must render politica l account to 

parl iament. Parl iament, through the people' s representatives, is accountable to the 

electorates (the ultimate principal) .  As shown in Table 4. 1 ,  political accountabi l ity is 

also proposed by Bovens (2007b );  Brinkerhoff (200 I) and Sinclair ( 1 995) .  Vertical 

accountabi l ity can also be incorporated into the hierarch ical/political classification. As 

proposed by Bovens (2007b ), it is normally due to h ierarchical accountabi l ity or a 

princ ipal-agent relationship between the accountor and accountee and involves formal 

authority or contractual agreement requiring the accountor to give an account. Direct 

accountabi l ity to the publ ic at large (not l im ited to the electorates) and to interested 

parties is c lassified as public accountabi l ity. This is seen as a sub-set of  pol itical 

accountabi l ity. It involves the relationship between the accountor and the groups 

concerned with the action of the accountor (Sinclair, 1 995). In this respect, public 

accountabi l ity is similar to what Bovens (2007b) refers to as social accountabi l ity. 

Legal accountability involves accountabi l ity to external oversight w ith established 

mandates such as "legislation and constitutional structures" (Romzek, 2000, p.25). 

Such oversight in the form of financial and performance audits is conducted by the 

auditor general. According to Romzek (2000), th is accountabi l ity class ification may also 

involve external investigation and monitoring where, for example, a special commission 

is set up to carry out inquiry and investigation on certain cases that attract public 

interest. Legal accountabi l ity is usual ly based on specific responsibil i ties and detailed 

legal standards (Bovens, 2007b). Although Bovens (2007b) relates legal accountabi l ity 

only to the involvement of legal bodies such as courts, the legal accountabi l ity 

classification  as defined by Romzek (2000) is more flexible and may inc lude the 

involvement of external supervisory/control bodies such as auditors, courts and 

parliamentary special commissions. Accountabil ity to external supervisory or oversight 

bodies is referred to in Bovens's (2007b) study as adm inistrative accountabi l ity and can 

therefore be incorporated into Romzek' s  (2000) legal accountabi l ity class ification. 

Diagonal accountabil ity (Bovens, 2007b), which invol ves the relationship between the 
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accountor and a supervisory authority can also be i ncorporated into the legal 

accountabi l ity c lassification. 

I n  horizontal accountabi lity, a h ierarch ical or a principal-agent relationship between the 

accountor and the accountee is general ly lacking. It does not involve any formal 

obl igations or contractual agreements to render an account: the rendering of account to 

the accountee is on a voluntary basis .  

The nature of the accountabi l ity re lationship in a publ ic sector organisation with in  these 

classifications can be of a formal or informal nature. The nature is formal when it is 

authorised or legally/contractually defined (Hayl lar, 2000). In this relationship, the 

accountor and the accountee understand and accept the requirement to report, and the 

right to sanction (Keohane, 2003).  This  is simi lar to Stewart's ( 1 984) ' bond of 

accountabi l ity' relat ionship. The bond o f  accountabi l ity recognises the responsibi l ity of 

one party to another and being able to hold to account is the essence of an accountabi l ity 

relationship. In this accountabi l ity relationship structure, a contractual agreement is  

often necessary to hold the accountor to account. 

The accountabi l ity relationship is considered informal when it is based on "a sense of 

moral obl igation" or "social norms" (Hayl lar, 2000, p.68): In this accountabi l ity 

re lationship, there IS no authority for the accountee to infl uence the accountor's 

d iscretions, for example, the accountee has no power to punish the accountor if the 

accountor chooses not to provide an account. This is  s imi lar to Stewart's ( 1 984) ' l ink of  

accountabi l ity' relationship, which only involves an informal recognition of 

responsiveness. The l ink of accountabi l ity may also be referred to as a weaker type of  

' responsive accountabil ity' in  which the accountee has no particu lar rights to 

information, and depends on the w i l l ingness of the accountor to take their views into 

account (Hayl lar, 2 000). Although not of the same order as a bond of accountab i l i ty, a 

l ink of accountabi l ity p lays an important role in supporting accountabi l ity and can in  

itse lf  induce change and improvement. Both bonds and l inks of accountabi l ity are 

expected to be ev idenced in the Malaysian setting. This  is discussed in Section 4 .6 .  

I n  th is  regard, h ierarchical and legal accountabi l ity can be regarded as a bond of 

accountabil ity re lationship as they i nvolve a formal contract between the accountor and 

the accountee. Publ ic accountabi l ity can be seen as either a bond or l ink of 
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accountabi l ity relationship depending on whether or not there is a formal contract 

between the two parties. Horizontal accountabil ity, as it does not involve a formal 

agreement or contract, is obviously a l ink of accountabi l ity relationship. 

4.3.2 Dimension of the Scope of Account  

The dimension of  the scope of  account is  concerned with what the accountor is  

accountable for. As shown in Table 4 . 1 ,  four main accountabi l ity classifications are 

categorised under th is dimension. 

According to Stewart ( 1 984), accountab i l ity for probity and legal ity (accountabi l ity by 

standards) concerns the account for an appropriate use of funds or financial resources in  

accordance with rules and regulations. This  is referred to  by Gray and Jenkin's ( 1 993)  

as  the financial code. Combining legal and economic rational ities (as identified by 

Diesing, 1 962), the financial code embodies rules of  authorisation and appropriation. A 

financial code of accountabil ity has a lso been suggested in  Bovens's (2007b) and 

Brinkerhoff's (200 I) stud ies. 

Process accountabi l ity, also referred to by Stewart ( 1 984) as accountabi l ity by 

standards, relates to the account for the details of processes. Th is  is s im ilar to Boven's  

(2007b) classification of procedural accountability. 

Performance and programme accountabi l ity accounts for total work performance in  

ach ieving specific goals, concentrates on results and i s  accountabi l ity by standards and 

judgement (Stewart, 1 984). This classification of accountabi l ity is referred to in Gray 

and Jenkins's ( 1 993) study as the managerial code. The manageria l code brings together 

aspects of legal, economic and technical rationalities, in that the code relies on rules, but 

the ru les are dependent on technical and economic rat ional ities. Th is  c lassification of 

accountabi l ity is also found in Sinclair ( 1 995) and Brinkerhoff (200 1 ,  p .6) who refer to 

it as performance accountability and re late it to "the production of outputs, de l ivery of  

services, accomplishment of  objectives and/or achievement of resu lts and impacts." 

Pol icy accountabi l ity involves a rendering of account on broad pol icy in relation to 

goals. This  is classified by Stewart ( 1 984) as the accountabi l ity by judgement, the 

highest in Stewart' s  ( 1 984) ladder of accountabi l ity. 
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The c lassifications of accountabil ity under the two dimensions are expected to be 

evidenced in the context o f  Malaysian local authorities. For the purpose of  this research 

- to investigate performance reporting practices and accountabi l ity o f  Malaysian local 

authorities, which is undertaken within the context of NPM - the c lassifications of 

publ ic accountabi l ity and performance are the focus. 

It i s  apparent from Table 4 . 1 that the accountabil ity c lassifications re levant to this 

research revolve around the issues of 'accountabi l ity to whom' and ' accountabi l ity for 

what ' .  

4.4 ACCOUNTABILITY TO WHOM? 

At its core, accountabi l ity is about a re lat ionship between the accountor and the 

accountee, which requ i res the accountor to be accountable to the accountee. The 

accountor is the one who accounts and is held to account and the accountee is the one 

who holds to account (Stewart, 1 984) and may include a specific person or an agency 

that has certain rights to make demands for reasons for the conduct o f  the accountor 

(Gray, Owen & Maunders, 1 987). 

The accountee in a pub I ic sector organisation may be identified based on the factors that 

indicate an accountabi l ity relationship - authorisation, support and impact factors 

(Keohane, 2003). According to Keohane (2003), the accountees are those who have the 

power of authorisation, those who are the providers of financial and/or pol itical support, 

and those who may be i mpacted by the dec isions or actions of the act ing and reporting 

party. These can be categorised into (i) the social accountee category which inc ludes 

cit izens, beneficiaries o f  public sector services and interest groups; ( i i )  the pol itical 

accountee category wh ich includes the min isters, voters and elected counci l members; 

and ( i i i )  the legal accountee category which includes independent or external 

supervisory entities ( Bovens, 2007b; Brinkerhoff, 200 1 ). Tower ( 1 993) refers to 

accountee groups as an organisation' s  stakeholders, who have a right to information 

concern ing the organ isation.  They are those who have an identifiable re lationship based 

on a contractual relationsh ip  with the organ isat ion (ASSC, 1 975 ; Boyne, Wi l l iams, Law 

& Walker, 2002; Freeman, 1 984). The stakeholders concerned may include resource 

providers (for examp le, employees, creditors, tax/rate payers, federal or state 

governments), recipients o f  goods and services ( for example, cl ients, tax/rate payers) 
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and oversight bodies (such as auditors) (Mulgan, 1 997). Further, Mulgan (2004) 

concludes that stakeholders are also those with d ifferent values and interests to the 

organisation - the social, economic and pol itical interests (Coy et al . ,  200 I ) . 

In this current research, the accountor is the Malaysian local authority as an agency and 

the accountees are those with social, econom ic, pol itical and legal interests in an 

organisation, who have the power of authorisation, provide financial or/and pol itical 

support; and/or may be impacted by or may affect the organisation. These represent a 

broad group of accountees, who can be seen as re levant stakeholders of  a publ ic sector 

organisation. This is consistent with the notion of NPM, in that the scope of 

'accountabil i ty to whom' has widened from the traditional, which concentrated on the 

responsibi l ity of ministers to parliament and publ ic servants to their  immediate superiors 

(Parker, 1 980), to include a broad group of stakeholders (Boyne et al . ,  2002; Parker & 
G uthrie, 1 993). Under N P M, the need to enhance accountabi l ity to the broad 

stakeholder groups, both w ithin an organisation and from the organisation to its external 

stakeholders, has been emphasised (Boyne et al . ,  2002) and is important to achieve an 

effective accountabi l ity (Hay l iar, 2000). 

Within this framework of accountees and based on the background of Malaysian local 

authorities d iscussed in Chapter Two, the accountees (stakeholders) of the Malaysian 

local authorities are identi fied. This is discussed in Section 4.6. 

4.5 ACCOUNT ABILITY FOR WHAT? 

' Accountabi l ity for what' i s  related to the accountor's scope of accountabi l ity. The 

interpretative frames that define each accountor's scope of accountabi l ity may be based 

on five rationalities identified by Diesing ( 1 962) - legal, economic, technical, social and 

pol itical . Legal rationality sets out the fundamental rules that are used by societies in 

promoting order, assign ing responsibi l ity, regulating differences, and containing 

confl ict. Economic rational ity specifies the economic calculus by which alternative ends 

and/or means are compared and is clearly related to techn ical rational ity, which outl ines 

the expert/knowledge-based criteria by which means are selected in re lation to ends. 

Social rationality sets out conditions which have to be met if social integration is to be 

maintained. In turn, it is related to political rationality, which stipulates the pragmatic 
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requirements for sustaining the integration of decision-making structures and processes 

(Degeling, Anderson & Guthrie, 1 996). Table 4.2 specifies the 'accountabi l ity for what' 

which is framed by these rational i t ies. 

Table 4.2: The Scope of Account  and Rationalities 

r . )-�:;:'>; ' ,' . .,; 'f.. �< 
Acco�ntability Classifications 
on 'the l,lasis of the Scope of 

Accou nt · .. ,· -,.;;- , 
Accountabi l i ty for probity and 
legality/financial accountabil ity 

Process/procedural 
accountabi l ity 
Policy accountab i l ity 

. 

. 
-�- ' ' :�- .-: . ' 

'' The Stop� of'A�count 
' 

(Accountability foa:_,Wbat) 
.,}-� ,;j. �· .�;b-' 

For probity, adequacy of 
internal controls, economic and 
efficient use of financial 
resources. 
For appropriate and effective 
processing procedures 
For the achievement of 
organisational goals in order to 
evaluate the effectiveness of 
pol icy. 

.. 
· Rationalities 

. 
,· . .  

·� ,+- .. ,, 
Legal and economic 

Legal and technical 

Pol itical and social 

Performance and programme For consistent and efficient Legal, economic and techn ical 
accountabi l i ty/managerial actions, decisions and costs, and 
accountabil ity effectiveness and qual ity of 

services. 
Source: D1esmg ( 1 962); Gray & Jenkms ( 1 993); Stewart ( 1 984); Smcla1r ( 1995); Bovens (2007b); 
Brinkerhoff ( 200 I ); Degel ing et a l .  ( 1 996) 

As shown in Table 4.2, accountabi l ity for probity and legality/financial accountabil ity 

combine legal and economic  rationalities and emphasise the accountabi l ity of the 

individual for probity, the adequacy of internal contro ls, and accountabi l ity for the 

economic and efficient use of financial resources.  Process/procedural accou ntabil i ty 

appears to d raw on the combination of legal and technical rationalities, in  that it relies 

on rules and technical aspects and relates to the accountor's accountabi l ity for fol lowing 

appropriate and effective processing procedures in producing outputs and del ivering 

services. The focus of the scopes of accountabi l ity on rules and regulations or fiscal 

compl iance, stewardship and probity has been recognised as the traditional focus of 

what is the account to be rendered. This is because, traditionally, pub I ic sector 

organisat ions and their officials were responsible for ensuring that the regulations and 

procedures were adhered to and budget expenditure l imits were not transgressed (Parker 

& Guthrie, 1 993).  The pol itical and social rationalities appear to have an influence on 

pol icy accountabil ity, which is concerned with the achievement of an organ isation's 

goals and comparison between achievements and expectations for evaluating the 

effectiveness of the policy. With recent moves towards new approaches such as N PM in 
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the public sector, the traditional focus o f  accountabi l i ty i s  inadequate because a greater 

emphasis  is placed on accounting for results or performance (Hood, 1 995), where the 

public sector entities, including local government/authorities, are required to specify 

their outputs and l ink outputs with outcomes (Ryan & Walsh, 2004) . In  addition, as 

stated by Renstcheler and Potter ( 1 996), the traditional focus is inadequate as the issues 

of effectiveness and qual ity of services are ignored. Therefore, in the NPM era, 

'accountabil ity for what' has extended beyond the tradit ional focus of accountabi l ity to 

include performance or managerial accountabi l ity (Hood, 1 99 1 ;  Parker & Guthrie, 

1 993). 

As also shown in Table 4.2, the perfo rmance and programme/managerial accountabi l ity 

combines legal, economic and technical rationalities in that it rel ies on rules, but the 

ru les are dependent on technical and economic rationalit ies. However, in contrast to the 

financial classificat ion of accountabi l ity, it emphasises the accountor's accountabi l ity 

for organisational integration, for regu larity and consistency in service provision and for 

economy and efficiency. Thus, the a l location of responsib i l ity for actions, decisions, and 

costs is an inherent feature of this accountabil i ty. With this accountabi l ity focus, public 

managers are obl iged to report on thei r  performance, giving an account of what has been 

done, what is being done and what is going to be done, all in a transparent manner 

(Fameti & Bestebreur, 2004). 

The current research is set within the context of NPM, and therefore, the extended scope 

of 'accountabi l ity for what' which emphasises performance is the focus of the research. 

Although the current research recognises  the importance of this scope of accountabi l ity, 

other scopes have not been ignored. This  is because performance accountabil ity and the 

scope of account are seen as being related. In order to provide efficient, effective and 

h igh qual ity services, financial resources are important. A proper and efficient use of  

financial resources is  necessary for financial accountabi l ity. In order to  carry out  the 

services in an economic, efficient and effective way, appropriate and effective 

procedures are important and th is  invo lves process/procedural accountabil ity. Final ly, 

performance accountabi l ity is  also re lated to pol icy accountabi l ity as performance 

achievement is associated with the achievement of organisational goals and the 

effectiveness of pol icy. These scopes of account with a part icular focus on performance 

accountabil ity and the d ischarge of such accountabi l ity are examined in this research.  
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The fol lowing section provides a discussion on accountabi l ity within the context of 

Malaysian local authorities. I t  identifies the accountees or stakeholders of the local 

a uthorities, the nature ofthe accountabi l ity relationship and the scope of the account that 

the authorities are accountable for. This is important as the objectives of this research 

i nvolve an identification of Malaysian local authorities' stakeholders ' understand ing of 

the concept of accountabi l ity and their relationship with local authorities. [n addition, 

the objectives of the research also involve identifying the stakeholders' informational 

expectations for assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities and their 

perceptions of the importance of infonnation for disclosure. To achieve this aim the 

stakeholders need to be identified as does the accountabi l ity relationship and the scope 

o f  account of local authorities. In this research, the discharge o f  scope of account of 

local authorities w ith a particular focus on perfonnance accountabi l ity is examined. 

4.6 ACCOUNTABILITY WITHIN MALA YSIAN LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

W ithin the general framework of accountees or stakeholders, the nature of the 

accountabi lity re lationship and the scope o f  account and based on the background of 

Malaysian local authorities (discussed i n  Chapter Two), the accountees (stakeholders) 

and the nature of the accountabi l ity re l ationship within the local authorities are 

identified. 

4.6. 1 Accountees (Stakeholders) of Malaysian Local Authorities 

As discussed in Chapter Two, local authorities within each state in Malaysia are under 

the jurisdiction of the respective state government. The state governments have a 

legislative power to control the affairs o f  the local authorities as stipulated in the 

Malaysian Local Government Act 1 976 (Act 1 7 1 ,  Section 9 1 2) . The governments, 

through thei r  mayor or president, authorise the local authorities to act on their behalf for 

the operation of  certain tasks and responsib i l it ies consistent with the mandates given by 

1 2 Section 9 of Act 1 7 1  empowers the state authority to issue directions of  a general character to a 

local authority on the pol icy to be fol lowed i n  the exercise of the powers conferred and the duties imposed 

on the local authority by or under this Act in relation to matters which appear to the state authority to 

affect the interests of the local authority area. 
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the e lectorates of the state government. I n  addition, the local authorities accept the 

transfer of resources in terms of annual grants and responsibil it ies from their respective 

state governments. Thus, the accountabi l ity relationship between the local authorities 

and the state governments is justified by the factors of authorisation and financial 

support. This is also consistent theoretical ly with Laugh I in ( 1 990) who suggests that the 

accountabi l ity relationship  is establ ished when there is a transfer o f  resources and 

responsibil ities from the princ ipal (the state government) to the agent (the local 

authority). 

Whi le the relationships between local authorities and the state governments are direct, 

the authorities do not have a direct re lationship with the federal government. As 

discussed in Chapter Two, the federal government, through the Min istry of Local 

Government, deals with local authorities only in terms of advice on pol icies and legal 

matters and transfer of grants for development projects in the locality through the state 

governments. As stipulated in  the Federal Constitution (Article 95A), the federal 

government, through the state governments, supervises or monitors the local authorities 

in relation to policy matters to ensure that the conduct or actions of local authorities is 

consistent with the national policies. Therefore, both the state and federa l  governments 

are the accountees or stakeholders of the local authorities with political and economic 

interests. While the state governments have a direct power of authorisation and directly 

provide fi nancial support, the federal government only has an indi rect power of 

authorisation and indirectly provides financial support. Based on the accountabil ity 

classifications discussed in Section 4.3, the accountabil ity between local authorities and 

the government relates to h ierarchical or political accountabi l ity. 

Within the context of Malaysian local authorities, the publ ic, which inc ludes tax/rate 

payers and service consumers, provides financial support mainly through assessment 

taxes/rates and charges, for the authorities to carry out their functions. These groups 

may also be impacted by the decisions and actions of the authorities. W ith the current 

system o f the local authorities' administration, there is no group of publ ic as voters. This 

is  s ign i ficantly different from the local government of other international jurisdictions 

that operate an electoral system in the elect ion of mayors and counc i l lors, where the 

publ ic group may also be c lassified as voters who provide political support. The voters, 

as the accountees, have a legitimate right to hold the accountor accountable. Therefore, 

the public within the context of Malaysian local authorities can on ly be c lassi fied as the 

accountees or stakeholders w ith economic and social interests. 
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There are a number of interest groups involved within the context of Malaysian local 

authorities. These groups may include the media or non-governmental organisations 

(NGOs) (for example, a traders' or citizens' associat ion). They do not provide financial 

support but they may be impacted on by the decis ions and actions of the authorities. 

I nterest groups such as the media may also affect local authorities and their officials by 

publ icly reporting their actions or conduct. Therefore, based on the impact factor, the 

interest groups are the accountees or stakeho lders with a social interest in the local 

authorities. The accountabi l ity between local authorities and the publ ic and interest 

groups is c learly a publ ic or social accountabi l ity as d i scussed in the earlier sect ion. 

Other parties that also provide financial support to local authorities include the group of 

creditors that comprise suppl iers and lenders. They may also be impacted by the 

decisions or actions of the authorities, especially in relation to financial decisions. 

Therefore, creditors are c lassified as the accountees or stakeholders who have an 

economic interest in the local authorities. The accountabi l ity of local authorities to the 

creditors can be class ified as vertical accountabi l ity, although it does not involve 

hierarchy. However, th is accountabil ity relationship is normally based on a contractual 

agreement.  

The auditor general in the re lationship with local authorities acts as an overs ight body. 

Parl iament authorises the aud itor general to mon itor/supervise or control the conduct or 

actions o f  the authorities and their officials to ensure that the local authorities comply 

with rules and regulations. The auditor general is responsible for providing an annual 

report to the King and presenting the report in the parl iament of the federal government. 

The aud i tor general's report of each state government (which includes the report on 

local authorities of the state) is a lso provided to the state government to be presented in 

the state assembly (Othman, 200 I). Although the local authorities do not have direct 

accountabi l i ty to the auditor, they are required to respond to any concerns raised by the 

auditor. Consistent with Bovens (2007a, 2007b) the auditor general is classified as a 

legal accountee. The auditor general is considered the accountee or stakeho lder with a 

legal interest and with an indirect power of  authorisation to ensure that the 

accountab i l ity of the local authorities is improved. Based on the earl ier d i scussion on 

accountab i l ity classifications, the accountabi lity re lationship between local authorities 

and the auditor general can be referred to as legal, administrative or d iagonal 

accountab i l ity. 
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Other parties a lso related to local authorities include other government agencies, for 

example the Department of Environment or the Department of Works. Local authorities 

m ay discuss environmental management programmes with the Department of 

Environment and infrastructure development with the Department of Works. These 

pub l ic entities m ay affect the deci sions and actions of the local authorities and are 

therefore also identified as the accountees or stakeholders of local authorities. This  kind 

of accountabi l ity can be classified as horizontal accountabi l ity. 

Within the local authorities, the parties involved include other employees or supporting 

personnel ,  the heads of departments (the management) and a panel of counci l l ors. As 

d iscussed in Chapter Two, other employees are directly accountable to the management. 

The heads of departments are accountable to the mayor/president who is then 

accountable to the panel of counci l lors. The panel of counci l lors (which is chai red by 

the mayor/president) is direct ly accountable to the state government. These 

accountabi l ity re l ationships are hierarchical and justified by the factor of authorisation. 

Therefore, the council lors and the heads of departments are the accountees or 

stakeholders who have an econom ic interest in local authorities. In add ition to an 

economic interest, the counci l lors, who are usual ly polit icians from the state rul ing 

party, may a lso h ave a pol itical interest in the authorities. Further, the establ ishment of 

the accountabi l ity relationship between a local authority, through its mayor or president, 

and its employees (the management and other employees), may be justified by the 

impact factor. The employees may be impacted by the decisions and actions of the local 

authority as an employer such as decisions related to salary and other financial benefits. 

This indicates that employees have an economic interest in local authorities. Therefore, 

they are also the accountees or stakeholders of local authorities. 

The accountees or stakeholders of local authorities that were identified are summarised 

in  Table 4.3 . Consistent with Boyne et a l .  (2002), F lack and Ryan (2004) and Steccolini 

(2004), the accountees who are outs ide the local authorities are classified in this 

research as external stakeholders and those who are within the local authori ties are the 

internal stakeholders. 
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Table 4.3: The Accountees (Stakeholders) of Malaysian Local Authorities 

" )��t·� Accountee$ ;:,-;. ;V ·-Justific�tion�f6r the )'''fj;tJ.nterest ' ' . .,< \ ' if ' >Occurren£e ,, • it-
� 'r-4.!'' 

Outside the local authorities (external stakeholders) 

State governments Authorisation Political and economic 
F inancial support 

Federal government Authorisation Pol i tical and economic 
F inancial support 

Auditor general Authorisation Legal 
Public as tax/rate payers F inancial support and impact Economic and social 
Public as service consumers F inancial support and impact Economic and social 
Creditors ( lenders/suppliers) Financial support and impact Economic 
I nterest groups (e.g. media, citizen's Impact Social 
association, trader's association and 
other government entities) 
Other government agencies Impact Social 

Within the local authorities (internal stakeholders) 

Panel of counci l lors Authorisation Political and economic 
Management (head of departments) Authorisation and impact Economic 
Other employees Impact Economic 

The current research takes into account views from samples of a l l  stakeholders of the 

local authorities as shown in Table 4 . 3  (except for other government agencies). Samples 

of the groups or representatives of the state governments, the public, creditors, the 

m anagement, and other employees are involved in the first stage of the research process 

(the questionnaire survey). The expert representatives of these groups as wel l  as of the 

federal government, the auditor general and the citizen's  association (representing the 

interest group) are involved in the second stage of the research process (De lphi 

exercise). This is d iscussed in Chapter S ix. Having specified the stakeholders or 

accountees, the nature of the accountabi l ity relationship between the local authorities 

and their stakeholders is discussed in the fol lowing section. 

4.6.2 The Nature of Accountability Relationships within Malaysian Local 

Authorities 

F igure 4.2 shows the nature of the accountabil ity relationship between Malaysian local 

authorities and their accountees or stakeholders as identified in Section 4.6. 1 .  This 

relationship invo l ves both the formal nature (the bond of accountabil ity) and the 

informal nature (the l ink of accountabi l ity). 
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As shown in Figure 4 .2, the formal nature of the accountabi l ity relationship, or 

Stewart's ( 1 984) bond of accountabi l ity, in  the context of Malaysian local authorities is  

apparent between both the local authorities and the accountees outside the authorities -

the state government and creditors - and between the authorities and their employees 

(the head of departments/management and other employees) .  As discussed in the earlier 

section, the accountabil ity relationship between local authorities and the state 

governments is stipu lated in  Section 9 of  Act 1 7 1  and therefore the relat ionship is  

lega l ly defined. 

Figure 4.2 :  The Nature of the Accountability Relationship between Malaysian 
Local Authorities and Their Accountees/Stakeholders 

� Federal govemment � -

Auditor general � 
... , -----------. ' , ,  State government 

' , , _ _ _ _ i 
Public as 
tax/rate payers 

+ - - - - - - -

Public as consumers � - - -

Interest groups ..,. _ _ _ _ _  _ 

Other government ..,. _ _ _ _ _  _ 

agencies 

Creditors �.,. ___ 11 
(lenders/suppliers) 

Local authorities 
(City/municipal/district councils) 

Panel of counci l lors 

Mayor/lresident 

t � 
Head of departments 

(management) 

t � 
Other employees 

Key: _____. The bond of accountability 

- - - - � The link of accountability 

Source: Ryan, Dunstan & Brown 2002; Stewart, 1 984 
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The accountabi l ity relationship between the authorities and their creditors is c lassified 

as one of a formal nature as it involves a contractual agreement that sets out the 

responsibi l ity of one party to another in respect o f  resources suppl ied or consumed. 

Therefore, through the mayor/president, the local authorities are d i rectly and legally 

accountable to the creditors. Within the local authorities, the formal nature of the 

accountabi l ity relationship occurs between the authorities and the employees comprising 

the head of departments/management and other employees. Contracts relating to 

condit ions of employment create responsibi l it ies and expectations for both the local 

authority, through the mayor/president (as the employer), and its employees which gives 

rise to a formal nature (the bond) of the accountab i l ity relationship. 

On the other hand, as shown in F igure 4.2, the accountabil ity relationsh ips between the 

local authorities and the federal government, between the authorities and the auditor 

general, and between the authorities and the publ ic, the interest groups and other 

government agencies are informal in nature (the l i nk  of accountabi l ity). As d iscussed in 

Section 4.6. 1 ,  the federal government deals with local authorities ind irectly through the 

state governments and that is why the relationship  is considered to be of an informal 

nature .  

In  respect of  the relationship between the authorities and the pub! ic ,  the interest groups 

and other government agencies, there is a l im itation in terms of the abil ity of the public 

and the interest groups to impose direct sanctions ( for example via e lection) against the 

authorities' key officials. Section 1 42 of Act 1 7 1  only provides that "c itizens who are 

d issatisfied with the authority' s  performance have a right to make objections in  writing 

and are al lowed an opportun ity of being heard at the consequent enqu i ry". The public 

can make a direct submission to the local authority concerned, to the Publ ic Complaint 

Bureau of the Prime M inister's Department, or they can make public 

objections/complaints via the media. The Bureau may then rev iew the case and if 

necessary bring its findings to the attention of the relevant state government to take 

further action. Although the interest groups or other government agencies may impact 

the local authorities and thei r  officials there i s  no statutory provi sion for any interest 

groups to hold the local authorities accountable. Within this regime, the publ ic, the 

interest groups and other government agencies have no opportun ity to d i rectly hold local 

authorities to account; rather, any sanctions are imposed through a higher authority such 

as  the state government. In  the absence of the capacity for power, the accountability 



re lationship between the local authority and the broader public is therefore only in the 

form of an informal structure, which recognises an informal "recogn it ion of 

responsiveness" by local authorities (Stewart, 1 984, p.25).  

The informal  nature of the accountabi l ity re lationsh ip between the authorities and the 

auditor general exists because the auditor does not have the power of sanction over the 

conduct of the audited - the l ocal authorities. The authorities are only requ i red to 

respond to any concerns raised by the auditor. Therefore the 'responsiveness'  of the 

authorities to the auditor indicates the existence of only an informal nature of 

accountabi l ity relationship. The formal or the bond of accountabil ity relationship only 

occurs between the auditor general and the state and federal governments. 

4.6.3 The Scope of Account of Malaysian Local Authorities 

With regard to the state governments as the accountee or stakeholder, local authorities 

are required to keep proper records and books of account, as a result of the transfer of 

resources in terms of annual grants and responsibi l ities by the state governments 

(Section 53 ,  Act 1 7 1  ). In th is  respect, local authorities are accountable to the state 

governments for their performance in managing the responsibil ities and resources 

entrusted to them. Furthermore, the authorities are required to furnish a l l  relevant 

accounts and other information on their property and activities to the state authority 

(Section 9, Act 1 7 1  ) . This  ind icates that the state authority requires appropriate 

information about the range of local authority activities and related performance in 

which people are interested. In particular, the state authority needs information about the 

results or outcomes of local authority activities in order to be able to fulfi l  its 

responsibi l ities as an elected government. Based on the statutory provi s ion, the 

authorities are accountable to their respective state government for fiscal compl iance 

( i .e. accountabi l ity for probity and legal ity/financ ial accountabi l ity), for appropriate 

procedures ( i .e. process accountabi l ity) and for the effic iency and the effectiveness of 

the programmes/services undertaken (i.e. accountabil ity for programme and 

performance/managerial accountabi l ity). In addition to these scopes of accountabil ity, 

the scope of pol icy may also be involved in the accountabi l ity relationsh ip between the 

local authorities and their respective state government. This is because the authorities 

are accountable to the state government for the achievement of the goals  that are 

consistent with the government pol ic ies. 
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S im i larly, policy accountabil ity m ay also be involved in  the relationship between the 

authority and the federal government. As stipulated in Article SA of the Federal 

Constitution of M alaysia, the federal government, through the Ministry of Housing and 

Local Government, provides advice to and coordination of local authorities i n  matters 

especially related to legal and major pol icy issues. In addition, since the federal 

government also provides annual grants for the local authorities through their respective 

state governments, the authorities are indirectly accountable to the federal government 

for the proper u se of the financial resources in accordance with rules and regulations. 

Thus financ ial and process accountabi l ity are involved. 

Also consistent with the scope of account ('accountabi l ity for what' ) framework, the 

relationship between the Malays ian local authorities and the auditor general may 

involve accountabi l ity for fiscal compl iance (accountabi l ity for probity and 

legality/financia l  accountabi l ity) and for the exercise of appropriate procedures (process 

accountabil ity). The auditor general is  authorised by the federal government to mon itor 

the authorit ies ' use of funds or financial resources in accordance with rules and 

regulations. In add ition, the auditor is a lso authorised by the government to carry out a 

performance audit on local authority programmes/services (source: the Auditor General 

Department of Malaysia, 'W\vw.audit.gov.my , accessed on 20 Dec. 2007). In this regard, 

the authorities are accountable for the results and · outcomes of their 

programmes/services; that is ,  performance/managerial accountabil ity is involved. 

Although only an informal/indirect accountabil ity re lationship is involved, the 

authorities should be responsive to any questions or concerns related to financial and 

programme performance raised by the auditor and indirectly accountable to the auditor 

general as the overs ight body. 

The accountabi l ity relationship between Malaysian local authorities through the 

mayor/president and the panel of counci l lors involves a h ierarchical accountabi l ity. The 

local authorities, through the mayor or president, are accountable to the panel of 

council lors who are then accountable to the respective state government. Therefore, the 

scope of accountabi l ity or accountabil ity ' for what' is the same for the state government 

and the counci l lors. The authorities are accountable to the respective state government 

for fiscal compl iance and performance and the same scopes of accountabi l ity apply to 

accountabil ity to the counci l lors. 
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As to creditors, s ince a contractual agreement is commonly involved, creditors have the 

r ight to information about the abi l ity of the local authorities to pay their debts. This i s  

m ainly related to  financial performance and position and therefore the authorities are 

accountable for the proper use of their financial resources so as to ensure and mainta in 

their payment abi l ity. S imi larly, the accountabil ity of  local authorities to their  

employees is a lso based on contractual agreements - contracts relating to conditions of  

employment. Based on a common employment contract, local authorities are 

accountable for the welfare of their employees. Welfare inc ludes fair wages, 

contributions, employment ski l l  development and other benefits which are mainly 

dependent on the financial performance of  the authorities. Therefore the authorities are 

accountable for the proper use of entrusted fi nancial resources so that the welfare of 

their employees can be sustained. 

With regard to the public as tax payers and consumers as wel l  as the interest groups, 

although there is no spec ific authority that requires an account to be provided to these 

stakeholders or accountees, there are a number of provisions that al low them to get 

access to performance information of local authorities. In terms of financial 

performance, Section 60( 4) of Act 1 7 1  requires that audited financial accounts be 

publ ished in the government gazette. Based on th is statutory provision, the local 

authorities are accountable to the publ ic for fi nancial compl iance. Furthermore, Section 

23 of the act requires that all meetings of  local authorities be open to the public and to 

representatives of the press and Sect ion 27  provides for the minutes of all proceed ings 

of local authorities to be available for inspection by any tax/rate payer. These provisions 

are seen as providing the publ ic, including the interest groups, with some access to other 

information (in addition to financial information). However, as there is no specific 

provision for a local authority to provide information other than audited financial 

accounts to the publ ic, the public's right to hold the authority to account for more 

comprehensive information including financial, process, performance/managerial, and 

pol icy information, as suggested by Degel ing et al. ( 1 996), is l im ited. Evidence of th i s  

l im itation is expected to  be found i n  the current research. 

In recent times, there has been increased publ ic interest in the performance of Malaysian 

local authorities; further, these authorities have undergone a significant transformation 

towards NPM-type management (as discussed in the introduction chapter). Th is  

indicates that the expectations of local authority stakeholders for information (relating to 
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the broader scope of accountabi l ity suggested by Degeling et al . , 1 996) need to be 

examined more closely. This is provided i n  the current research. Speci fical ly, as 

accountabi l ity for d ifferent things may lead to preferences for d ifferent types of 

information (Patton, 1 992), the current research attempts to identify t he information 

expected by various groups of stakeholder. The aim is to compare and analyse the 

expectations of the various groups of stakeholder with what is being reported, as wel l  as 

to determine the extent to which accountabi l ity is being discharged by M alaysian local 

authorities. 

4.7 THE DISCHARGE O F  ACCOUNTABILITY 

Accountabi l ity requires appropriate and accurate information to be reported to 

accountees. Traditional ly, as the focus of accountabi l ity has been on fi nancial or fiscal 

compl iance, accountabil ity has been discharged through financial reporting - the 

reporting of financial information which inc ludes financial viabi l ity and the costs of 

providing services (Miah, 1 990). In this  regard, financial statements have been used to 

provide reports on organ i sational activity and audited financial reports have been the 

primary means for the d ischarge of financia l  accountabil ity. However, financial 

i nformation, although important to accountabi l i ty, if used alone, w i l l  l im it the basis of 

accountabi l ity (Stewart, 1 984). As Patton ( 1 992) argues, a complex environment l ike the 

publ ic sector with its many d imensions of accountabi l ity, may lead to d ifferent types of 

information and disclosure requirements. This impl ies that diverse reports that include 

both financial and non-financial information are necessary. This information is most 

commonly included in general-purpose annual reports which contain both financial and 

non-financial information. 

Whi le annual reports have been recognised as a medium for the d ischarge of 

accountabil ity, alternative mechanisms are also widely recognised as being important to 

d ischarging accountabi l ity in the public sector (Stanley, Jennings & Mack, 2008). 

Therefore, annual reports should not be seen as the only means of d ischarging 

accountabi l ity (Coy & Pratt, 1 998). Among others, the a lternative mechanisms may 

include personal contacts (Ryan et al., 2002a) and newspaper reports (Kloot & Martin, 

2000; Mack & Ryan, 2003) .  However, ann ual reports are the only comprehensive 

statement available to various stakeholders (Boyne & Law, 1 99 1 ;  Mack & Ryan, 2003) 

65 



and are considered as a primary accounting reporting mechanism, despite them not 

reporting on the overall accountabil ity of the agency (Boyne & Law, 1 99 1 ;  Ryan et al . ,  

2002a; Coy et al., 200 I ) . The current research recognises general purpose annual 

reports as a primary means for the discharge of greater accountabil i ty as prescribed by 

the notion of NPM. 

In the context ofNPM, with the extended accountabil ity focus, the reporting of financial 

information alone is no longer sufficient for effective accountabil ity. Accountabi l ity in 

the context of NPM requires  more than financial information. While the quantity and 

qual ity of · information have been the concern for an effective development of 

accountabi l ity (Mulgan, 1 997; Martin, 1 997), an accountabil ity information system 

should a l so report on al l  levels of Stewart's ladder (Goddard & Powe l l, 1 994) - from 

accountabi l ity for probity and legality which deals with the legal ity of expenditure, 

through to process accountabil ity and final ly to performance, programme and policy 

accountabi l ity, which is concerned with actions and activities achieved. This involves 

the reporting of comprehensive, accurate and appropriate information about the 

cond ition, performance, activities (the nature of services provided and the quality of 

service del ivery), progress budgets, accounts and other financial indicators to al l  

stakeholders with a social, economic and/or polit ical interest (Coy & Dixon, 2004; 

Devas & Grant, 2003 ). 

In addition, the arrival of N PM with its emphasis on results and performance and a cal l 

for greater and improved accountabil ity (Broadbent & Guthrie, 1 992; Hood, 1 99 1 ;  

Mulgan & Uhr, 200 1 ), has seen the emergence of performance reporting a s  an important 

management tool in promoting the aspects of NPM (Norman & Gregory, 2003). In this 

regard, the theoretical framework of accountabi l ity, in the context of N PM ,  suggests that 

performance reporting should provide appropriate, accurate and comprehensive 

information and involve reporting to wider audiences (Coy et al . ,  200 1 ) .  The wider 

audiences in the context of th is research encompass all relevant stakeholders of 

Malaysian local authorities d iscussed in Section 4.3 . 1 .  Arguably, therefore, performance 

reporting through the medium of annual reports is important for the discharge of greater 

accountabi l ity in the context of N PM and Malays ian local authorities. The annual 

reports of Malaysian local authorities are examined in the current research to provide 

evidence as to the extent that the local authorities have d ischarged their accountabi l ity to 
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the ir  accountees or stakeholders through reporting. The fol lowing chapter provides a 

framework of performance reporting  and the discharge of  accountabi l ity. 

4.8 CHAPTER SUMMARY 

Within the theoretical framework of accountabi l ity and in the context of NPM and the 

M alaysian local authorities, this research treats accountabi l ity as a relationship between 

the accountor (Malaysian local authorities through their president/mayor) and key 

accountees or stakeholders. In terms of 'accountabi l ity to whom',  although the notion of 

hierarchical accountabil ity is re levant, pol itical accountabi l ity, public accountabi l ity and 

legal/administrative accountabi l ity are considered important in order to promote greater 

accountabil ity to a l l  relevant stakeholders. In terms of 'accountabi l i ty for what ' ,  the 

foc us is on accountabi l ity for performance but the importance of the traditional scope of 

accountabil ity for fiscal compl iance and probity has not been ignored, for example, 

financial information reported in traditional financial statements is also considered and 

analysed in the current research. This resonates with the notion of accountabi l ity in the 

context of NPM.  As the NPM-type reforms have been implemented in Malaysia, as 

d iscussed in Chapter one, it is expected that the local authorit ies are accountable not 

only for the proper use of financial resources but also for service performance and not 

only to the higher authority but a l so to other relevant stakeholders. it is not the intention 

o f  the current research to 'test' the theoretical framework of accountabi l ity, but rather 

the theory is used to guide empirical investigations. The theoretical framework of 

accountabi l ity that is discussed in this chapter, along with the framework of 

performance reporting that is d iscussed in the fol lowing chapter guide the empirical 

investigations. The relationship  between the theoretical framework and the empirical 

i nvestigations are shown in Figure 4 . 3 .  

As i l lustrated in Figure 4.3, the theory of  accountabi l ity provides a framework for the 

meaning and c lassification of accountabil ity. In addition, the theory also provides a 

framework for the expectations o f  key accountees or stakeholders involved in an 

accountabi l ity re lationship, especial ly in terms of ' accountabil ity to whom' in the publ ic 

sector in general and in the context of NPM and Malaysian local authorities spec i fical ly. 
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Figure 4.3: Theoretical Framework: Empirical Investigation 
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Further, the theory provides a framework for the scope of 'accountabi l ity for what' i n  

relation to both the traditional and N P M  focuses as well as i n  the context of Malaysian 

local  authorities. F ina l ly, the theoretical framework of accountab i l ity suggests the 

importance of performance reporting through the medium of annual reports to promote 

greater accountabi l ity in the context of N PM.  The theoretical framework of  

accountabi l ity is used to  underpin the empirical investigations, as stated in sequence 

(numbered 1 to 4) in F igure 4.3, in the context of Malaysian local authorities. 

The theoretical framework of accountabi l ity, along with the framework of performance 

reporting that is d i scussed in the fol lowing chapter (Chapter Five) are applied to the 

four empirical investigations that are centred on the research objectives; 

I .  To explore the concept of accountabil ity from the perspective of Malaysian 

stakeholders and the stakeholders' understanding of their re lationship with local 

authorities ( Invest igation I, Figure 4 .3) .  

2.  To identify the type of information that a broad group of stakeholders expect to 

enable them to assess and monitor the performance of Malaysian local authorities 

( Investigation 2, F igure 4.3). 

3 .  To identify the stakeholders' perceptions of the importance o f  information items for 

d isclosure (Investigation 2, Figure 4 .3) .  

4 .  To identify experts' perceptions of and agreement on the information necessary for 

assessing and mon itoring the performance o f  local authorities and the importance of 

such information for disclosure ( Investigation 2, Figure 4.3) .  

5 .  To develop a special purpose disclosure index to assess the extent and quality of 

performance information publ ished in  annual reports of Malaysian local authorities 

( Investigation 2, Figure 4.3). 

6 .  To evaluate the extent and qual ity o f  disclosure of performance reporting within the 

annual reports by applying the developed disc losure index ( Investigation 3, Figure 

4.3) .  

7 .  To ascertain whether the informational and disclosure expectations of stakeholders 

are being met ( Investigation 4, F igure 4 .3) .  

8 .  To ascertain the extent to which accountabil ity ts being discharged through 

performance reporting (Investigation 4, F igure 4.3). 
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O veral l ,  the current research recognises that at its core, accountab i l ity is about the 

relationship between the accountor and the accountee. The accountabi l ity aspects of 

communication of information and answerabi l ity (which involves elements of 

explanation and j ustification), are relevant to the current research, in  that they recognise 

that accountabi l ity may be discharged by means of performance reporting through the 

medium of annual reports in order to discharge accountabi l ity to a w ider group of 

stakeholders. It is argued that this could i mprove both performance and public 

accountabi l ity. The next chapter provides a review of l iterature on performance 

reporting and accountabi l i ty, stakeholders and their information requirements, and the 

use of a disc losure index in evaluating performance reporting through the medium of 

annual reports. 
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CHAPTER FIVE 

PERFORMANCE R EPORTING AND THE DISCHARGE OF 

ACCOUNT ABILITY 

5. 1 INTRODUCTION 

This chapter provides a review of l iterature surrounding the concepts of performance 

and performance reporting as wel l  as the issues relating to the d ischarge of 

accountabi l ity through reporting. Further, it provides reviews of prior studies on 

user/stakeho lder information requ i rements, disclosure studies that focus on the use of an 

index in measuring levels of d i sc losure and relevant Malaysian studies. The i nsights 

gained from these reviews, along with the accountabi l ity framework discussed in 

Chapter Four provide guidance and conceptual understanding for undertaking empirical 

investigations aimed at examining the performance reporting practices and 

accountab i l ity of Malaysian local authorities. The rev iew of literature ( in  Chapter Four 

and this chapter) is the 'theory position' phase in the application of the MRT 

perspective adopted by th is research. 

Following the introduction section, the concepts of performance and performance 

reporting are discussed in Section 5 .2. Section 5 .3  then provides a discussion on the role 

of performance reporting for the d ischarge of accountabil ity. A review of prior studies 

on user/stakeholder information requirements is provided in Section 5 .4.  The use of a 

disclosure index in prior studies in measuring disclosure levels is discussed i n  Section 

5 . 5 .  Section 5 .6 provides a rev iew of relevant Malaysian studies which is important for 

providing an understanding of what has happened in re lation to performance reporting 

in the Malaysian context and to provide j ustification for the current research.  Section 

5 .7  concludes the chapter with a d iscussion on the skeletal framework ' sketched' from 

the accountab i l ity framework discussed in Chapter Four and the review of l iterature 

provided i n  this chapter that leads to the research questions. Section 5 . 8  provides the 

chapter summary. The position of  this chapter in the overall thesis is shown in Figure 

5 . 1 .  
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Figure 5. 1 :  Thesis Structure: the Position of Chapter Five 
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5.2 PERFORMANCE AND PERFORMANCE REPORTING 

In  the public sector the concept of  performance is complex and multi-dimensional 

(Andrews, Boyne, Law & Walker, 2005) .  Performance has been defined as "the product 

or results that ensue from the use of delegated resources and powers" (McCrindell, 

1 994, p.30) .  The product or result may be referred to as an achievement in relation to 

objectives, plans or intentions (Department of Treasury and F inance of Tasmania, 

1 997). Performance may focus on goal accomplishment and may also cover broad 

d imensions - the inputs, activities, outputs and outcomes (Wholey, 1 999). Therefore, 

information about performance, as defined by Poll itt (2006, p.39), is the "systematic 

information describing the outputs and outcomes of pub l ic programmes and 

organization - whether intended or otherwise - generated by systems and processes 

intended to produce such information". I n  this respect, performance information is used 

to make j udgements about goal accomp l ishment and achievement in converting inputs 

to outputs and outcomes and is not l im i ted to performance indicators or measures. [ t  

inc ludes both financial and non-financial aspects of  results (ach ievements), interactions 

with the public (operations and del ivery o f  goods and services to the publ ic) and costs of 

the results and interactions (OAG of New Zealand, 2002). The non-financial aspect of  

performance information covers the key aspects of  service performance which inc lude 

efficiency, quality, equity, effectiveness and value for money (Andrews et al., 2005) .  

As performance inc ludes both financial and non-financial aspects, performance 

information can be provided in the forms of financial performance data (quantitative 

information that has a numeric value) and non-financial performance data (qual itat ive 

information). Lee (2008) notes the i mportance of both financial and non-financial 

information in judging publ ic sector performance. 

The reporting of only financial information is insufficient to g ive an indication of the 

overall performance of a particular publ ic entity (CMA Canada, 1 996) or to capture the 

key aspects of the ent ity performance (Lee, 2008), although financial reporting has been 

regarded as playing a major role in the accompl ishment of the accountabi l ity duty 

(GASB, 1 987). As Fountain, Patton and Steinberg (2004) stated, the external reporting 

of performance information should also provide a basis for understanding the extent to 

which an organisation and its programmes, services and strategies have contributed to 

ach ieving goals and objectives. Therefore, performance reporting that would indicate 
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the overal l performance of an entity shoul d  be comprehensive i n  that it inc ludes 

fi nancial  and non-financial performance informat ion. 

This comprehensive view of performance reporting is consistent w ith the theoretical 

accountabi l ity framework within the context of NPM, as discussed in Chapter Four, 

whereby it promotes greater and improved accountabil ity including performance and 

publ ic  accountabi l i ty. As Coy & Dixon (2004) stated, the reporting should involve "the 

reporting of comprehensive information about the condition, performance, activities and 

progress to a l l  those with social, economic and political interests" (p.8 1 ). This ts 

consistent with the definition of performance reporting stated by the IF AC ( 1 996) : 

The communication of quantitative and qualitative information which identifies 

the results of an enterprise against specified benchmarks ( i .e. pre-determ ined 

targets). It inc ludes performance information presented in budgets, p lans or 

reports on performance of individual programmes or activit ies in addition to 

information provided in the financial statements. (p.3)  

I n  a study conducted by the OECD (2002), a variety of approaches taken in the 

reporting of performance information were identified, including integration of the 

information into annual external reports. The current research is concerned with the 

comprehensive v iew of performance reporti ng - the report ing that covers both aspects 

of financial and non-financial information, wh ich is integrated into external annual 

reports. 

5.3 PERFORMANCE REPORTING AND T HE DISCHARGE OF 

ACCOUNTABILITY 

Reporting is one stage in the public accountabil ity cycle which begins with the budget 

process and ends with reporting to parl iament (English & Guthrie, 2000). The reporting 

function which is concerned with the gathering of data, sorting it into a particular 

presentation format, and transmitting it leads to issues of what to report, to whom to 

report, in what form to report in order to discharge the publ ic accountabil ity and 

whether the reporting meets the expectations of the parties who are entitled to the report. 

The current research is concerned with these issues. 
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The reporting of performance information is an important response to public pressure 

for accountability, as i t  enables a public sector entity to publicly d i sc lose and be 

responsible for its actions (OECD, 2004). The d ischarge of accountabi l ity requires 

transparency (Shende & Bennett, 2004) which can be achieved through report ing. As 

stated by the comptroller and auditor general of the United Kingdom, (OAG of the UK, 

2000, p . 1 ), "consistent, c lear reports of performance and pub I ication of results, are 

important to record progress and exert pressure for i mprovement. Such transparency is 

essent ial to help ensure that publ ic bodies are ful ly accountable." 

Prior studies have recognised the importance of performance information in the 

d i scharge of accountabi l ity ( for example, Boyne & Law, 1 99 1 ;  Laughl in, 1 990; Lee, 

2008;  Mayston, 1 985 ;  OECD, 2004; Rutherford, 2000; Stephen, 1 995) .  According to 

Barrett ( 1 997), performance information is crucial as it is documented and reported in 

an organisation's publications to parl iament and other stakeho1ders. Lee (2008) reports 

that performance reporting is a tool to enhance both internal and external accountabi l ity 

and its significance for accountabi l ity is in ass isting in the achievement of the objectives 

of an organisation and the reporting of information to stakeholders. 

Earl ier studies on performance reporting have tended to focus only on the reporting of 

performance indicators or measures (see for example Boyne & Law, 1 99 1 ;  Pendlebury, 

Jones & Karbhari, 1 994; M ucciarone & Neilson, 2006; Thompson, 1 995) .  Boyne and 

Law ( 1 99 1 ), in evaluating the performance indicators provided to the publ ic in  annual 

reports published by Welsh District Councils, found that annual report information on 

performance indicators was general ly of poor qual ity. Most of the performance 

indicators contained in the reports referred only to service inputs. The reporting of 

performance indicators was al so the focus in Pend lebury et al . 's ( 1 994) study. The study 

identified the disc losure o f  financial performance indicators (cost-reduction, 

profitabil ity and unit cost indicators) and non-financial performance indicators 

(procedural efficiency and output qual ity indicators) in annual reports of  United 

K ingdom government agencies. In the New Zealand public sector, Thompson ( 1 995) 

focused on the service performance reporting of a speci fic sample of New Zealand local 

authority agencies - publ ic  a rt galleries - and found that there were problems with 

reporting service performance indicators. The l inks between performance indicators and 

stated obj ectives were e ither unclear or absent, performance indicators were weak, 

measures of performance against the stated objectives were incomplete and explanations 
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of performance indicators were not given. The extent of  disc losure of performance 

indicators i n  the annual reports of Australian federal and state government departments 

was examined by Mucciarone and Nei l son (2006). Their study found that most of the 

departments studied fol lowed a system of reporting output qual ity indicators and there 

was a lack of d isclosure of efficiency and effectiveness i nd icators. 

The focus  on performance indicators, as in the above studies, is consistent with the 

concept that performance reports provide period ic information on organisational 

performance matched against a set of performance indicators which represent outputs 

del ivered by the organisation and the outcomes/impacts achieved (Saldanha, 2004). 

However, for accountabi l ity purposes, the reporting on performance indicators seems 

inadequate. A wide array of performance information should be reported in the 

discharge o f  accountabi l ity. This  extends the scope of d isc losure traditionally provided 

in financial statements prepared in accordance with a dec ision usefulness purpose (for 

example, Boyne & Law, 1 99 1 ;  Hooks, Coy & Davey, 2002; IFAC, 1 996; Laughl in, 

1 990; Mayston, 1 985; Rutherford, 2000; Stephen, 1 995) .  In  addition to focusing on 

performance indicators or measures such as inputs, outputs, results, efficiency and 

effectiveness, Hyndman and Anderson ( 1 995) also focused on performance info rmation 

in terms of goals and objectives, future target information and budget information. This 

is consistent with Barrett ( 1 997) who suggested that performance information has a 

wide focus that goes beyond performance indicators and includes information regarding 

objectives, strategies to achieve the objectives, targets and benchmarking. Therefore, 

this current research argues that the wide array of performance information should not 

be l imited to financial information and performance indicators or measures. The 

accountabil ity paradigm adopted for the current research is based on the premise that 

reports for accountabi l ity purposes should be more comprehensive and cover both 

financial and non-financial information to meet the needs of a wider group of 

stakeholders. 

In the discharge of accountabi l ity to a wider group of stakeholders, annual reports are 

considered a primary reporting mechanism (Barrett, 1 997;  Coy et al . ,  200 I ;  Mack & 
Ryan, 2003) .  As transparency i s  the core element of accountabil ity, annual reports 

should disclose sufficient information for stakeholders to make informed judgements on 

an organisation ' s  performance ( Barrett, 1 997). Therefore, the reports should provide a 

w ide range of information, including performance information in financial and non-
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financial terms, to a l l  stakeholders. 

Prior studies that have examined annual reports of local government as an accountabi l ity 

mechanism include Ryan, Stanley and Nelson (2002) and Steccol ini (2004). Ryan et a l .  

(2002b) examined the quality of  d isclosure of the Queensland local government ' s  

annual reports for the period 1 99 7  to  1 999 in order to establ ish whether their 

accountabi l ity obl igations were being met. They found that the qual ity of annual report 

d i sc losure increased over the period studied, although the overa l l  index score was 

relatively low. S pecifically they found that the financial d isclosure was comp lete but 

that the disclosure of non-financial i tems including service performance information 

was weak. Steccol in i  (2004) found the overall qual ity of annual reports of Italian local 

governments was poor. She found that information on financial performance and 

position was very l imited and service performance information was not extens ive. She 

consequently expressed concern at the overall  degree of accountabi l ity of the local 

governments during the period under study. 

Other prior pub l ic sector stud ies that have examined entire annual reports and re lated 

the level of d i sc losure of the reports to accountabi lity include the studies of Coy and 

Dixon (2004 ); Coy et al. (200 1 ) ;  Hooks (2000); Hooks et a l .  (2002b ); Nelson, Banks 

and Fisher, (2003 ) ; Nelson, Fisher, Tower and Banks ( 1 997); 

· 

Tooley and Guthrie, 

(2007); and Wei, Davey and Coy (2008). 

By means of a publ ic accountabi l ity index (PAl), Coy and Dixon (2004) examined the 

changes in the qual ity of the annual reports of eight New Zealand universities for the 

years 1 996 and 2000. Simi lar to Nelson et al .  (2003), they found an overall  

i mprovement in the quality of the annual reports. Also, by means of an accountabil ity 

index and by focusing on the school sector, Tooley and Guthrie (2007) exami ned the 

entire annual reports of New Zealand' s  secondary schools and found an overa l l  lack of 

consistent quant i ty and quality of performance disclosures which affected the overal l  

quality of the annual reports. In  another study, Wei et a l .  (2008) also developed an 

accountabi l ity index and examined the reporting practice of m useums in New Zealand 

and the Un ited Kingdom. The study found that information regarding internal p rocesses 

and objectives made up the strongest component of the reports and information on 

learning and growth constituted the weakest area. These factors impacted on the quality 

of disclosure in the annual reports. 
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These reviewed studies indicate that the extent and quality of external annual report 

d isclosure reflect the d ischarge of accountabi l i ty, and especial ly publ ic accountabi l ity. 

An improvement in  the extent and quality of  reporting indicates an  improvement m 

publ ic accountabi l ity rendered through annual report disclosures. 

I n  promoting publ ic  accountability, structures and strategies also need to be considered. 

Focusing on the Canadian province of Alberta, Robinson (2003) bui lt a contractual 

accountabil ity model and examined a theoretical perspective to see d ifferences between 

government accountabi l ity as proposed and enacted. She found that the Albertan 

government had increased the use of the el itism of knowledge in the government by 

i ntroducing and promoting performance measures which emphasise scientific, scholarly 

k nowledge. She argued that the use of complex scientific and economic technologies 

could disconnect people from their governments. Results from this study imply that 

performance information provided to stakeholders should take into consideration the 

stakeholders' expectations and needs, not necessarily the performance information that 

is produced by complex, scientific and econom ic technologies perceived as important by 

the preparers. As the public accountabi l ity parad igm recognises the right of a broad 

group of stakeholders to be informed about the performance and condition of the 

reporting entity, "a framework for the external accountabi l ity report ing must take al l  

e lements of performance into consideration for potential reporting and report 

performance elements that stakeholders want to know" (OAG of New Zealand, 2002, 

p .5 ,  emphasis added). In other words, reporting for accountabil ity purposes should seek 

to satisfy, as far as possible, the information needs of the stakeholders of the reporting 

entity. 

It is argued in the current research that annual reports, as a key mechanism of  

performance information reporting and the d i scharge of  public accountabil ity, should 

contain sufficient and appropriate information as expected by the stakeholders to enable 

them to assess the performance and condition of the reporting entity. Therefore, the 

current research is concerned with the expectations of stakeholders in terms of financial 

and non-financial performance information that is disclosed or should  be disc losed in 

the annual reports of the reporting entities - Malaysian local authorities. 
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The information expectations of the broad group of stakeholders and their perceptions of 

the importance of information for disclosure are reconciled and finalised by an expert 

stakeholder panel in order to develop a disclosure index that is used to evaluate the 

p ractice of annual performance reporting of local authorities. 

5.4 STAKEHOLDERS' INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS FOR 

ACCOUNTABILITY PURPOSES 

The previous chapter discussed who stakeholders are in general and in  the context of 

M alaysian local authorities. The stakeholders identified in the chapter may be the users 

or potential users of annual reports. Van Peursem ( 1 990) highlighted that a framework 

including both ' users' and ' stakeholders' may, to a great extent, overlap and the term 

users may in fact be a subset of stakeholders. Therefore, a review of prior studies on 

users' information needs is relevant for the current research in identifying the 

in formation expectations of stakeholders. 

A number of empirical studies have been carried out to determine the information needs 

o r  requirements of users of public sector reports. Daniels and Daniels ( 1 99 1 )  identi tied 

four  types of information based on users' preferences: ( I )  information on compl iance; 

(2)  information about financial viabil ity, includ ing current financial position and the 

p rospects of the future continuation of services and the repayment of debt; (3) 

i n formation on operating results (performance); and (4) information about efficiency 

a nd effectiveness (surrogated by cost of services). 

The studies of Hay and Antonio ( 1 990) and Jones, Scott, Kimbro and In  gram ( 1 985) 

focused on information types (3) and (4) as c lassi fied by Daniels and Daniels ( 1 99 1 ). 

H ay and Antonio ( 1 990) also noted the importance of specific and detailed information 

rather than general statements. Detailed information is cons istent with the 

comprehensive view of performance reporting d iscussed in Section 5 . 2  that claims it is 

necessary to promote greater and improved accountabi l ity. Detai led i nformation should 

be extended to narrative and non-financial information which includes descriptions of 

o bjectives of services provided, performance indicators, and budgeting information 

(Lapsley, 1 992). In other words, information that may indicate the performance of the 

serv ice provided and the performance of an organ isation as a whole, out l in ing factors 
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such as inputs, efficiency, effectiveness, customer satisfaction, costs, outputs, qual ity, 

speed, equity and information on targets as wel l  as an evaluation of the meeting of 

targets (Boyne et. al., 2002) is useful for accountabi l ity purposes. 

I n  Clark ' s  2003 study, users of government annual reports identified outcome measures 

as the m ost important performance indicators fol lowed by effectiveness measures, 

output measures, staffing ratios, efficiency measures and workload measures. Other 

information of importance inc luded a descriptive review of operations, statistical 

performance information, the auditor-general report, financial statements, notes to 

fi nancial statements, and a department secretary foreword. Also, in the context of 

government annual reporting, Mack and Ryan (2004) found that summary facts, figures 

and key statistics, financial rev iew and analysis, performance indicators and budget 

versus actual information were identified by users as being useful for the purpose of 

discharging financial and publ ic accountabi l ity to stakeholders. Therefore, in th is 

current research, financial and non-financial information including service and financial 

performance information, rev iews of operations, information about the organisation's 

background and future plans are considered in the selection of potential information 

items for identi fying the information expectations of stakeholders of Malaysian local 

authorities. 

Wisniewski and Stewart (2004) recognised a broad group of stakeholders in a study that 

focused on performance measurement information in a sample of Scottish local 

authorities. They found consistency in the type of performance m easurement 

information that would be req uired to inform j udgement of each stakeholder group. The 

groups of stakeholders invo lved included e lected representatives, serv ice managers, 

cl ient departments, direct customers, staff and auditors. The required information 

identified in the study included target performance (based on stakeholder expectations, 

past performance and national standards), actual performance (against targets and over 

time) and stakeholder perceptions (against their expectations). These findings e mphasise 

the need to report publicly on current responsib i l ities and intentions (Farneti & 
Bestsbreur, 2004) in order that stakeholders can engage in informed debate over the 

choice of publ ic sector organisational goals, and in the ongoing monitoring and 

evaluation of goal achievement. 

Previous research also recogn ised that the information needs of different groups of 
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stakeholders may be different. For example, oversight and legislative bodies m ay focus 

on wider performance information inc luding efficiency and probity. Infom1ation re lating 

to solvency may be of primary interest to financiers and creditors, and as Kanter and 

S ummers ( 1 98 7) proposed:  "managers might prefer structural measures of 

organizational characteristics because they have control over such factors; the rank and 

fi le might prefer process measures of activities because they control their own 

performance; and cl ients and customers prefer outcome measures because they want 

results, not promises or mere effo rt" (p. l 58).  

To summarise, the prior studies of stakeholders' or users' information requ i rements 

have commonly recognised the i mportance of the needs of users or stakeholders to be 

considered in the communication of relevant information to them. Attention to 

stakeholders is important because accompl ishments of publ ic organisations are 

dependent on satisfying what key stakeholders perceive as valuable (Bryson, 1 995) .  In  

the current research, the information expectations of stakeholders of  Malaysian local 

authorities are identified and compared to the actual or current practice of report ing of 

performance information within the annual reports. The gap between the expectat ions of 

stakeholders and reporting pract ices may indicate a lack  of accountabi l ity. For the 

purpose of identifying the gap and determining the d ischarge of accountabi l ity, the 

information d isclosures with in  the annual reports are measured. The fol lowing section 

discusses the approach used in prior studies in measuring disclosure, focusing 

specifical ly on the use of disc losure indices. 

5.5 MEASURING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION - THE USE OF 

DISCLOSURE INDICES 

Disclosure has been generally recognised in the literature as an abstract concept in that 

i ts direct measure cannot be determ ined (Botosan, 1 997; Healy & Palepu, 200 I ;  Wal lace 

& Naser, 1 995)  and its best measure is impossible to define (Beretta & Bozzolan 2008). 

According to Wal lace and Naser ( 1 995), disclosure does not possess natural 

characteristics that permit a determ ination of its quantity or quality. 

S ince the pioneering work of Cerf ( 1 96 1 ), several approaches have been employed to 

measure disclosure, especial ly in annual reports. The approaches involve content 
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analysis of the reports - a method of codifying the content or text of a piece of writing 

i nto categories based on chosen criteria to make them more manageable (Weber, 1 990). 

According to Ryan et al . (2002b), the approaches of content analysis include ' form 

oriented' analysis, which involves word or sentence counting; 'meaning oriented' 

analysis, which involves analysis based on specific themes; and the use of a disc losure 

index. This research uses a d isclosure index in evaluating the practice of reporting of 

performance information within local authority annual reports. 

A d isclosure index is a l ist of pre-selected information items, designed to measure the 

d i sc losure of such items (Marston & Shrives, 1 99 1 ;  Nelson et al., 2003). Such an index, 

as stated by Coy ( 1 995, p. 1 2 1  ), " . . .  when scores for [the] items are aggregated, g ives a 

surrogate score indicative of the level  of d isclosure in the specific context for which the 

index was devised." Therefore, a disclosure index provides an indirect measure of the 

d isclosure and its usabil ity depends upon the items included in the index. 

A disclosure index has been considered in the l iterature as a practical and val id  research 

tool (Botosan 1 997;  Cheng, 1 992), although some degrees of subjectivity are involved 

in the selection of the items to be l i sted in the index (Botosan, 1 997; Marston & Shrives, 

1 99 1  ). Although the subjectivity cannot be completely removed (Marston & Shrives, 

1 99 1 )  its effect can be minimised by rev iewing previous studies and current practices 

(Owusu-Ansah, 1 997). The use of a disclosure index to measure level of disc losure has 

a long tradition and is sti l l  very common in empirical accounting research (Prencipe, 

2004). 

Extensive reviews of prior studies that used disclosure indices in measuring levels of 

d isclosure have been provided by Ahmed and Courtis ( 1 999), Hooks (2000) and 

Marston and Shrives ( 1 99 1 ,  1 996). Marston and Shrives ( 1 99 1 )  reviewed d i sc losure 

i ndex studies undertaken before 1 986 and Ahmed and Court is  ( 1 999) reviewed studies 

u ndertaken from 1 968 to 1 997. These reviews focused on the association between 

d isclosure levels and characteristics such as firm size, leverage and profitabi l ity. Hooks 

(2000) provided a review of disclosure index studies undertaken over the period 1 96 1  to 

1 998. The review focused on the characteristics of the self-constructed disc losure 

i nd ices inc luding the descriptions and appl ication of the indices. The current research 

does not examine any association between disc losure level and other variables and 

therefore the focus  of the review of l iterature provided in this chapter is sim i lar to that of 
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Hooks (2000). The current review focuses on the description of disclosure indices used 

i n  prior studies undertaken over the last decade ( 1 997 to 2008) and may be seen as an 

extension of the previous reviews. A summary of the current review is shown in 

A ppendix A. 

The current rev1ew shows that the appl ication of a disclosure index to measure 

d isclosure has been widely carried out both in the private and publ ic sectors, and across 

developed and developing countries. Ind ices have been applied to measure levels of 

d isclosure of e ither the entire report or speci fic aspects of interest covered by such 

reports. The levels of d isc losure that have been measured can be seen in terms of the 

extent of disclosure (the amount or quantity o f  disclosure) or both the extent and the 

qual ity of disclosure .  S imi lar to previous l iterature reviews, the current review (see 

Appendix A) also finds that the number of items used in the disc losure indices varies 

and the indices can be either unweighted or weighted. 

5.5. 1 Unweighted or Weighted Indices 

B ased on the previous and current reviews of l iterature on disclosure index studies, an 

unweighted index scores each item in the index equal ly, while a weighted one assigns a 

weight to each item in order to al low for the d i fferent re levance o f  each of the items. 

Usual ly an index's i tems are weighted based on their importance: the weighted index 

considers some items as being more important than others (see for example Barako, 

Hancock & lzan, 2006; Botosan, 1 997; Cahan, Rahman & Perera, 2005; Cerf, 1 96 1 ;  

F i rth, 1 978; Ho & Wong, 200 1 ;  Hooks, 2000; H ooks, Coy & Davey, 200 1 ;  Hooks et al . ,  

2002b; Malone, Fries & Jones, 1 993;  Robbins & Austin, 1 986; Ryan et. al., 2002b; 

S inghvi & Desai, 1 97 1 ;  Tower, Coy & Dixon, 1 995; Vanstraelen, Zarzeski & Robb, 

2003) .  On the other hand, the unweighted index assumes that a l l  items are equally 

i m portant (see for example Chen & Jaggi, 2000; Craig & Diga 1 998;  Cooke, 1 989; 

1 992; Haniffa & Cooke, 2002; Hassan, Giorgioni & Romil ly, 2006; Makhija & Patton, 

2004; Tooley & Guthrie, 2007; Wal lace, Naser & Mora 1 994; Wi l l iams, 200 1 ) . Both 

types  of index can also be used together in a single study (see for example Barrett, 1 976; 

B l iss, Gul, Balachandran & Maj id, 2006; Chow & Wong-Boren, 1 98 7 ;  Gordon, Fischer, 

Malone & Tower, 2002; Prencipe, 2004; Wal lace, Choudhury & Adhikari, 1 999; 

W a l lace, 1 988a; Zarzeski, 1 996). 
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For an unweighted index, the score of ' 1 '  is attributed for disclosure of specified items 

and the score of '0' is attributed for non-disc losure. This type of index can be used to 

measure the extent of disclosure (referring to the amount or quantity of items disc losed). 

For a weighted index, disc losure items are weighted according to predefined scales as 

decided by researchers. The weights can be external ly generated and reflect the 

importance of each disclosure item attributed by a specific group or various groups of 

users. I n  the sem inal works of  Cerf ( 1 96 1 )  and F i rth ( 1 979) and in the studies of Ho and 

Wong (200 1 )  and Prencipe (2004), a group of  security or financial analysts was 

involved in generating the weights. Various groups of users took part in  early studies, 

such as F irth's ( 1 976), which involved preparers and auditors, and Firer and Meth's 

( 1 986), which included financial directors and i nvestment analysts. Further to this, 

Wall  ace ( 1 988a) considered the perceptions of wider user groups - chartered 

accountants, financial analysts, civil servants, other professionals, managers and 

investors - as to the degree of  importance of the i ndex items. This approach has been 

fol lowed by the recent studies (as shown in Appendix A) of Coy and Dixon (2004), 

Hooks et al .  (2002b) and Naser and Nuseibeh (2003) .  The study of Hooks et a l .  (2002b) 

involved a panel of stakeholders (representing stakeholder groups of aud itors, lenders, 

regulators, preparers, academics, environmental ists, employees, consumers, financial 

reporters, industry consultants, consumers' institute representat ives, d irectors, 

executives and financial analysts); and Naser and Nuseibeh (2003) included seven user 

groups (individual investors, institutional investors, financial analysts, bank credit 

officers, government representatives, academics and auditors). Whi le these studies used 

external ly generated weights of importance, we ights can also be determined by 

researchers themselves based on prior studies and/or statutory and accounting 

requirements and practitioners' advice (see for example Gordon et al . ,  2002; Ryan et al., 

2002b; Tower et al . ,  1 995). 

In addition, there are previous studies that weighted their disclosure indices based on 

e lements other than the degree of importance. Wal lace et al . ( 1 999) used a weighting 

procedure based on relevance, rel iabil ity and usefulness as perceived by financial 

analysts. According to Beretta and Bozzolan (2008), weights have also been determined 

by researchers based on the type of measure (qual itative versus quantitative) associated 

w ith the information (for example, Botosan, 1 997) and based on the extensiveness of 

d isc losure - either there is extensive or some disc losure (for example, Robb, S ingle & 
Zarzeski, 200 I ;  Zarzeski, 1 996). 
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Both unweighted and weighted i ndices have advantages and disadvantages. Whi le an 

unweighted index does not invo l ve bias or subjective j udgement in scoring the items 

d isclosed, the use of such an index has been criticised for its fundamental assumption 

that al l items are equally important (Wei et al., 2008). The assumption that each item is 

equally i mportant for al l users is  probably inaccurate (Raffoumier, 1 995) .  However, the 

use of a weighted index has been c riticised because rating the items requires a subjective 

judgement (Steccol ini, 2004; Wei  et al., 2008) and if the weighting is generated from 

users' perceptions, it may introduce bias towards a particular user group (Steccolini, 

2004). However, this study supports Wei et al .  (2008) in the view that the items 

disclosed are obviously not of equal importance and therefore should be weighted for 

their importance. 

The use of e ither unweighted or weighted indices has, in some cases, been found to give 

no material d i fference in resu lts (F irth, 1 980; Naser & Nuseibeh, 2003 ; Robbins & 
Austin, 1 986;  Wal lace & Naser, 1 995). The major argument of studies that are in favour 

of an unweighted index is that "one class of user wi l l  attach different weights to an item 

than other classes" and that "the subjective weights of user groups wi l l  average each 

other out" (Cooke, 1 989, p. l l 5) .  However, according to Robbins and Austin ( 1 986, 

p.420), "conceptually an analysis that incorporates the importance of individual 

disc losures is superior to one that does not." Raffoumier ( 1 995) also contends that 

weightings add value to the d isclosure index. Ryan et al .  (2002b) consider that both 

unweighted and weighted indices should be used together to see the effect of weighting. 

The current research develops a weighted index based on the degree of importance of 

each index item disclosed as perceived and agreed on by a panel of experts who 

represent the key stakeholders of Malaysian local authorities. In addition, the index is 

based on disclosure qual ity crite ria drawn from l iterature, professional bodies' 

recommendat ions and Malaysian publ ic sector statutory requirements. However, the 

unweighted scores are also reported to identify the effect of weighting. The process of 

the development of the disclosure index, the identification of qual ity criteria and the 

scoring procedure for the appl icat ion of the index are discussed in the fol lowing chapter 

(Chapter S ix) .  The fol lowing section discusses various concepts of disclosure qual ity 

found in prior studies and how the concepts are operational ised in this current research. 
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5.5.2 Disclosu re Quality 

It is contended in this current research that the apprec iation of the disclosure level 

requires consideration of not only  the extent or quantity of disclosure but a l so the 

qual ity of d i sc losure. However, the concept of ·qual ity' is comp lex  and 

mu ltidimensional as it depends on the perspective of the evaluation of the d i sc losure 

(Beretta & Bozzolan, 2008). According to Beretta and Bozzolan, (2008), the q uantity 

measure of d isc losure had been used in some prior studies as a proxy for d isc losure 

qual ity but the researchers disputed such an idea and proposed that the qual ity of 

d i sc losure shou ld  cover both "the q uantity of information disclosed and the richness of 

i ts content" (p.3) .  Berretta and Bozzolan (2008) defined "richness" as "a function both 

of  the breadth o f  the disclosures on different topics regarding a firm's business model 

and value creation strategy and of the depth of the disclosures in relation to the p resence 

o f  insights into a fi rm's future perfo rmance'' (p.3). Their study assumes that the measure 

o f  disclosure qual ity of annual reports is not related to the level of disclosure but rather 

the study describes dimensions of annual report disc losure that are considered useful by 

u sers in forecasting earnings in order to support market partic ipants in their economic 

dec isions. However, the current research considers that the measure of d i sc losure 

q ual ity is related to the level of disc losure. This is cons istent with the aim of the current 

research which i s  to investigate the practice of reporting of performance informat ion 

w ithin the annual reports. The level of disc losure is defined as the presence or absence 

o f  pre-selected items (the extent or q uantity of disclosure) and the qual ity of d isc losure 

o f  such items. 

The measure of d i sc losure quality has been operational ised in prior studies as adequacy 

(Buzby, 1 974), degree of inclusion (Barrett, 1 976), completeness or full d i sc losure 

( Imhoff, 1 992), and comprehensiveness (Coy, 1 995; Coy & Dixon, 2004; Hooks, 2000; 

H ooks et al., 200 l ;  Hooks et al . , 2002b; Ryan et a l ., 2002b; Tooley & Guthrie, 2007; 

Van Staden & Hooks, 2007; Wal lace et al., 1 994; Wal lace et al . ,  1 999). 

I n  measuring the quality of d isc losure, Buzby ( 1 974) divided the pre-se lected 

i nformation items into three groups. The first group consisted of items considered s ingle 

p ieces of information items (self-contained), which either were or were not disclosed. A 

fu l l  point (the item's  relative importance score) was awarded for d isclosure of the item 

and zero otherwise .  The second group consisted of items which could be d i sc losed 
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according to the degree of specificity. A ful l  point was awarded if  the specific 

information (for example, the estimate or forecast of earnings per share) was d isclosed 

and half a point was given if only a general comment on the item was made. The third 

group consisted of  those that contained sub-elements of informat ion which were pre

determined by the researcher based on an extensive review of l i terature. A full point was 

given if all the sub-elements were disclosed. A partial point was granted if only part of 

the sub-elements was disclosed (i .e. [number of elements disclosed/number of e lements 

expected] x the maximum possible or ful l  point). This procedure was fol lowed by 

Barrett ( 1 976) and by a recent study (as shown in Appendix A) of Al-Razeen and 

Karbhari (2004 ). H owever, both Barrett ( 1 976) and Al-Razeen and Karbhari (2004) 

d ivided their index items into two groups - the group of single-information (self

contained) items and the group o f  items that contained sub-e lements or multiple 

information. 

Wall  ace et al. ( 1 994; 1 999) related comprehensiveness of disclosure to the depth or 

density (ful lness) of information provided in annual reports and accounts. The score 

a l located to each item reflected the detai l  of each item as compared to the detai ls 

expected of the item based on the pre-determined criteria. 

The measure of comprehensiveness of d isc losure based on pre-determined criteria was 

a lso used in other prior studies (for example, Coy, Tower & Dixon, 1 993;  Hooks, 2000; 

Hooks et al., 200 I; Hooks et al., 2002b; Ryan et al ., 2002b; Tooley & Guthrie, 2007; 

Wei et al. , 2008). These studies determined the standard qual ity criteria for each item 

and the item was scored in relation to the criteria. Hooks (2000) referred to the standard 

qual ity criteria as the anchor statements which represented best practice criteria. 

The qual ity of disclosure has also been referred to as the degree of specificity (for 

e xample, Wiseman, 1 982; Robbins & Austin, 1 986; Botosan, 1 997 ;  Cahan et al., 2005 ;  

Garcia-Meca & Martinez, 2005). The procedure weights quantitative information more 

heavily then qual itat ive information. The h ighest score is al located to an item that is 

described in quantitative terms and the lowest score is al located to an item that i s  

d isclosed only i n  q ua l itative general terms. 
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As shown in the current rev iew of l iterature of  d isc losure studies (see Appendix A), the 

studies of Botosan ( 1 997), Cahan et al. (2005) and Garcia-Meca and Martinez (2005) 

fol lowed a simi lar procedure that weighted quantitative information more heavily than 

qual itative information. Naser and Nuseibeh (2003), on the other hand, took the extent 

and importance of disc losure, as well as the degree of compl iance as a proxy of 

d i sc losure qual ity. 

An evaluation of the extent, the degree of deta i l  of disclosure and the degree of 

importance across local authorities and over time is the subject of the current research. 

This  research fol lows Buzby ( 1 974 ), Barrett ( 1 976) and Al-Razeen and Karbhari (2004) 

in measuring disclosure quality. The justification of the use and appl ication of this 

approach is explained in the fol lowing chapter, along with the construction of the 

d i sc losure index used in this current research and the scoring procedure for the 

appl ication of the i ndex. The score obtained from the application of the index is the 

score for extent and qual ity of disclosure of information items in annual reports which 

may indicate the extent to which accountabil ity is d ischarged through reporting. 

Based on the current review of disclosure studies, there are l im ited studies that have 

focused on accountabi l ity through reporting (for  example, Coy & Dixon, 2004; Ryan et 

a l . ,  2002b; Hooks et al . ,  2002b). Fol lowing Ryan et al. (2002b), the current research also 

e xamines the discharge of accountabi l ity through annual report ing by local authorities 

( local government in Ryan et al. ' s  2002b study). 

The fol lowing section reviews the relevant Malaysian studies in order to integrate the 

find ings of the studies and to explain the relevance of the current research. 

5.6 RELEVANT MALA YSIAN STUDIES 

The reviewed Malaysian studies are related to reporting of performance information 

i nclud ing financial and service performance information. Studies that focused on 

reporting of financial information include Tayib, Coombs and Am in ( 1 999), Coombs 

and Tayib (2000) and Saidin, Tayib, Engku Al i  and Samsudin (2006). 
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Tayib et al .  ( 1 999) studied the financial reporting of local authorities. They explored the 

present reporting practice of authorities regarding the type of statements included in 

annual fi nancial accounts in comparison with financial reporting requirements (Federal 

Treasury Circular No. I 1 988)  adopted by the authorities. They also compared what was 

presented i n  the annual financial accounts with the needs of local taxpayers and found a 

large expectation gap between their needs and the financial reporting practices adopted 

by Malaysian local authorities. Given the fact that "accountabil ity is in part d ischarged 

through the provision of information" (Hooks et al . ,  2002b, p. l ), the gap between the 

financial information requirements of local taxpayers and what has been reported in 

financial annual reports indicates that the accountabi l ity of local authorities rendered 

through a reporting medium has been compromised (Kluvers, 200 l ) .  The gap shows 

inadequacies in the reporting of fi nancial information required by stakeholders. 

Coombs and Tayib (2000) examined the financial information provided in the publ ished 

financial accounts of local authorities in the United Kingdom and Malaysia. A 

disc losure index based on the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CI P F  A) code of practice on local authority accounting in the UK was developed and 

appl ied to a sample of local authority accounts from both countries in order to assess 

d isclosure in annual financial reports and accounts . The study revealed that Malaysian 

local authorities achieved a lower level of compl iance with the C IPFA code of practice 

compared to those in the UK.  Further, the study suggested that the lower scores 

achieved by Malaysian local authorities resulted from the accounts not giv ing the 

equivalent level of detail to that of the authorities in the UK. 

Another study that also focused on financial reporting is  that of Said in et  al .  (2006). The 

study examined financial reporting practices of local authorities and the perceptions of 

local taxpayers of the d isclosure of financial information. The results of  the study 

revealed that a majority of authorities compl ied with the accounting standards issued by 

the Malaysian Accounting Standard Board, although the standards had not formal ly 

been imposed on the authorities. However, the study revealed that the taxpayers found 

the financial reports to be d ifficult to access. 

Rather than focusing on financ ial reporting of local authorities, a study by Nei lson and 

Mucciarone (2007) examined performance reporting by Malaysian government 

departments in terms of reporting of service performance indicators in the annual 
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accounts of the departments. The results from the interviews undertaken showed a low 

level of disclosure of efficiency indicators and the non-disclosure of effectiveness 

ind icators. The reporting of performance measures was shown by Mohamad's  (2004) 

study to only satisfy higher authorities such as the respective state governments. 

I n  a more comprehensive approach, Nichol and Taylor (200 1 )  examined the nature and 

e xtent of disclosure in the annual 'publ ic accounts' of the Malaysian government, its 

m in istries and other publ ic sector entities. The study employed a content analysis of the 

pub l ic accounts of those entities. The analysis involved a checkl ist of significant items 

o f  performance information based on Hyndman and Anderson' s ( 1 995) framework. In 

th is  framework, performance is  related to the concept of managerial accountabi I ity. The 

I i st of performance-related information final ised by the researchers included statements 

o f  objectives, inputs, outputs, results/outcomes, economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

I n  addition to performance information, N ichol and Taylor's  (200 1 )  study also 

e xamined the disc losure of accountabi l ity information which was also based on 

Hyndman and Anderson ' s  ( 1 995) framework. I n  this study the term accountabi l ity refers 

specifical ly to fiduciary accountabi l ity and the accountabi lity information items include 

compl iance, auditor's opin ion, financial statements, sanction/reward statements 

( reporting on sanctions imposed or awards g iven), quality of internal control and 

statements of accomplishment. The extent of  disclosure of performance and 

accountabil ity dimensions was measured on the basis of the number of l ines or pages of 

d isclosure per category. The study concluded that the public sector performance reforms 

from the mid- 1 980s and mid- 1 990s that relate to performance reporting and 

accountabi l ity had no sign i ficant impact on the nature and extent of  disc losures in the 

publ ic  accounts of the Malaysian government. 

The current research can be seen as an extension of the above stud ies. By taking into 

consideration a more comprehensive view of performance information (which includes 

financial performance information, performance indicators and other non-financial 

performance information) as wel l  as the information expectations of stakeholders, the 

current research widens the concept of accountabi l i ty to embrace the dimensions of 

fiduciary, managerial/performance and public accountabil ity. As compared to Nichol 

and Taylor's (200 I )  study, the concept of accountabi l ity used in the study is equivalent 

to fiduciary accountabi l ity (or accountabil ity for probity and legal ity) and performance 

i tems are l imited to performance indicators, statements of objectives and strategy 
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obj ectives. In add ition, N ichol and Taylor's (200 1 )  study used a ' form oriented' content 

analysis of publ ic accounts of the Malaysian government and i ts entities, whereas the 

c urrent research uses a disclosure index in determining the extent and qual i ty of 

d isclosure of Malaysian local authorities' annual reports (which inc lude financial and 

service reports). 

The current research is d ifferent from the above Malaysian studies (especial ly Nei lson 

& Mucciarone, 2007; Saidin et al., 2006; Tayib et al., 1 999) as it focuses not on ly on 

financial performance information but also on non-financial performance information. 

The current research has taken i nto consideration the needs of a broad group of 

stakeholders and has not been limited to taxpayers as in  Tayib et  al .  ( 1 999) and Said in  et 

a l .  (2006). In terms of the disclosure index, Coombs and Tayib (2000) developed an 

i ndex based on C IPFA code of practice on local authority accou nting in the United 

Kingdom and app l ied the index to the annual reports of Malays ian local authorities 

w ithout taking into consideration the stakeholders' needs. This rev iew of the related 

Malaysian studies and of other previous studies highl ights the need for the current 

research. 

5. 7 CONCLUSION 

The above review of l iterature indicates recognition of the importance of performance 

reporting for the d ischarge of accountabi l ity. However, there has been no agreement on 

stakeholders' information requirements for accountabil ity purposes. Studies that focus 

specifically on accountabi l ity through reporting in the public sector, especial ly in local 

government or local authority contexts, are found to be l imited. Therefore, more local 

government or local authority studies on stakeholders' information requirements for 

accountabi l ity purposes are necessary. It is argued in . the current research that the 

stakeholders' information requirements for accountability purposes are context-specific 

and dependent on the group of stakeholders identified. It is posited that the information 

expectations of the stakeholders of Malaysian local authorities for assess ing and 

monitoring the performance of the local authorities are not fu l ly understood. Consistent 

w ith the middle-range thinking perspective, these contextual ised findings would 'enrich' 

the theoretical schemes ('skeletal theories') developed from the insights from the 

accountabil ity framework discussed in Chapter Four and the review of l iterature 
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d iscussed in this chapter. 

The review of d isclosure studies has provided a pool of informational items and 

d isclosures considered important by annual report users and is used in the current 

research in the selection of potential information items to include in a questionnaire to 

i dentify these contextualised informational expectations. The question of whether these 

same informational items and d isc losures are equal ly relevant in the specific context of 

Malaysian local authorities has been addressed. Along with the theoretical framework of 

accountabil ity d iscussed in Chapter Four, the review of l iterature provided in th i s  

chapter has formed theoretical schemes (skeletal theories) of  accountabi l ity 

( 'accountabi l ity to whom' and 'accountabi l ity for what' )  and stakeholders' informational 

requirements for accountabil ity purposes. These skeletal theories are used as guidance in  

carrying out empirical investigations .  

I n  relation to Malaysian studies, to date, there seems to be neither a study i n  re lation to 

Malaysian local authorities that identifies the expectations of stakeholders in terms of 

information necessary for assessing and monitoring the performance of authorities, nor a 

study that examines the disclosure of both financial and non-financial performance 

information by local authorities. Within the framework of performance and publ ic 

accountabil ity and the emphasis on external accountabil ity reporting, it is posited that 

performance information expected by a broad group of stakeholders (not only 

taxpayers) shou ld be reported in  the annual reports of local authorities and the 

information should include not only financial, including financial information d isc losed 

in financial statements and anci l lary statements, but also non-financial perfo rmance 

information, inc luding performance information related to programmes or services 

provided by the authorities. As Normanton ( 1 97 1 )  stated, "accountabil ity, part icularly in  

the public sector, requires information and explanation about actions and dec isions of  

public entities to  be  provided to  their stakeholders over and above what would normally 

be included in  the audited financ ial statements"(p.9). 

Therefore, the current research is relevant in that it provides contextual detai ls  in 

completing and enriching the theory of publ ic sector accountabi l ity and performance 

reporting. The theoretical framework of accountabil ity discussed in the previous chapter 

and the insights from the review of l iterature provided in this chapter lead to the 

fol lowing research questions that are addressed via empirical investigations: 
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l .  What do stakeholders o f  Malaysian local authorities understand by the term 

'accountabi l ity' with regards to local authorities? 

2 .  What type of information do the stakeholders expect and consider necessary for 

assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities? 

3 .  How important i s  i t  for each informational item to be disclosed i n  annual reports 

of local authorities to the stakeholders? 

4 .  What type of information items do expert stakeholders agree is  necessary for 

assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities and what is the 

importance of such items for disclosure? 

5 .  How can the information and its importance for disclosure, as agreed by the 

experts, be organised as a d isclosure index for assessing the extent and qual ity of 

information disc losure? 

6 .  What is the extent and qual ity of  disclosure of information with in the annual 

reports of Malaysian local authorities? 

7 .  Does the information being disclosed m the annual reports meet the 

expectations of stakeholders? 

8 .  To what extent i s  accountabi l ity being discharged through annual performance 

reporting of local authorities? 

The methods employed in the current research in carrying out empirical investigations 

are d i scussed in the fol lowing chapter and the results of the empirical investigations that 

answer the research questions are reported in Chapter Seven to Chapter N ine. 
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5.8 CHAPTER SUMMARY 

In summary, the l iterature provides a contextual base from which to examine 

performance reporting and accountabil ity. The l iterature acknowledges the role of 

annual reports in reporting both financial and non-financial performance information of 

publ ic sector entities and consequently in the d i scharge of public sector accountabi l ity 

and especial ly the accountabi l ity of local government entities. The l iterature that has 

been reviewed also provides evidence of the i mportance of identifying the stakeholders' 

i n formation expectations in meeting the external accountabil ity reporting purposes 

w ith in the public accountabi l ity paradigm. The review of l iterature o n  disc losure index 

studies provides guidance in developing a disclosure index and applying the index in 

m easuring the level of d i sclosure of performance information. Overal l ,  the review of 

l iterature provides guidance in undertaking empirical investigations to address the 

research questions and eventua l ly to achieve the research objectives and aims. The 

fol lowing chapter discusses the research methods employed in undertaking the empirical 

i n vestigations. 
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6 . 1  INTRODUCTION 

CHAPTER SIX 

RESEARCH METHOD 

The previous two chapters have discussed the 'theory position' i n  the appl ication of the 

m iddle-range th inking (MRT) perspective to research. This  chapter provides a 

d i scussion on the ' methodological position' of  MRT in that it discusses the methods 

employed in the current research in carrying out empirical investigations. Both 

q uantitative and qual i tative methods are involved - a questionnaire survey, a Delphi 

e xercise and a content analysis of annual reports uti l ising a d isc losure index. The 

development of the i ndex commenced with an extensive l i terature review in order to 

ident ify potential d i sc losure items to be inc luded in a questionnaire survey. Via the 

survey, the information necessary for assessing and monitoring the performance of 

M alaysian local authorities as expected by stakeholders of the local authorities was 

identified. This information was reconci led and validated through a Delphi exercise. 

F rom this a draft d isc losure index was developed and used to assess the content of a 

sample of annual reports. 

Fol lowing the introduction section, th is chapter proceeds with Section 6.2 which detai l s  

the research methods employed for data col lection. Specifically sub-section 6.2. 1 

describes the questionnaire survey, sub-section 6.2.2 provides a description of the 

Delphi exercise and sub-section 6.2.3 discusses the content analysis of annual reports 

i ncluding the process of developing the disclosure index that was used in the content 

analysis. This chapter concludes with a chapter summary in Section 6 .3 .  The position of  

this  chapter in  re lation to  the thesis structure is  depicted in  F igure 6 . 1 .  
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Figure 6. 1 :  Thesis Structure:  the Position of Chapter Six 
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6.2 RESEARCH METHODS E MPLOYED 

S ince M RT maintains that subjectivity and structured formal ity can work together 

(Laughl in, 2007), both quantitative and qualitative methods of data collection and 

analysis were employed in this research. These are graphically represented in Figure 

6 .2 .  The methods of data col lect ion included a questionnaire survey, a Delphi exercise 

and a content analysis of annual reports. The questionnaire survey is a form of 

quantitative research, the Delphi exercise involves both quantitative and qualitative 

methods and the analysis of the annual reports using a disclosure index can be c lassified 

as quantitative in its approach.  

As  shown in Figure 6.2, the questionnaire survey was carried out at  stage one in  order to 

address the first three research questions: 

Research Question 1 
What do stakeholders of Malaysian local authorities understand by the term 

'accountabi l ity' with regards to local authorities? 

Research Question 2 
What type of informat ion do the stakeholders expect and consider necessary for 

assessing and monitori ng the performance of local authorities? 

Research Question 3 
How important is it for each informational item to be disclosed in annual reports 

of local authorities to the stakeholders? 

The outputs or findings from the survey (those that were related to the stakeholders' 

expectations on information and disclosure importance) were used in the Delphi 

exercise that was carried out at stage two. The exercise that involves a panel of experts 

was carried out to address the next two research questions: 

Research Question 4 
What type of information items do expert stakeholders agree is necessary for 

assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities and what is the 

importance of such items for d isclosure? 
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Research Question 5 
How can the information and its importance for disclosure, as agreed by the 

experts, be organised as a disc losure index for assessing the extent and qual ity of 

information disclosure? 

The outputs from the exercise, the agreement/consensus on the information necessary 

for assessing and monitoring the performance of  local authorities and the information 

d isclosure importance weightings were used in the development of the disc losure index. 

The index was then applied in the annual report content analysis that was carried out at 

stage three of the data col lection process. At th is stage the three final research questions 

were addressed: 

Research Question 6 
What is the extent and qual ity of disclosure of information within the annual 

reports of Malaysian local authorities? 

Research Question 7 
Does the information being disc losed m the annual reports meet the 

expectations of stakeholders? 

Research Question 8 
To what extent is accountabi l ity being d ischarged through annual performance 

reporting of local authorities? 

The methods employed in this research are discussed in detail in the fol lowing sub

sections. 
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Figure 6.2: Research Methods for Data Collection and Analysis 
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6.2 .1  Stage One: Questionnaire Survey 

A questionnaire survey 
_
is appropriate for col lecting data on perceptions because it is 

practical and effi cient (Ary, 1 972), especia l ly when a large num ber of respondents are 

involved (such as the broad group of stakeholders involved in this research). The 

involvement of such stakeholders as research respondents is consistent with the 

theoretical framework of accountab i l ity as discussed in Chapter Four of th is thesis. As 

Normanton ( 1 97 1 )  stated, "the very essence of accountabi l ity means that outside bodies 

must determine the content of annual reports" (p.67). The broad stakeholder group 

includes not only stakeholders outs ide local authorities (external stakeholders) but also 

those within the authorities ( internal stakeholders). This supports a broader perspective 

of public accountabi l i ty that takes into account those who have social, pol i tical and 

economic interests in reporting organisations (Coy et al., 200 I ). Accountabi l ity can be 

said to be 'rights based' (Pal lot, 1 992) and therefore the requirements and perceptions of 

stakeholders - those persons having 'a reasonable right' to information concerning the 

reporting ent ity (ASSC, 1 975) - should be considered in determ in ing the appropriate 

content of reports (such as annual reports). 

6.2. 1 . 1  Questionnaire Design 

The questionnaire was designed to address the first three research questions (see Section 

6.2) and to gather insights into the first three objectives that underpin the research - ( I )  

to explore the concept of accountab i l i ty from the perspective of Malaysian stakeholders 

and the stakeholders ' understanding of their relationship with local authorities; (2) to 

identify the type of informat ion that a broad group of stakeholders expect to enable 

them to assess and monitor the performance of Malaysian local authorities (3) to 

identify the stakeholders' perceptions of the importance of information items for 

d i sclosure. The questionnaire (see Appendix B) consisted of ten questions. The first 

three questions were designed to help achieve the first objective and focused on 

stakeholders' perceptions of accountabil ity for performance, the parties whom they 

th ink a local authority should be accountable to, and accountabil ity in general. The next 

question (quest ion four), which provided a l ist of potentia l  disclosure items, was 

designed to ach ieve the second objective. In this question, the respondents were asked to 

evaluate and indicate which items they expected and considered necessary for assessing 

and monitoring the performance of  local authorities and wh ich i tems they would expect 
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to be d isclosed in  the annual reports of local authorit ies. The respondents were also 

asked to indicate their perceptions o f  the importance o f  disclosing each item by using a 

5-point scale (0 for unimportant, l for minor importance, 2 for quite important, 3 for 

very important and 4 for extremely important) and to add any further items they thought 

worth considering. The remain ing s ix questions were included to provide additional 

information regarding the receipt of annual reports including the source and the capacity 

in which the recipients received the reports; the use of the annual reports and 

performance information; and a profile of the respondents themselves. This information 

is necessary to support and comp lement the descriptive analysis and d iscussion of the 

findings. The questionnaire was c i rculated to the respondents (a broad range of 

stakeholders of Malaysian local authorities - representatives of respective state 

governments, the general pub I ic, council lors as wel l as local authorities' creditors, 

management and other employees) a long with a covering letter (see Appendix  C). The 

covering letter specified the objectives of the research, an explanation about the method 

of rating the items for disclosure importance and assurance of confidentiality and 

anonym ity. 

6.2. 1 .2  Piloting the Questionnaire 

Pi loting or pre-testing of questionnaires before actual circulation is done to ensure 

clarity of  the questions asked and m inimise ambigu ities in wording or terms used. This  

increases the rel iabil ity, val id ity and practical ity of  the questionnaire (Morrison, 1 993;  

Oppenheim, 1 992). For this research, the questionnaire was developed and refined 

through consultation with the researcher's supervisors. Next, the questionnaire was 

translated into the Malay language. S ince the potential participants ranged from the 

general public with various backgrounds and academic qualifications to highly-ranked 

officers of government organisations, it was expected that their English language 

proficiency might vary widely. Therefore, to ensure consistency it was decided to use 

the Malay language, the national language that each participant was assumed to be very 

wel l  conversed in. Five potential stakeholder partic ipants were then se lected to test the 

questionnaire (an accountant of a state government office who was directly involved in 

reviewing and analysing the annual and performance reports of local authorit ies for the 

preparation of the state government annual reports; two accountants of two local 

authorities who were involved in preparing the annual financial and/or performance 

reports and two members of the general public). The questionnaire used for this  purpose 
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was a dual language version (Engl ish and Malay languages). Thi s  was done to help 

i mprove translation and ensure its accuracy, to ensure clarity of the questions and 

m in imise ambiguities in wording or terms used and to measure the time taken to fi l l  in 

the questions. A meeting with each of the respondents involved in the quest ionnaire 

p i lot testing was arranged and the questionnaire was forwarded to them to complete. 

During the meeting, part ic ipants asked the researcher for clarification of questions or 

terms that were not c lear. Feedback from the part ic ipants gave the researcher insights 

i nto which questions needed adjustments or restructuring and which terms needed 

c hanging. In  general, apart from some sentence restructuring and changes to a few 

terms, there were no major amendments to the quest ionnaire. 

6.2. 1 .3 Questionnaire Administration 

There are two ways to administer a questionnaire. The first is self-administration, where 

respondents complete the questionnaires by themselves. This may involve a del ivery 

and col lection approach. The second is surveyor-adm inistration, which may involve a 

telephone questionnaire (Saunders, Lewis & Thornhi l l, 1 997). Self-adm inistered 

questionnaires are one of the most commonly used methods for col lecting data from 

respondents (Bourque & Fie lder, 2003). According to Bourque and F ielder (2003), such 

questionnaires can be conducted within the presence of the surveyor or his/her 

representative. Their presence is to answer any questions related to the quest ionnaire 

(supervised-administration form). The self-administered questionnaire survey can also 

be in the form of un-supervised administration (without the presence of the surveyor or 

h i s/her representative) or in the form of semi-supervised administrat ion (where the 

person who assists in the d istribution and collection of the questionnaires is  avai lable to 

answer questions regarding the questionnaire and monitor the data col lection effort at 

some m inimal level) .  

ln this research, the questionnaire was self-adm inistered, supervised and semi

supervised. The researcher personally del ivered the questionnaires to the target 

respondents. Whenever possible, and if the respondents were comfortab le, the process 

of completing the questionnaires was supervised by the researcher who answered any 

re levant questions about the questionnaires. If the respondents preferred to comp lete the 

questionnaire without the presence of the researcher, the questionnaire was left with 

them to be completed and col lected upon completion. The respondents were given a 
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certain t ime period (agreed by and convenient to them) to complete the quest ionnaires. 

After that period ended, the researcher persona l ly col lected the questionnaires from the 

respondents. If, at the t ime of col lection the questionnaires were not ready to be 

col lected, each related respondent was left with a stamped envelope w ith the 

researcher's address for mai l ing the completed questionnaire. The envelope was pre

coded and the code, the date the envelope was left, and the contact number of the 

respondent were recorded by the researcher for future monitoring and admin istration. 

For the groups of management and employees and those to whom the authorities had 

d irect access - their counci l lors and creditors - the director or officer of the Public 

Relations or Community A ffairs Department was contacted for assistance with the 

circulation and col lection o f  the questionnaires. The director/officers were given an 

explanation about the structure of the questionnaire and were invited to ask any 

questions related to parts of  the questionnaire that were unclear to them.  This was to 

ensure that they could provide answers should any questions related to the questionnaire 

be brought forward by the respondents. They were also requested to keep a record of the 

number of questionnaires d istributed to and col lected from or returned by each group of 

respondents. I t  was suggested that the directors/officers take between three to four 

weeks to administer the questionnaires. In addition, there. was a mutual agreement 

between the researcher and the director/officer that the distribution should include 

representation from each group of potential respondents and the returned questionnaires 

from each group would be gathered by the d irector/officer and kept in d ifferent 

envelopes according to the group of stakeholders. The researcher then personally 

col lected the questionnaires from the director or officer or, if this was thought 

impractical, left a pre-paid courier envelope for the director or officer to mail the 

completed questionnaires. This  approach was deemed more appropriate to maxim ise the 

response rate as total dependence on mai l ing questionnaires alone can be claimed to 

have a re lat ive ly low response rate (Nachmias & N achmias, 1 996). 

In order to achieve a maxim um response rate, a fol low-up stage was undertaken. A 

week before the col lection date from the directors/officers, a fol low-up cal l was made 

by the researcher to the d irector/officer to determ ine the status of the completion and 

return of the questionnaire distributed. Thei r  help was requested to rem ind the 

respondents who had yet to complete the questionnaires and to return the questionnaire 

1 03 



as soon as possible. A fol low-up cal l  was also made to members of  the public who had 

not yet returned the questionnaire. 

6.2. 1 .4 Sample Selection 

The local authorit ies located in Peninsu lar Malaysia are the focus of the current 

research1 3 . The ninety-e ight local authorities that are located in Peninsular Malaysia are 

made up of eight c ity councils/hal ls, th irty municipal counci ls  and sixty district 

counci ls, 1 4 all of which vary in physical s ize, population and revenue base 1 5 • This 

research focused on city councils/hal ls  and mun icipal counci ls (th i rty-eight jurisdictions 

in total within which a lmost 40 percent of the Peninsular population reside). As one of 

the research objectives was to evaluate the annual reports of local authorities, the 

' larger' local authorities were selected because they were deemed to have fewer 

constraints imposed on the production of thei r  annual reports (Boyne & Law, 1 99 1 )  and 

to have sufficient resources to prepare reports for accountabi l ity purposes (Ryan et al . , 

2002b). Connolly and Hyndman {2004) found a positive relationsh ip between the extent 

of reporting of performance information and the size of the reporting entity. A premise 

of the current research was that the local authorities, as defined by the given 

demographical scope, were perceived to have a greater abil ity than their smal ler sized 

counterparts to provide stakeholders with comprehensive annual reports comprising an 

extensive array of both financ ial and non-fi nancial performance information . 

Therefore, for the purpose of the quest ionnaire survey, the sample of participants 

selected was the key stakeholders related to the thirty-e ight selected authorities. The 

stakeholders were identified based on the l iterature (as discussed in Chapter Five) and 

c lass ified as being e ither internal or external stakeholders. The internal stakeholders 

included the managemen t, employees and counci l lors of the local authorities. The 

samples of these groups of stakeholders were purposive ly selected by the 

1 3  S ince local authorities (LAs) located in East Malaysia are governed by di fferent acts to the LAs 
in Peninsular Malaysia, they were excluded from an i n itial sample selection. 
1 4 As at October 2008, three district counci l s  were reconstituted as a municipal counc i l, but afier 
the data for this research was col lected. 
1 5 To be categorised as a city council/hall and municipal counci l ,  the population should be more 
than 500,000. The annual revenue should be more than MYR 100 mi l l ion for the city counci l/hal l .  For the 
municipal council the populat ion should be more than 1 50,000 and the annual revenue should be more 
than MYR20 mi l l ion. For a smal ler authority (district counci l ), the population is less than 1 50,000 and the 
annual revenue is  less than MYR 20 mil l ion (source: the Ministry of Housing and Local Government, 
www.kpkt.gov .nn )  
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director/officer who had agreed to assist with the distribution and collection of 

questionnaires. 

The external stakeholders included the local authorities' respective state governments, 

creditors and the public. For the state government respondents, the accountants of eight 

state govern ments 1 6 to whom the local authorities report were selected. Accountants 

were selected because of their involvement with local authority reporting 1 7 and their 

knowledge of what m ight be included in  the annual reports of local authorities. Creditor 

stakeholders were selected by the director/officer of each l ocal authority' s Community 

Affairs or Pub l ic Relations Department. For the publ ic group, the samples were selected 

from among the people who l ived or worked in the local ity of the selected c i ty and 

municipal counc i ls .  The selection of potential respondents was lim ited to those who had 

an identifiable re lationship (as discussed in Chapter Four) w ith the local authorities and 

showed an interest1 8 and wil l ingness to participate in the survey. Those who met these 

criteria included customers at the local authorities' counters, people who resided w ith in 

the local ity of the local authority concerned (with the assistance of the community 

leaders), people who used faci l ities provided by the local authorities (such as public 

l ibraries, bus/taxi stations and recreation centres) and people who were renting premises  

owned by the authorities (for example, owners of  bus inesses run in the shops/stal ls  

provided by the authorities). 

6.2. 1 .5 Method of Data Analysis 

After responses from the questionnaires were col lated, descriptive analysis was 

performed using tabulation to summarise the data and gain measures of central tendency 

(mean value). Mean importance weightings were determined for each information i tem. 

A non-parametric test was also appl ied to examine differences between the means of 

stakeholder groups. The results from these analyses are reported in Chapter Seven.  

1 6 The thirty-eight LAs included in the survey are located in eleven states. However, one state 
government was not i ncluded in this survey because it was involved i n  the Delphi exercise. One further 
state government was involved in a pi lot study and another was unable to participate in the required 
timeframe. 1 7  

Financial and other annual reports are forwarded by each local authority to its respective state 
government via the accountant of the local government department located within the state secretary 
office. The accountant has direct access to the reports. 
1 8 Studies that include only interested subjects in their work i nclude Daniels & Daniels, 1 99 1 ;  
Dixon, Coy, Buchanan & Tower, 1994; Jones et al . , 1 985. However, the inclusion of only interested 
subjects l imits the conclusions that are drawn. 
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6.2.2 Stage Two: Delphi Exercise 

A Delphi exercise is a means of sol iciting opinions from a panel of interested or expert 

participants i n  order to achieve a consensus position (Linstone & Turoff, 1 975). 

According to Rowe and Wright ( 1 999), the key features of a Delphi exerc ise include 

anonymity (panel members' identities are unknown to each other, they work 

independently and are allowed to express opinions and j udgments privately), i teration 

(the iteration of questionnaires over a number of rounds where members can change 

their opinions and judgments), controlled feedback (through which members are 

informed of  the opinions of their anonymous colleagues), and the statistical aggregation 

of group response (usually compris ing a mean or median value, presented as feedback). 

The Delphi technique has proved flexible enough to be employed in various areas 

including government, social studies, management and business (Day & Bobeva, 2005 ; 

Linstone & Turoff, 2002) and provides a structured format, systematic procedures, c lear 

communication, statistical feedback and anonymity (Preble, 1 983). The Delphi 

technique has the advantage that the participants are less subject to the ' halo effect' 

(where a h igh ly respected participant influences other participants in giving opin ions) 

and it can also reduce the ' bandwagon effect' wh ich encourages agreement w ith the 

majority (Ters ine & Riggs, 1 976). 

The Delphi exercise was employed in the research to achieve another objective of the 

research - to identify experts' perceptions of and agreement on the info rmation 

necessary for assessing and monitoring the performance of Malaysian local authorities 

and the importance of such information for disclosure and to develop a special purpose 

disclosure index to assess the extent and qual ity of performance information publ ished 

in annual reports of Malaysian local authorities. This exercise could act as a 

reconci l iation process in final is ing the information to be d i sc losed in the annual reports 

of local authorities. Likierman ( 1 992) points out that there might be problems of 

reconci l iation i n  identifying the needs of various users or stakeholders ( in  research such 

as this) because there might be conflicts in terms of the expectations of different parties. 

The Delphi exercise might be one technique that can be used to minimise confl icts 

because th i s  exercise provides opportunities for the experts (who are fami l iar w ith local 

authority reporting) to articulate among themselves what information should be 

disclosed, unti l  a kind of 'agreement' is reached. 
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The information items and their disclosure importance were final i sed upon the 

achievement of greater consensus at the end of the Delphi exercise. They were then used 

in  the development of a disclosure index. 

The Delphi exercise employed in the current research (as undertaken at stage two 

represented in F igure 6.2) involved both quantitative and qual itative methods. The 

appl ication of an MRT perspective allows both methods to be carried out in the 

exerci se. The use of a series of questionnaires i s  a quantitative approach and the 

involvement of some form of human judgment input is a qualitative approach. The 

qual itative dimension involved informal interviews with panel members to seek their 

opinions and justifications regarding the disclosure of any additional information item 

and the perceived level of importance for that items disclosure. Steps of the Delphi 

exerc i se used in this research are shown in F igure 6 . 3 .  

6.2.2. 1 Selection of  the Delphi Panel Members 

Panel composition is critical in determining the e ffectiveness of the Delphi exercise 

(Ters ine & Riggs, 1 976) . Farmer and Richman ( 1 965) outline five basic criteria to be 

appl ied in  selecting panel members. The panel members must: 

• have a basic knowledge of the problem area and be able to apply that 
knowledge; 

• have a good performance record in their particular area; 

• possess a h igh degree of objectivity and rational ity; 

• have the t ime avai lable to participate to the conclusion of the program; and 

• be wil l ing to g ive the amount of t ime and effort to do a thorough job of 

participation. 

In re l ation to panel size, there are no specific guidel ines for determ ining the optimum 

number of panel members - it may vary with the homogeneity of the respondent group 

and depend on the amount of work the researcher can handle (Tersine & Riggs, 1 976). 

Whi le Dalkey (cited in Linstone, 1 978, p.296) suggests that seven is a suitable m inimum 

panel  size, Tersine and Riggs ( 1 976) and Z ig l io  ( 1 996) suggest ten to fi fteen 

homogeneous members is sufficient for generating effective results. 
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Figure 6.3: Steps of  the Delphi Exercise 

Start 

Definition of objective 

I) 
Reconci le and validate stakeholders' 
informational expectations and disclosure 
importance weightings. 

Selection of panel members 

Representing a broad group of stakeholders 
including federal and state governments, 
management, employees, counci l lors, 
creditors and the public. 

F irst Delphi round 

Second Delphi round 

Third Delphi round 

Conclusion 

Questionnaire circulation - members to � 
review the l ist of information i tems (from 
survey), indicate items they th ink should be 
disclosed, rate their disclosure importance, 
add other required items not i n  the l ist and 
provide j ustifications for the i nclusion of 

ll:,..additional information items. A 

,.-Members to evaluate additional items and � 
re-evaluate their previous ratings in the light 
of the average ratings from the first round and 
the average stakeholder ratings from the 
questionnaire survey. Members are given 
the opportunity to make changes to the ratings 
and give opinions/justifications about why 
they think their decision of the selections/ 
rat ings is correct. � � 
Members are presented with a summary of 
the responses from the second round comprising 
the average ratings and opinions/justifications 
provided in the second round for further 
consideration. 

A reduction in variance over rounds 
and opinion stabi lity reflect 
consensus/agreement. 
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From a review of  a study by Preble ( 1 983) on the publ ic sector use of the Delphi 

technique, it is noted that a variety of panel sizes are used, depending on the purpose of 

the studies. For instance, in Kennington's  ( 1 977) study, the panel size was forty-seven, 

Fry ( 1 980) used seventeen members, Smi l  ( 1 977) used twenty members and Coy and 

Dixon's study (2004) involved thirty-n ine panel members. 

As there is no restriction on the s ize of the panel members or participants, m this 

research the Delphi exercise involved twelve panel members selected purposive ly. The 

composition of the Delphi panel is  shown in Table 6. 1 .  

Table 6. 1 :  Composition of Delphi Panel 

Number Member Description 
I Representative of the National Audit Department (auditor general department) 
I Local authority supplier 
I Representative of the Ministry of Housing and Local Government 
2 Management 
I Counc i l lor 
I Local authority accountant 
2 Members of the publ ic (including one who is involved in a citizen's association that 

represents one of the i nterest groups) 
2 Representatives of state government offices (the local government unit) 
I Pol i t ician 

It was thought that the members selected had at least a basic knowledge of the problem 

areas and were able to apply that knowledge, as wel l  as possessing a h igh degree of 

obj ectivity and rational ity. They indicated that they had the time available to participate 

to the conclusion of the exercise and were wi l l ing to give the amount of effort required 

to do a thorough job of participation. These are consistent with the ideal panel member 

criteria outlined by Tersine and Riggs ( 1 976). 

In addition, based on their current positions/roles and experiences, the members selected 

were assumed to be homogeneous in terms of their knowledge on the nature of local 

authorities, local authority functions and reporting (see Chapter Eight for the deta i ls of 

Delphi pane l) .  Based on Tersine and Riggs ( 1 976), since the panel can be deemed 

homogeneous, the size of twelve panel members is considered sufficient. 
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6.2.2.2 Questionnaire Iteration 

The questionnaire used in the Delphi exercise consisted of a l ist of information items 

identified by the broad group of stakeholders during the questionnaire survey in stage 

one of the empirical investigation (as shown in Figure 6 .2). The questionna ire was 

designed to obtain opinions from the panel members on the information necessary for 

assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities and the relative 

importance of each information for disclosure (us ing a five-point scale of 0 = 

unimportant; l = minor importance, 2 = quite important, 3 = very important and 4 = 

extremely important). Opin ions and justifications were a lso sought on other items the 

panel thought should be disclosed and the disclosure importance of those items. 

Other activities carried out during the Delphi exerc ise (as shown in Figure 6 .3)  included 

col lection of the questionnaires and summarisation of the reponses gathered from the 

first and subsequent rounds. The summarised information was presented to panel 

members who then added further opin ions and had the opportunity to reconsider their 

position. This step was repeated until stabil ity in responses was reached . A reduction in 

variance over rounds and response stabi l ity reflects consensus (Linstone, 1 978 ;  Rowe & 
Wright, 1 999). Furthermore, informal conversational interviews in which questions 

emerged from the immediate context (Cohen et a l ., 2000) were also conducted in the 

second and third rounds. In the interviews, panel members were asked why they 

bel ieved their selections of information and their ratings were appropriate. The opinions 

and justifications were written down and read out to the panel members in order to 

ensure val id ity and rel iabi l ity of the transcriptions. 

The Delph i  exercise in th is  research involved three rounds (see Figure 6 .3)  and at the 

end of the third round, stabi l i ty in responses was deemed to have been reached. There is  

no comm on agreement on the number of rounds that should be included in a Delphi 

exerc ise but it seldom goes beyond one or two iterations (Rowe & Wright, 1 999). The 

responses received and a summary of the responses from each round of the Delphi 

exerc ise are reported in Chapter Eight .  

6.2.2.3 Method of Data Analysis 

Analys is  of data from the Del phi  exercise mainly involved the collation of quest ionnaire 

responses. The importance weightings given by the panel members were col lated and 

means and standard deviations were determined for each informat ion item at the end of 
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each round of the Delphi exercise. Justifications and opinions given by the particular 

pane l  members were summarised, c lassified and structured before presenting them to a l l  

members in the subsequent De lph i  rounds. 

The data col lection and analysis  processes in the Delphi exercise reconc i led and verified 

stakeholders' expected information and disc losure importance weightings to be used in 

the i ndex. The findings from the Delphi exercise are reported in Chapter Eight. The 

findi ngs or outputs led to the development of the d isclosure index used for a content 

analysis of annual reports. 

6.2.3 Stage Three: Annual Report Content Analysis 

Fol lowing prior studies (see Appendix A) the current research used a d i sclosure index 

for content analysis  of annu;:tl reports in order to measure leve l of disc losure. The 

analysis was carried out at the final stage in order to achieve the final objectives - to 

eval uate the extent and qual ity of disc losure of performance reporting w ithin the annual 

reports by applying the developed disclosure index, to ascerta in whether the 

informational and disclosure expectations of stakeholders are being met and to ascertain 

the extent to which accountabi l ity is being discharged through performance reporting. 

Before the content analys is  of annual reports cou ld  be undertaken, a d isc losure index 

was developed. The fol lowing sub-section d iscusses the development of the disclosure 

index. 

6.2.3 . 1  Development of the Disclosure Index 

The development of the disc losure index was based on the findings or outputs from the 

questionnaire survey and the Delphi exercise. The process of the deve lopment of the 

d i sc losure index is summarised in F igure 6.4. 
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Figure 6.4: Disclosure Index Development Process 

Identification of potential items and 
importance weightings 
Items identification: 
• Literature review/professional 

recommendations /statutory 
requirements/experts' or practitioners' 
suggestions. 

• Stakeholders' informational expectations 
through a questionnaire survey 

Importance weightings identification: 
• Stakeholders' perceptions through 

a questionnaire survey 

Reconciliation and verification of the index 
items and their importance weightings 
• Consensus of experts through a 

Delphi  exercise 

Identification of disclosure quality criteria 
• L iterature review 
• Profess ional bodies' recommendations 
• Statutory guidel ines 
• Suggestion by the Delphi expert panel 

Determination of scoring procedu re 

• Literature review 

Finalisation of the index 
• Pi lot annual report analysis 

(appl ication of the draft index) 
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F igure 6 .4 shows that the process of the d i sclosure index development begins with the 

identification of potential items based on an extensive rev iew of l iterature, professional 

and expert recommendations, statutory requirements and stakeholders' informational 

expectations that were obtained through a questionnaire survey (see Section 6 .2 . 1 )  and 

the identification of d isclosure importance weightings. The weightings were based on 

the stakeholders' perceptions that were also acquired fro m  the questionnaire survey. A 

mean of each of the stakeholders' responses on importance weightings was calculated 

and used as a summary of all stakeholder groups' perceptions. The identi fied potential 

index items and the items' importance weightings were presented to the expert panel in 

a Delphi exercise. Through the Delphi  exercise the potential index items and their 

disclosure importance weightings were reconciled and verified. The reconci l iation and 

verification of the items and importance weightings were achieved through the process 

of questionna i re iterations and the panel opinions-seek ing involved in the Delphi 

exercise. 

The deve lopment of the disc losure index then involved the identi fication of qual ity 

criteria based on a review of l iterature, recommendations of professional bodies, 

statutory guidel ines and suggest ions of Delphi members. The criteria were used for 

assessing d isc losure quality. Before the disclosure index could be final ised (the final 

process), a pi lot analysis of a smal l sample of annual reports was carried out. The detai ls 

of each step in  the development of the index are as fol lows: 

Identification of Potential Index Items and Importance Weightings 

As there is no general theory on item selection (Wal lace, 1 988a), the se lection of 

information i tems is based on the fol lowing criteria: 

I .  The i nclusion of such items in previous research studies of d isc losure ind ices 

(for example, Banks, Fisher & Nelson, 1 997; Robbins & Austin, 1 986; Ryan et 

al . ,  2002b - see Appendix D), previous studies of users' information needs (for 

example, Anthony, 1 978; C lark, 2003 ; Daniels & Daniels, 1 99 1 ;  Tayib et al . ,  

1 999; - see Appendix D), and other relevant studies of performance report ing 

(for example, Boyne, 2002; Conno l ly & Hyndman, 2004; Pol lanen, 2005 - see 

Appendix D). 

2. The item is recommended by a professional body - C I PF A ( 1 993 ). 
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3 .  The item i s  required to be d isclosed in terms o f  the Treasury Circular No.4/2007, 

the Financial Reporting Standards of Malaysia (these two statutory requ i rements 

have been used by local authorities as guidel ines in accounting and reporting) 

and the Publ ic Administration Development Circu lar No2/2005 . 

4 .  The item is  suggested by  experts (accountants of  Malaysian local authorities, an 

internal auditor of a state government and researchers with public sector research 

experience). 

From a review of the l iterature, the Local Government Accountabi l ity (LGA) index 

developed by Ryan et al. (2002b) wh ich was adapted from the Modified Accountabi l ity 

Index of Dixon, Coy & Tower, ( 1 99 1 )  was used as a basis in the selection of potential 

i tems. The LGA index consists of twenty-two items u nder three sections - overview, 

performance and financial information (see Append ix D).  

In developing the current research disclosure index, the section of performance 

measurement of the LGA i ndex was expanded by i nc luding a l ist of performance 

measures as recommended by previous studies (see Appendix D). 

Based on the review of prior studies, thirty items were selected for the development of 

the current research disclosure index. These items were categorised into four sections -

overview and operational, non-financial  performance, financial information and 

performance, and future-related information. 

Overv iew and operational  
Statement of objectives 
Mayor 'slpresident 's report 
Review of operations 
Organisation (corporate) structure 
Internal control 
Environment report 
Personnel 
Occupational health & safety 
Equal employment opportunity 
Summary facts and figures 
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Non-financial performance 
Goals and objectives of services/activities 
Non-financial performance targets 
Performance measurement: 

Input measures 
Output measures 
Impact measures 
Efficiency measures 
Effectiveness measures 
Client/customer satisfaction measures 

Financial inform a tion/performance 
A uditor 's report 
Statement of financial performance/statement 
of revenue and expenditure 
Statement of financial position/balance sheet 
Statement of cash flow 
Accounting policies 
Financial review 
Financial performance ratios 
Actual to budget comparison 
Information about cost of service/activity 

Future-related I n formation 
Future plans 
Future performance targets 
Information pertaining to future capital 
improvements 

Whi le the LGA index inc ludes financial statements (with no detai led specification of 

items of the statements, except for non-current assets, investments, commitments and 

contingencies, and remuneration), the detai led content of financial statements was 

considered in the current research. The inclusion was based on financial statement 

(revenue and expenditure accounts and balance sheet) items recommended by the 

C I PF A Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting for Great Bri tain, 1 993 (which 

was consistent with Coombs & Tayib's 2000 study). The inclusion was also based on 

the Treasury Circular No. 4/2007 (TC) and Financial Reporting Standards (FRS) of 

Malaysia that have been used by local authorities as a main reference point for 

accounting and reporting. 

Detai led items for the Statement of Revenue and Expenditure, and the Balance Sheet 

that were based on the C IPFA Code of Pract ice on Local Authority Accounting for 

Great Bri tain are as fol lows: 
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Statement of reven u e  and expe n d it u re i tems 
Revenue according to activities or services rendered 
Revenue according to source of income 
Gross expenditure according to services 
Net expenditure according to services 

Balance sheet items 
Fixed assets (book value): 

Operational assets 
Non-operational assets 
Community assets 
Infrastructure assets 
Total fixed assets 

Deferred charges 
Long term investments 
Long term debtors 
Current assets 
Current liabilities 
Long term borrowings 
Deferred liabilities 
Deferred credits - government grants 
Reserves 

B ased on the FRS of  Malaysia, four additional items were added to the statement of 

cash flows and another four were added to the statement of revenue and expenditure. 

Two additional items were included in the overview and operational section based on 

the TC. Further, another performance measure was added based on the Publ ic 

Administration Development Circular No. 2/2005:  Guidelines to establ ish key 

performance indicators and to implement performance measurement in government 

agencies (PADC). Based on these three statutory requirements that have been used by 

local authorities as a major reference point, the fol lowing items were added: 

Statement of cas h flows items 
Operating cash flows 
Investing cash flows 
Financing cash flows 
Year-end cash and cash equivalents 

Statement of revenue and expenditure i tems 
Expenditure classified by nature or function 
Total expenditure 
Total revenue 
Total excess/surplus 

Overview a n d  operational 
Problems in undertaking services/activities 
Reasons for current status of performance achievement 

Non-financial p erforma nce 
Productivity measure 
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A l l  the items selected above (based on prior studies, the C £ PF A Code, the TC, the FRS 

and the PADC) were forwarded to experts ( including researchers with publ ic  sector 

research experience, the head of the internal audit office of a state government and two 

Malaysian local authority accountants) to seek their opin ions on other items they 

thought shou ld be added as potential d isclosure items. The head of the internal audit 

o ffice suggested three additional items  and specified two financial performance ratios as 

fol lows: 

Overview and operational 

Efforts in generating more revenue 

Non-financial  performance 
Comparison between actual and target achievement 
Comparison between current and previous years achievement 

Financial  information/perfo rm a nce - financial perfo r mance ratios 
Revenue to number of staff ratio 
Total asset to number of staff ratio 

Furthermore, the two accountants suggested the fol lowing additional items: 

Overv iew and operational 
Acknowledgment/award received from the state and federal government 
Training programmes for staff 

Non-financial  performance 
Report on the use of government grants 
Report on performance of contractors responsible for providing contracted services 
Achievement of specific programmes/activities ordered by the state and federal 
government 

Financia l i n formation/perfo r m a nce - financial performance ratios 
Return on assets ratio 
Revenue to cost of service ratio 

Based on the researchers' opin ions, .fixed assets at their market value were added to 

balance sheet items as follows: 

Bala nce sheet items: 
Fixed assets (market value) : 

Operational assets 
Non-operational assets 
Comm unity assets 
Infrastructure assets 
Total fixed assets 
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In all, seventy-one potential d i sclosure items were identified at this stage, based on the 

four selection criteria stated earl ier. These items were then included in the questionnaire 

that was used to identifY the informational expectations of stakeholders of local 

authorities for assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities and the 

stakeholders '  perceptions of the relative importance of each item for d isc losure in 

annual reports of local authorit ies. The disclosure items and their importance weightings 

identified by the stakeholders are presented and discussed in the next chapter, as part of 

the findings of the questionna i re survey. 

Reconciliation and Verification of the Information Items and Importance Weightings 

The Delphi  exercise can act as reconci l iation and verification process. Through the 

exercise, the information and d isclosure expectations of the broad group of stakeholders 

were reconci led. During the exercise, the panel members were also required to add 

other items (with their importance weightings) that they thought should be d i sclosed by 

the local authorities. This resulted in the agreement of a l l  the expert panel members on a 

final l ist of  items and importance weightings to be included in the disclosure index. The 

agreement or consensus is considered in this research as a verification of the 

informat ion items and importance weightings that were included in the draft d isclosure 

index. The items and the importance weightings are presented in the next chapter on 

the findings of the empirical i nvestigation. 

Identification of Quality Criteria 

Once the index items and their respective importance weightings were determined, 

qual ity criteria were ident ified . The criteria were used to assess the qual ity of d isclosure 

of information identified i n  the earl ier processes. As discussed in Chapter F ive, there is 

no agreement in prior studies on the definition of d isc losure qual ity. B uzby ( 1 974) 

referred to the qual ity of d isc losure as adequacy. Adequacy has been referred to as the 

degree of i nc lusion in Barrett ' s  ( 1 976) and Al-Razeen and Karbhari's (2004) studies. In 

addition, d i sclosure qual ity has also been referred to as completeness or fu l l  d i sc losure 

(for example, Imhoff, 1 992) and comprehensiveness (for example, Hooks et a l . ,  2002b; 

Ryan et al . ,  2002b; Wallace et al., 1 999). Chapter Five has provided a deta i led review of 

these stud ies. 

1 1 8 



As d iscussed in Chapter F ive, the current research fol lows the approach of Buzby 

( 1 974), Barrett ( 1 976, 1 977) and A l-Razeen and Karbhari (2004), where the information 

items identified from the earl ier process were divided into two categories - a category of 

s ingle-information items and a category of multiple-information items.  This approach 

retains the scores given for 'disclosure importance' for all items.  The score for 

importance has been accepted in prior studies as a proxy of disclosure qual ity (for 

example, Naser & Nuseibeh, 2003). For items which were considered single

information items, the fu l l  score of importance weighting was a l located if the items 

were d isc losed and a zero score was al located for non-disclosure. For multiple

information items, cred it is given for degrees of detai l  or inclusion of sub-elements. I n  

t h e  current research, the degree of detai l  was determined by the inc lusion o f  pre

determined quality criteria. This distinguishes between poor and excel lent disc losure of 

i nd ividual items in th is  category. 

This approach has a number of advantages. It improves the importance weighting 

system used to determ ine the level of disclosure of indiv idual items, by taking into 

account the detail  of those particular items. It also m inimises subject ivity in deciding 

upon qual ity criteria in measuring the degree of deta i l  of the disclosure as the criteria 

were only determined for multiple-information items. Items that were classified as 

s ing le-information (se lf-contained) items represented a single p iece of information 

which was either disclosed or not-d isclosed and therefore did not requ i re selection of 

qual ity criteria. By spec ifying the quality criteria of multiple-information items based on 

prior studies and professional  bodies' recommendations, it is expected that the level of 

subjectiv ity of the scoring process would be reduced and a more re l iable measure of the 

level of disclosure could  be produced. 

The quality criteria for each multiple- information items were identified from the 

fol lowing sources: 

I .  Prior studies (for example, Christiaens & Van Peteghem, 2007; Coy and 

Dixon, 2004; Gore, 2004; Hooks et al . ,  200 l ;  Nelson et a l . ,  2003;  Ryan et al., 

2002b; Tooley & Guthrie, 2007; Wal lace et. al. 1 999). 

2. Professional bodies' recommendations (Governmental Accounting Standards 

Board of the United States - GASB :  Reporting performance information, 

2003; OAG of the UK, 2000; OAG of New Zealand: Report ing publ ic sector 
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performance, 2002; CCAF-FCVI :  Principles for bui lding a publ ic 

performance report: a discussion paper from Canada's  Legislative Audit 

Community, 2002; OAG of Brit ish Columbia, 2003). 

3. Statutory guidelines (Public Administration Development Circular, No. 

2/2005 of the Prime Minister Department of Malaysia; Treasury Circular 

No.4/2007). 

4. Suggestions by the Delphi expert panel. 

S imi lar to Buzby ( 1 974), the researcher used her own judgment in selecting the most 

i mportant quality criteria and the l ist of the criteria for each of the appl icable items 

could onl y  be regarded as a type of minimum disclosure set. The detai led quality criteria 

that were identified and inc luded in the d i sc losure index are presented in Chapter Eight. 

The fol lowing sub-section details the scoring procedure that was used in the appl ication 

of the disc losure index. 

Scoring Procedure 

A scoring sheet that consisted of information items identified in  the earlier stage was 

used to facil itate the scoring process and to ensure consistency of scoring between the 

authorities. A two-stage scoring process was involved. 

• The Extent and Quality of Disclosure 

The scoring of the extent of disclosure was based on (i) the presence or absence of each 

of the single-information i tems and (i i) the presence or absence and the degree of detai l  

of each of the multiple-information items. A score of ' I '  was given if  an item in the 

disclosure index had been disc losed in the annual report and a score of '0 '  was al located 

for non-disclosure. I f  an item was not app l icable to a local authority ' s  annual report, the 

item was scored as ' n/a' and excluded from the total poss ible score for the annual report. 

The multiple-information items were further scored by degree of detai l based on the 

amount of pre-determ ined quality criteria included or disc losed. In this regard, different 

scales were used. An item with five criteria, for example, Summary Facts and Figures 

(!) Reference to each service/activity achievement, (2) At least three year trends, (3) 

Brief discussion of trends, (4) Separate titled section, (5) Use of illustrations - would 

receive an al located score out of five. If an item that was considered to have three 
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criteria was d isclosed with only two criteria, it would be a l located with a score of two 

out ofthree. 

Studies that have also used different scales in the scoring of disc losure include Van 

Staden and Hooks (2007); and Wal lace et al. ( 1 999). Van Staden and Hooks (2007) 

employed 5-point, 3-point and 2-point scales in measuring environmental d isc losures 

and Wallace et a l .  ( 1 999) awarded d ifferent point scales to d ifferent categories of cash 

flows and other d i sclosures on cash flows: 8-1 2  points for operating cash flows, 4- 1 6  

points for investing and financing cash flows, and 0- 1 0  points for other disclosures of 

cash flow. As Wal lace et al. ( 1 999) noted, "distinction in point scales is essent ial in a 

study which is concerned with rewarding the extent of detail  in the annual report" 

(p. 1 99). Examples of the qual ity assessment on items reported in the annual reports of 

local authorities are presented in Chapter N ine. 

• Weighted Score 

A weighted score was computed for each individual item and total led to give an overal l  

score. 

Individual Item 

The weighted score of each item was calculated as fol lows: 

Weighted score 
(WS) 

Actual score (AS) Weighting for 
X importance 

Maximum possible score (MPS) (WI)  

For single-information items, if each of the items was disclosed, the item was a l located 

w ith a WS equivalent to the item' s  relative importance weighting. The weighted score 

of each item reflects both the extent and importance of disc losure of an item in a local 

authority 's  annual report. 

In  respect o f  m ultiple-information items, if each of the items was disclosed, the item 

was awarded a WS equivalent to the degree of detai l/inc lusion of pre-determined qual ity 

criteria and multiplied by the item' s  relative importance. For example, i f  an item 

contains five criteria but only three criteria were disclosed, the WS is equivalent to the 

proportion o f  the included criteria over the maximum criteria al located to the item, 
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multipl ied by the item's importance weighting. Figure 6 .5  provides a d iagrammatical 

representation of the scoring procedure. 

Figure 6.5 : The Scoring Procedu re 

Pre-determ ined information item 

/ ~ 
Disclosed Not d isclosed 

� 
Score of: Score ofO 
I (si ngle-information items) 
1 -5 (for m ultiple-information items) 

Divided the score by the 
maximum possible score. 

� 
Multipl ied by 
weighting for 
importance. 

Overall Score for Extent and Quality of Reporting bv Each Local Authority 

The overal l  score (disclosure index weighted score) was obtained by calculating the sum 

of the a l l ocated weighted scores of al l  items and dividing the sum by the total possible 

index score. This score was then converted to a percentage; that is, the overal l  score was 

a percentage of the total possible index score that could be obtained. The overall score 

indicated the extent and quality of reporting by each l ocal authority. Accordingly, it 

indicated whether the current content of the annual report of a local authority was 

sufficient to evaluate the performance of the authority and satisfy the information 

expectations of its stakeholders. 

In  order to minimise the subjectiv ity of al locating an appropriate score and to ensure 

consistency in scoring, a second, independent scorer was also involved 1 9• The second 

scorer has an accounting background, has working experience in a Malaysian public 

sector entity and is fami l iar with Malaysian public sector reporting. Having determined 

1 9  Further details of  the verification process are included in Chapter 9 ,  Section 9 .2 .  
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the scoring procedure, the d raft disclosure index was tested in a trial analysis, before the 

index could be final ised. 

Finalisation of the Disclosure Index 

The draft disclosure index was pi lot tested on the 2003, 2004 and 2005 annual reports of 

three randomly selected local authorities. The purpose of the pilot test was to assess the 

abi l ity of the disclosure index to provide a numerical representation (score) of the extent 

and quality of disclosure for a predetermined l ist of information items. I n  addition, the 

p i lot analysis was carried out to assess the abi l ity of the index to dist inguish between 

various levels of reporting. The appropriateness of the draft index was then d iscussed 

w ith two other researchers, experienced in developing disclosure indices and scoring 

annual report disclosures. A fter feedback from the researchers had been considered, the 

index was final ised and made ready for application to the full sample of annual reports. 

6.2.3.2 Sample of Annual Reports 

All  thirty-eight local authorities selected as research samples were approached in order 

to identify whether they issued annual reports which include both financ ial and service 

performance reports. This  identification was necessary because, to date, there is no 

statutory requirement for local authorities to extend the reporting o f  performance 

beyond the traditional financial statements20. Therefore, only financial reports are 

required by Act 1 7 1  to be publ ished annual ly by a l l  local authorities. The publ ishing of 

either annual reports that include both financial statements and serv ice performance 

reports or a service report as a stand-alone report is done on a voluntary basis. Local 

authorities that issue annual reports in which reports of financial and service 

performance are included or reports in two separate documents (an annual financial 

report and an annual service report) were asked to provide reports for the years 2003, 

2004 and 2005. These were identified as the latest reports avai lable during the period of 

data col lection (August to November 2006) and therefore, the findings are l im ited to up 

to the year 2005.  The year 2005 is included fol lowing a requirement by the Malaysian 

government for its agencies to develop and implement key performance indicators (KPI ) 

beginning April that year. However, the requ irement was imposed on local authorities 

20 The current statutory requirement - the Local Government Act 1976 (Act 1 7  I ), sections 53 and 
54, only requires Malaysian local authorities to keep proper records and books of account and that annual 
financial reports should be prepared. 
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depending on the acceptance by thei r  respective state governments (Publ ic 

Administration Development Circular, No. 2/2005). Although, to date, the reporting of 

KPis is only requ i red to be made to the management and the government (not to a l l  

stakeholders), the increased emphasis on performance was expected to be reflected in 

the annual reports beginning the year ended 2005 . The 2005 report analysis findings 

may become a basis for future research on evaluation of annual reports of local 

authorities where KPis have been ful ly developed and implemented by a l l  local 

authorities and when KPis have to be reported to all stakeholders. 

6.3 CHAPTER SUMMARY 

The empirical investigations of the current research involved a questionnaire survey, a 

De lph i  exercise and a content analysis of annual reports as methods for data col lection. 

The stages of data col lection were undertaken sequentially, in that the findings from the 

q uest ionnaire survey were used in the Delphi exercise and the findings from that 

exercise were used to develop the disclosure index which was then used in the final 

stage of the research process - evaluation of annual reports. The findings from the 

questionnaire survey wh ich were related to stakeholder information expectations were 

used in the Delphi exercise. At the end of the Delphi exercise a l ist of  reconci led and 

verified information items and the items' weightings for disclosure importance were 

derived. The process was then fol lowed by an identification of qual ity criteria for items 

that were deemed to have detai led informat ion. These criteria dist inguish the level of 

detai l of such items. The disc losure importance and the detail of information were used 

in the current research to indicate the qual ity of d isclosure. The l i st of items with the 

i mportance weightings of each of the items and the criteria involved became the draft 

d i sc losure index. After the draft index had been pi lot tested, the index was finalised and 

ready for use in the content analysis of the sampled annual reports. 

H aving completed the empirical investigations through a questionnaire survey, a Delphi 

exercise and a content analysis of annual reports, the 'methodological position' of the 

appl ication of a m idd le-range thinking perspect ive in this current research was satisfied. 

The next three chapters report the findings from the questionnaire survey, the Delphi 

exerc ise and the annual report content analysis respectively. 
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CHAPTER SEVEN 

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION: STAKEHOLDERS' PERCEPTIONS OF THE 

ACCOUNT ABILITY OF MALA YSIAN LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND 
DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION NECESSARY FOR ASSESSING THE 

PERFORMANCE OF LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

7. 1 INTRODUCTION 

As discussed in the previous chapter, this research involved a three-stage research 

method for data col lection and analysis .  This chapter reports the results obtained from a 

questionnaire survey carried out at the first stage of the research process. The 

questionnaire used in the survey was designed to achieve the first three research 

objectives as outl ined in the introductory chapter and to answer the fol lowing research 

questions: 

Research Question 1 
What do stakeholders of Malaysian local authorities understand by the term 

'accountabi l ity' with regards to local authorities? 

Research Question 2 
What type of item do the stakeholders expect and consider necessary for 

assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities? 

Research Question 3 
How important is it for each informational item to be disc losed in annual reports 

of local authorities to the stakeholders? 

Section 7.2 reports on the respondents' profiles and the receipt and use of annual 

reports. The stakeholders' understanding of the accountabi l ity of Malaysian local 

authorities is reported in Section 7 .3 .  Section 7.4 reports the stakeholders' expectations 

in respect of information necessary for assessing and monitoring the performance of 

local authorities and perceptions of the importance of such information for disclosure. 

Discussion of the resu lts is  presented in Section 7.5 . F inal ly, Section 7.6 summarises the 

chapter. The way in which this chapter fits into the overal l  framework of the thesis is 

shown in F igure 7 . 1 .  
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Figure 7. 1 :  Thesis Structure: the Position of Chapter Seven 
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7.2 RESPONSE SUMMARY 

In al l ,  l ,  7 3 8  questionnaires were distributed to potential respondents - the public, 

counci l lors, state government representatives, local authority management, other 

employees, and creditors. These respondents were regarded as being among the key 

stakeholders of local authorities as identified by prior studies (and discussed in Chapter 

Five). The selection of the respondents and the adm inistration of the questionnaire were 

outl ined i n  Chapter S ix. Of the l ,  738 questionnaires d i stributed, 722 were returned of 

which 666 were considered sufficiently complete for use in data analyses2 1 • This 

constitutes an overal l response rate of 38 percent. 

Table 7. 1 shows a summary o f  the number of questionnaires distributed, the number of 

useable responses and the response rate. 

Table 7. 1 :  Response Summary 

Number of N umber of Response Rate 
Questionnaires Useable (%) 

I•· Distributed Re�ponses 
Internal stakebolders: 
Employees 490 144 29.4 

Management 286 92 32.2 
Counci l lors 229 1 3  5 . 7  

Total internal /005 249 24. 7% 

External stakebolders: 
Public 620 399 64.4 

Creditors 1 05 12 1 1 .4 

State government representatives 8 6 75 .0 

Total external 733 41 7 56. 9% 

Total 1 738 666 38.3% 

The response rate of 38 .3  percent compares favourably with previous s im i lar studies 

(Mack and Ryan, 2004 - 2 1 .9 percent; Wal lace, 1 988b - 39.2 percent; F i rth, 1 978 - 38 

percent; Buzby, 1 974 - 26 percent). Although the response rate of  38 .3  percent i s  

considered acceptable for th i s  type of instrument, a non-response bias might affect any 

2 1  
Unusable responses arose where the questionnaires were incomplete ( i .e. where the respondents 

left one or more questions unanswered). However, if a question was answered but there ·were phrases or 
proposit ions within a question which were left blank, the questionnaire was sti l l  counted as a usable 
response. 
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conclusion which may be drawn from the sample. A test for non-re sponse bias was 

carried out. Fol lowing Oppenheim ( 1 996), late respondents are considered to be non

respondents. In this regard, the responses of the last thirty2 questionnaires received 

were compared with the responses of the first thirty questionnaires received to identify 

if any s ignificant d i fference existed between the two sets. A Mann-Whitney test 

detected no s ignificant d i fference between l ate and early responses to the two issues 

concerning the type of information considered relevant for monitoring and assessing 

local authority performance and the importance of such informat ion for disc losure, 

suggesting that non-response bias wou ld not be a serious problem . 

Consistent with previous studies (for example, Boyne et al., 2002; F lack & Ryan, 2004; 

Steccol ini ,  2004), the stakeholders in this research were classified as being either 

internal or external stakeholders. Employees, management and counci l lors were 

classified as internal stakeholders, whi le the publ ic, creditors and state government 

representatives were c lass ified as external stakeholders. The small sam p les involved for 

the counc i l lors, creditors and state government groups may result in  the non-parametric 

tests lacking statistical power (Motulsky, 1 995), and it is acknowledged that the results 

based on each of the six indiv idual groups of stakeholders are l imited in the conclusions 

that are drawn. Therefore, the classification into internal and external groups is 

considered appropriate and sufficient to draw valid conclusions. 

A demographic pro fi le of the respondents is reported in Table 7 .2 .  The respondents 

comprised individuals  from various backgrounds. The demographic data shows that the 

majority of respondents were males and the majority of respondents were below forty 

years of age. All of the respondents held at least a secondary school certificate and it 

was therefore expected that the respondents had no difficulty in  interpret ing the 

questionnaire. The respondents were involved i n  various areas of employment - almost 

30 percent were professional (for example, accountants, engineers and architects) or 

management and execut ives; about I 0 percent were technicians and a lmost 30 percent 

worked in administration or c lerical areas. The maj ority of the respondents were middle 

22 
Questionnaires were returned individual ly to the researcher or in groups by the contact persons. 

The date of receipt of every questionnaire was recorded. Quest ionnaires which were received in batch 
were recorded with the same receipt date. 
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i ncome eamers23 and about 28  percent of  the respondents had a monthly gross income 

of more than MYR2500. 

Table 7.2 : Demographic Profile 
'»' ' :>:<, Frequency · · · ·  Percentage (%) 

.· C ,. ·� . .  ·�;. / ·,'& , ·, K>:?<d:c, ,k . . ,, . (o=666) \ 
Gender: Male 369 55.4 

Female 297 44.6 
666 1 00% 

Age: 30 and below 274 4 1 . 1  
3 1--40 243 36.5 
4 1 -50  127 19. 1 
5 1  and above .ll _].]_ 

666 1 00% 
Academic 
Qualification: PhD 5 0.8 

Masters degree 8 1 .2 
Bachelors degree 1 28 1 9.2 
D iploma 190 28.5 
Other1 335 50.3 

666 100% 
Employment: Professional 55 8.3 

Management/executive 1 26 1 8 .9 
Technical 6 1  9.2 
Administration/clerical 1 9 1  28.7 
Other2 233 35 .0 

666 1 00% 
Monthly 
Gross income: Below 500 39 5.9 
( MYR) 500- 1 ,000 1 84 27.6 

I ,00 1-2,500 258 38.7 
2,50 1-5,000 1 54 23. 1 
Above 5 ,000 29 4.4 
No response _1 _Q} 

666 100% 
Note. lncludmg professional quahficat10ns, techmcal certificates and STPM ( H 1gher School Education 

Certificate) and SPM ( Malaysian Cert ificate of Education) .  
2 1ncluding respondents who were sel f-employed or unemployed. 

Only 44 percent of the total respondent stakeholders indicated that they received a local 

authority 's annual report4. The majori ty of them received the reports directly from the 

local authorities. Other sources included pub l ic l ibraries (8 .5%) and local authority 

23 Those earning between MYR 1 200 and M YR3500 per month are considered as middle-income 
households and the average monthly gross income per household was between MYR2400 and MYR3000 
over the period 1999 and 2002 (PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2006). 
24 A l imitation of this research is that the conceptualised meaning of annual report - a 
comprehensive report that includes financial report, service report and other information related to local 
authorities - was not stated in the questionnaire. The respondents may have interpreted the term 'annual 
report' as a financial report or a service/activ ity report. Therefore, the responses obtained from the 
questionnaire survey only provide a general indication about the receipt and use of annual reports of local 
authorities. The di fference in interpretation may be a result of unclear statutory requirements such as 
Section 54( 4) of Act 1 7 1 , which requires the publication of annual reports but does not make clear the 
content of the reports (Coombs and Tayib, 2000) .  
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websites25 (32%). Table 7.3 shows infonnation about the receipt of annual reports and 

the use of annual reports in general and perfonnance infonnation specifical ly.  

Table 7.3 : The Receipt of Annual Reports and the Use of Annual Reports and 
Performance Information 

. Frequency Percentage 
� ' · . - � 

Indicated the receipt of annual reports (n=666) 290 43 .5% 
Sources (n=290): 
Direct from local authority 2 1 7  74.8% 
Local authority' s websites 93 3 2 . 1 %  
Public l ibraries 25 8 .6% 
(more than one answer was indicated) 

Purpose of using/reviewing annual reports (n=290): 
To review the report of services/activ ities 223 76.9% 
undertaken 
To understand local authorities' background and operations 197 67.9% 
To analyse local authorities' financial statements 162 5 5 .9% 
(more than one answer was indicated) 

Purpose of using/reviewing performance information (n=290): 
Performance appraisal 205 70.7% 
Accountabi l i ty 168 57 .9% 
Improvement of publ ic service performance 165 5 6.9% 
Decision making 10 1  3 4 .8% 
Public partic ipation 87 30.0% 
(more than one answer was indicated) 

I n  addition, w ith an opportunity to indicate more than one answer and to spec ify other 

answers not stated in the questionnaire, 77 percent of the respondents indicated the 

purpose of us ing the reports was to 'review the report on services or activities 

undertaken by local authorities ', 68 percent indicated the purpose was to 'understand 

local authorities ' background and operations ', and 56 percent indicated the purpose 

was to 'analyse local authorities ' financial statements '. No other responses were given 

to the question. W ith regards to the use of performance infonnation included in the local 

authorities' annual reports, the majority of respondents (7 1 percent) indicated 

'performance appraisal ' as the main purpose. Other purposes included 'accountability ' 

(58 percent); 'improvement of public service performance ' (57 percent); 'decision 

making ' (35 percent) and 'public participation ' (30 percent). 

25 
Based on the researcher attempts, out of 30 local authorities, only one was found to publish its 

annual reports in a comprehensive form on its website. Others have provided non-financial i nformation 
such as the services provided, background i nformation and statement of objectives. Therefore it was 
assumed that the response might not refer to comprehensive annual reports but only non-financial 
information. 
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The results indicate the importance and usefulness of  annual reports of local authorities 

and that the performance information disclosed in the annual reports is clear but that the 

access ib i l ity of the annual reports was l imited. Although the actual receipt and use of 

annual reports were found to be l i mited, since the current research was carried out 

with in  the framework of accountab i l ity not only the v iews of the recipients26 of annual 

reports are relevant. The expectations and preferences of local authority stakeholders are 

of key i mportance to the research. This is consistent with a ' rights-based' concept of 

accountabi l ity (Pal lot, 1 992, p.  40; Stanton, 1 997) which recognises the importance and 

needs of reporting when there is an accountabi l ity relationship whether or  not there is a 

demand for it (Van Peursem, 1 999). The next section reports perceptions of Malaysian 

local authorities' stakeholders of accountabil ity of local authorities. 

7.3 ACCOUNTABILITY OF LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

With reference to Research Question 1: What do stakeholders of Malaysian local 

authorities understand by the term 'accountabil i ty' wi th regards to local authorities?, the 

stakeholders were asked their v iews on ( I )  whether local authorit ies should be 

accountable for their performance and if so, why; (2) who local authorities are 

accountab le to for their performance, and (3) their understanding of the term 

accountab i l ity. 

7.3. 1 Accountability of Local Authorities for Performance 

From the questionnaire responses, it was found that al l respondent stakeholders 

indicated that local authorities should be accountable for their performance, and a 

variety of  reasons for thi s  were put forward. As summarised in Table 7 .4, the reasons 

have been coded into eleven themes, which in turn have been categorised into general 

class ifications reflecting the underlying concerns in relation to accountabil ity. The most 

common reason for requiring accountabil ity is a perceived need for local authorities to 

26 I n  addition to the stakeholders identified based on prior studies and the accountabil ity 
relationsh ip  of the local authorities, other recipients and users of annual reports who are also the 
stakeholders were identified from the survey. There were the public respondents who indicated their 
other capacities in which they receive the annual reports - jirm using public service ·. 'other government 
department ·. 'politician ' and 'researcher ', and an employee respondent who indicated receiving the 
annual reports in his capacity as an 'internal auditor '. 

1 3 1  



demonstrate how they have spent the funds provided by tax and rate payers (28 percent). 

This is consistent with the control function of accountabi l ity as suggested in Aucoin and 

He intzman (2000) and d iscussed in Chapter Four. 

Table 7.4: Reasons for Local Authorities to be Held Accountable for Performance 

... '> All �Internal External 
> -.-. Stakeholders Stakebolders . , 

·, 
' 

' ,-(. . .. 
� ,, ·f � �- . .  ' 

Freq. 0/o Freq. 0/o Freq. 0/o 
Customer: 
Raise level of customer satisfaction. 83 1 2  20 8 63 1 5  
To increase customer confidence and 67 1 0  16  6 5 1  1 2  
trust. 
To ensure quality services are provided 57 9 24 1 0  33 8 
To improve the quality of services 
provided !Q .1 .l l l l 

2 1 7 33% 63 25% 154 3 7% 

Tax/ratepayer: 
Responsibility/or tax/ratepayer monies. 18 7 28% 75 30% l l2 2 7% 
Publ ic :  
To improve public image and support. 1 04 1 6  34 1 4  70 1 6  
To demonstrate public benefit. _lQ _l __2 _.1 _]_ _.1 

120 18% 43 1 7% 77 18% 

Organisational: 
To improve managerial peiformance. 98 1 5  4 1  1 7  57 14 
To improve financial control. _.1l __.1 20 _1 _.1 _Q 

120 18% 61 25% 59 14% 

Government: 
In return for delegated 5 I 2 I 3 I 

powers/responsibilities. 
Obligation as a government agency. _.1 __Q l l Q Q 

7 1 %  4 2% 3 I% 

No reason stated. 15 2% 3 1 %  12 3% 

Total 666 1 00% 249 100% 4 17  100% 

Accountabil ity, as a means of improving the publ ic image of local authorities ( 1 6  

percent) is identified a s  the second most subscribed to view and i s  c losely fol lowed by 

the v iew that accountabi l ity leads to an improvement in the way in which local 

authorities, organisational ly, are managed ( 1 5  percent). The stakeholders are also of the 

v iew that local authorities should be held accountable to help improve the level of 

customer satisfaction and customer confidence and trust. Al l  these views indicate 

accountabi l ity as stimu l i  that promote improvements in service performance and the 

overa l l  management and performance of the organisation which is consistent with 
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I I 
I Aucoin and Heintzman (2000) who suggest the purpose of accountabi l ity as continuous 

improvement. The least commonly held view is that the accountabi l ity of a local 

authority is warranted on the basis of its statutory relationship to its governing body (the 

state government). 

However, when a comparison is made between the internal and external stakeholder 

groups, a difference in viewpoint emerges. S ixteen percent of external stakeholders are 

of the view that accountabil ity provides a means of improving publ ic image. A s imi lar 

number are of the v iew that holding local authorities accountable may ultimately raise 

the level of customer satisfaction ( 1 5  percent), and increase customer confidence and 

trust ( 1 2  percent). Arguably, the two v iews are l inked. If customers are seen to be 

satisfied with the qual ity and quantity of local authority services, then the wider public 

are equally supportive of the local authority and its endeavours. Interestingly, 

accountabi l ity as a means of increasing customer satisfaction, confidence and trust is not 

as strongly identified by internal stakeholders. For internal stakeholders, 1 7  percent of 

respondents subscribed to the view that accountabil ity leads to an improvement in 

managerial performance while a further 1 4  percent suggest that accountabi I ity is a 

means of improving the public image of local authorities. It could be argued that these 

two views are also l inked whereby, for example, if local authorit ies are seen to go about 

the ir  business in a managerially responsible manner, then the wider public wil l  remain 

supportive. Appendix E shows the v iews of the six groups of stakeholders that formed 

the internal and external groups. The results suggest differences in viewpoints among 

the six stakeholder groups. 

7.3.2 Who are Local Authorities Accountable to for Their Performance? 

In respect of the question 'Who are local authorities accountable to for their 

performance? ·. differences in perceived accountabil ity relationships or direction of 

accountabi l ity were found. Table 7.5 shows that nearly 90 percent of the total 

stakeholders agreed that a local authority should be accountable for its performance to 

the public whether the public are considered as being a source of funds (tax/rate payers) 

or as recipient/consumer of local authority provided services. This finding is consistent 

with the reasons c i ted as to why a local authority should be accountable and which 

predominate ly centred on customers, tax/rate payers, and the publ ic (see Table 7.4). 
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Table 7.5: Distribution of Perceptions of who are Local Authorities Accountable to 
for Their Performance 

.,, , .. � ',;c� ;.�,c> -� Stakeholders -� 
' .'\�, <� 

'Accountability to whom' External Internal All 
Freq. 0/o Freq. 0/o Freq. 0/o 

Public as tax payers 3 86 93 205 82 59 1 89 
Public as service consumers 3 8 1  9 1  1 96 79 577 87 
State government 287  69 1 83 73 470 7 1  
Federal government 202 48 1 5 1  6 1  353 53 
Counci l lors 1 1 9 29 1 1 8 47 237 36 
Employees 1 1 2 27 1 20 48 232 3 5  
Creditors (suppl iers/lenders) 43 1 0  87  35  1 30 20 
Auditors 3 7  _2 _1± 30 ill lZ 

4 1 7  100% 249 1 00% 666 1 00% 
---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ----

The prommence of the public in the array of accountabi l ity relationships and their 

increasing cal ls for local authorit ies to be called to account has been observed in prior 

studies. For example, Abdul Kha l id (2006, p.30 1 ), observes that the Malaysian publ ic 

"are more aware of their rights" and as such are demanding greater accountabi l ity for 

performance from local authori t ies. In  this regard, over 90 percent of the external 

respondents agreed that a local authority should be accountable for its performance to 

the public whether the publ ic be considered as a source of  funds (tax/ratepayers) or as 

recipient/consumer of local authority provided services. A lthough internal respondents 

most frequently identified an accountabil ity relationsh ip  between local authorities and 

the public (approximately 80 percent of internal respondents) the identification o f  this 

re lationship was not as strong as for external respondents. 

A majority of stakeholders (7 1 percent) are of the opin ion that state government, and to 

a lesser extent the federal government (53 percent), are also parties that a local authority 

should be accountable to for its performance. It is notable that while external and 

internal stakeholders held s imi lar strong views on an accountabil ity re lationship 

between a local authority and state government, the external stakeholders are less 

certain about an accountabi l ity relat ionship with the federal government (less than 50 

percent of external respondents). Wh i le the recogn ition of a strong l ine of accountabi l ity 

between local authorities and state government i s  consistent with the traditional 
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hierarchical relationship between state government and local authorities27, as observed 

from Table 7.4, this  is the least c ited reason for the accountabi l ity of local authorities. 

Other accountabil ity relationships were also ident ified whereby, and arising in the 

context of NPM, 'accountabi l ity to whom' has been widened to include accountabi l ity 

to a broader group of stakeholders with different values and interests (Mulgan, 2004; 

Parker & Guthrie, 1 993). As shown in Table 7 .5 ,  the stakeholders a lso identified 

counci l lors, creditors, employees and auditors as the parties that a local authority be 

held accountable to for its performance. 

Appendix F presents the v iews of each of the s ix groups of stakeholders on the 

accountabi l ity relationship of local authorities indicating a wide direction of 

accountabil ity. 

7.3.3 Understanding the Term 'Accountability' 

Stakeholders were asked to identify, from a l ist, the phrase or phrases that explained 

their understanding of the term 'accountabil ity' : 

a. Accountable for expenditure made in accordance with rules and regulatiom; 

b. Accountable for the use of financial resources; 

c. Accountable for the provision of efficient and effective services; 

d. Accountable for the management of entrusted public monies and 

organisational accomplishments. 

These four phrases are related to the scope of accou ntabi l ity that addresses the question 

of 'accountabi l ity for what?' They are based on Kearns ( 1 996), M unro ( 1 996) and 

M ulgan (2000), who support the v iew that accountabi l ity is not only concerned with 

reporting on one's actions and activ ities, but also extends to being responsive to the 

expectations of an array of individuals and institutions. Table 7.6 summarises the 

stakeholders' identification of  phrases that canvassed the scope of accountabi l ity (refer 

also Appendix G (i)). 

27 The Malaysian Federal Constitution stipulates that local authorities are subject to the 
jurisdiction of their respective state government and, therefore, the state government has direct control 
over local authorities. 
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Table 7.6: Patterns on the Perceptions of  the Scope of Accountability 

-� ..:, · 
· <:� :. Stakeholders 

/} ,,_.4. .  .>(.::;_ ·· , .J. '· . 

External Internal All 
Freq. 0/o Freq. 0/o Freq. 0/o 

n =  n =  n =  
384 227 6 1 1 18 

I ndicated (a) only 1 5  4 1 5  6 30 5 
I ndicated (b) only 72 19 1 3  6 85 1 4  

Indicated (c) only 49 1 3  36 1 6 85 1 4  
I ndicated (d) only 1 3  3 0 0 1 3  2 

-- -- -- -- -- --
TOTAL 1 49 39% 64 28% 2 13  35% ----- ---- ----- ----- ----- -----

I ndicated (a) only 1 5  4 1 5  6 30 5 
Indicated (a) and (b), or (b); but not (c) 88  23 1 5  7 1 03 1 7  

or (d) 
I ndicated (a) and/or (b) and (c), or (c); 98 25 64 28 1 62 26 

but not (d) 
I ndicated (a) and/or (b) and/or (c), and 1 83 48 1 33  59 3 1 6 52 

(d), or (d) 
-- -- -- -- -- --

TOTAL 384 100% 227 100% 6 1 1 1 00% ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- -----

A small minority of stakeholders (5 percent) suggested that the scope of accountabil ity 

should be l imited to issues of probity and legality (phrase (a): rules and regulations) 

which emphasises the compl iance reporting of fiduciary accountabi l ity (Kiuvers, 2003 ).  

Phrase (b) indicates a concern for compl iance and process (Stewart, 1 984) with an 

emphasis on input contro l ;  that is, the control of expenditure in terms of appropriations 

and ensuring the money was spent wisely (Broadbent & Guthrie, 1 992). Seventeen 

percent of the survey respondents considered that to be he ld accountable requ ired 

rendering an account of the use of financial resources including being accountable for 

expenditure made in accordance with ru les and regulations (phrases (a) and (b)). 

Notably, a greater proportion of external stakeholders (23 percent) subscribed to th is  

view compared to internal stakeholders (7 percent), suggesting that, for a majority of 

internal stakeholders, accountabi l ity i s  m ore than just compliance with ru les and 

regulat ions and reporting on the use of financial resources; accountabi l ity is of a higher 

order. Both phrases (a) and (b) reflect the traditional notion of accountabi l ity. 

28 
Although 666 returned questionnaires were considered ·usable· (refer Table 7. 1 ), fifly-fiye 

respondents did not indicate a response to either of the phrases. 
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The results also suggest that the scope of accountabi l ity extends beyond the financial 

focus, where it encompasses elements promoted by NPM, to also represent "the efficient 

use of resources and the effectiveness of pol icy decisions" (Kluvers, 2003, p .58) .  This 

has been referred to as programme and performance accountabi l ity by Stewart ( 1 984). 

As the results indicate, 26 percent of stakeholders had a concern for the performance of 

the organisation in the efficient and effective del ivery of outputs and, notably, a further 

52 percent identified an expectation that the scope of accountabi l ity should encapsulate 

a broader concern over organisational performance and the use of entrusted funds. More 

internal stakeholders (59 percent) compared to external stakeholders (48 percent) 

suggested that local authorities should be held accountable for al l  aspects of their 

business. Arguably, this indicates a greater awareness by internal stakeholders of 

contemporary expectations in the role and management of local authorities. 

The understanding of the term 'accountabi l ity' was also analysed in terms of the 

direction of accountabi l ity. Two phrases in relation to the direction of accountabi l ity 

were presented in the questionnaire - ' rendering an account to the higher authority ' and 

'rendering an account to all stakeholders '. As can be seen from Table 7. 7, an 

overwhelming maj ority of stakeholders identified 'rendering an account to all 

stakeholders ' and only 8 percent identified 'rendering an account to the higher 

authority only '. In th is  regard, both internal and external groups of stakeholders have a 

s im i lar view where the majority (90 percent and above) of each group of respondents 

identified that accountabi l ity shou ld be extended to a broad group of stakeholders. The 

resul ts are consistent with the results reported in Table 7.5,  where the respondents 

indicated various groups of stakeholders as the parties that local authorities should be 

accountable to for their performance. 

This finding, which is consistent among all  stakeholder groups (see Appendix G ( i i)), 

indicates a broad v iew of the directional nature of the accountabi l ity relationship 

between local authorities and their stakeholders. 
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Table 7.7 :  D istribution of Perceptions of  the Direction of Accountability 

f.':\'' Staketlolders -� ;>_'' >··' .. ' 
External Internal All 

Freq. 0/o Freq. 0/o Freq. 0/o 

Rendering an account to the higher 33  10 7 5 40 8 
authority only 

Rendering an account to all 304 90 137  95 44 1  92 
stakeho I ders 

-- -- -- -- --
TOTAL 337 1 00% 144 1 00% 481 29 1 00% 

- --- ---- ---- ---- ---- -- --

The next section reports the expectations of Malaysian local authorities' stakeholders on 

information necessary for assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities. 

7.4 INFORMATION EXPECTED AND CONSIDERED NECESSARY FOR 

ASSESSING AND MONITORING THE PERFORMANCE OF LOCAL 

AUTHORITIES AND THE IMPORTANCE OF INFORMATION FOR 

DISCLOSURE 

In  relation to Research Question 2: ' What type of information do the stakeholders 

expect and consider necessary for assessing and monitoring the performance of local 

authorities?' and Research Question 3: ' How important is it for each informational 

item to be disclosed in annual reports of local authorities to the stakeholders?' ,  the 

stakeholders were asked to indicate the items that would assist them in assessing and 

monitoring the performance of Malaysian local authorities using a l ist of seventy-one 

information items l isted in the questionnaire. The items were identified based on the 

findings of prior studies, recommendations by professional bodies, statutory 

requirements issued for other public sector entities appl ied by local authorities as 

guidelines and opin ions from practitioners and researchers (see Chapter Six for the 

details on the selection of the items and the l ist of items).  The form of response also 

captured the perceptions of stakeholders o f  the importance of  each information item for 

d isclosure. For this purpose, a five-point scale was used ( '0 '  if it was not important for 

the item to appear in the annual report through to '4' i f  it was extremely important that it 

appear). The stakeholders were also asked to add any further information items they 

thought worth considering and to rate them for importance of disclosure. 

29 
1 85 respondents provided no response to e ither of these two phrases. 

1 38 



The responses from the stakeholders indicated that al l  items l isted in the questionnaire 

were expected and considered necessary in the assessment and monitoring of the 

performance of local authorities. Tables 7.8 to 7 . 1 1 show the perceptions of the 

i mportance of  information items with in each category for disclosure in the annual 

reports of local authorities. 

As shown i n  Table 7.8, the item 'efforts in generating more revenue ' (part of the 

'overview and operational ' category) was perceived by all stakeholders as 'very 

important' (mean score 3 .02). 

Table 7.8 : Mean Scores and Significant Differences in Perceptions between 
Internal and  External Stakeholders of Items within 'Overview and Operational' 
Category 

., . ' 

Overview and Operational: 

Statement of objectives 
Mayor"s/pres ident's report 
Review of operations 
Organisation structure 
Internal control 
Environmental management 
Personnel 
Occupational health & safety 
Working envi ronment 
Training programmes for staff 
Summary facts and figures 
Acknowledgement/award received from 
the state and federal government 
Problems in undertaking 
services/activ i ties 
Reasons for current status of performance 
achievement 
Efforts in generating more revenue 
Category 

�eau Scores 
(Level of importance is Sb()wn in 

· 

. parentheses
· 

' · 

Significant 
Difference 

(lnt: vs. Ext.) 
All 

n=666 
2.36 (Q) 
2 .3 1 (Q) 
2.34 (Q) 
1 .96 (M) 
2.56 (Q) 
2 .58 (Q) 
2 .40 (Q) 
2 . 1 1 (Q) 
2 .06 (Q) 
2. 1 2  (Q) 
2 . 1 7  (Q) 
2.27 (Q) 

Internal 
n-=249 

2.89 (Q) 
2.74 (Q) 
2.72 (Q) 
2.63 (Q) 
2.94 (Q) 
2.94 (Q) 
2.90 (Q) 
2.84 (Q) 
2.78 (Q) 
2.82 (Q) 
2.76 (Q) 
2.74 (Q) 

External 
n=4 1 7  

2.04 (Q) 
2 .06 (Q) 
2. 1 1  (Q) 
1 .56 (M) 
2.33 (Q) 
2.36 (Q) 
2. 1 0  (Q) 
1 .68 (M) 
1 .62 (M) 
1 .70 (M) 
1 .8 1  (M) 
1 .99 (M)  

z-score 

-8.949 
-7.500 
-6.47 1 
-9.838 
-5.9 1 8  
-5.2 7 1  
-8.582 
- 1 0.590 
- 1 0.648 
- 1 0. 1 3 7  
-8.469 
-6.745 

2.84 (Q) 2.99 (Q) 2 .  74 (Q) - 1 .048 

2 .9 1 (Q) 2.93 (Q) 2.90 (Q) - 1 .444 

3 .02 (V) 3.04 (V )  3 .00 (V)  - 1 .3 57  
2.40 (Q) 2.84 (Q) 2. 1 3  (Q) - 10. 1 8  

p-value 

0 .000** 
0.000** 
0 .000** 
0.000** 
0 .000** 
0 .000** 
0.000** 
0.000** 
0.000** 
0.000** 
0.000** 
0.000** 

0.295 

0. 1 49 

0. 1 75 
0.000** 

Note: 0-ummportant; 1 -mmor Importance ( M); 2=qUite Important (Q) ;  J=very Important (V) ;  
4=extremely important. 
In this research, a statistical ly signi ficant di fference is seen to exist at p < 0.05 . * * significant at p 
< 0.00 I (Asymp. Si g. 2-tai led) 

Both internal  and external stakeholder groups appear to have the same views on the 

importance of this item. The mean scores of 3 .04 for the internal group and 3 .00 for the 

external group show a very small  d i fference in their perceptions. Both groups also had 

the same views on the importance of the items 'problems in undertaking 
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services/activities ' and 'reasons for current status of performance achievement ' for 

d i sc losure. As shown in the significance test's results, there are no significant 

d i fferences i n  the perceptions o f  the importance of these items for d isc losure between 

the internal and external groups. These results indicate the importance to al l 

stakeholders of the stabi l ity and adequacy of financial resources of local authorities for 

the authorities to function. Furthennore, the stakeholders probably thought that any 

problems that may restrain  the efforts of local authorities to provide their services 

should be c learly made known to a l l  stakeholders. 

However, internal stakeholders perceived infonnation on 'occupational health and 

safety ·. 'working environment ', and 'training programmes for staff' significantly more 

i mportant than external stakeholders did (statistica l ly  significant at p<O.OO I ). Arguably, 

these items have more of a direct impact on the internal stakeholders and less 

consequence for external stakeholders as the items are related to the stakeholders' 

wel fare and career development. In addition to these items, 'organisation structure ', 

'summary facts and figures ' and 'acknowledgement/award received from the state and 

federal government ' were also perceived to be s ignificantly more important by the 

internal group than the external group (statistica l ly  significant at p<O.OO I ) . This is 

probably because the internal group recognised the importance of the infonnation that 

h ighl ights the overal l  management and performance of  local authorities in  order to raise 

confidence and trust from other stakeholders especially the public and customers. 

A lthough there are statistical ly significant differences in the perceptions of d i sclosure 

importance between the internal and external stakeholders for other items within th is 

category, in terms of leve l of importance, these items were perce ived as 'quite 

important' by both groups. On average, items within the 'overview and operational ' 

category were perceived as ' qu ite important' (mean score 2.40) by al l  stakeholders. 

Within the 'non-financial performance ' category (see Table 7.9), of the n ine items that 

were regarded as ' very important' by all stakeholders, s ix are performance measures. 

Th is  suggests the importance of local authorities reporting on non-financ ial measures of 

their service performance, including the measures of  the use of resources, processes and 

the effectiveness of services provided. Arguably, this can be related to the 

implementation of the Key Performance Indicators system in the publ ic sector 

organisat ions as required by the government that makes the stakeholders more aware of 

the importance of such measures. Other items that were perceived as ' very important' 

by al l  stakeholders are 'comparison between actual and target achievement ' and 
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'comparison between current and previous years ' achievement '. Both internal and 

external groups appear to have the same views on the importance o f  these items (the 

significance test shows no significant d ifferences in the perceptions between both 

groups for all these i tems). 

Table 7.9: Mean Scores and Significant Differences in Perceptions between 
In ternal and External Stakeholders of Items within 'Non-Financial Performance ' 
Category 

', Mean Scores , · Significant "' '  
(Level of importance is shown in Difference 

' -... ' 
�- t parentheses) ·(Internal .vs. ,. ' " ' ' . '\;:! "· ' External) 

Non-Financial Performance: All Internal External z-score p-value 
(n=666) (n-=249) (n=4 1 7) 

Goals and objectives of services/activities 2 .79 (Q) 2.9 1 (Q) 2.7 1 (Q) - 1 .702 0.089 
Non-financial performance targets 2.65 (Q) 2.75 (Q) 2.60 (Q) - 1 .090 0.276 
Input measures 2 .84 (Q) 2.84 (Q) 2.83 (Q) -0.269 0.788 
Output measures 3.0 1 (V)  3 .00 (V) 3.01 (V )  -0.232 0.8 1 7  
Impact measures 3 . 1 0  (V )  3 . 1 2  (V)  3.09 (V )  -0.806 0.420 
Efficiency measures 3.05 (V)  3.06 (V) 3.05 (V )  -0.078 0.938 
Effectiveness measures 3 .05 (V)  3 .07 (V)  3.04 (V )  -0.634 0.526 
Customer satisfaction measures 3 .09 (V )  3 .04 (V)  3. 1 2  (V )  -0.683 0.494 
Productivity measures 3 . 1 1  (V)  3 . 1 0  (V) 3. 1 2  ( V )  -0.0 1 7  0.986 
Comparison between actual and target 3 .03 (V)  3.05 (V) 3.01 (V )  -0.358 0.720 
achievement 
Comparison between current and 3 .08 (V)  3.06 (V)  3.09 (V )  -0.06 1 0.952 
previous years achievement 
Report on the use of government grants 3 .00 (V)  2.96 (Q) 3.03 (V) -0.5 14  0.607 
Performance of contractor responsible for 2.95 (Q) 2.88 (Q) 3.00 (V )  -0.9 1 1  0.362 
providing contracted services 
Achievement of specific programmes as 2 .97 (Q) 2.96 (Q) 2.98 (Q) -0.245 0.806 
ordered by the state/federal government 
Category 2.98 (Q) 2.99 (Q) 2.98 (Q) -0.369 0.7 1 2  

Note: 0-ummportant; I =mm or Importance; 2=qutte Important (Q); 3=very 1mportant (V); 4=extremely 
important. 
In this research, a statistically significant difference is seen to exist at p < 0.05.  

All stakeholders regarded 'report on the use of government grants ' as ' very important' 

and 'performance of contractor responsible in providing contracted services ' as 'quite 

i mportant' .  When a comparison is made between internal and external stakeholders, it i s  

apparent that external stakeholders are more concerned with the s pending of financial 

resources where they regarded 'report on the use of government grants ' as ' very 

important' (mean score 3 .03) whereas the internal group considered this item to be 

'qu i te important' (mean score 2.96). External stakeholders are also m ore interested in 

the 'performance of contractor responsible for providing contracted services ' than 

inte rnal stakeholders. However, statistical ly, the differences in perceptions of the 
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i mportance of these items between the two groups are not significant. This indicates that 

a l l  stakeholders probably bel ieve that local authorities shou ld be accountable for the 

government grants entrusted to them and they want local authorities to be accountable 

for qual ity services, even though the services are contracted out to other parties. Other 

i tems within this category were perceived by a l l  stakeholders as ' quite important' and 

statistically no significant d ifferences were detected between the internal and external 

groups. In aggregate, a l l  items with in this category were regarded as 'quite important'  

for disclosure (mean score 2.98). 

W ith regards to financial items, Table 7. 1 0  shows that all items within the 'statement of 

revenue and expenditure ' sub-category were regarded as ' very important' by al l  

stakeholders, although the mean scores for these items are s l ightly higher for the 

external group than the internal group. Statist ically, only one item - 'revenue according 

to activities or services rendered ' - shows a s ignificant difference (at p <0.05) in the 

perceptions of the disc losure importance between the two groups of stakeholders. 

Al l  items within the 'balance sheet ' and 'cash flow statement ' sub-categories were 

perceived to be 'quite important' by al l  stakeholders. However, there are sign ificant 

d i fferences (at p<O.OO I )  in perceptions of d isc losure importance between internal and 

external stakeholders for al l  items within these two sub-categories. Based on the mean 

scores, the internal group perceived al l  these items to be more important than the 

e xternal group did. This is d i fferent from the perceptions of importance for 'statement of 

revenue and expenditure ' items, where the external group regarded such items as more 

important than the internal group did. This suggests that external stakeholders are more 

concerned with operating performance info rmation than information about local 

a uthority equity (assets and l iabi l ities) and cash flows. It is poss ible that external 

s takeholders use the 'statement of revenue and expenditure ' as an indication of l ikely 

i ncreases in taxes/rates or user charges and hence it is of increased i mportance to them. 
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Table 7. 10 :  Mean Scores and S ignificant Differences in Perceptions between 
Internal and External Stakeholders of  Items within 'Financial' Category 

' ., 
• . . f'. ·J!;r�., . ··•. 

' 
' 

}. ' , .. ,;\;y>: 
Financial: 

Statement of revenue and expenditure: 
Revenue according to activities or 
services rendered 
Revenue according to source of revenue 
Total revenue 
Gross expenditure according to service 
Net expenditure according to services 
Expenditure classified by nature or 
function 
Total expenditure 
Total excess/surplus 

Sub- category 
Balance sheet: 
O_Qerational assets at cost 
Operational assets at market value 
Non-operational assets at cost 
Non-operational assets at market value 
Community assets at cost 
Community assets at market value 
Infrastructure assets at cost 
Infrastructure assets at market value 
Total fixed assets 
Deferred charges 
Long-term investments 
Long-term debtors 
Current assets 
Current l iabil ities 
Long-term borrowings 
Deferred l iabi l i ties 
Deferred credits -government grants 
Reserves 

Sub-category 
Cash flow statement: 
0_2_erating cash flows 
Investing cash flows 
Financing cash flows 
Year-end cash and cash equivalents 

Sub-category 

Mean Scores 
(Level �f importance is shown in 
· , · 

parentheses) ' 
All Internal External 

n=666 n-=249 n=417 

3 . 1 3  (V)  3 .04 (V)  3 . 1 8  (V)  

3 .08 (V)  3 .03 (V)  3 . 1 1 (V)  
3 .09 ( V) 3.03 (V)  3 . 1 3  (V)  
3 . 1 3  (V)  3 . 10 (V)  3 . 1 5  (V)  
3 . 1 1  (V)  3.09 (V)  3 . 1 3  (V)  
3 . 1 5  (V)  3. 1 0  (V )  3 . 1 7  (V )  

3 . 1 0  (V )  3.04 (V)  3 . 1 4  (V)  
3 . 1 4  (V)  3 .06 (V )  3 . 1 9  (V )  

3. 12 (V) 3.02 (V) 3. 15 (V) 

2.45 (Q) 2.78 (Q) 2.24 (Q) 
2.24 (Q) 2.67 (Q) 1 .98 (M) 
2 . 1 5  (Q) 2.64 (Q) 1 .85 (M) 
2 . 1 4  (Q) 2.70 (Q) 1 .80 (M) 
2 . 1 6  (Q) 2.72 (Q) 1 .83 (M) 
2 . 1 4  (Q) 2.64 (Q) 1 .83 (M) 
2 . 1 5  (Q) 2.64 (Q) 1 .85 (M) 
2 . 1 0  (Q) 2.6 1 (Q) 1 .80 (M) 
2 .23 (Q) 2.72 (Q) 1 .93 (M) 
2 . 1 1  (Q) 2.66 (Q) I .78 (M) 
2 . 1 5  (Q) 2.66 (Q) 1 .84 (M) 
2 . 1 0  (Q) 2.68 (Q) 1 .74 (M) 
2 .2 1 (Q) 2.70 (Q) 1 .9 1  (M) 
2 . 1 8  (Q) 2.73 (Q) 1 .84 (M) 
2 . 1 4  (Q) 2.69 (Q) 1 .8 1  (M) 
2. 1 0  (Q) 2.66 (Q) 1 .77 (M) 
2 . 1 1 (Q) 2.63 (Q) 1 .79 (M) 
2 . 1 5  (Q) 2.75 (Q) 1 .78 (M) 

2. 1 7  (Q) 2.6 (Q) 1.85 (M) 

2.27 (Q) 2.8 1 (Q) 1 .95 (M) 
2 .25  (Q) 2.74 (Q) 1 .95 (M) 
2 .32  (Q) 2.80 (Q) 2.02 (Q) ' 
2 .32 (Q) 2.8 1 (Q) 2 .02 (Q) 

2.29 (Q) 2. 79 (Q) /. 99 ( M )  

t;Sign_ifican t 
' 

,,; Difference 
· ·.tQnt. VS Ext.) 
z-score p-value 

2 . 1 44 0.032*  

- LI 6 1  0.246 
- 1 .674 0.094 
- 1 . 1 28 0.259 
-0.399 0.690 
-0.965 0 .334 

- 1 .3 7 1  0. 1 70 
- 1 . 578 0. 1 1 5 

-1. 184 0.23 7 

-5.288 0.000* * 
-6.789 0.000* *  
-7.554 0.000**  
-8.599 0.000* * 
-8.582 0.000* * 
-7.953 0.000**  
-7.467 0.000* * 
-7.6 1 7  0.000* * 
-7.464 0.000* * 
-8.278 0.000* * 
-7.650 0.000**  
-8.438 0.000* *  
-7.357 0.000* * 
-8.303 0.000* * 
-7.9 1 7  0.000**  
-7.733 0.000**  
-7.544 0.000**  
-8.5 1 7  0.000* *  

-8. 692 0.000**  

-7.8 19 0.000* * 
-7.238 0.000** 
-7.022 0.000* * 
-7.088 0.000**  

-8.021 0. 000** 
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Table 7. 1 0  Cont .. 
(.., Mean Scores . Significa� 

(Level of importance is shown in Difference 
,. • "  �;: �' parentheses) (lnt. vs Ext.) .'f 

Financial information outside financial All Internal External z-score p-value 
statements: n=666 n-=249 n=417 
Auditor's report 2.94 (Q) 3 .0 1  (V)  2.9 1 (Q) -2.4 1 2  0.0 1 6* 
Financial review 2.91 (Q) 2.92 (Q) 2.9 1 (Q) - 1 .629 0. 1 03 
Accounting pol icies 2 .47 (Q) 2.83 (Q) 2.25 (Q) -5 .573 0.000* * 
Revenue to n umber of staff 2 .56 (Q) 2.83 (Q) 2.39 (Q) -4.265 0.000* * 
Total asset to number of staff 2.64 (Q) 2.84 (Q) 2.52 (Q) -3. 3 3 1  0.00 1 * *  
Revenue to cost of service 2.77 (Q) 2.97 (Q) 2.65 (Q) -3.243 0.00 1 ** 
Return on assets 2.84 (Q) 3.0 1 (V)  2.74 (Q) -2.877 0.004* 
Actual to budget comparison 2.97 (Q) 3 . 1 0  (V)  2 .89 (Q) - 1 .988 0.047* 
Information about cost of service/activ i ty 3.04 (V) 3 .08 (V) 3.0 1 (V) -0.543 0 .587 

Sub-category 2. 79 (Q) 2.95 (_Q) 2. 70iQ) -3. 998 0. 000** 
Category 2.52 (Q) 2.83 (Q) 2.33 (Q) -7.726 0.000** 

Note: O=unimportant; I =mm or Importance (M);2=qUJte Important (Q);3=very Important (V) ;  4=extremely 
important. I n  this research, a statistical ly significant di fference is seen to exist at p < 0.05. * 
signi ficant at p < 0.05; * *  s ignificant at p < 0.00 I (Asymp. S i  g. 2-tailed). 

Within the 'financial information outside financial statements ' sub-category, al l  

stakeholders regarded 'information about cost of service/activity ' as ' very important' 

(mean score 3 .04). Statistica l ly, there is no significant d ifference in percept ions between 

internal and external stakeholder groups of the importance of th is item for d isclosure. 

This indicates the importance of information regarding the econom ic value of 

performance of services to all stakeholders. Th is information could also act as a 

surrogate for efficiency and effectiveness of service provided (Daniels & Daniels, 

1 99 1  ). Both groups also appear to have a sim i lar view on the importance of 'financial 

review ' for d isclosure. However, for information on 'auditor 's report ', 'accounting 

policies ', 'revenue to number of staff', 'total asset to number of staff' and 'revenue to 

cost of service ', there are stat istical ly significant differences in perceptions of d i sclosure 

importance (at p<0.05) between the internal group and external group. The internal 

group perceived these items to be more important than the external group which 

suggests that the internal stakeholders are more concerned about local authorities' 

financial e fficiency and accountabi l ity than the external stakeholders are. On average, 

a l l  financial  items were regarded as 'quite important' for disclosure by al l stakeholders 

(mean score 2 .52). 

With regards to 'future-related information ' (as shown in Table 7 . ! I ), a l l  i tems were all 

regarded as ' very important ' by al l  stakeholders with the mean scores for all items 
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above the three point. Statistically, there are no significant differences in the perceptions 

of the importance of al l these items for disclosure between both groups. This suggests 

the i mportance of forward-looking information to both groups of stakeholders in 

ensuring the sustainabi l i ty of local authority performance. Along with the information 

on fi nancial position represented by the balance sheet items, the 'future-related 

information ' items can indicate the financial v iabi l ity of local authorities (Daniels & 
Daniels, 1 99 1 ). 

Table 7. 1 1 :  Mean Scores for Disclosure Importance and Significant Differences in 
Perceptions between Internal and External Stakeholders of Items within 'Future
Related Information ' Category 

- tt.e· :b�·l-:f��)! ' :_��� . · ''  

' Mean Scores . Significant 
... � ... . ·::-- ·'" ' 

(Level of importiuice iS 'shown in !: �" Difference ·or ( Int�rnill vs. "" ,.  . �- - parentheses) 
. ' . ... , External) 

Future-Related Information: All I nternal External z-score p-value 
(n=666) (n-=249) (o=41 7) 

Future plans 3 . 2 1  (V)  3 .2 1 (V) 3 .20 (V )  -0.894 0 .37 1  
Future performance targets 3.24 (V)  3 .24 (V)  3. 1 3  ( V )  -0.294 0.769 
Information pertaining to future capital 3 . 1 0  (V)  3 . 1 0  (V)  3. 1 3  ( V )  -0.639 0.523 
improvements 
Category 3. 1 7  (V) 3. 1 8  (V) 3. 15  (V) -0.453 0.651 

Note: O=un1mportant; I =mm or Importance; 2=qwte 1mportant; 3=very Important ( V ); 4=extremely 
important. 
In this research, a statistical ly significant di fference is seen to exist at p < 0.05 .  

Overal l ,  as shown in Table 7.8 through to Table 7. 1 1 , the Mann-Whitney test for 

s ign ificant differences between the perceptions of internal and external stakeholders of 

the i tem-by-item basis shows that forty-two of the total seventy-one items (59 percent) 

are detected to have sign i ficant differences (p<0.05) in the perceptions of the 

i m portance for disc losure. S ignificant differences exist for twelve of the total fifteen 

item s  (80 percent) within the 'overview and operational ' category (p<O.OO I ), one item 

( 1 2 . 5  percent) with in the 'statement of revenue and expenditure ' category (p<0.05), al l  

e ighteen items within the 'balance sheet ' category (p<O.OO I ), a l l  four items within the 

'cash flow statement ' category (p<O.OO I )  and seven out of n ine items (78 percent) 

w ith in the 'financial information outside financial statements ' category. However, there 

i s  no s ignificant d ifference in the score of d isc losure importance attached by both 

groups of stakeholders to a l l  items within the 'non-financial performance ', 'future

related information ' categories and almost a l l  items within the 'statement of revenue 

and expenditure ' category. 
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The results reported i n  Tables 7.8 to 7 . 1 1  are summarised (by category) in Table 7. 1 2 .  

As  the table shows, i n  aggregate, stakeholders rated twenty-two items  (3 1 percent) as 

' very important' ,  forty-eight items (68 percent) as 'quite important'  and one item (I 
percent) of 'minor importance' .  The 'future-related information ' category was regarded 

by al l  stakeholders as the most important (mean score 3 . 1 7). This  is fol lowed by 

'statement of revenue and expenditure ' with a category mean score of 3 . 1 2, and 'non-

financial performance ' (mean score 2 .98). I t  is observed that of the three traditional 

statements for general purpose reporting, items included in the 'statement of revenue 

and expenditure ' were rated more important (3 . 1 2) than those in the ' balance sheet ' and 

'cash flow statement ' (mean scores of 2. 1 7  and 2.29 respectively). The results suggest 

that col lectively, stakeholders place more importance on what local authorities have 

achieved and intend to achieve with entrusted resources (financial and non-financial 

performance - 'statement of revenue and expenditure ', future- related information ' and 

'non-financial performance '), and are less concerned with the stewardship of resources 

( financial position - '  balance sheet ') and cash flows. 

N ine financial and n ine non-financial performance informat ion items  were rated 'very 

important' by a l l  stakeholders. The average level of importance given by the 

stakeholders to the top n ine financial items (mean 3 . 1 1 ) is higher than the average level 

of importance given to the top n ine non-financial performance i tems (mean 3 .06). 

However, based on percentage by category, 64 percent of non-financial performance 

information (nine of fourteen items) were rated ' very important ' ,  compared to 23 

percent of financial i nformation (nine out of th irty-nine items). Accordingly, the mean 

score of the 'non-financial performance ' category (2.98) is h igher than that of the 

combined 'financial ' category (2 .52). This, in aggregate suggests a stakeholder concern 

for not only the financial performance of local authorities but a lso non-financial 

performance. 

As summarised in Table 7. 12, overal l, internal stakeholders rated items within a l l  

categories as either ' very important '  or 'quite important' .  None of the items were rated 

below the 'quite important' level by the internal group. However, 25  items (35 percent) 

were regarded by the external group as being of 'm inor importance' .  Accordingly, the 

overa l l  mean score of the internal group is h igher than that of the external group (2.88 

and 2.45 respective ly). 
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Table 7. 12 :  Frequency of Items within Level of Disclosure Importance and Category Mean Scores 

Category t>Hnform�ttion Item . •  

(number of items in each All Stakeholders 
l nt!!rnal Stakeholders· ' . ·� Ex�ernal Stakeb��ders r; . >.f.�] .. 

category is shown in parentheses) .. 

,. :· � ... "stf . ·:re.:· >, 
Frequency of Items Mean Frequency of Items Mean Fre.quency of Items Mean 

within Level of within Level of within Level of 
·' Imnortance lmoortance Imnortance 

· " 

0 .'!-

'• . V M V 0 M V 0 M 

Overview and operational ( 1 5 )  I 1 3  I 2 .40 I 14  0 2 .84 I 8 6 2 . 1 3  

Non-financial performance ( 1 4 )  9 5 0 2 .98 8 6 0 2.99 1 0  4 0 2.98 
F inancial :  
Statement of revenue and 8 0 0 3 . 1 2  8 0 0 3 .02 8 0 0 3. 1 5  
expenditure (8) 
Balance sheet (18) 0 1 8  0 2 . 1 7  0 1 8  0 2 .68 0 I 1 7  1 . 85 
Cash flow statement (4) 0 4 0 2 .29 0 4 0 2 .79 0 2 2 1 .99 
Financial information Outside the I 8 0 2.79 4 5 0 2 .95 I 8 0 2.70 
financial statements (9) 
Al l  Financial (39) 9 30 0 2.52 i 1 2  27 0 2 .83 9 1 1  1 9  2 .33 

I 
Future-related information ( 3 )  3 0 0 3. 1 7  I 3 0 0 3 . 1 8  3 0 0 3 . 1 5  

I ' 
Total (7 1 )  2 2  48 I 2.6 1 I 24 47 0 2.88 23 23 25 2.45 

Note: O=unimportant; I =minor importance (M); 2=quite important (Q); 3=very important (V); 4=extremely important. 
I n  this research, a statistically sign ificant di fference is seen to exist at p < 0.05. ** significant at p < 0.00 1 (Asymp. Sig. 2-tailed) 

· .;m:�t:: sig�ificant:'��'P"i: 
• ·'. )�, ,..,,� ••. • !< '·'? · ··� � -· 

Dlfference - (ID!ernal 
vs. ;,V·. "' 

Ex.ternal) ,, !< 
1 .. ,2· ;A>>-w ' ,;>. ' :{'{·{�i,�{o<. 
z-score p-value 

- 1 0. 1 83 0.000** 

-0.369 0.7 1 2  

- 1 . 1 84 0.237 

-8.692 0.000** 
-8.02 1 0.000**  
-3 .998 0.000** 

-7.726 0.000** 

-0.453 0.65 1 

-7.440 0.000** 
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Both internal and external stakeholder groups had s im i lar perceptions of the level of 

importance for disclosure for items within the categories of 'non-financial 

performance ', 'statement of revenue and expenditure ', and future-related information '. 

Statistical ly, there is no significant d i fference in the perceptions of importance for these 

categories. Arguably, both groups are more concerned with how efficiently the local 

authorities have gone about providing their services and have a strong interest in the 

intentions of local authorities. 

However, both groups of stakeholders perceived the i mportance of items within the 

'overview and operational ', 'balance sheet ', 'cash flow statement ' and 'financial 

information outside the financial statements ' categories quite d ifferently and 

statistically, the Mann-Whitney test results indicate that there is a significant d i fference 

at p<O.OO I for the importance both groups of stakeholders attached to items with in each 

of these four categories. Forty percent (six items) of the total items within the 'overview 

and operational ' category were rated as being of 'm inor importance' by the external 

group but the internal group did not rate any items with in  this category lower than the 

'quite important' level .  The category mean of internal stakeholders (2.84) is higher than 

that of external stakeholders (2. 1 3) .  For the 'balance sheet ' category, internal 

stakeholders rated all items in th i s  category as being 'quite important' whi le external 

stakeholders rated more than 90 percent (seventeen items) of the total items as being of 

'm inor importance' .  The internal stakeholder group perceived items within this category 

as more important (mean score 2 .68) than the external group did (mean score 1 . 85). A 

s imi lar pattern also appl ies to items within the 'cash flow statement ' and 'financial 

information outside financial statements ' categories. I t  could be speculated that as a 

'group' the internal stakeholders are more aware of the i mportance of a broad range of 

financial and non-financial information in the assessment and monitoring of local 

authority performance. 

To ascertain if one particu lar type of stakeholder has a preferential view on the level of 

importance of an infonnation item, further analysis is undertaken whereby the mean 

scores of each individual stakeholder type are assessed to detennine any statist ical ly 

significant difference between means30. The mean scores for each stakeholder type are 

provided in  Appendix H and summarised, by category, in Table 7. 1 3 . 

30 The researcher acknowledges that the relatively low number of counci l lor, creditor and state 
government respondents may l imit the abi l i ty to compare scores across all stakeholder types. Therefore 
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Table 7. 13 :  Category Mean Scores for Individual Stakeholder Type 

.: -�,:<', ;:' 

, ,  

Overview and o erational 
Non-financial performance 3.04 2 . 1 2  3. 1 4  
Financia l :  
Statement of revenue and 3 .08 2.47 3 . 1 0  3 . 1 6  3 . 1 9  
expenditure 
Balance sheet 2.73 1 .96 2 .72 1 .8 1  2 .75 
Cash flow statement 2 .76 2.44 2.84 1 .95 2.69 
Financial information outside 2.96 2.30 3.02 2.70 2.90 
mancial statements 
Future-related information 3 . 1 7  2.97 3 .22 3. 1 7  3 .00 
Aggregate stake holder type 2. 90 2.25 2. 92 2. 44 2.86 
mean score 

Note: M =  Management; C = Council lors; E = Employees; P = Publ i c; Cr = Creditor; SG = State 
Government 

2.9 1 

2.88 

2.73 
3 . 2 1  
2 . 1 7  

2.67 
2. 65 

O=unimportant; !=minor importance; 2=quite important; 3=very important; 4=extremely important. 

As shown in Table 7. 1 3, the score for each category varied amongst the stakeholder 

types. I n  general, four of the s ix stakeholder groups (management, employees, the 

publ ic and creditors) have s imi lar v iews on the level of importance of each category. 

Arguably, this group of stakeholder types has a strong i nterest in the intentions of local 

authorities ( 'future-related information ') and how efficiently ( 'statement of revenue and 

expenditure ', 'financial information outside financial statements ') and effectively ( 'non

financial performance ') the local authorities have gone about accompl ishing those 

intentions. Counci l lors regard disclosure of all items as of lower importance than the 

ratings given by other internal stakeholders and ind icate that the 'cash flow statement ' is 

of re lat ively higher importance (mean score 2 .44) than 'non-financial performance · 

information (mean score 2. 1 2). 

Although it might be expected that creditors would have a strong interest in information 

relating to solvency, and the highest category mean score of 'statement of revenue and 

expenditure ' lends some support to this thesis, other categories pertaining to solvency, 

such as 'balance sheet ' and 'cash flow statement ' are more lowly rated than measures 

focusing on other aspects of performance. This might suggest that creditor respondents 

have less concern about the solvency of local authorit ies and more concern with the role 

and function of local authorities in society. 

the resu lts are l imited in the conclusions that are drawn. Simi larly, the researcher also acknowledges that 
the low response rate for counci l lor and creditor respondents may l imit the abi l i ty to generalise the 
findings for each stakeholder type. 
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For state government respondents, the mean scores indicate a concern for the 'present '. 

Suffic ient cash flow and resources ( 'cash flow statement ') are of utmost importance in 

the del ivery of effective services/activit ies ( 'non-financial performance ') . Compared to 

other stakeholder types, there is  less concern with the way in which local authorit ies are 

adm inistered ('overview and operational '), their financial efficiency ( 'financial 

iriformation outside financial statements ') or the intentions of local authorities ( future

related information '). 

As detai led in Appendix H (the test statistics from the Mann-Whitney test are shown in 

Appendix I ), a significant difference in the perceptions between two or more 

stakeholder types is identified for a number of items. A common theme emerging is the 

consistent significant difference between the publ ic respondents' views and the views of 

management and employees on the level of importance for the majority of  the items. l t  

i s  to be expected that management and employees would routinely be concerned with a 

number of organisational 'overview and operational ' items as part of their normal 

working environment and financial measures and indicators ('balance sheet ', 'cash flow 

statement ', and 'financial iriformation outside financial statements ') would form part of 

their internal monitoring and reporting processes. The public have less concern in th is 

regard. 

The results from the Mann-Whitney test (see Appendix  I) are reported to provide a 

better ins ight into the items that have significant d ifferences among pai rs of stakeholder 

groups. However, it must be noted that a low number of respondents were involved 

within the council lors, creditors and state-government groups and therefore the results 

are l im ited in the conclus ions that are drawn. The test was carried out for fifteen 

possible pairs of the six stakeholder groups and for the seventy-one items to provide an 

overall p icture of differences between any two groups. Table 7. 1 4  summarises the 

results by showing the number of statistically sign ificant differences of each pair of 

stakeholder groups for the seventy-one items. 

1 50 



Table 7. 14 :  Perceptions of  Disclosure Importance between Stakeholder Group 
Pairings 

-��it of §takeb.�lder Groups 

.. t:;�.WP: . 4 

Management/counci l lors 
Management/employees 
Counc i l lors/employees 
Public/creditors 
Publ ic/state government 
Creditors/state government 
Publ ic/management 
Pub! ic/counci l lors 
Public/employees 
Creditors/management 
Creditors/council lors 
Creditors/employees 
State government/management 
State government/councillors 
State government/employees 

, Fre_quency of J,tems that ar� · 
Significantly/Not Sign1ficantly-� 

Different • 

.. ;j ' (n;,71) ;. '� 
' ·, ., 

Significant Not 
(p<O.OS) Significant 

7 64 
0 7 1  
7 64 

1 8  53 
1 3  58 
0 7 1  

39 32 
2 69 

4 1  30 
2 69 
0 7 1  
2 69 
5 66 
0 7 1  
6 65 

Percentage of 
Different/Similar 

Perceptions on Disclosure 
� I mportance , ,;'

': 

Different Similar 
0/o o;o 

9.9 90. 1  
0 100.0 

9.9 90. 1 
25 .3  74.7 
1 8. 3  8 1 .7 

0 1 00.0 
54.9 45 . 1  
2 . 8  97.2 

57 .8  42.2 
2 .8  97.2 

0 100.0 
2 . 8  97.2 
7 .0 93.0 

0 1 00.0 
8 .4 9 1 .6 

As the table shows, there i s  no significant d ifference for all items between the views of 

management and employees, creditors and state government, creditors and counci l lors, 

and state government and council lors. This indicates that the pairings have a simi lar 

view on the disclosure i m portance of all the seventy-one items. However, the results 

show a significant difference for a majority of items between the views of the publ ic and 

management stakeholders (thirty-nine items, 54.9 percent of the total seventy-one items) 

and between the views of the publ ic and employees (forty-one items, 5 7 . 8  percent). As 

reported in Appendix I, the significant d ifferences in the perceptions of disclosure 

importance between these parings are mainly 'financial ' and 'overview and operational ' 

items. These different v iews between the public and management; and between the 

publ ic and employees contributed to the d ifference between the internal group 

(management and employees) and the external group (the publ ic) .  Accordingly, the 

d ifferent views suggest d i fferent interests in and expectations for information relevant in 

assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities between the service 

provider (management and employees) and the service recipients (the publ ic) .  
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The results also show that the views among the external stakeholder groups were 

d ifferent on a number of items. In respect of  the public and creditors, significant 

d ifferences in perceptions were found for eighteen items (25.3 percent), the majority of 

which relate to the 'balance sheet ' (fifteen items). Significant d i fferences were also 

found for th irteen items ( 1 8 .3  percent) between the perceptions of the public and state 

government, in that e ight were within the 'overview and operational ' category, three 

were within the 'cash flow statement ' category and two were within the 'financial 

information outside financial statements ' category. G iven the smal l  number of creditors, 

state government and counc i l lor groups, the conclusions drawn from the results, and 

general isation to the whole population, are l im ited. However, the ins ights gained from 

the comparison between each pair of stakeholder groups are interest ing and future 

research may address this l im itation. 

7.5 D ISCUSSION 

The results obtained from the questionnaire survey indicate that a standard definition of 

accountabil ity has not yet emerged and that there is d iversity in respect of ' for what' and 

' to whom' accountabi l ity should be rendered. Overa l l, accountabi l ity was recognised as 

an essential component of power (defined, impl ied, and delegated) and a responsibi l ity 

i mposed by the local authorities' abil ity to col lect and use public money. However, it is 

apparent that the need to give an account and the emphasis that has been placed on 

performance is recognised by the stakeholders. This shows that the performance of 

Malays ian local authorities is of increased interest, significance and value to their 

stakeholders and impl ies that the local authorities need to reflect a results-oriented 

environment in order to meet their stakeholders' expectations. The indiv idual reasons 

for this motivation reflect general areas of commonality with aspects of NPM as 

encapsulated by the managerial code of accountabil ity, and extended by a public 

accountabil ity whereby the accountabi l ity of local authorities is seen to promote greater 

organisational focus on the achievement of output/outcome-related goals (Kluvers, 

2003) .  

In  relation to the direction of accountabil ity, the results show that for the majority of 

stakeholders, the cal l-to-account is no longer underpinned by past tendenc ies of a 

bureaucratic, hierarch ical approach to publ ic adm in istration and accountabi l ity. Instead, 
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and while the concern for financial accountabil ity remains high (for example, 

responsib i l ity for tax/ratepayer monies and financial control ), stakeholders identify a 

strong motivation for the accountabil ity o f  local authorities on the basis of a relat ionship 

between the local authorities and thei r  customers/public. In addition, the results also 

indicated that stakeholders ident ified other accountabil ity relationships. This is 

consistent with the context of NPM in that ' accountabi l ity to whom' has been widened 

to include accountabil ity to a broader group of stakeholders with d ifferent values and 

interests (Mulgan, 2004; Parker & Guthrie, 1 993). 

I t  is observed from the results that the identified accountabil ity relationships consist of a 

range of relationships that Stewart ( 1 984) would classify as being in the form of either a 

'bond of accountabi l ity' or a ' l ink of accountabil ity', as d iscussed in Chapter Four's 

theoretical framework of accountabi l ity. Combined with a consideration of the nature 

and function and the statutory basis avai lable and appl icable to Malaysian local 

authorities (as discussed in Chapter Two), the results suggest that the Stewart' s  ( 1 984) 

accountabi l ity framework can be extended to the local authority environment. I t  is 

suggested that a bond of accountabi l ity exists between the local authorities (comprising 

the president/mayor and council lors) and the state government. Such office-holders are 

nominated3 1 by the state government and arguably are therefore d irectly accountable to 

the state government. As provided in the Malaysian Local Government Act 1 976 (Act 

1 7 1 ,  sect ion 9), the state government has direct control over the affairs of local 

authorities. In this context, accountabi l ity becomes part of the power relat ionship 

between the state government and the appointed office holder. 

I t  is also suggested that a bond of accountabi l ity may exist between the local authorities 

and creditors as the responsibil ity of one party to another in respect of resources 

suppl ied/consumed is stated in a contractual agreement between the parties. Simi larly, 

and in accordance with the doctrines of NPM, contracts relating to conditions of 

employment create responsibi l ities and expectations for both employer and employee 

wh ich would also give rise to a bond of accountabi l ity. 

Stakeholders identified an accountabi l ity re lationship between a local authority and its 

auditor. Although an auditor does not have power of sanctions over the conduct of the 

3 1 Malaysia has a nominative representation system that operates at the local authority level. That 
is, the mayor/president and council members are not e lected omcials but are appointed by the respective 
state governments. 
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organisations being audited, arguably this identified relationship may reflect a 

stakeholder v iew of the ' responsiveness' of local authorities to any concerns raised by 

the auditor. I f  so, then tentatively a l ink of accountabi l ity may be seen to exist. 

Although there is  l ittle opportunity for the public (both as tax/ratepayer and consumer) 

to hold key office holders to account by way of, for example, direct sanct ions (for 

example, v ia election), there are a number of provisions that al low the pub l ic to gain 

access to information regarding the performance of local authorities and to provide 

feedback. For example, section 23 of Act 1 7 1  requires that meetings of local authorities 

be open to the pub l ic and representat ives of local media; section 27 provides for the 

minutes of the proceedings of the local authority to be avai lable for inspection by any 

tax/rate payer; and section 60(4) requires that audited financial accounts be publ ished in 

the government gazette. In addition, section 1 42 of Act 1 7 1  provides that "citizens who 

are dissat isfied with the authorities' performance have a right to make objections in 

writing and are al lowed an opportunity of being heard at the consequent enquiry". There 

are a number of avenues currently avai lable to the public to submit their obj ect ions. 

They can make a direct submission to the local authority concerned, to the Publ ic 

Complaint Bureau of the Prime Minister Department, or they can make public 

objections/complaints via the media. The bureau may then review the case and if  

necessary bring its findings to the attention of  the re levant state government to  take 

further action. Within this regime, the broader publ ic have no opportunity to hold local 

authorities to account; rather, any sanctions are imposed through a higher authority such 

as the state government. 

In the absence of the capacity for power, the accountab i l ity relationship between local 

authorities and the broader public is therefore suggested to be only in the form of a l ink 

of accountabi l ity, which recogn ises an informal "recognition of responsiveness" by 

local authorities (Stewart, 1 984, p .25) .  However, as the results show, the stakeholders 

clearly perceive that local authorities should be held accountable because they have a 

responsib i l ity to provide services which are funded by tax/ratepayers and a 

responsib i l ity to provide information on how that money has been spent. Therefore the 

relationsh ip w ith tax/ratepayers, although something less than a bond of accountabi l i ty, 

is somewhat more than just a l ink, because of its connection to responsi bi l ity 

requirements. 
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Overa l l, as an accountabi l ity relationship between the local authorities and the broad 

group of stakeholders exists, i t  is suggested that regardless of whether there are bonds or 

l inks of accountabi l ity, local authorities are obl iged to present an account of, and to 

answer for their performance to a l l  the stakeholders. The involvement of the broad 

stakeholder groups in the accountabil ity relationship and the wide scope of 

accountabi l ity would require d ifferent types of information to be reported in the annual 

reports (Patton, 1 992). The d ivers i ty of information items expected and considered 

necessary for assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorit ies are 

evidenced from the results. 

General ly therefore, the resu lts are consistent with the findings from the studies of Hay 

and Antonio ( 1 990), Jones et al .  ( 1 985) and Wal lace ( l 988b) who ident ified d iversity 

amongst stakeholder or user groups as to the information they require. Further, the wide 

scope of information that was thought necessary and important by the stakeholders for 

d isc losure in the annual reports of  local authorities is consistent with the public 

accountabi l ity paradigm which requires the reporting of comprehensive information 

about the condition, performance, activities and progress of the enti ty (Coy & Dixon, 

2004) . 

I n  particular, the results suggest that stakeholders showed strong interest not only in the 

information pertain ing to financial performance and position of local authorit ies but 

more importantly information not traditional ly d isc losed in the financial statements, for 

example non-financial performance and future-re lated information. This is consistent 

w ith other studies that found that although financial statements are useful (Gray, 1 984), 

performance information located outside financial statements attracts m ore attention 

(Clark, 2003). Specifical ly, the resu lts support the l iterature as to the high importance of 

budget compared to actual i nformation (Boyne et al . ,  2002; Mack & Ryan, 2004), 

outcome and output measures (Ciarl<, 2003) and operating results and efficiency and 

e ffectiveness indicators (Hay & Antonio, 1 990;  Jones et al., 1 985).  Stakeholders as a 

whole rated information about 'future plans ' and 'future performance targets ' as being 

of the most importance. Information related to the future is necessari ly speculatory and 

opin ions differ on the relevance of  disclosing th i s  information. I t  is contended that 

information about probable future development that is based on wel l -founded 

expectations is a significant component of an accountabil ity regime (Farneti & 
Bestebreur, 2004 ) .  
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I n  relation to information in financial statements, the results indicate that stakeholders 

had a strong preference for information items commonly found within the statement of 

revenue and expenditure. This is consistent with the findings from Tayib et al. ( 1 999) 

that this statement is of particular importance at the local level in Malaysia. The high 

' level of importance' rating al located by the stakeholders for the d i sclosure of financial 

performance measures, such as revenue according to source and revenue according to 

act iv it ies/services rendered, and expenditure according to function and to services 

provided, emphasises a stakeholder concern over the adequacy of funding to sustain the 

level of expenditure required to deliver sufficient and quality services. 

Overal l ,  in terms of the importance of information to be disclosed in the annual reports 

o f  local authorities, the results indicate inconsistency amongst the stakeholder groups. 

The stakeholders d iffer significantly in their perception of the disc losure importance of 

forty-two of the seventy-one items (59 percent) - all eighteen items of the 'balance 

sheet ' and four items of the 'cash flow statement '; seven out of n ine i tems of 'financial 

information outside financial statements '; twel ve o ut of fifteen items of  'overview and 

operational '; and one out of eight items of ' statement of revenue and expenditure '. The 

d iversity of the stakeholders '  information and disc losure requirements would lead to 

d i fficulties in prioritising and reconci l ing the m ultiple requirements (Edwards & Hu lme, 

1 995 ;  Likierman, 1 992). However, i f the information and disclosure expectations of the 

broad stakeholder groups are to be met, either a broad information set relating to the 

reporting of performance should be provided or a consensus formed amongst key 

'expert' stakeholders for a minimum level o f  d i sclosure. In this research, 'expert' 

stakeholders' opinions and agreement on the info rmation necessary for assess ing and 

monitoring the performance of local authorities and the importance of such item for 

d isc losure were considered through an expert opin ion-seeking Delphi exercise that was 

carried out following the survey of the broad group of stakeholders. 

7.6 CHAPTER SUMMARY 

This chapter has reported the results obtained from a questionnaire survey. The results 

provided insights into the perceptions of Malays ian local authorities' stake holders of the 

accountabil ity of  the local authorities and the stakeholders' informational and disclosure 

expectations. 
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The results reported in  this chapter have answered the first three research questions as 

outlined in  the introductory section. In  respect of the first research question, it is found 

that generally, the stakeholders of Malaysian local authorities consider that 

accountabi l ity involves  rendering an account to all stakeholders in respect of financial 

and managerial accountabi l ity. In  respect of the second research question, the 

stakeholders indicate an expectation for a broad set of information for assessing and 

monitoring the performance of local authorities. The broad set covers all the information 

identified based on the findings of previous studies, professional recommendat ions, 

statutory provisions and practitioners' and experts' opin ions and as l isted in the 

questionnaire. The stakeholders' expectations included not only financial information 

but also non-financial information. F inal ly, in respect of the third research question, 

d ifferences in the level of importance of categories and specific information items were 

identified. The d ifferences were found to be s ignificant for the majority of the items. 

Whi le the results obtained from the questionnaire survey indicate that the local 

authorities should provide a wide scope of information to a broad group of stakeholders, 

there is a diversity of opinion on information and disclosure expectations. The diversity 

in the expectations was reconciled through the Delphi exercise that involved a panel of  

expert stakeholders. A l l  items in  the original questionnaire index and the importance of  

each item for disclosure as  identified by the broad stakeholder groups were incorporated 

into the process o f  reaching the expert consensus. The results obtained from the 

exercise are reported in the following chapter. 
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CHAPTER EIGHT 

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION: 

EXPERTS AGRE EMENT ON THE DISCLOSURE OF PERFORMANC E  

INFORMATION AND FINALISATION O F  DISCLOSURE INDEX 

8 . 1  INTRODUCTION 

The previous chapter reported the results obtained from a questionnaire survey that 

involved a broad group of stakeholders of Malaysian local authorities. Fol lowing the 

questionnaire survey, a Delphi exercise was conducted .  The purpose of the Delphi 

exercise is  to reconci le the information and disclosure requirements of the broad group 

of stakeholders identified in the questionnaire survey as reported in Chapter Seven and 

final ise the information items necessary for assessing and mon itoring the performance 

of local authorities and the importance of those items for d isc losure in the annual reports 

of local authorities. This is addressed by research questions four and five: 

Research Question 4 
What type of  information items do expert stakeholders agree is necessary for 

assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities and what i s  the 

importance of such items for d i sc losure? 

Research Question 5 
How can the information and importance for disc losure, as agreed by the experts, 

be organised into a disclosure index for assessing the extent and quality of 

information d isc losure? 

Following the introductory section, Section 8.2 presents a review of the Delphi exercise .  

The resu lts of the Delphi exercise wh ich are related to research question four are 

reported and discussed in Section 8 . 3 .  Section 8.4 provides the answer to research 

question five which describes the finalisation of the d isc losure index. Section 8 .5 

summarises the chapter. Figure 8 . 1 shows the position of  this chapter in relation to the 

thesis .  

1 58 



Figure 8. 1 :  Thesis Structure: the Position of Chapter Eight 
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8.2 A REVIEW OF THE DELPHI EXERCISE 

8.2. 1 The Delphi Panel 

The Delphi panel involved members with a vast knowledge of Malaysian local 

authorities and the issues being researched. Based on their current and past positions and 

experiences, they are considered ' experts' who possess a high degree of objectiv ity and 

rational ity and are able to apply their knowledge in  an expert way. An expert in this 

Delphi exercise is defined as "an individual pane l l ist who possesses more knowledge 

about the subject than most people" (Hil l  & Fowles, 1 975, p. l 87) . They can also be 

considered as representing the Malaysian local authority stakeholders inc luding those 

identified in Chapter Four - the general publ ic, state government, federal government, 

auditors, creditors, management, employees, council lors and the interest group (a 

community association)32 . The panel consisted of twelve members who were selected 

purposively based on their knowledge and experience related to the research problem 

areas. The detai ls  of the panel are shown in Table 8 . 1 .  

Table 8. 1 :  Details of Delphi Panel 

Role Description Number of 
Panel Members 

Auditor Auditor/top official of the National Audit Department I 
(auditor general department) 

Creditor Suppl ier for a number of local authorities I 
Federal government Top official of the local government department of the I 
representative Ministry of Housing and Local Government 
Management Secretary (vice-president) of a l ocal authority, and 2 

Finance director cum head of treasury department of a 
local authority 

Council lor Counci l lor of a local authority cum politician of the I 
governing party 

State government Chief internal auditor of a state secretariat office (ex- 2 
representative accountant of a local authority), and 

Top management of the local government section of a 
state secretariat office 

Employee/financial Accountant of a local authority I 
report preparer 
Public and i nterest Leaders of  two community associations (one of them also 2 
group a counci l lor) 
Public and politician Pol itician of an opposition party (ex-management of a I 

local authority) 
Total 1 2  

32 In the questionnaire survey (at phase one, data col l ection), the stakeholders i nvolved were the 
groups of the publ ic, state government, creditors, counc i l lors, management and other employees. In the 
Delphi exercise, the panel members represented the stakeho lder groups of the oversight body (auditor), 
government (the federal and state governments), the publ i c  ( including interest group and pol itician), 
management. counci l lors, and employees (see Table 8. 1 ) .  
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The majority of  the panel members (67 percent) have at least a bachelor's degree. The 

members are aged between thirty-five and fi fty-seven years old and have been in their 

c urrent positions and involved in local authority matters for between five and twenty 

years. Based on their position and experience, they are regarded in  the current research 

as experts in areas related to the research problem. 

8.2.2 Activities Involved in  the Delphi Exercise 

The Delphi exercise involved three rounds and the activities involved in each round (as 

e xtracted from Figure 6.3,  C hapter Six) are shown in Figure 8 .2 .  The results obtained 

thro ugh the three rounds of the Delphi exercise provide the answer for research question 

four relating to the information items necessary for assessing and monitoring the 

performance of local authorities and the importance of these items for d isclosure. 
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Figure 8.2 :  Activities Involved in  Each Delphi Round 
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8.3 INFORMATION ITEMS NECESSARY FOR ASSESSING AND 

MONITORING THE PERFORMANCE OF LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND 

THE IMPORTANCE OF THE INFORMATION FOR DISCLOSURE AS 

AGREED BY THE EXPERTS 

The information items necessary for assessi ng and monitoring the performance of local 

authorities and the importance of those i tems for disclosure as perceived and agreed by 

the expert pane l were establ ished in the Delphi exercise. The fol lowing sub-sections 

report the results obtained from each Delphi round. 

8.3. 1 Results from Delphi Round One 

At this i n it ial round, the panel members were presented with a questionnaire featuring 

the items shown in Table 8.2.  

Table 8.2 : Potential Disclosure Items 

A. Overview and Operational 
A I  Statement of objectives 
A2 Mayor' s/president's report 
A3 Review of operations 
A4 Organisation structure 
A5 Internal control ( including i nternal audit and risk management) 
A6 Environmental management 
A7 Personnel 
A8 Occupational health & safety 
A9 Working environment 
A I O  Training programmes for staff 
A l l Summary facts and figures 
A l 2  Acknowledgement/award received from state and federal government 
A l 3  Problems i n  undertaking services/activities 
A 1 4  Reasons for current status of  performance achievement 
A l 5  Efforts in generating more revenue 
B. Non-Financial Performance 
B l  Goals and objectives of services/activities 
B2 Non-financial performance targets 

Performance measurement: 
B3 Input measures 
B4 Output measures 
B5 Impact measures 
B6 Efficiency measures 
B7 Effectiveness measures 
B8 Client/customer satisfaction measures 
B9 Productivity measures 
B I O  Comparison between actual and target achievement 
B l l Comparison between current and previous years achievement 
B l 2  Report on the use of government grants 
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Table 8.2 : Cont.. 
B. Non-Financial Performance 
8 1 3  Report on performance of contractors responsible for providing contracted services 
8 1 4  Achievement o f  specific programmes as ordered by state/federal government 
C. Financial 

Statement of Revenue and Expenditure: 
C l  Revenue accord ing to activities or services rendered 
C2 Revenue according to source of revenue 
CJ Total revenue 
C4 Gross expenditure according to service 
CS Net expenditure accordi ng to service 
C6 Expenditure classi fted by nature or function 
C7 Total expenditure 
C8 Total excess/surplus 

Balance Sheet: 
C9 Operational assets at cost 
C I O  Operational assets at market value 
C l  I Non-operational assets at cost 
C l 2 Non-operational assets at market value 
C I J  Community assets at cost 
C l 4  Community assets at market value 
C I S  Infrastructure assets at cost 
C l 6  Infrastructure assets at market value 
C l 7  Total fixed assets 
C l 8  Deferred charges 
C l 9  Long-term i nvestments 
C20 Long-term debtors 
C2 1 Current assets 
C22 Current l iabi l ities 
C23 Long-term borrowings 
C24 Deferred liabi l i t ies 
C25 Deferred credits - government grants 
C26 Reserves 

Cash Flow Statement: 
C27 Operating cash flows 
C28 Investing cash flows 
C29 Financing cash flows 
CJO Year end cash and cash equivalents 

Financial Information Outside Financial Statements 
CJ I Auditor's report 
C32 Financial review 
C33 Accounting pol icies 
C34 Revenue to number of  staff 
C35 Total asset to  number of staff 
C36 Revenue to cost of service/activity 
C37 Return on assets 
C38  Actual to  budget comparison 
C39 Information about cost of service/activity 
D. Future-Related Information 
D l  Future plans 
D2 Future performance targets 
DJ Information pertaining to future capital improvements 
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The items in Table 8 .2 are the same items that were identified from the questionnaire 

survey undertaken at the first stage of the research process that involved a broad group 

of stakeholders. The panel members were asked to indicate which items they thought 

necessary for assessing and monitoring the performance of a local authority and to 

indicate the importance they attached to each item for disc losure in annual reports using 

a five-point scale (0 = unimportant and should not be disc losed to 4 = extremely 

important and must be d i sc losed). They could also add any further items they thought 

should be disclosed in annual reports of Malaysian local authorities. The ful l  results 

from the questionnaire survey in th is round are summarised in Appendix J .  

I n  th is round, nine additional items (with their rating of  d isclosure importance) were 

proposed by some of the panel members. The additional items are reported in Table 8 .3 .  

Table 8.3: Additional I tems (Round One) 

Additional Items 

A l l Auditor general department's rating of financial management 
A I 2  Role and responsibi l ity of counci l lors 
A l 3  Public complai nts that have been resol ved 
A l4  Activity/programme that involved community participation 
A l 5  Area of administration 
A l 6  Scope of authority of contractor 
A l 7  Scope of authority of LA and other relevant agencies 
A l 8  Contracted-out service/activity 
A l9  Assessment tax rates 

A panel member suggested that item AI I be included because an index for the rat ing of 

financial management has been prepared by the auditor general 's  department (known as 

the National Audit Department in Malaysia). According to the panel member the index 

wi l l  soon be used to assess the financial management of local authorities and the rating 

may indicate the accountabi l ity of local authorities for the proper use of financial 

resources. For item AI2 ,  it was suggested that this item should be included as some 

people do not really know the responsibi l ities of a counci l lor. The d isclosure of item 

A I 3  was suggested because the information is important to provide feedback on 

resolut ion of public complaints. It was also suggested that item AI4 should be disc losed 

because it is consistent with Local Agenda 2 1 33 which emphasises pub l ic participation. 

33 Local Agenda 2 1  (LA2 1 )  was introduced in the Earth Summit conference in Rio de Janeiro in 
1 992 .  It is ··a local-government-led, community-wide, and participatory effort to establ ish a 
comprehensive action strategy for environmental protection, economic prosperity and community wel l -
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A panel l ist suggested the d isc losure of item AI5 because he bel ieved that this 

information is  useful in assessing the capab i l ity of local authorities in providing qual ity 

services. The 'scope of authority of contractor ' ( item AI6) should be disc losed in local 

authority annual reports because according to the panel l ist who s uggested this item "the 

information (on item AI6) can provide a clearer understanding of the relat ionship 

between a local authority and its contractors". The explanation g iven for additional item 

A £ 7  was that "the public does sometimes confuse which party s hould be respons ib le in 

providing the fac i l ities needed". The maintenance of publ ic roads was given as an 

example and the justification given to this example was: "the maintenance o f  some 

roads is under the responsibi l ity of the Publ ic Works Department, a department of the 

federal government, and for some other roads, the maintenance is under the 

responsib i l ity of local authorities". The relevant panel member stated that the reason for 

suggesting item AI8  was to ensure that the public knows which services have been 

contracted out, so that they can give feedback about the performance of the contractor. 

The member who suggested item AI9  explained that stakeholders should be informed 

about the assessment tax rates and the d ifferent rates between types of premises, so that 

they could have a clear idea about the i ncome of local authorities from the assessment 

taxes. These explanations were written down and presented to each member in Delphi 

round two, along with the summary of  the first round results as shown in Appendix J. 

As the objective of the Delphi exerc ise is to reach greater consensus or stabil ity in the 

responses, the subsequent rounds were used to allow members to reconsider their in it ial 

responses and ( i f  any) to give justifications to their responses. 

8.3.2 Results from Delphi Round Two 

In the second round, each member was inv ited to reconsider h is/her initial responses 

based upon the responses of his/her peers. The measure of central tendency (the mean 

response) and the measure of dispersion (the standard deviation) were presented to the 

members in the second round to help . them reconsider their position. The means of  

disclosure i mportance, as  perceived by the broad stakeholder groups in the questionnaire 

survey were also presented to the members and they were asked to take them into 

consideration in making their decisions. Members who d id not suggest any particular 

being in the local j urisdiction or area" (the Urban Environmental Management Research In itiative, 
w\vw.gdrc.orQ/uem/la2 1 /la2 1 .html ). The implementation of LA2 1 in Malaysia commenced January 2000 
and it emphasises community participation in the local authority decision making process ( Mohamed 
Osman, Syed A. Rashid & Ahmad , 2008) . 
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additional items identified in  the first round were asked to indicate the d i sc losure 

i mportance of  the items suggested by others. For this  purpose, the written sum m arised 

explanations to the additional items were also presented. In addition, the members were 

encouraged to g ive justification ( i f  any) for their position. The responses of  a l l  panel 

members in round two are summarised in Append ix K. One additional item was 

proposed by a member in this round - item AI  1 0 : 'improvement programme of service 

delivery system '. I t  was explained by the member that the item has been the current 

focus of the federal and state governments to improve services at all government 

departments and agencies including local authorities. 

Based on the results of round one, i f  any of the responses were considered two points or 

more from the mean response or had the highest or lowest rating for importance, the 

particular member was encouraged to justifY his/her response. The justifications were 

written down and at the end of  the meeting with each member the written justifications 

were read back to the members to ensure that they were satisfied with the transcription. 

The summarised justifications of responses of certain items are shown in Table 8 .4 .  

Table 8.4: A Summary of Justifications for Particular I tems 

Item Member Justification 
No. 

A8, I Employees are an important asset to local authorities (LA} and their wel fare 
A9, should always be taken care of. The disclosure of these items shows that the 
A I O  LAs are concerned about their employees. 

(note: the panel member also included item A I 0 for this justification). 

A8, 4 (The items) are i nternal matters and not the concern of people outside the LA. 
A I O  
A l 3 , 4 Item A 1 3  shows a negative standpoint and for A 1 4  the word ' reason' has 
A l 4  been referred to · reason for not performing'- also showing a negative 

standpoint. The member suggested that the word ' problems' for A 1 3  be 
changed to 'chal lenges' and the wording for A 1 4  be changed to 'factors that 
influenced the current status of performance achievement '. With the new 
wording, the member changed his responses for items A 1 3  and A 1 4. 

8 1 2  I The response of '0' was given because according to the member, i nformation 
about the use of government grants is available in the financial statements. 

6 The item is important and should be made c lear to all stakeholders. 

1 0  LAs should always be accountable for the use of the grants as they use public 
monies. 

1 1  Most members of the public wanted to know the details about the use of 
resources received from government and not a l l  understand how to read 
financial statements. 

1 67 



Table 8.4 Cont.. 
Item .'· M�mber ' .; ., ,�t:�;� ;N o: �, :� · 

B I 3  4 

C l  I to 4 
C I 9  

C34 to I 
C37 

5 

C34 to 4 
C36 
AI L O  1 0  

· ·i er 
.. ; 

·�., Justifi£P:tiO::���s:i:',t' < " · 
_, �/ ·:·\tiC �- . :(;:;:t:J.%· �6;.,:-�·. ,.__ :�: 

'>c ;;; i' ' '  . 

This is an internal matter between the LA and the contractor. What needs to 
be reported is the action that had been taken by the LA against the contractor 
that did not perform. The member however changed his previous response 
from '0' to ' I ' .  

The most important i tem that must be disclosed is the total asset (C 1 9) but the 
break down of the asset depends on the nature of the asset. To the member, 
infrastructure has always been the focus of LA and therefore C 1 7  and C 1 8  
should b e  highl ighted but C 1 1  to C 1 6  are less important for high l ight ing in 
the annual report. 

It is important for these items to be disclosed in order to show how efficient 
the LA is. 

I t  i s  important to know whether the LA is  under or over staffed, which may 
indicate the effectiveness and efficiency of the LA and its staff. 

These items are for internal assessment and should be reported i nternally. 

The additional i tem, 'improvement programme of service delivery system ' 
was proposed wi th a justification that this i tem has been the current focus by 
the government to improve public services. 

8.3.3 Results from Delphi Round Three 

The justifications and suggestions provided by the particular members in round two 

were made known to all other members in round three. A l l  members were again  invited 

to reconsider their previous responses. Responses from al l  members in  th is round are 

shown in Appendix L. 

The changes in wording for item A 1 3  (as suggested by member no. 4 in the second 

round, as shown in Table 8 .4), that is, from 'problems in undertaking services/activities ' 

to 'challenges in undertaking services/activities ' and item A 1 4  (from 'reasons for 

current status of performance achievement ' to factors that influenced the current status 

of performance achievement ') were agreed by a l l  other members. With those changes to 

the word ing, three panel members changed the ir  previous responses (from ' I '  to '2 '  or 

from '2 '  to ' 3 ' ,  see Appendices K and L). I n  respect of item 8 1 2, a panel member 

reconsidered his previous response and changed the rat ing from '0 '  to ' 3 ' .  Based on the 

justifications given by some panel members (members no. 6, I 0 and l l , as shown in 

Table 8 .4), he understood the necessity of detai led explanations and justifications of the 

item in non-financial terms.  In respect of items C l l  to C 1 6  and C34 to C36, a panel 

member sti l l  wanted to maintain h is  previous responses and justifications for the items, 
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a lthough he understood the j ustifications given by the other members on the inclusion of 

those items. The majority o f  the panel members d i d  not agree with the additional item 

AI6 .  Most of them stated that a contractor does not have any power in a local authority. 

The process of Delphi stops when an acceptable or stable level of consensus or 

agreement is reached (Tersine & Riggs, 1 976). I n  the current research, the Delphi 

exercise stopped in round three. The number of rounds to reach greater consensus is 

variable and it is often two rounds (Rowe & Wright, 1 999) or three rounds (Tersine & 
Riggs, 1 976). For example, in Coy and Dixon ' s  (2004) study, sufficient consensus was 

reached after two rounds. I n  the next section the level of consensus for the current 

research is described. 

8.3.4 Level of Consensus of the Responses 

Mean ratings and standard deviations are the m ost widely used methods to determine 

the Delphi panel members' level of consensus (Tersine & Riggs, 1 976). After three 

rounds, it was considered that the greatest possib le consensus had been reached between 

a l l  panel members, as the standard deviation ( for almost al l items) in round three was 

lower then the previous rounds, wh ich indicates greater uniformity of  opin ion (Coy & 
D ixon, 2004). Appendix M shows the mean and standard deviation of each individual 

i tem of each Delphi round. 

As the results in Appendix M show, the standard deviation (SO) for almost a l l  items (96 

percent of the seventy-one original l isted items, and 70 percent of the ten additional 

items) in the final round was either unchanged or lower than that of the previous round; 

and the average SO for al l  items for all members decreased from the first to the third 

round. 

In order to specifical ly evaluate the stabi l isation of  the responses and the level of 

consensus on each item, non-parametric tests of differences (Friedman one-way 

ANOVA and Wi lcoxon signed ranks tests34) were performed. The Friedman test was 

performed to examine changes to disclosure importance scores across the Delphi 

34 The Friedman and Wi lcoxon tests were chosen as the data of the responses of each panel 
member is an ordinal data, the normality assumption for a parametric test is not satisfied and the sample 
size is smal l (Salvatore & Reagle, 200 I ) . 
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rounds. Comparisons in  both procedures are based on mean rank of the variable - the 

d isc losure importance score. Specifically, the Friedman test examines whether the mean 

ranks of disclosure importance scores of each item across the three Delphi rounds d iffer 

s ign ificantly from each other. The Wilcoxon s igned ranks test for paired samples was 

performed to compare responses to disc losure importance of each item between 

responses of Delphi rounds one and two, and two and three for the original items, and 

between rounds two and three for the additional items. This test was performed to 

further describe the results of the Friedman test. Table 8.5 reports the Chi-Square and 

s ign ificance test (p<0.05) of the Friedman test and the Z-Scores of the Wilcoxon test of 

each relevant item. 
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Table 8.5: Level of Consensus of Responses 
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O riginal Items: 
A I  Statement of objectives 
A 2  Mayor's/president' s report 
A 3  Review o f  operations 
A4  Organisation structure 
AS Internal control 
A6  Environmental management 
A 7  Personnel 
AS  Occupational health & safety 
A9  Worki ng environment 
A 1 0  Training programmes for staff 
A l l Summary facts and figures 
A l 2 Acknowledgement/award received from 

state and federal government 
A l 3  Challenges i n  undertaking 

services/activities 
A 1 4 Factors contribute to the current status 

of performance achievement 
A l 5  Efforts in generating more revenue 
8 1  Goals and objectives of 

services/acti vit ies 
82 Non-financial performance targets 
83 Input measures 
84 Output measures 
85  Impact measures 
86 Efficiency measures 
87  Effectiveness measures 
88 Satisfaction measures 
89 Productivity measures 
8 1 0  Comparison between actual and target 

achievement 
8 1 1 Comparison between current and 

previous years' achievements 
8 1 2  Report on the use of government grants 
8 1 3  Performance o f  contractor responsible 

for providing contracted services 
8 1 4  Achievement o f  specific programmes as 

ordered by state/federal_ government 
C l  Auditor's report 
C2 Financial review 

Significapce Test of {)ifT�ren·ce 
! . (*p < o,.os; Asymp. Sig. 2:tailed) ' 

· � 

Frie�mao Wi1CoX:on $igned Ranks for 
.Oqe�Way ,. Paired Sampl�s2 , _ 

· ANOVA1 
::�;: ,.. 

Ropod 1 to I ·· '  Round 2 vs Round 3 vs 
Round 3 Round 1 

i 
Round 2 ' 

NO NO NO 
2.000 (0.368) - 1 .000 (0.3 1 7) NO 
NO NO NO 
2.000 (0.368) - 1 .000 (0.3 1 7) NO 
2.000 (0.368) - LOOO (0.3 1 7) NO 
4.000 (0. 1 35)  - 1 .4 1 7  (0. 1 57) NO 
2.000 (0.368) - LOOO (0.3 1 7) NO 
3.000 (0.223) - 1 .000 (0.3 1 7) - LOOO ( 0.3 1 7) 
NO NO NO 
4.000 (0. 1 35)  - 1 .4 1 4 (0. 1 57) NO 
2.000 (0.368) - 1 .000 (0.3 1 7) NO 
NO ND NO 

7.600 (0.022)* - 1 .342 (0 . 1 80) - 1 .732 ( 0.083 ) 

4.667 (0.097) - LOOO (0 .3 1 7) - 1 .4 1 4 ( 0. 1 57)  

NO NO NO 
2.000 (0.368) - LOOO (0.3 1 7) NO 

2.000 (0.368) - 1 .000 (0 .3 1 7) NO 
NO NO NO 
NO ND NO 
NO NO NO 
2.000 (0.368) - 1 .000 (0.3 1 7) NO 
2.000 (0.368) - 1 .000 (0.3 1 7) NO 
NO ND NO 
2.000 (0.368) - 1 .000 ( 0.3 1 7) NO 
NO NO NO 

NO NO NO 

2.000 (0.368) ND  - 1 .000 (0 .3 1 7) 
2.000 (0.368) - 1 .000 (0.3 1 7) NO 

NO NO NO 

NO NO NO 
NO ND NO 

1 7 1 . 



Table 8.5 Cont.. 
_-:,� X Significance Test of Difference 

· l�em of Information '(*p < 0.05. Asymp. Sig. 2-tailed) 
-�·-.,; . ��:� . ""' .;. .,! . �\ -

Friedman ,,Wilco:x:on Signed Ranks for 
. -

On,�Wai . · Paired Samples2 
.t: 

,.,.i,: \.. .. �- ' ' 
. 

�

·· f / M{OVA .}>' 
i ' Round 1 to Round 2 vs Round 3 vs 

" h ,-} ·� ·'·'· Round 3 Round 1 Round 2 
Original Items: 

C3 Revenue according to activities or ND ND ND 
services rendered 

C4 Revenue according to source of  2.000 (0.368) - I  .000 (0.3 1 7 )  N D  
revenue 

C5 Total revenue ND NO NO 
C6 Gross expenditure according to service ND NO NO 
C7 Net expenditure according to service 2.000 (0.368) NO  NO 
C8  Expenditure classified by nature or ND - 1 .000 (0.3 1 7) NO 

function 
C9 Total expenditure ND NO NO 
C 1 0  Total excess/surplus ND NO NO 
C 1 1 OQerational assets at cost ND - 1 .000 (0.3 1 7) NO 
C 1 2  Operational assets at market value 2.000 (0.368) - 1 .000 (0.3 1 7) ND 
C 1 3  Non-operational assets at cost 2.000 (0.368) - 1 .342 (0. 1 80) ND 
C l 4  Non-operational assets at market 4.000 (0. 1 35 )  NO  NO 

value 
C 1 5  Community assets at cost ND NO ND 
C l 6  Community assets at market va lue ND NO ND 
C l 7  Infrastructure assets at cost ND NO ND 
C 1 8  Infrastructure assets at market value ND NO ND 
C 1 9  Total fixed assets 2.000 (0.368) - 1 .000 (0.3 1 7) ND 
C20 Deferred charges ND NO NO 
C2 1 Long-term i nvestments 2.000 (0.368) - I  .000 (0.3 1 7 )  ND 
C22 Long-term debtors 2.000 (0.368) - 1 .000 (0.3 1 7 ) NO 
C23 Current assets ND NO NO 
C24 Current l iabi l ities ND NO ND 
C25 Long-term borrowings ND NO NO 
C26 Deferred l iabi l i ties ND NO NO 
C27 Deferred credits - government grants 4.000 (0. 1 35 )  NO ND 
C28 Reserves 2.000 (0.368) - 1 .342 (0. 1 80) ND 
C29 Operating cash flows 2.000 (0.368) - 1 .000 (0.3 1 7) NO 
C30 Invest ing cash flows 2.000 (0.368) - 1 .000 (0.3 1 7) NO 
C3 1 Financing cash flows ND NO NO 
C32 Year end cash and cash equivalents ND NO ND 
C33 Accounting pol icies ND NO NO 
C34 Revenue to number of staff ND NO ND 
C35 Total Asset to number of staff ND NO ND 
C36 Revenue to cost of service ND NO ND 
C37 Return on assets ND NO ND 
C38 Actual to budget comparison ND NO ND 
C39 Information about cost of ND NO NO 

service/activ i ty 
0 1  Future plans ND NO ND 
02  Future performance targets ND NO ND 
03 Information pertaining to future capital ND NO ND 

improvements 

1 72 



Note: ND denotes 'no difference' .  
1Chi-square values (p-values are shown in  parentheses), 2Z-scores (p-values are shown in  

parentheses). 
Due to i nsufficient cases for processing data (for item A l l  0), the Wilcoxon test of differences could 

not be performed. 

As shown in Table 8.5,  the results o f  the Friedman test indicate that there were e ither no 

d ifferences or no s ignificant d ifferences in mean ranks of disclosure importance for 

almost a l l  items across the three Delphi rounds for the original items. The results are 

clarified by the results of the Wi lcoxon test. Only the Friedman results on item A l 3  

shows a significant difference (at p < 0 .05) in mean ranks of the disc losure importance. 

The significant difference was mainly due to the d ifference between round three and 

round two (as shown by the Wi lcoxon results). 

In addition  to the tests on the seventy-one original items, the Wilcoxon tests were also 

performed on additional items identified during the Delphi exercise. The results show 

that there are either no s ignificant d ifferences or no d ifferences in mean rank scores for 

all additional items. 

Overal l, the results reported in Table 8 .5  imply that there is stabil ity in responses across 

the Delphi  rounds involved and the consensus on the d i sc losure importance of each item 

can be considered reached after round three. The acceptable level of consensus on all 
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i tems m the final round represents the experts ' agreement on the expectations of 

Malaysian local authorities' stakeholders on the information necessary for assessing and 

monitoring the performance of local authorities and the informat ion disclosure 

importance. The mean scores of the experts in the final round were taken as the 

d isc losure importance weightings for the disclosure index. The mean was taken instead 

of  the median because it gave equal weight to each of the responses (Buzby, 1 974). 

8.3.5 Information and Disclosure Importance Agreed by the Expert Panel 

The agreement or consensus reached by the experts on the information necessary for 

assessing and monitoring  the performance of local authorities and the information 

d i sc losure importance weightings (represented by the mean scores of disclosure 

importance in round three) were analysed. In al l, there were e ighty-one items identified 

i n  the Delphi exercise - seventy-one items were the original items ( identified by the 

broad group of stakeholders through the questionnaire survey carried out at the stage 

one o f  the research process) and ten were the add it ional items identified through the 

Delph i  exercise (see Appendix M). However, item 'scope of authority of contractor ' 

was taken out as the majority of the panel members (75%) perceived that the item had 

l ittle  need for disclosure. Only three members agreed on th is i tem and the mean 

i mportance score of the item is only 0.50 (See Appendix L). The add itional items were 

i ntegrated into appropriate categories. It was decided that six additional items ('role and 

responsibility of councillor ', 'area of administration ', 'scope of authority of local 

authorities and other relevant agencies ', 'auditor general department 's rating of 

financial management ', 'public complaints that have been resolved ' and 

'activity/programme that involved community participation ') were appropriately 

classified under the 'overview and operational ' category. It was thought appropriate that 

two addit ional items - 'contracted-out service/activity ' and 'improvement programme of 

service delivery system ' - be c lassified as 'non-financial performance ' information 

i tems and that the item 'assessment tax rates ' be included under the 'financial -

financial information outside financial statements ' category. 

As summarised in Table 8 .6, of the total eighty items, fifty-seven items (7 1 percent) 

were identified as being ' very important' to be disc losed in the annual reports of local 

authorities, and twenty-three items (29 percent) were identified as being 'quite 
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important' to be d isc losed. None of the e ighty items were identified as being 'extremely 

important', of 'minor i mportance' ,  or ' unimportant ' .  

Table 8.6: Frequency of Items within Level of Disclosure Impo rtance and Mean 
Score by Category 

Category .of Information Item an"'d ; , ·  ' 
�umber of Items

· 
in Eacli .Category""* _ . -

: ... 

Overview and operational ( 2 1") 
Non-financial performance ( 1 6") 
F inancial: 
Statement of revenue and expenditure (8) 
Balance sheet ( 18) 
Cash flow statement (4) 
Financial information outside the financial 
statements (101) 
Al l  financial (40) 
Future-related information ( 3 )  
Total (80) 

Frequency of Items within Level of ' 

E' V 
0 1 4  
0 1 2  

0 8 
0 1 2  
0 4 

Q _2 
0 29 
0 2 
0 57 

·. Importance ; · 

Q M u 
7 0 0 
4 0 0 

0 0 0 
6 0 0 
0 0 0 

_2 Q Q 
1 1  0 0 
I 0 0 

23 0 0 

Meari 
Score 

2.83 
3 .04 

3 . 1 5  
3 . 1 1 
3 .3 8  

3 . 1 0  
3 . 1 4  
3 .25  
3. 1 0  

Note. Based on the 5-pomt scale used - 4 - extremely Important (E), 3 - very Important (V), 2 - qwte 
important (Q); I = minor importance (M); 0 = unimportant (U). 
2 lncluding additional items (6 items - 'operational and overview '; 2 items - 'non-financial 
performance ' and I item - 'financial information outside financial statements '). 

As Table 8.6 shows, a l l  of the 'statement of revenue and expenditure ' and 'cash flow 

statement ' items were identified as being ' very important ' .  Other category items were 

rated as ' very important' or 'quite important ' .  On average, the 'cash flow statement ' was 

rated as the most important category (mean score of 3 .38)  fol lowed by the 'future

related information ' category (mean score of 3 .25). The experts agreed that other 

financial categories - 'statement of revenue and expenditure ', 'balance sheet statement ', 

and 'financial information outside financial statements ' are more important than other 

non-financial categories - 'overview and operational ' and 'non-financial performance '. 

The fifty-seven items that were identified as being 'very important' were rearranged 

from the highest to the lowest importance mean and they are presented in Table 8. 7. 
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Table 8.7 : Top Scored Items ('Very I mportant') 

-��st>' . , 
). ·>: • >• 

Auditor's report 

·•· 
'<; ',�· ' ,, '��., ,., "" : .. . .. . ·.�ne'���, , ,,· .. c: , 

Actual to budg_et comparison 
Total fixed assets 
Future plans 
Current assets 

Accounting pol icies 
Statement of objectives 
Operating cash flows 
Investing cash flows 
F inancing cash flows 
Mayor's/president's report 
Review of operations 
Efforts in generating more revenue 
Comparison between current and previous years 
achievement 
Financial review 

Long-term investments 
Current l iab i l ities 
Future performance targets 
Internal control 
Comparison between actual and target ach ievement 

·" .:.�:.:: 

Revenue according to activities or services rendered 
Revenue according to source of revenue 
Total revenue 
Total expenditure 
Long-term debtors 

Long-term borrowings 
Deferred l iabil ities 
Reserves 
Year end cash and cash equivalents 

Information about cost of service/activity 
Performance of contractors responsible for providing 
contracted services 
Gross expenditure according to service 
Public complaints that have been resolved 
Organisation structure 
Summary facts and figures 
Factors contribute to the current status of performance 
achievement 

Goals and objectives of services/activities 
Non-financial performance targets 
Effectiveness measures 
Achievement of specific programmes as ordered by 
state/federal. government 
Net expenditure according to services 
Operational assets at cost 

. . i>i) . Meait . l"•t Category . • ·"" (Max 4) ···.· 
Financial outside FS 3 .83 
F inancial outside FS 3 .67 
Balance sheet 3 . 58  
Future-related 3 . 58  
Balance sheet 3 .50 
F inancial outside FS 3 . 5  
Overview 3 .42 
Cash flow statement 3 .42 
Cash flow statement 3.42 
Cash flow statement 3 .42 
Overview 3 .33  
Overview 3 .33  
Overview 3 .3 3  

Non-financial 3 .33 
F inancial outside FS 3 . 33  
Balance sheet 3 . 33  
Balance sheet 3 .33 
Future-related 3 . 33  
Overview 3 .25 
Non-financial 3 .25  
St. of  rev. and exp. 3 .25  
St. of  rev. and exp. 3 .25 
St. of rev. and exp. 3 .25 
St .  of rev. and exp. 3 .25  
Balance sheet 3 .25  
Balance sheet 3 .25  
Balance sheet 3 .2 5  
Balance sheet 3 .25 
Cash flow statement 3 .25  

Financial outside FS 3 .25  

Non-financial 3 . 1 7  
St. of rev. and exp. 3. 1 7  
Overview 1 3 . 1 7  
Overview 3 .08 
Overview 3 .08 

Overview 3 .08 
Non-financial 3 .08 
Non-financial 3 .08 
Non-financial 3 .08 

Non-financial 3 .08 
St . of rev. and exp. 3 .08 
Balance sheet 3 .08 
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Table 8. 7 Cont.. 
'• : Mean �.· 

Item ;:. Cate�ory ' ',' � (Max 4) 
Operational assets at market value Balance sheet 3 .08 
Assessment tax rates F inancial outside FS 1 3 .08 
Environmental management Overview 3 .00 
Output measures Non-financial 3 .00 
Impact measures Non-financial 3 .00 
Customer satisfaction measures Non-financial 3 .00 
Productivity measures Non-financial 3 .00 
Report on the use of government grants Non-financial 3 .00 
Expenditure classified by nature or function St. of rev. and exp. 3 .00 
Total excess/surplus St. of rev. and exp. 3 .00 
Infrastructure assets at cost Balance sheet 3 .00 
Infrastructure assets at market value Balance sheet 3 .00 
Area of administration Overview ' 3 .00 
Contracted-out service/activity Non-financial ' 3 .00 
Improvement programme of service delivery system Non-financial ' 3 .00 

. . Note. Categonsed earlier as additional 1tems. 

The items identified as being 'very important' comprise a broad range of information. 

Notably, the experts perceived that 'auditor 's reports ' was the most important 

information that should be disclosed, followed by the information about 'actual to 

budget comparison '. Six other 'financial ' items were also in the top ten, along with one 

.future-related information' item and one 'overview and operational ' item . The six 

'financial ' items in the top ten inc lude two 'balance sheet ' items, three 'cash flow 

statement ' items and one 'financial outside financial statements ' item . I tems of 

'statement of revenue and expenditure ' were only rated nineteenth equal. The h ighest 

score for 'non-financial performance' information was 'comparison between current 

and previous years achievement ' - being eleventh equal from the top. 

Overal l, the results are consistent w ith prior studies ( for  example, Nicholls & Ahmed, 

1 995 ;  Abu-Nassar & Rutherford, 1 996; Mirshekary & Saudargaran, 2005 ) which found 

that the auditor's report and financial  statements categories were rated by the users as 

the most important items. The results are also consistent with the findings of Lee (2008) 

who found that financial information was regarded as h ighly important. The experts 

were probably more concerned with financial information, especially items reported in 

financial statements and the auditor' s report, because in the Malaysian publ ic sector, the 

audits carried out by the auditor general are a lso mainly focused on financial 

management. Performance audits are sti l l  new and very selective in terms of the 

programmes or projects being audited (Buang, 2008). Another possible reason is that the 
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posi t ions and experience of most of these experts, within the areas o f  management, 

finance, accounting and auditing, involve financial decision-making, and that is why 

they are more concerned with financial management and the rel iab i l ity of financial 

statem ents. Financial statements have been found to be the most used source of 

informat ion for financial decision making by ' special ist' users (Yap, 1 997). Although 

there was sl ightly h igher concern for financial information items as evidenced by the 

higher mean scores of these items, the experts also agreed on the importance of 

disclosing non-financial information in annual reports. This concern is  consistent with a 

growing phenomenon internationally that high l ights the usefulness of  publ ic ly d isclosed 

performance information that includes non-financial information ( Brady, 2008). The 

experts' agreement on the i mportance of information items for disclosure indicates that 

financ ia l  statements constitute a central part of the annual report and confirms the 

importance of including financial information outs ide financial statements and also 

including non-financial information. 

The results imply that the experts' concern is to make local authorities and their 

activ it ies more transparent by providing sufficient information, both financial and non

financial in nature, that enables a broader group of stakeholders to fairly assess and 

monitor the perfonnance of local authorities. This  was evidenced w hen the experts 

agreed on all the information items that were in it ial ly evaluated by the broad group of 

stakeholders and when more information that was thought necessary to be disc losed by 

the l ocal authorities in their annual reports was added during the Delphi e xercise. 

A comparison between the experts' agreement/consensus on the information d isclosure 

importance and the perceptions of the broad stakeholder groups of the same issue shows 

d ifferences in mean scores. Based on the original seventy-one items35, the comparison 

by category of information items as reported in Table 8.8 shows that the expert panel 

perceived fifty-two of the seventy-one items (73%) as 'very important' and n ineteen 

items (27%) as 'quite important' .  On the other hand, only twenty-two items (3 1 %) were 

regarded as 'very important' by the broad group of stakeholders, forty-e ight items 

(68%) as 'quite important '  and one item ( I %) as of  'minor importance' .  In terms of 

level of importance by category, the perceptions of  the experts and the broad group of 

stakeholders on the 'statement of revenue and expenditure ' and 'future-related 

35 S ince the ten additional items were only ident ified during the Delphi exercise, the comparison 
could only be carried out on the seventy-one original items. 
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information ' categories were the same ( ' very important') .  For the other categories, the 

experts perceived that the items within  those categories were ' very important' but the 

broad group of stakeholders only considered them as being 'quite important' . 

Table 8.8: Comparison between the Experts' Agreement on and the Perceptions of 
the Broad Group of Stakeholders of the Disclosure Importance 

. ' Category -, }��- Expert Pan_el '\-. Broad Stakeholder Group 
V Q Means V Q M Means 

Overview and operational ( 1 5 )  9 6 3 .05 I 1 3  I 2.40 
Non-financial performance ( 1 4) 1 2  2 3.04 9 1 5  0 2.98 
F inancial: 
Statement of revenue and 8 0 3 . 1 5  8 0 0 3 . 1 2  
expenditure (8) 
Balance sheet (I 8) 1 2  6 3 . 1 1 0 1 8  0 2. 1 7  
Cash flow statement (4) 4 0 3 .38 0 4 0 2.29 
Financial information outside the 5 4 3 . 1 0  I 8 0 2.79 
financial statements (9) 
Future-related information ( 3 )  2 I 3 .25 3 0 0 3. 1 7  
All  items (71 )  52 19  3. 1 1  22 48 I 2.6 1 

Note: Level of Importance: 0 = un-Important; I =  mmor Importance (M); 2- qu1te Important (Q); 3=very 
important (V); 4=extremely important. None of the responses indicated · un- important' and 
'extremely important' . 

Overall ,  the mean scores of the experts for disclosure importance o f  each category and 

in aggregate are higher than those of the broad group of stakeholders. In the current 

research the experts' agreement on information and the importance of the information 

for d isclosure is used in the disclosure i ndex. As mentioned earl ier in this chapter, the 

purpose of the Delphi exercise is to reconcile the expectations of the broad stakeholder 

group on the information necessary for assessing and monitoring the performance of  

local authorities and their perceptions of  importance of the information for disclosure. 

The information was finalised when the Delphi panel members added any other i tems 

they thought important and indicated the importance weighting for those items. 

The broad stakeholder group, as reported in the previous chapter, consists of many 

stakeholder groups with d ifferent value structures and preferences. The large amount of  

individual variance in expectation makes i t  d ifficult to determi ne the required 

d isc losures (Renn, 2006) and therefore, the expectations and perceptions of the broad 

group of stakeholders need to be reconci led . This is done in the current research through 

the Delphi exercise, which involved a panel of experts. Within the framework of publ ic 

accountabil ity, the meeting of stakeholders' needs is an objective and therefore in  the 
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current research, the expectations of  stakeholders were incorporated into the process of  

the experts reaching consensus. A l l  i n formation items that were perceived relevant in 

assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities and the importance of  

each item for d isc losure were presented to  the expert panel during the Delphi exercise 

for consideration. In the next section, the finalisation of the disclosure index based on 

the experts ' agreement is discussed. 

8.4 FINALISATION OF THE DISCLOSURE INDEX 

The experts' agreement on the information that should be d isclosed and the information 

disclosure importance (represented by the disclosure importance mean scores agreed by 

the experts in the Delphi final round) was developed into an index. The quality criteria 

for particular items were then determined.  

Eighty items were arranged into four m ajor categories - 'Overview and Operational ', 

'Non-Financial Performance ', 'Financial ', and 'Future-Related Information '. The 

e ighty items include nine additional i tems identified during the Delph i exercise .  As 

discussed in Section 8 .3 .5, six addit ional items were appropriately class ified as 

'Overview and Operational ', two were c lassified as 'Non-Financial Performance ' and 

one was classified as 'Financial Information outside Financial Statements '. In respect 

of the item 'auditor general department 's rating of financial management ', although the 

rating system was not implemented in the years related to this research - 2003 to 2005 

(the rating system has only been introduced to local authorities in 2008), the item was 

included in the index for the benefit of future use of the index. However, th is item was 

al located ·nfa' to all the samples as it was not appl icable in the years relating to this  

research. 

Table 8 .9  shows the eighty information items establ ished in the Delphi exercise with 

their importance weightings. 
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Table 8.9: List of lnformation Items and their Importance Weightings 

\', Q / '"\; 
' " Imp!>,rta'nce • �< Weigbtings 

·' ' 
' _(0-4}_ 

Overview and Operational 
Statement of objectives 3.42 
Mayor's/president's report 3.33 
Organ isation structure 3.08 
Role and responsibil ity of council lors 2.83 
Area of administration 3.00 
Scope of authority of LA and other relevant agencies 2.92 
Internal control 3.25 
Environmental management 3.00 
Personnel 2.67 
Occupational health & safety 2.83 
Working environment 2.92 
Training programmes for staff 2.75 
Review of  operations 3.33 
Summary facts and figures 3.08 
Chal lenges in undertaking services/activities 2.92 
Factors that influenced the current status of performance achievement 3.08 
Auditor general department's rating of financial management 2.92 
Publ ic  complaints that have been resolved 3. 1 7  
Acknowledgement/award received from state and federal government 2.83 
Efforts in generating more revenue 3.33 
Activity/programme that involved commun ity participation 2.83 

Non-Financial Performance 
Goals and objectives of services/activities 3.08 
Non-financial performance targets 3.08 
Input measures 2.58 
Output measures 3.00 
Impact measures 3.00 
Efficiency measures 2.92 
Effectiveness measures 3.08 
Customer satisfaction measures 3.00 
Producti v i ty measures 3.00 
Comparison between actual and target achievement 3.25 
Comparison between current and previous year's achievement 3.33 
Report on the use of government grants 3.00 
Performance of contractors responsible for providing contracted services 3. 1 7  
Achievement of speci fic programmes as ordered by state/federal government 3.08 
Contracted-out service/activity 3.00 
Improvement programme of service delivery system 3.00 

Financial 
Statement of revenue and expenditure: 
Revenue according to activ ities or services rendered 3.25 
Revenue according to source of revenue 3.25 
Total revenue 3.25 
Gross expenditure according to service 3. 1 7  
Net expenditure according to service 3.08 
Expenditure classified by nature or function 3.00 
Total expenditure 3.25 
Total excess/surplus 3.00 

1 8 1  



Table 8.9 Cont.. 

\ �->· -��¥j,1',"�::' � ' ��;'· ,. lmpom�c� 
W�ightiitgs ,:,., 

f ' . ' , �{_64) . .. .,. <: ·.,., ·'l �'§;·· - . . 

Balance sheet: 
Operational assets at cost 3.08 
Operational assets at market val ue 3.08 
Non-operational assets at cost 2.83 
Non-operational assets at market value 2.83 
Community assets at cost 2.83 
Community assets at market value 2.92 
I nfrastructure assets at cost 3.00 
I nfrastructure assets at market value 3.00 
Total fixed assets 3.58 
Deferred charges 2.75 
Long-term i nvestments 3.33 
Long-term debtors 3.25 
Current assets 3.50 
Current l iabil ities 3.33 
Long-term borrowings 3.25 
Deferred l iabi l i ties 3.25 
Deferred credits - government grants 2.83 
Reserves 3.25 
Cash flows statement: 
Operati ng cash flows 3.42 
Investing cash flows 3.42 
Financing cash flows 3.42 
Year end cash and cash equivalents 3.25 
Financial information outside financial statements 
Auditor's report 3.83 
Financial review 3.33 
Accounting policies 3.50 
Revenue to number of staff 2.42 
Total asset to number of staff 2.33 
Revenue to cost of service 2.67 
Return on assets 2.92 
Actual to budget comparison 3.67 
I nformation about cost of service/activity 3.25 
Assessment tax rates 3.08 

Future-related information 
Future plans 3.58 
Future performance targets 3.33 
I nformation pertaining to future capital improvements 2.83 
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8.4.1 Determination of  Quality Criteria 

As discussed in Chapter S ix, all information items that formed the index were classified 

i nto two categories - e ither s ingle-information items or multiple- information items. This 

approach was fol lowed on the grounds that annual reports contain information items that 

may be either disclosed or not disclosed. Where no variable amounts of detail are 

i nvolved (for example, items of financial statements and financial ratios), such items 

come under the single-information item category. Other information items may be 

disclosed with variable amounts of deta i l  which may include narrative explanations and 

j ustifications and form a second, multiple- information item category. The detail of these 

i tems was rated based on the inclusion of their pre-determ ined qual i ty criteria. 

As mentioned in Chapter S ix, the qual ity criteria for the items were identified from 

various sources wh ich include prior studies, professional bodies ' publ ished 

recommendations and the related statutory guidel ines issued by the Malaysian 

government agencies. [n addition, some of the criteria were based on suggestions by the 

panel members during the Delphi exerc ise. Appendix N lists the items that were 

c lassified as multiple- information items, the criteria for assess ing the quality of the 

d i sc losures and the source of those criteria. Having determined the criteria, the ful l  

d i sc losure i ndex is  final ised and presented i n  Appendix 0 .  

8.5 CHAPTER SUMMARY 

This chapter reports the results obtained from the expert opinion-seeking exerc ise, the 

Delphi exercise. The results have answered two research quest ions, as outlined in the 

i ntroductory section, in relation to information items necessary for assessing and 

monitoring the performance of local authorities and the information disclosure 

importance that the experts agreed upon.  The experts confi rmed all seventy-one 

information items init ial ly identified by the broad group of stakeholders and agreed on 

n ine additional items. The experts considered both financial and non-financial aspects 

i mportant for disclosure but perceived financial information, especial ly the auditors' 

report and financial statement items, as the most important items. The information 

necessary for assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities that should 

be disc losed in annual reports of local authorities and the information disc losure 
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i mportance agreed by the experts was u sed in the development of  the disclosure index. 

The index was appl ied to the annual reports of local authorities in order to determine the 

extent and quality of information disclosure. The results of the analysis are reported in 

the fol lowing chapter. 
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CHAPTER NINE 

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION:  

EXTENT AND QUALITY OF PERFORMANCE REPORTING AND 

ACCOUNT ABILITY THROUGH REPORTING 

9. 1 INTRODUCTION 

Chapter S ix  d iscussed the annual report scoring process and Chapter Eight presented the 

disclosure index that was used in evaluating the contents of annual reports of Malaysian 

local authorities. This chapter reports and discusses the results obtained from an 

evaluation of the extent and qual ity of annual report disclosures of performance 

informat ion. The results reported and discussed in this chapter address the last three 

research questions. 

Research Question 6 
W hat is the extent and qual ity of disclosure of information within the annual 

reports of Malaysian local authorities? 

Research Question 7 
Does the information being d isclosed in the annual reports of local authorities 

m eet the expectations of stakeholders? 

Research Question 8 
To what extent is accountabi l ity being discharged through annual performance 

reporting of local authorit ies'? 

In  order to enable a deeper understanding of the resu lts, an overview of the scoring 

process and annual report samples are presented in Sections 9.2 and 9 .3  respectively. 

The results obtained from the content analysis of annual reports are reported in Section 

9.4.  Section 9.5 provides a d i scuss ion of the results which includes a d iscussion of the 

extent to which accountabi l ity is being discharged through local authority annual 

performance reporting. Section 9 .6  summarises the chapter. Figure 9 . 1 shows the 

position of this chapter in relation to the thesis. 
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Figure 9. 1 :  Thesis Structure: the Position of Chapter Nine 
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9.2 OVERVIEW OF THE SCORING PROCESS 

I n  the scoring process, each annual report was analysed and the information items that 

formed the index were scored. As discussed in Chapter Six, the items were divided into 

two categories - single-information items and m ultiple-information i tems ( items that 

contain pre-detenni ned qual ity criteria). If a single-infonnation item was disclosed, the 

score of ' l '  was a llocated and this was m u lt iplied by the disclosure importance 

weighting. Multiple- information items were scored on the basis o f  pre-detennined 

qua l ity criteria identified based on prior studies, professional bodies' published 

recommendations and statutory requirements for other publ ic sector entities used by 

Malaysian local authorities as guidel ines in accounting and reporting. The a llocated 

score was multipl ied by the importance weighting for that item (see Chapter S ix for the 

detai led scoring procedure). I f  the infonnation was not relevant to the particular local 

authority, an 'n/a' score was al located and the score was not inc luded in the calculation 

of the total possible score for that annual report. The entire annual report was read and 

evaluated to determine whether the particular index item was relevant to the local 

authority. 

Th i s  procedure was fol lowed for al l  local authority annual reports over the period 2003 -

2005 .  The researcher and another scorer independently analysed and scored a l l  of the 

annual reports. The result ing scores of each scorer were compared and each occurrence 

o f  disagreement was d i scussed. All discrepancies were resolved through the 

c lar ification of the criteria unti l  both parties were satisfied and a consensus was reached 

for each item. After a l l  of the individual rating worksheets had been completed, the 

scores were transferred to a master worksheet according to each local authority (with 

each a l located one row). Appendices P(i) and P( i i) provides examples of the qual ity 

cri teria assessment for two multiple-information items and Appendix P ( i i i )  presents the 

resu l ts of the scoring on a local authority annual report, showing item-by-item, category 

and the entire annual report's scores. 
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9.3 OVERVIEW OF THE ANNUAL REPORT SAMPLES 

A s  discussed in C hapter Six, initia l  contact with each of the th irty-eight c i ty and 

m unicipal counci ls  in Peninsular Malaysia involved in this research indicated that al l 

l ocal authorities, as required by the Local Government Act 1 976, annual ly prepare and 

p ubl ish financial reports. The publ ication of comprehensive annual reports that inc lude 

financial reports, serv ice reports and other information related to local authorities or the 

publ ication of stand-alone annual service reports (with other information regarding local 

authorities) is carried out on a voluntary basis  only. I t  was found that of the th irty-e ight 

l ocal authorities contacted, five ( 1 3  percent) had issued comprehensive annual reports 

(which consist of both financial and service reports combined), e ight (2 1 percent) had 

i ssued stand-alone annual service reports in addition to annual financial reports and 

twenty-five local authorities (66 percent) i ssued only annual financial reports over the 

period 2003 through 2005. The focus of the current research is with local authorities that 

publ ished financial and service performance reports. 

The thirteen local authorities that publ ished both financial and service performance 

reports were asked to provide copies of their reports for 2003, 2004 and 200536• 

However, not all of  them had publ ished both financial and service performance reports 

for the three consecutive years of the research (2003, 2004 and 2005). As shown in 

Table 9. 1 ,  of the th i rteen local authorities, one local authority (LA4) only began the 

p ubl ication of financial and service performance reports in 2005 (prior to 2005, only 

fi nancial reports were published). There was no publication of service reports (only 

financial reports) for two local authorities in  2003 (LA6 and LA 1 3) and one local 

authority in 2004 (LA3).  Another local authority (LA I 2) was not ready to distribute its 

2 005 financial and service performance reports. This left only ten annual reports (either 

c omprehensive annual reports or stand alone financial and service performance reports) 

ready for analysis  in 2003, eleven in 2004 and twelve in 2005. Therefore, this research 

involved case studies of the thirty-three annual reports over the three year period, 

comprising twelve annual reports of city counci ls  and twenty-one reports of mun icipal 

councils. This small  sample is not a representative sample of reporting throughout the 

population and l im its the abi l ity to general ise the findings. However, given that the aim 

o f  this research is to describe the practice of performance reporting within the annual 

36 Please refer to Section 6.2 .3 .2 of Chapter Six for the justi fications to the selection of the years 
2003, 2004 and 2005. 
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reports of Malays ian local authorities, the results from this sample are considered 

sufficient to provide insight into the reporting practices. 

Table 9. 1 :  Annual Report Samples by Year and Type of Local Authority, and 
Average Revenue and Total Assets of  Each Local Authority for the Period of 2003 
to 2005 

Loca� Type of Local ' ·" , Average Average ;;;/ Type of Report Published 
Authority Authority Revenue Total ASsets . ... 

2003-2005 · 2003-iZOOS .-· ·�2003 2004 2005 
(MYR) (MYR) 

.., , .. 

LA I City council 1 24 mi l l ion 1 6 1  mi l l ion FR + SR FR + SR FR + SR 
LA 2 Municipal counci l  33 mi l l ion 72 mil l ion FR + SR FR + SR FR + SR 

LA 3 Municipal counci l  2 1  mi l l ion 25 mil l ion FR + SR FR FR + SR 
LA 4 Municipal council 30 mi l l ion 68 mi l l ion FR FR FR + SR 

LA 5 Municipal council 1 43 mi l l ion 1 93 mi l l ion FR + SR FR + SR FR + SR 

LA 6 Municipal council 1 48 mi l l ion 285 mi l l ion FR FR + SR FR + SR 

LA 7 City council 168 mi l l ion 264 mil l ion FR + SR FR + SR FR + SR 

LA 8 City council 1 74 mi l l ion 392 mil l ion FR + SR FR + SR FR + SR 

LA 9 City council 105 mil l ion 1 75 mi l l ion FR + SR FR + SR FR + SR 

LA 10 Municipal council 2 1  mi l l ion 85  mi l l ion FR + SR FR + SR fR + SR 

LA 1 1  Munici�al l l  mi l l ion 1 8  mi l l ion FR + SR FR + SR FR + SR 
council 7 

LA 1 2  Municipal counci l  1 1 6 mi l l ion 25 1 mi l l ion FR + SR FR + SR . 

LA 1 3  Municipal council 62 mi l l ion 55  mil l ion F R  FR + SR FR + SR 
Total FR and SR published and received by  the researcher 
for content analysis 10 1 1  1 2  

Note: FR denotes annual financ1al reports and SR denotes annual serv1ce reports. 
LA 1 2  did prepare FR and SR in 2005 but the preparation for publication was not completed and 
therefore the reports were not ready for distribution at the time the reports were requested. 

As is also shown in Table 9. 1 ,  the samples comprise annual reports of city and 

municipal counci ls .  The average annual  revenue for a l l  c ity counci ls involved in the 

samples ranges from MYR I OO mi l l ion to MYR I 75 m i l l ion, while the average annual 

revenue for all municipal counci ls  involved ranges between MYR I O  mi l l ion and 

MYR I 50 m i l l ion. The city counci ls  a lso have a stronger position in terms of total assets 

than the mun icipal councils .  The average total assets position of the city counci ls  

ranges from MYR I 60 mi l lion to MYR395 mi l l ion, whereas the municipal counci ls  on 

average have total assets of MYR 1 8  m i l l ion to MYR285 mi l l ion during the three-year 

period. 

37 Prior to June 2008, to be classified as a municipal counci l ,  the annual revenue should be more 
than MYR5 mi l l ion. However, as at 3'd June 2008, this has been increased to MYR20 mi l l ion (source: the 
Ministry of Housing and Local Government, www.kpkt.gov.mv ). 
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9.4 EXTENT AND QUALITY OF DISCLOSURE 

Thi s  section presents the results of the analysis of the contents of annual reports. The 

analysis involved two types: ( i )  analysis of annual report final and category scores, and 

( i i) item-by-item analysis of scores. The scores indicate the extent and qual ity of 

disclosure in the annual reports of local authorities. 

The extent and quality of d isclosure was measured by applying a disclosure index of 

informat ion items and pre-determined quality criteria to disclosures in the local 

authorities' annual reports. The information items and the weighting for importance of 

each item were agreed by a Delphi  expert panel and these also act as proxies for the 

expectations of the broad stakeholder groups. The measure is classified as a weighted 

measure for extent and quality of d isclosure38• The scores are weighted to indicate their 

relative importance and were calculated as fol lows: 

Weighted Score Actual A l located Score x We ighting for Importance x I 00 

Maximum Possible Score x Weighting for Importance 

The fol lowing sub-sections report the annual report fi nal and category scores and the 

score of each item within each category. 

9.4. 1 Annual Report Final and Category Scores 

The results in Table 9.2 show that over the period 2003 to 2005, on average, the extent 

and qual ity of annual report is re latively low. The final score for the three-year period 

ranged between the lowest of 27 .0  percent to the h ighest of 45.3 percent and the mean 

score was only 36.5 percent. The mean of 36.5 percent and median score of 36.2 percent 

indicates that most local authorities did not ach ieve a h igh score over the three-year 

period. Across the three years, the extent and qual i ty scores of the majority of local 

authorities were on average between 35 percent and 45 percent. No local authority 

annual reports scored above 45 .3 percent. Despite the low score for the overa l l  extent 

and qual ity of annual reports in each of the three years, the results reported in Table 9.2 

38 This research used weighted measures in the analysis of the scores. The same analysis using un
weighted scores was also performed. L i ttle difference was found in the resulting means and standard 
deviations of both weighted and un-weighted scores (Weighted (2003-2005): mean = 36.5; median = 
36.2; Unweighted (2003-2005): mean =36.4; median = 36 .7) .  However, weighted scores indicate the 
relative importance of each disclosure item and are therefore used in the analysis of the results. 
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show incremental changes in the scores across the years. The mean score changed from 

3 5 . 0  percent in 2003 to 36 .7  percent in 2004, and 37 .5 percent in 2005.  

Table 9.2 : Annual Report Final and Category Scores (Normalised to 1 00) 

' >3i;i: · ... ,.:,"' 
• "<- '>< . .  

I :- �' 

Final Score: 
Mean 
Median 
H ighest 
Lowest 

... ,. 

Standard deviation 
Category Mean Score: 
Overview and operational (20 items) 
Non-financial performance ( 1 6  items) 
Financial : 

-Io<-

Statement of revenue and expenditure (9 items) 
Balance sheet ( 1 9  items) 
Cash flow statement (5 items) 
Financial information outside financial statements 
( I  0 items) 
F inancial-all sub-categories ( 43 items) 
Future-related information (3 items) 

Note: n denotes number of sampled annual reports 

�003-
2005 

_{n=33) 

36.5 
36.2 
45.3 
27.0 
4.94 

48.5 
16.6 

66.7 
39. 1 
98.8 
30.0 

46.0 
1 1 .5 

2003 . ' 
. ' 

(n=lO) 

35.0 
35.3 
4 1 .8 
27.0 
3 .76 

46.7 
1 4.6 

66.7 
38.2 
100 
30. 1 

46.2 
4.60 

2004 

(n=l l) 

36.7 
36 .5 
45 .3  
27 .0 
5 . 1 8  

48.2 
1 7.6 

66.7 
40. 1 
98 .2 
28 .8 

46.2 
1 2 .2 

2005 

(n=l 2) 

37.5 
3 8.2 
45.3 
27.0 
5 .66 

50.3 
1 7.4 

66.7 
38 .8  
98.3 
3 1 . 8 

46. 1 
1 6.6 

1 Excluding item 'Auditor general departmenl 's rating of financial management ' which was not 
applicable in the period of study and not evaluated. 

As shown in Table 9.2, a more detai led analys is  by index category highl ights the 

particular areas of change in mean scores across the three years that might be driving the 

change in the total annual report scores. The categories that show incremental changes 

in the mean score for extent and quality of d isc losure over the three years are 'overview 

and operational ', 'non-financial performance ' and future-related information '. 

Although there is  a re lative ly significant improvement in the extent and qual ity of 

reporting for the 'future-related information ' category from 2003 to 2004 ( 1 65 percent) 

and a 36 percent improvement in the qual ity from 2004 to 2005, th is  category is the 

weakest area of annual reporting with a mean score across the three years of only 1 1 .5  

percent. This contributes significantly to the low score for extent and qual ity of the 

entire annual reports and is due to the fact that only one annual report disclosed all of 

the three items in this category and a majority of the reports (22 out o f  33 reports) did 

not disc lose any of  the items. 
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The second lowest score across the three years is in the ' non-financial performance ' 

category w ith a mean score of 1 6.6 percent. I t  was found that, on average, fewer than 40 

percent of the total s ixteen items within this category were present in the annual reports 

and the degree of detai l  of the items d isclosed was relatively l imited. As reported in 

Table 9.2, the scores for extent and qual ity of disclosure for the 'overview and 

operational ' category across the three years were relatively h igh. This is because 60 to 

64 percent of the total evaluated items w ith in this category were disclosed. However, 

the detai l  of disclosure of items within this category was also l imited and can sti l l  be 

improved. 

The 'financial ' category in aggregate appears to be stable across the three years. The 

mean scores for 'cash flow statement ' and 'statement of revenue and expenditure ' 

remain h igh and constant across the period. While the mean score of 'balance sheet ' 

showed a small increase in 2004, with a s l ight decrease in  2005, the mean scores of  

'financial information outside financial statements ' sl ightly decreased in  2004 and then 

showed an increment in 2005. The 'cash flow statement ' category scored the highest 

with an average of 98 .8  percent across the three years. Over the period, the lowest score 

within the 'financial ' category is in the area of 'financial information outside financial 

statements ', with the mean score of 30 .0 .  This low score is due to non-disclosure of the 

majority of items within this category. Out of the ten items placed within th is category, 

most of the sampled annual reports during the period d isclosed only four i tems ( 40 

percent) . The disclosure of the relevant qual ity criteria for these items was also found to 

be l imited . This impl ies that a lot of i mprovement is needed in terms of the detail of 

disc losure of the majority of the items in  th is category. 

9.4.2 Item-by-Item Scores 

This section provides item-by-item scores for each category. Tables 9.3 through to 9.6 

present the mean score for extent and qual ity of disclosure of each information item 

within each category in 2003, 2004 and 2005. The tables also compare the mean score 

for extent and qual ity of disclosure of each item over the three-year period w ith its 

relative importance as agreed by the expert stakeholder panel .  Where there is a 

substantial difference between the actual and the expected level of disclosure, the 

presence of an ' information gap' is recognised, in that, what is expected and 

acknowledged as important by the experts is inconsistent with the actual level of 
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disclosure. For example (see Table 9 .3), an ' information gap' occurs for i tem 'statement 

of objectives ' as the expected level of disclosure is ' very important' and yet the actual 

level of d i sc losure for over the three years is of only ' minor importance' (based on its 

mean score of 1 . 82). Appendix Q provides the detai ls of item-by-item scores for each 

category which include the percentage of mean score to maximum score, the h ighest and 

lowest scores recorded and the average raw score. 

9.4.2. 1 Items within the 'Overview and Operational ' Category 

As shown in Table 9.3 (see also Appendix Q (i)), only three items with in  the 'overview 

and operational ' category met the panel ' s  disclosure expectations ( 'very important' or 

'qu ite i mportant') 'area of administration '  (in 2003 and 2005), 

'acknowledgement/award received from state and federal government ', 

'activity/programme that involved community participation '. 

The item with the highest mean score (2. 9 1 )  over the three-year period is 'area of 

administration '. This item was rated as 'very important' by the expert panel .  Al though 

the disclosure of this item over the three-year period and in 2004 was below the panel 's 

expectations, the disclosures in 2003 and 2005 met the expectations. More than 95 

percent of the total local authority annual reports over the period disclosed the item with 

a description of the area of administration with in  their localit ies. The items 

'occupational health and safety ' and 'role and responsibility of councillors ' were rated 

as 'quite i mportant' by the expert stakeholder panel and yet the mean score of  each of 

these items  indicates that no local authority d isclosed these items over the three-year 

period. 
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Ta ble 9.3 : Scores of Items w ith i n  the 'Overview and Operational ' Category 

Item Experts' Weighted Mean Score . '' Level ·or .: ';.,: ·�· ;· ,.'1 
Weighting for Importance1 

Importance ;o. ., i> \' ' ' / 
2003 2004 2005 2003-2005 I (n= lO) (n=l l) (n=l2) (n=33) 

Statement of objectives 3 .42 1 .98 1 .62 1 . 88 1 .82 Very important 
Mayor's/President's report 3 .33 0 .67 1 .45 1 . 1  I 1 .09 Very important 
Organisation structure 3 .08 2.34 2 . 1 8  2.05 2 . 1 8  Very important 
Role and responsibi l i ty of counci l lors 2 .83 0 0 0 0 Ouite important 
Area of administration 3 .00 3 .00 2 .73 3 .00 2 .9 1  Very important 
Scope of authority of LA and other relevant agencies 2.92 1 . 1 7  1 .06 0.73 0.97 Quite important 
I nternal control 3 .25 1 .73 1 .58  1 .36 1 .54 Very important 
Environmental management 3 .00 0.80 0.73 0.50 0.67 Very important 
Personne l 2.67 1 .42 1 .62 1 .93 1 .67 Quite important 
Occupational health & safety 2 .83 0 0 0 0 Quite important 
Working env ironment 2.92 1 .46 1 .42 1 .70 1 .53 Quite important 
Training programmes for staff 2 .75 0 .73 0 .83 1 .07 0.89 Ouite important 
Review of operations 3 . 33  2 . 1 1  2 .22 2.22 2 . 1 9  Very important 
Summary facts and figures 3 .08 1 .79 1 .79 1 .69 1 .75 Very important 
Chal lenges in undertaking services/act ivities 2 .92 0.58 0.80 0.73 0.7 1 Quite important 
Factors that in fluenced the current status of performance achievement 3 .08 0.3 1 0.84 1 .03 0.75 Very important I 
Auditor General Department's rating of financial management2 2 .92 n/a n/a n/a n/a Quite important 
Public complaints that have been reso lved 3 . 1 7  2.54 2 .3 1 2 . 1 1 2 .3 1 Very important I 
Acknowledgement/award received from State and Federal Governmene 2 .83 2 .83 2 .83 2 . 83 2.83 Quite important I 
Efforts in generating more revenue 3 . 33  1 .00 1 . 5 1  1 .94 1 .5 1  Very important I 
Activity/programme that i nvolved community participation 2 .83 2 .26 2 .32 2 .36 2 .32 Quite important 

Note: ' Level of importance as agreed by the expert panel (Very important = mean scores of 3 and between 3 .00 and 4.00; Quite important = mean scores of 2 and between 2 .00 
and 3 .00). The level of importance stated in italic i ndicates an information gap i .e. a gap between the allocated score and the level of importance of the items. 

2 This item was not applicable in the period of study and was not i ncluded in the evaluation. The item was included in the index for future application of the index. 
3 It was assumed that a local authority had disclosed the information if it received an acknowledgement or award in the particular year. l f the authority did not receive any 

acknowledgement or award, i t  was assumed that there was no disclosure of the item and thus the item was not applicable to the annual reports of the particular local 
authority, ' n/a' was al located and was excluded in the calculation of the maximum possible score. Over the three years, 1 3  annual reports were allocated ' n/a' for the 
item. 
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Weakness in disclosure a lso appeared in the areas of 'environmental management ' 

(0 .67), 'challenges in undertaking services/activities ' (0. 7 1  ), factors that influenced the 

current status of performance achievement ' (0 .75 ), 'training programmes for staff' 

(0 . 89) and 'scope of authority of local authority and other relevant agencies ' (0.97). 

These low scores are mainly due to non-disclosure o f these items. More than 60 percent 

of the annual reports of local authorities over the three-year period d id  not disclose these 

information items, although the expert panel rated these items as ' very i mportant' and 

'quite important' for disc losure. In  respect o f  'environmental management ', local 

authorities that d isclosed this information fai led to provide a description of the exact 

programme undertaken, although they expressed thei r  concern for environmental issues. 

W ith regards to the item 'training programme for staff', the maj ority of the annual 

reports that disclosed th is  item did not describe the outcomes of the programme 

although they did indicate the train ing programmes that had been carried out for a 

particu lar group of employees.  Only a few of the annual reports that d i sc losed this item 

also provided information on the output of  the programme such as the number of 

employees that had successfu l ly completed the t rain ing programme. 

Table 9.3 also shows the other disc losure items that also contributed to the low score for 

th is  category over the three-year period : 'statement of objectives ' ( 1 . 82), 

'mayor 's/president 's report ' ( 1 .09), 'internal control ' ( 1 .54 ), 'summary facts and 

figures ' ( I .  75), and 'efforts in generating more revenue ' ( 1 .5 1  ), despite the fact that the 

expert panel had rated these items as 'very i mportant' for disclosure. For 'statement of 

objectives ', although the majority of the annual reports (82 percent) d isc losed this item, 

d i scussion of involvement in establ ishing the goals and objectives  was not been 

included, the objectives were not reported in measurable dimensions and there was no 

reference to a particular t ime-frame. For 'internal control ', there was no description 

about the review of the internal control system implemented. l n  addition, for the 

majority of the sampled annual reports (73 percent) across the period, the 'summary 

facts and figures ' item was only reported by reference to service/act iv ity achievements 

for the current and previous year. The information about 'summary facts and figures ' 

was not reported in a separately titled section.  I n  the majority of  reports there was no 

d i scussion of trends and no use of i l lustration. For 'efforts in generating more revenue ', 

the item was perce ived as being ' very important' for disclosure and yet e ighteen annual 

reports (55 percent) over the three-year period d id  not disclose th is  item .  The disc losure 
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o f  other items - 'organisation structure ', 'personnel ', 'working environment ', 'review 

of operations ' and 'public complaints that have been resolved ' - was more adequate and 

near to the pane l ' s  expectations. 

9.4 .2.2 Items within the 'Non-Financial Performance ' Category 

As reported in Table 9 .2, the 'non-financial performance · information category 

appeared to be the second weakest area of report ing with a mean score of 1 6 .6 percent 

across the three-year period. The main factor causing this low category score is the non

d i sc losure of almost al l  performance measures. 

As shown in Table 9 .4 (see also Appendix Q ( i i)), although the expert panel regarded 

performance measures as ' very important' and ' quite important' for disc losure, only 

input and output measures were disclosed a lthough the scores were very low (0.83 for 

input measures and 0.96 for output measures over the three-year period). [n terms of 

qual ity criteria, on ly the basis for assessing the results for key services or activities was 

presented. Other qual ity criteria, such as an analysis of achievement of performance 

targets, a comparison between performance and objectives or some indication of 

benchmarking, were not included. 

The low category score over the three years a l so resulted from the low scores recorded 

for several other items - 'performance of contractors responsible for providing 

contracted services ' (0. 1 9), 'report on the use of government grants · (0.27), 

'comparison between actual and target achievement ' (0.66), and 'non-financial 

performance targets ' (0.75).  These items were rated by the expert panel as 'very 

i mportant' for disc losure. However, the majority of  the sampled annual reports (85 to 94 

percent) did not d isc lose these items and those that did, reported l im ited amounts of 

information. This was also the case for all other items in this category. 
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Table 9.4: Sco res of I tems within the 'Non-Financial Performance ' Category 

Item Experts' 
. Weighting for 

!� " Importance 

2003 
(n=lO) 

Goals and objectives of services/activities 3 .08 0.93 
Non-financial performance targets 3 .08 0.5 1 
I nput measures 2 .58 0.83 
Output measures 3 .00 0.90 
Impact measures 3 .00 0 
Efficiency measures 2 .92 0 
Effectiveness measures 3.08 0 
Customer satisfaction measures 3 .00 0 
Productivity measures 3 .00 0 
Comparison between actual and target achievement 3 .2 5  0.54 
Comparison between current and previous year's achievement 3 . 33  1 .67 
Report on the use of government grants 3 .00 0.30 
Performance of contractors responsible for providing contracted services 3 . 1 7  0.32 
Achievement of speci fie programmes as ordered by State/Federal 3 .08 0.92 
Government 
Contracted-out service/activity 3 .00 1 .50 
Improvement programme of service delivery system 3 .00 0.30 

Weighted Mean Score 
. ·' }:,>:;,. 

� -�- ' ., 

. 
2004 2005 

(n=l l) (n=l2) 
1 . 1 2  1 .37  
0.84 0.86 
0.84 0.82 
1 .09 0.90 

0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 

0.69 0.72 
2.02 1 .76 
0.27 0.25 
0.29 0 
1 .40 1 .28 

1 .09 1 .25  
0.82 1 .75 

·"" �- ;< • 

� ... 
·' ·�. 

., 

2003-2005 
(n=33) 

1 . 1 5  
0.75 
0.83 
0.96 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

0.66 
1 . 82 
0.27 
0. 1 9  
1 .2 1  

1 .27 
1 .00 

-Level of . : '"''' 
lmJi'ortancei:x:V •;: #.:'j 

-

' 

� ·- ' -��\(� 
. V �·:.: 

Very important 
Very important 
Quite important 
Very important 
Very important 

Quite important 
Very important 
Very important 
Very important 
Very important 
Very important 
Very important 
Very important 
Very important 

Very important 
Very important 

Note: ' Level of importance as agreed by the expert panel (Very important = mean scores of 3 and between 3 .00 and 4.00; Quite important = mean scores of 2 and between 
2 .00 and 3 .00). The level of importance stated in italic indicates an information gap i .e. a gap between the al located score and the level of importance of the items. 
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9.4.2.3 I tems within the 'Financial '  Category 

Two financial areas that impacted positively on the 'financial ' category score of 46.2 

percent throughout 2003 and 2005 (see Table 9.2) are the 'cash flow statement ' and 

'statement of revenue and expenditure ' items. A l l  'cash flow statement ' items were 

disclosed (except for one annual report each in 2004 and 2005 which did not d isc lose 

the financing cash flows ' item) and a previous year comparison for the statement was 

provided. Over the three-year period, al l  items withi n  the 'statement of revenue and 

expenditure ' category were wel l  d i sc losed except for the items 'revenue according to 

activities/services rendered ', 'gross expenditure according to service ' and 'net 

expenditure according to service ', which were not disclosed at al l  in any of the annual 

reports over the period. 

Table 9 .2 shows that the two areas within the 'financial ' category which had a negative 

impact on the category's  score for extent and qual i ty of disclosure were financial 

iriformation outside financial statements ' (the category score of 30.0 percent) and 

'balance sheet ' (the category score of  39. 1 percent). 

As  shown in Table 9.5 (see also Appendix Q ( i i i)), the main factor contributing to the 

weakness in the financial iriformation outside financial statements ' sub-category was 

the non-disc losure of financial ratios of the local authorities over the three-year period. 

As the expert panel considered d isclosure of the ratios - 'revenue to number of staff', 

'total asset to number of staff', 'revenue to cost of service ' and 'return on assets ' - as 

'quite important', expectations are not being met with respect to the disc losure of these 

information items. 



Table 9.5: S f l  'thin the 'P/ . I' Cat 
Item Experts' Weighted Mean Score Level of 

,. . . - Weighting for Imp?rtance1 
:£'· ... 

" Importance ;�,.; 
'r ,. ' 

2003 2004 2005 2003-2005 
{n=lO) (n=l l) (n=12) (n=33) 

Statement of Revenue and Expenditure: 3 . 1 6  3 . 1 6  3 . 1 6  3 . 1 6  3 . 1 6  Very important 
Revenue according to activities or services rendered 3 .25 0 0 0 0 Very important 
Revenue according to source of revenue 3 .25 3 .25 3 .25 3.25 3.25 Very important 
Total revenue 3 .25 3 .25 3 .25 3 .25 3 .25 Very important 
Gross expenditure according to service 3 . 1 7  0 0 0 0 Very important 
Net expenditure according to service 3 .08 0 0 0 0 Very important 
Expenditure classified by nature or function 3 .00 3 .00 3 .00 3 .00 3 .00 Very important 
Total expenditure 3 .25 3 .25 3 .25 3 .25 3 .25 Very important 
Total excess/surplus 3 .00 3 .00 3 .00 3 .00 3 .00 Very important 
Balance Sheet: 3 . 1 1 3 . 1 1  3 . 1 1 3 . 1 1 3 . 1 1 Very important 
Operational assets at cost 3 .08 0 0 0 0 Very important 
Operational assets at market value 3 .08 0 0 0 0 Very important 
Non-operational assets at cost 2 .83 0 0 0 0 Quite important 
Non-operational assets at market value 2.83 0 0 0 0 Quite important 
Community assets at cost 2 .83 0 0 0 0 Quite important 
Community assets at market value 2 .92 0 0 0 0 Quite important 
Infrastructure assets at cost 3 .00 0 0 0 0 Very important 
Infrastructure assets at market value 3 .00 0 0 0 0 Very important 
Total lixed assets 3 .58 3 .58 3 .58 3 .58 3.58 Very important 
Deferred charges 2.75 1 . 1 0 1 .25 0.92 1 .08 Quite important 
Long-term investments 3 .33 0.67 0.9 1 0.83 0.8 1 Very important 
Long-term debtors 3.25 0.65 0.59 0.54 0.59 Very important 
Current assets 3 .50 3 .50 3.50 3.50 3 .50 Very important 
Current l iabi l ities 3 .33  3 .33  3 . 33  3 . 33  3 . 33  Very important 

Note: ' Level of importance as agreed by the expert panel (Very important = mean scores of 3 and between 3 .00 and 4.00; Quite important = mean scores of 2 and between 
2.00 and 3 .00). The level of importance stated in italic indicates an information gap i .e. a gap between the allocated score and the level of importance of the items. 
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Table 9.5 Cont.. 
Item 

!,-N�-�- � 

Long-term borrowings 
Deferred l iabil it ies 
Deferred credits - government grants 
Reserves 
Cash Flows Statement: 
Operating cash flows 
Invest ing cash !lows 
Financing cash flows 
Year end cash and cash equivalents 
Financial Information Outside Financial Statements: 
Auditor's report 
F inancial review 
Accounting Pol icies 
Revenue to number of staff 
Total asset to number of staff 
Revenue to cost of service 
Return on assets 
Actual to budget comparison 
Information about cost of service/activity 
Assessmt:nt tax rates 

' 

Experts' 
Weighting for 

�mportance_ 

}.25 
3 .25  
2.83 
3 .25 
3 .38 
3 .42 
3 .42 
3 .42 
3 .25  

3 .83 
3 .33  
3 .50 
2.42 
2.33 
2.67 
2 .92 
3 .67 
3 .25 
3 .08 

2003 
(n=l O) 

1 .63 
0.33 
1 .42 
3 .25 
3 .38 
3 .42 
3 .42 
3 .42 
3.25 

3 .83 
1 . 1 3  
3 .50 

0 
0 
0 
0 

0.74 
1 . 1 9  
0. 1 0  

Weighted Mean Score 

2004 
(n=l l) 

2 .07 
0.30 
1 .80 
3.25 
3 .38  
3 .42 
3.42 
3 . 1 1 
3 .25 

3 . 83 
1 .09 
3.50 

0 
0 
0 
0 

0.67 
0.98 
0.09 

""' �. 1 �� 

2005 
(n=l 2) 

1 .90 
0.27 
1 .65 
3.25 
3 . 38  
3 .42 
3 .42 
3 . 1 4  
3 .25 

3 .83 
1 .06 
3 . 50 

0 
0 
0 
0 

0.82 
1 . 1 7  
0. 1 7  

2003-2005 
(n=33) 

1 .87 
0.30 
1 .63 
3 .25 
3.38 
3.42 
3.42 
3 .2 1  
3 .25  

3 .83 
1 .09 
3 .50 

0 
0 
0 
0 

0.74 
1 . 1 2  
0. 1 2  

. ,,,·Level of '' 
Iinportance1 

•. 
'it' �\ 

..,.:5 t-:' ·;.:M>": )" ' " _ ·_w:." #f,''ti.- ';!�1";4.,� 

Very important 
Very important 

Quite important 
Very important 
Very important 
Very important 
Very important 
Very important 
Very important 

Very important 
Very important 
Very important 

Quite important 
Quite important 
Quite important 
Quite important 
Very important 
Very important 
Very important 

Note: ' Level of importance as agreed by the expert panel (Very important = mean scores of 3 and between 3 .00 and 4.00; Quite important = mean scores of 2 and betwet:n 
2 .00 and 3 .00). The level of importance stated in ital ic  i nd icates an information gap i .e. a gap between the allocated score and the level of importance of the items. 
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The weakness in the 'financial information outside financial statements ' sub-category 

can a lso be also associated w ith the very low mean scores over the three-year period for 

informat ion on 'assessment tax rates ' (0. 1 2) and 'actual to budget comparison ' (0. 74) .  

A l though the expert panel regarded these items as 'very important' for d isc losure, the 

majority of sampled annual reports over the period gave no information at a l l  regarding 

these items (88 percent of the total annual reports for 'assessment taxes/rates ' and 70 

percent for 'actual to budget comparison ). With regards to qual ity criteria, the majority 

of the sampled annual reports that disclosed 'assessment taxes/rates ' only reported the 

rates according to type of property. No comparison with the previous year's rates was 

made and no explanation for the decrease or increase of the rates was g iven. However, 

as shown in Table 9 .5, two items - 'auditor 's report ' and 'accounting policies ' - which 

were regarded by the expert panel as 'very i mportant' for disclosure, were wel l  

disclosed. 

In respect of 'balance sheet ' items, the weakness can mainly be attr ibuted to the non

d isc losure of the breakdown of fixed assets into operational, non-operat ional, 

community and infrastructure assets at cost and market value. Al l  sampled annual 

reports d isclosed only 'total fixed assets ' in the balance sheet statement and gave detai ls 

of  the d isclosed item in  the notes to the accounts by showing the breakdown of fixed 

assets into 'property, plant and equipment ' which is similar to the d i sclosure of fixed 

assets in the annual reports of Malaysian private companies and statutory bodies. 

9.4.2.4 Items within the 'Future-Related Information ' Category 

As reported earl ier in  Table 9 .2, the weakest area o f  reporting was in the future-related 

information ' category with a score for extent and quality of on ly 1 1 .5 percent 

throughout 2003 to 2005. This was a resu lt o f  low scores for all three items in this 

category (see Table 9.6 and Appendix Q (iv)). As shown in Table 9.6, except for the 

mean score for 'future p lans' in 2005, the mean score of each of the i tems in each year 

i s  below 1 .0. Although the expert panel regarded the items as 'very i m portant' or 'quite 

i mportant' for disclosure, the majority of the sam pled annual reports (more than 75 

percent) did not disc lose information on any of the future-related information ' items. 

However, those that d id d isclose provided detai led information. The next section 

focuses on the disc losures of the highest and lowest scoring entities. 
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Table 9.6: Scores of Items within the 'Future-Related Information ' Category 
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9.4.3 The Highest and Lowest Score for Extent and Quality of Disclosure 

The highest scoring annual report over 2003 to 2005 was the annual report of a 

municipal counci l, with a final score of 45.3 percent in 2004 and 2005. The council 's 

annual reports received a ful l  score of I 00 percent for the 'cash flow statement ' 

category. The 'statement of revenue and expenditure ', 'overview and operational ' and 

'financial information outside financial statement ' categories were also wel l  reported 

w ith scores of  6 7  percent for the former and 63 percent for each of the latter categories. 

A l l  of the n ine 'financial information outside financial statement ' items, except for three 

i tems related to the revenue and expenditure according to service, were disc losed. A 

total of fifteen out of twenty evaluated items within the 'overview and operational ' 

category were d isc losed, six of which received maximum scores for each item and a 

further nine i te ms of which recei ved more than 60 percent of  the maximum score. The 

i tems related to 'role and responsibility of councillors ' and 'occupational health and 

safety ' were not disclosed, however these items were not d isc losed in any of the other 

l ocal authorities' annual reports. The items, 'challenges in undertaking 

services/activities ', 'factors that irifluenced the current status of performance 

achievement ' and 'training programmes for staff', which were considered as ' very 

important' and 'quite important' by the expert panel were not disc losed. 

The score recei ved by the above mun icipal council for the 'financial information outside 

financial statement ' category was the highest among the scores allocated to annual 

reports of the other local authorities over the period. A total of six out of ten i tems 

within this category were d isclosed. An 'auditor 's report ' was included and the 

'accounting policies ' employed were described. In respect of 'financial review ', 'actual 

to budget comparison ', 'information about cost of service/activity ' and 'assessment tax 

rates ', all of the qual ity criteria o f  each of these items were provided except the criteria 

that required explanations to be made - 'explanation of financial trends ', 'explanation 

of significant differences between actual and budget revenues and expenditures ', and 

'explanation of decrease or increase of assessment tax rates '. Four items related to 

financial ratios were not disclosed, although they were considered as 'quite i mportant' 

for d isclosure by the expert panel .  However, these items were not disclosed in any o f  the 

other annual reports over the three year period. 
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Whi le the above three categories were well reported in the municipal counci l 's annual 

report for 2005, the disclosure of 'non-financial performance ' ( 1 7  percent) and 'balance 

sheet ' (34 percent) are considered as poorly reported and in need of i mprovement. A 

total o f  e leven out of sixteen i tems within the 'non-financial performance ' category 

were not d isclosed although each was regarded as ' very important' for d i sclosure by the 

expert panel .  The undisclosed items were related to performance targets, performance 

measu res, the use of government grants, the performance of contractors, ach ievement of 

program mes ordered by the government and improvement of service del ivery. The 

i tems that were disclosed but lacked detai led information were 'goals and objectives of 

services/activities ·. 'input and output measures ', 'comparison between actual and target 

achievement ' and 'comparison between current and previous year 's achievement '. 

S imi lar  to the other annual reports over the period, no disc losure of  spec ific types of 

fi xed asset was made under the 'balance sheet ' category in the mun icipal council 's 

annual report for 2005 . 

The future-related information ' items were regarded as being 'very important' and 

'quite important' for d isclosure by the expert panel .  However, neither of these levels of 

i mportance was reflected by the actual disclosure in the municipal counci l ' s  report. 

The council  gave no information at al l  for this category. 

The lowest scoring annual report was that of a city counc i l .  This counci l  scored only 27 

percent for its annual report in each of the three years, indicating no change in the extent 

and q ual ity of disclosure over the period. Only two categories, 'cash flow statement ' and 

'statement of revenue and expenditure ', were we l l  reported, receiving scores of I 00 

percent and 67 percent respectively. Similar to most of the sampled annual reports, all 

items within the future-related information ' category remained undisc losed in the city 

counc i l  annual reports over the three-year period.  The other four categories, the 

'overview and operational ', 'non-financial performance ', 'balance sheet ' and financial 

information outside financial statements ', were poorly reported. In respect of the 

'overview and operational ', 'non-financial performance ' and financial information 

outside financial statements ' categories, each scored below the category ' s  overall 

average score over the three-year period. While m ost of the annual reports over the 

period received a score of more than 1 5  percent for the 'non-financial performance ' 

category and more than 40 percent for the 'overview and operational ' category, the 

counci l  received the lowest score of 6 percent for the 'non-financial performance ' 
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category. The 'finpncial information outside financial statements ' and 'overview and 

operational ' categories scored only 28  percent and 3 1  percent respectively. Only three 

out o f  sixteen items w ithin the 'non-financial performance ' category and half of the 

total i tems within the 'overview and operational ' category were d isclosed although al l  

i tems in both categories were regarded by the expert panel as ' very important' and 

'quite important' for d i sc losure. Unl ike the other local authorities, no d i sclosure of the 

'statement of objectives ' was made with in  the 'overview and operational ' category in 

the a nnual reports of the city counci l  over the three year period. These low scores 

h igh l ight the city counci l ' s  weakness in the disclosure in these areas as compared to the 

other local authorities. 

The population of the m unicipal counci l  that received the highest final annual report 

score for the extent and quality of disclosure was 1 39,00039 and the revenue was 

MYR40 mil l ion in 2005 . In the same year, the city counci l  that received the lowest final 

score for extent and qual ity of disclosure had a revenue of M Y R 1 24 mi l l ion with a 

population of 750,000. 

As d iscussed in Chapter Two, a city counc il is larger than a municipal council in terms 

of its population and annual revenue. Previous studies have recognised that size (either 

represented by number of population or revenue) is positively related to the level of 

d isc losure (for example, Buzby, 1 975 ;  Ryan et al, 2002b; Taylor & Rosair, 2000; 

S inghvi & Desai, 1 975) .  However, in the current research, the h ighest d isclosure score 

over the three year period was that of a smaller local authority and the lowest score was 

that o f  a larger local authority. In fact, the average final annual report score for extent 

and q uality of disclosure of all the annual reports of municipal counc i ls over the three

year period is sl ightly h igher (37.8 percent) than the average score of all city counci l  

annual reports (34.3 percent). Table 9.  7 presents the annual report score of each 

municipal and city council and shows that the average score of a l l  municipal counci ls  in 

each of the three years is h igher than that of city councils across the same period. 

However, the test of s ignificant difference detected no significant d ifference in mean 

score between annual reports of municipal and city councils (t = 1 .932 ;  p = 0.063)40 

39 
Prior to June 2008, to be classified as a municipal council, the population should be more than 

I 00,000. However, as at 3'd June 2008, this has been increased to more than 1 50,000 (source: the 
Ministry of Housing and Local Government, www.kpkt.£ov.my ) 
40 Given the smal l  sample size over the three year period (2 1  annual reports of municipal counci ls 
and 1 2  annual repo1ts of city councils), the results are acknowledged as being l im i ted in the conclusions 
that can be drawn. 
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indicating that s ize of local authority i n  terms of annual revenue and population could 

not be associated with the local authority annual report score for extent and q ual ity of 

d i sc losure. 

Table 9.7: Annual Report Score of Each Local Authority in 2003, 2004 and 2005 

Local . Typl} iJf Local}:>;;, � .. , ., ,,i�nn�al �eport Final 8_core""J..:;! 
Authority Autliority • f:"' · � 

2003 2004 't,, .... . ' .2005 . " """'-• ,,. -,._,�·,, " 

LA I City council 3 5 .4 3 1 .4 32.6 
LA 7 Ci ty council 3 7.7 38 .4 39.5 
LA 8 Ci ty council 35 .2  36.5 44.2 
LA 9 City council 27.0 27.0 27.0 

A veraf(e{inal score of city council 33.8 33.3 35. 8 
LA 2 Municipal council 4 1 .8  45 .3  45.3 
LA 3 M unicipal counci l  33 . 1 n/a 35. 1 
LA 4 Municipal council n/a n/a 30.9 
LA 5 Municipal council 36.2 36.9 4 1 .3 
LA 6 Municipal counci l  n/a 36.9 36.9 
LA 10  Municipal counci l  36 .2 36.2 39.9 
LA 1 1  Municipal counci l  34.4 34.4 34.4 
LA 1 2  Municipal counci l  35 . 5  36.2 n/a 
LA 1 3  Municipal counci l  n/a 44.7 42.8 
Average final score of municipal 
council 36.2 38. 7 38.3 

9.5 DISCUSSION 

Overall, the resu lts showed that the local authority annual reports from 2003 to 2005 

provided inadequate disclosure for accountabil ity purposes. A lthough there was a s l ight 

incremental change across the three years, the final scores during the period, from 27.0 

percent to 45 .3  percent, indicate that the reports were not comprehensive (were lacking 

in detai ls of  disclosure) and did not ful ly meet the expectations of stakeholders4 1 • 

Accordingly, the disc losure of the reports was of limited extent and poor qual ity. 

The extent and qual ity of financial i nformation disclosure was found to be better than 

that of non-financial information, with the strongest results being the items in the 

financial statements. The non-disclosure of detai led information regarding 'revenue and 

expenditure according to services provided ' and detai led c lassification of fixed assets 

occurred because the financial statements were prepared by the local authorities with 

4 1  
Given the experts' expectations were identified in  2007, whereas the  annual reports that were 

used in content analysis were those of 2003 -2005, the conclusions drawn from the comparison between 
the di sclosure expectations and the actual level of disclosure are limited. 
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reference to the F inancial Reporting Standards (FRS) o f  Malaysia, which are w idely 

appl ied by the local authorities as guide l ines in the preparation and presentation of  their 

annual reports42 . The FRS only requires revenue and expenditure to be disclosed 

according to their sources. I n  regards to fixed assets, the FRS requires a d isclosure of  

fixed assets that are classified into ' property, plant and equipment ' .  This impl ies that the 

extent of d isclosure of revenue, expenditure and fixed assets in 2003, 2004 and 2005 

was ' sufficient' in  terms of  official requi rements. Detai led information about the 

revenue and expenditure d isc losed in accordance with their sources and c lassification of  

fixed assets i nto various types such as community, infrastructure and operational assets 

is included in the d isclosure index. I n  this research, Malaysian local authorities are 

suggested to d i sc lose detai led financial information including information about revenue 

and expenditure and fixed assets as recommended by the C IPF A Code of Practice on 

Local Authority Accounting in the Uni ted Kingdom. This is because, the disc losure of 

financial information as recommended by the code has been recognised as meeting the 

standards of ' proper accounting practice' and achieving the financial accountabi l ity of 

local authorities (Coombs & Tayib, 2000). 

Within the context of local government (or local authorities, with regards to the current 

research), the superior disclosure of financial information compared with non-financial 

information is consistent with the findings of Ryan et a l . ' s  (2002b) study on the 

Queensland local government and Tooley & Guthrie's 2007 study of the New Zealand 

school sector. But whereas Ryan et al .  (2002b) found a weakness in the disc losure of 

financial ratios, the current research found absolute ly no disclosure of financial 

indicators such as financial ratios. This was consistent with the findings of Steccol in i  

(2004) for I ta l ian local governments. Other financial information that d id not meet the 

level of d isc losure expected by the expert panel is that of 'actual to budget comparison '. 

This finding contradicts the results of Ryan et al. (2002b) who found strong disclosure 

of the item. Unl ike in Malaysia, there has been legislation put in place in Queensland 

that requires the item to be reported. This, according to Ryan et al . (2002b ), probably 

contributed to the strong disc losure of the item. 

Further, the results are consistent with Ryan et al . (2002b ), Steccol ini (2004) and Lee 

(2008), who all found that the disclosure of non-financial information, including the 

42 
The FRS along with the Treasury Department's circular issued for statutory bodies are used as 

accounting and reporting guidel ines as no statutory regulation or standard has been issued spec ifical ly  for 
local authorities (Othman, 200 I ). 
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disclosure of service performance information, was weak. Categories that need the most 

attention and improvement in relation to disclosure are the categories o f  'future-related 

information ' and 'non-financial performance '. The e xperts perceived the 'future-related 

information ' items as being ' very important' and ' qu ite important' (scales of 4 and 3 

respectively) but all of  the items within this category scored below I point across the 

three years. This significant gap needs to be addressed since, as Farneti and Bestebreur 

(2004) emphasised, the external reporting of information about future intentions along 

with information about current responsibil ities is essential in enabling stakeholders to 

engage i n  the ongoing monitoring and evaluation o f  goals. Thus, the information needs 

to be communicated to stakeholders in order to ensure effective rendering of 

accountabi l ity. 

With in  the 'non-financial performance ' category, the weak disclosure of performance 

measures, especially measures related to efficiency and effectiveness was consistent 

with a number of previous studies (for example, Boyne & Law, 1 99 1 ;  Lee, 2008; 

Mucciarone & Neilson, 2006; N ichol & Taylor, 200 l ) .  In addition to efficiency and 

effectiveness measures, N ichol and Taylor (200 l )  examined disclosure of other 

performance measures - inputs, outputs, results, and economy - in the annual accounts 

of the Malaysian government and its ministries and other se lected publ ic sector entit ies 

for the 1 985 to 1 995  period. Overall ,  the study concluded that the d isclosure of 

performance measures over the period of the study was seriously lacking. The current 

research extends the analysis to additional performance measures - customer satisfaction 

and productivity measures .  The results of the research imply that unt i l  2005, there was 

no significant improvement in the disc losure of performance measures, at least in the 

case o f  local authorities. This  suggests that the d isc losure of performance measures 

other than input and output measures should be given serious attention by local 

authorities, as this information is usefu l  for accountabi l ity purposes (Boyne et al . , 2002). 

In  addition to performance measures, the disclosure of other informat ion items in the 

'non-financial performance ' category, such as information related to objectives of 

services, performance targets and achievement, a l so needs serious attention. This 

information is  important for the discharge of wider accountability. McCandless ( 1 993) 

argued that the information about objectives that speci fies  what outputs and outcomes a 

public sector entity intends to achieve was the primary requirement for managerial 

accountabi l ity reporting as the information clarifies the management's d i rection and acts 
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as a basis from which to hold management accountable. McCandless also suggested that 

the d i sc losure of performance achievement with reference to objectives and targets was 

important for the discharge of managerial accountabi l ity. The non-financial performance 

informat ion that relates to targets and level of achievement reflects a publ ic sector 

entity ' s  service performance information and the reporting of th is i nformation is a 

product of  performance-based accountabi l ity (Wei et al . ,  2008). The weak disc losure of 

non-financial information, and especial ly information related to service performance, 

probably occurred because, to date, performance audits conducted by the National Audit 

Department have not comprehensively covered a l l  services or programmes of publ ic 

sector entities. The performance audits are very se lective, focusing only on h igh impact 

programmes and projects (Buang, 2008). 

Despite the recognition of the importance to stakeholders of a narrative role of annual 

reports ( Flack & Ryan, 2004; Lee, 2008), the disclosure of non-financial and narrative

type information, such as overviews about environmental management, internal 

controls, employee wel l -being, challenges and factors that influenced overal l 

performance, is currently inadequate (the non-financial and narrati ve-type information 

in the research can be seen as being with in the category of 'overview and operational ', 

'non-financial performance ', and future-related information '). The I i m  ited disclosure 

relating to aspects of employee wel l-being and internal controls is consistent with the 

findings of Ryan et al .  (2002b). However, the weak disclosure of 'environmental 

management ' is inconsistent with the results of Ryan et al. (2002b) which indicated that 

the disc losure of this i tem was one of the strong d isc losures. This area should also be 

given serious attention as the role of local government/authority management in 

environmental activities such as waste management is  s ignificant (Ryan, et al. 2002b) 

and the impact of such act iv ities on the community' s  quality of l iv ing needs to be 

addressed by local authorities. The reporting of such information can further strengthen 

the wider accountabi l ity function (ACCA, 2006). I n  Malaysia, environmental issues are 

receiv ing more attention  from higher authorities. Environmental audits on  the activ ities 

or programmes of publ ic sector entities, including local authorities, have been carried 

out by the National Audit Department (Buang, 2008) which covers aspects of waste 

disposal, management of eco-tourism and recreational projects and forest management. 

From the analysis of local authority annual reports, it was found however, that there are 

local authorities that have set up a specific department to monitor the environmental 

activities in their local i ty and to ensure any acti vities/programmes of the authorities 
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comply with the Environmental Quality Act and are consistent with the Environmental 

Management Guidel ines issued by the National Audit Department. This indicates that 

concern for the environment is increasing and, therefore, it is expected that d isclosures 

on environmental information wi l l  improve in the future. 

Information about 'internal control ' which includes internal audits and risk management 

(along with organisation structure) has been recognised as a key component that 

constitutes local government accountabi l ity (CI PF A, 2000; McCandless, 1 993;  Ryan & 
Ng, 2000). Although it d id not meet the experts' expectations, the level of d isclosure of 

'organisation structure ' in the local authority annual reports was better than that of 

'internal control ' information. The disclosure o f  the quality of a publ ic sector entity' s  

i nternal control can be related to  compl iance reporting (McCandless, 1 993) .  Therefore, 

the weak disclosure of i nternal control information may have an impact on fiduciary or 

financial accountabi l ity. 

As mentioned in Chapter F ive, the publ ic accountabil ity framework adopted for this 

research is based on the premise that more comprehensive information that extends the 

scope of disclosure trad itionally reported in fi nancial statements should be reported for 

the d ischarge of wider accountabil ity. This  i nc ludes both financial and non-financial 

i n formation about condit ions, performance and service (Coy & Dixon, 2004; Tooley & 
G uthrie, 2007). The appropriate medium for the discharge of wider accountabi l ity to a 

broad range of stakeholders is annual reports (Coy et al. 200 l ). The reporting of 

i n formation that meets speci fic information needs is associated with the concept of the 

' account' ,  which is an essent ial element of performance accountabi l ity (Lee, 2008). In 

addition, within the publ ic accountabi l ity approach to annual reporting, this research 

recognises the informat ion expectations of a broad range of stakeholders. According to 

Coy et al .  (200 I), annual reports are of great value if  they provide a range of 

information which "enables a l l  stakeholders to obtain a comprehensive understanding of 

[an entity's] objectives and performance in financial and non-financial terms" (p. l 4). 

Nevertheless, the results of the research have shown the scores for extent and qual ity of  

most information categories and the entire reports are relatively low. 

The results have also shown that the majority of the information items have not been 

adequately disclosed. A lthough the expert panel  regarded all the eighty-two evaluated 

i tems as 'very important' and 'quite important' for disclosure, twenty-two items (27 
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percent) were not disclosed in all annual reports over the period. The items that were 

disc losed lacked detai led information. Over the three-year period, only a total of twenty 

items met the expert panel 's  disclosure expectations. For the remaining disc losed items, 

there is  a substantial information gap between what is expected for d isclosure in local 

authority annual reports and its actual d i sc losure level. Disclosure levels  in an entity' s 

annual reports indicate the entity's general level of accountabil ity (Lang & Lundholm, 

1 993) and the extent to which accountabi l ity is discharged through reporting can be 

determined by comparing the stakeholder expectations and the contents of the reports 

(F lack & Ryan, 2004; Hooks et al., 2002b; Kluvers, 200 1 ). Given a substantial 

information gap between the actual level of disc losure in the annual reports of local 

authorities and the experts' expectations (also representative of the expectations of the 

broad group of stakeholders), the accountabi l i ty of the local authorities being discharged 

through the local authority annual reporting is considered to be l imited and 

compromised (Kiuvers, 200 I). 

The superior disc losure of financial statement items compared to non-financial 

information items, especial ly those related to service performance, indicates that 

financial accountabi l ity is emphasised more than performance accountabil ity of service. 

The large gap between expected and actual disclosure of service performance 

information suggests that the discharge of performance accountabi l i ty of the serv ices 

provided is  sti l l  l im ited, which may undermine the overall accountabi l i ty of local 

authorities. 

The results also indicate the score for extent and qual ity of disclosure of a smal ler local 

authority (in terms of its population and annual revenue) is better than that of a larger 

local authority. This  is inconsistent with the findings of prior studies in that s ize is 

positively related to level of d isclosure. Al though a larger local authority is considered 

to have sufficient financial resources to provide higher level of disclosure, th is  is not 

evidenced in the current research. The h ighest annual report score was received by a 

municipal counci l  and the lowest score was allocated to a c ity counci l  (which is larger 

than a municipal counci l) .  The statistical test gave an indication that the level of  

disclosure of Malaysian local authority annual reports was not determined by the size of  

the local authority. The low score for extent and qual ity of disclosure are possibly 

explained by the absence of statutory requirements for the preparation and content of  

annual reports including service performance reports specific to local authorities, as well  
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as by a lack of awareness of the i mportance of external reporting of local authorities' 

performance from the management of local authorities. These reasons were mentioned 

by some of the panell ists during the Delphi exercise. Thus, despite the fact that a 

relatively large local authority has sufficient financial support to issue comprehensive 

annual reports which cover both financial and non-financ ial performance information, 

since there i s  no specific statutory requirement for external comprehensive performance 

reporting and there is also a general lack of awareness on the importance of performance 

reporting, the result is a relat ively low level of disclosure. 

Overall, although annual reports have been recognised in the l iterature as being a 

primary med ium for the discharge of w ider accountabi l ity, the results of this research 

imply that, in the context of Malaysian local authorities, the role of performance 

reporting within annual reports is sti l l  l imited. Its potential for promoting publ ic 

accountabi l i ty as aspired to under NPM wi l l  not be realised unless significant 

improvements in performance reporting are made. 

9.6 CHAPTER SUMMARY 

This chapter has reported the results obtained from the analysis of the contents of annual 

reports. The results have provided answers to the last three research questions stated in 

the introductory section of this chapter. First, the results suggest that the extent and 

qual ity of d i sclosure of information within the annual reports required by the 

stakeholders for assessing the performance of local authorities are considered low and in 

need of i mprovement, especia l ly in terms of non-financial information related to service 

performance. Second, the results show that the majority of items disclosed in annual 

reports do not meet stakeholder expectations. Final ly, it was found that, through local 

authority annual reporting, financial accountabi l ity is given more emphasis than 

performance-based accountabi l ity. 

With the resu lts reported in the previous two chapters and in this chapter, the eight 

objectives o ut l ined in the introductory chapter of the thesis have been ach ieved. The 

conclusion o f  the results obtained throughout the entire research process is summarised 

in the next and final chapter of the thesis. 
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CHAPTER TEN 

SUMMARY, RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSION 

10. 1 INTRODUCTION 

Chapter One of the thesis outlined the background of the research i ncluding the 

rationale and objectives. The chapter included discussion of the New Public 

Management (NPM)-based publ ic sector reforms in Malaysia with part icular reference 

to local authorities, which provided the context for the research. The background of 

Malays ian local authorities, including their structure and relationships with state and 

federal governments, was d iscussed in Chapter Two. The research appl ied a middle

range thinking (MRT) perspective which was outl ined in Chapter Three. The MRT 

perspective acknowledges the existence of real ity but the general isation of the real ity 

can on ly  be used to create a ' skeleta l '  or incomplete theory. Empirical detai ls are needed 

to enrich the theory to make it meaningfu l .  Empirical details in th is  research involved 

investigations into the performance reporting practices and accountabi l ity of Malaysian 

local authorities. The theoretical framework of accountabil ity that directs the empirical 

investigations was discussed in Chapter Four. Following the d iscussion of 

accountabi l ity, a review o f  prior studies in relation to performance reporting and annual 

report d isclosure for the d ischarge of accountabi l ity was provided in Chapter F ive . 

Chapter S ix discussed the research methods involved in the empirical investigations. 

The results of the empirical investigations were reported and discussed in Chapters 

Seven, E ight and Nine. 

This fi nal chapter conc ludes the thesis by providing a summary of the research and its 

s ign ificance in Section I 0 .2  and a summary of major results in Section I 0 . 3 .  Based on 

the results, a number of recommendations for practice are discussed in Section I 0.4 .  

Section I 0.5 discusses the research l imitations and Section I 0.6 provides directions for 

future research. Finally, Section I 0. 7 provides an overal l conclusion to the research. 
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1 0.2  SUMMARY AND SIGNIFICANCE OF THE RESEARCH 

I nternationally, the performance of local (and national) authorities in the delivery o f  

publ ic services has, over recent decades, become an important issue for governments of  

varying political persuasions. Enhancing performance accountabi l ity has often been 

d iscussed in the context of NPM which calls for improved publ ic accountabil ity of  

governments (Broadbent & Guthrie, 1 992; Mulgan & Uhr, 2000) and for public sector 

managers to be held accountable for both their managerial performance and financial 

management of entrusted resources (Parker & Guthrie 1 993 ;  Hood, 1 995). The 

increasing demand for government entities such as local authorities to be accountable 

has created debate on various aspects of accountabil ity inc luding how to render 

sufficient and relevant performance information (Guthrie & Parker, 1 998; Mayston, 

1 98 5 ;  Poll itt & Bourckaert, 2000; Stewart, 1 984). Often, the demands for greater 

accountabil ity for performance come from outside the immediate confines of  

government and reflect the  concerns of a broader stakeholder interest. Previous research 

has provided many contributions that analyse the reasons for hold ing public entities to 

account for their performance and that inform the underlying premise of the current 

research. 

The current research investigated the v iews of the stakeholders of Malaysian local 

authorities regarding the accountabi l ity of the authorities, the expectations of 

stakeholders on information necessary for assessing and monitoring the performance of  

the  authorities and perceptions of  the importance of the information for d isclosure. Thi s  

research was carried ou t  within the context of  NPM, particularly on  the issues of  publ ic 

and performance-based accountabi l ity. For th is  purpose, the research outlined eight 

objectives: 

1 .  To explore the concept of accountabi l ity from the perspect ive of Malaysian 

stakeholders and the stakeholders' understanding of their re lationship with local 

authorities. 

2 .  To identify the type of information that a broad group of stakeholder expect to 

enable them to assess and monitor the performance of Malays ian local authorities. 

3 .  To identify the perceptions of stakeholders of the importance o f  information i tems 

for disclosure. 
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4.  To identify experts' perceptions of and agreement on the information necessary for 

assessing and monitoring the performance of Malaysian local authorities and the 

importance of such information for d isclosure. 

5. To develop a special purpose disc losure index to assess the extent and qual ity of  

performance information currently publ ished in annual reports of  Malaysian local 

authorities. 

6. To evaluate the extent and qual ity of disclosure of performance reporting with in  the 

annual reports by applying the developed disclosure index. 

7.  To ascertain  whether the informational and disclosure expectations of stakeholders 

are being met. 

8 .  To ascertain the extent to wh ich accountabi l ity is be ing discharged through 

performance reporting. 

In general ,  the research responded to a chal lenge by Pol l itt (2006) for empirical publ ic 

accountabi l ity research to be undertaken w ithin the context of developing countries. 

Specifical ly, it responded to the call by Steccolini (2004) to address issues of how an 

annual report can be used as a veh icle to d ischarge organi sational accountabi l ity and the 

identification by previous researchers of the need for research to improve the qual i ty of 

performance reporting as an accountabi l i ty mechanism (Car! in & Guthrie, 200 I ;  Guthrie 

& Parker, 1 998;  Lee, 2008; Pol l itt & Bouckaert, 2000; Walker, 1 995). However, the 

l iterature found that the types of performance information required often varied from 

one context to another (Lee, 2008). The current research addressed th is issue by 

identifying the relevant information for assessing and mon itoring the performance of 

local authorities and the importance of such information for disclosure from a 

stakeholder perspective. 

Within the publ ic accountabi l ity approach to annual reporting (Coy et a l ., 200 I ), this 

research acknowledges the importance of  meeting the informational expectations and 

preferences of a broad range of stakeholders. In th is  research, the stakeholders' 

informational expectations were determined through a number of steps. At the in itial 

stage of the research process, a review of l iterature was undertaken. The information 

needs of stakeholders or annual reports users, as suggested by prior studies, along with 

the information recommended by professional bodies and suggested by practitioners and 

academicians, were identified. With this  selected information, a draft or ' ske leta l '  

framework of  report content was developed. This is cons istent with Laughl in  ' s  ( 1 995a, 
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l 995b) M RT approach to research that considers prior generalisation to enable the 

development of, at most, a skeletal theory and that empirical detai ls are needed to 

complete the theory and make it meaningful. The empirical details in this research 

involved a questionnaire survey, a Delphi exercise and a content analysis o f  annual 

reports. In the questionnaire survey that was carried out at the first stage of empirical 

investigation, the identified information was exposed to a broad range of stakeholders 

for them to confirm the informat ion necessary for assessing and monitoring the 

performance of local authorities and the importance of such information for d isclosure. 

The questionnaire survey was a lso used to examine the stakeholders' v iews on the 

accountabi l ity of local authorit ies. Fol lowing the questionnaire survey, a Delphi exercise 

t hat involved expert opinion-seeking and consensus bui lding was conducted. At this 

stage, the information and disc losure importance identified by the broad group of 

stakeholders was reconci led and val idated. The perceptions of expert stakeholders of 

information necessary for assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities 

and the d isc losure importance o f  such information were also identified. Here, the 

appl ication of MRT acknowledges the views, j udgement and knowledge of the 

researcher and the Delphi panel members during the questionnaire iteration process as 

subjective input which consequently forms subjective results. At the end of this  stage, 

the experts' agreement on the resu lts - the information and its disclosure importance 

was organ ised into a disclosure index. At the final stage of  the empirical investigation, 

the i ndex was then applied to annual  reports of local authorities to score extent and 

q uality of the information reported. In order for the final results to be considered as a 

valid assessment of annual report ing, two independent evaluations of each annual report 

were carried out. 

Subsequently, the question of whether the actual report ing meets the informational 

expectations of stakeholders was addressed and the extent to which accountabi l ity was 

being discharged through performance reporting was ascertained. This was achieved by 

comparing expert stakeholders ' expected information disclosure with the actual 

d i sclosure of the annual reports .  Consistent with the perspective of MRT, the results 

obtained from the empirical investigations have enriched the skeletal theory of 

accountabi l ity and performance-based reporting. In the current research, the skeletal 

theory that consists of typologies of accountabil ity and outl ines items for d isclosure was 

re inforced by the empirical ev idence of levels of accountabil ity and accountabi l ity 

relationships, the stakeholders or users' information needs and the contents of  annual 
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performance reporting for accountabi l ity purposes within the context of a developing 

country. 

In particular, the research provided empirical evidence of the way in which 

accountabi l ity is defined and appl ied w ithin a spec ific context, namely that of Malaysian 

local authorities, from a stakeholder perspective. It a lso provided empirical evidence of 

the need for local authorities to communicate broader information about their 

performance in order to improve accountabil ity as inspired by the notion of N PM .  For 

this purpose and to be consistent with prior studies (for example, Coy & Dixon, 2004; 

Hooks et al., 2002b; Ryan et al . ,  2002b; Steccol ini, 2004; Tooley & Guthrie, 2007), this 

research recognises that annual reports are a primary vehicle for d i scharging 

accountabi l ity obligations. Reporting of comprehensive information including both 

financial  and non-financial performance information through the medium of annual 

reports is  promoted in this research as being necessary for the discharge of publ ic and 

performance-based accountabi l ity. 

The results of this research enable a stronger understanding of how NPM has influenced 

and can potentially influence performance-based accountabil ity of local government or 

authorities in a developing country, by providing empirical evidence on how it has been 

operational ised in the Malaysian local authority context, particularly in re lation to 

performance accountabi l ity. 

The results of the research should be of interest to report preparers, regulators and 

legis lators as an aid to improving accountabil ity reporting in the future. The kinds of 

information and disclosure required by the stakeholders identified in this research can 

assist c iv i l  servants to meet stakeholder report ing expectations and reduce the 

information gap between existing and expected d isclosure. This could subsequently 

improve accountabi l ity of an entity for its performance to a wide range of stakeholders, 

part icularly in terms of performance and public accountabi l ity. 
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10.3 SUMMARY OF MAJOR RESULTS 

In general, the results show a strong interest amongst stakeholders for greater 

accountabi l ity of Malaysian local authorities. However, a standard defin ition and scope 

of accountability has not emerged. The results of the research also indicate that the need 

to g ive an account has been properly recogn ised by the stakeholders and that the 

emphasis on performance within the context of N P M  is rightly p laced. However, the 

results highl ight the fact that there is inadequate disclosure of performance information. 

In part icular, the results show that the extent and qual ity of annual reports of Malaysian 

local authorities is re latively low in that the information disclosed is not sufficient for 

the assessment and monitoring of the performance of  such authorities. 

Specifical ly, the fol lowing sub-sections summarise the major results in accordance with 

the research objectives. 

10.3.1 Stakeholders' Understanding of 'Accountability' with Regards to Local 

Authorities, and Their Perceptions of the Information Necessary for 

Assessing and Monitoring the Performance of Malaysian Local Authorities 

and the Disclosu re Importance of Such Information 

In accordance with the first three research objectives, the results, as reported in Chapter 

Seven, in general show that the stakeholders of Malaysian local authorities hold firm 

views of accountabi l i ty relationships and scope. The stakeholders consider that 

general ly accountabi l ity involves rendering an account to al l stakeholders in respect of 

financial  and managerial accountabil ity. 

The resu lts also indicate the stakeholders' expectations on the information necessary for 

the purpose of assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities. The 

expectations include not only financial information but also non-financial information. 

However, there is diversi ty of opinion amongst the broad range of stakeholders as to 

how important each type of information is for d isclosure in annual reports of local 

authorit ies. 
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1 0.3.2 Experts' Perceptions of and Agreement on the Information Necessary for 

Assessing and Monitoring the Performance of Malaysian  Local Authorities 

and the Importance of Such Information for Disclosure 

In  respect of the fou rth research objective, the results, as reported i n  Chapter E ight, 

h ighl ight an agreement amongst the expert stakeholders on the information relevant for 

assessing and monitoring the performance of local authorities and the importance of  

such information for d isc losure in the authorities' annual reports. 

The experts confirmed the information expected by the broad range of stakeholders and 

identified additional information necessary for assessing and monitoring the 

performance of local authorities and the weightings for importance of such information 

i tems to be d isclosed in the annual reports of local authorities. The agreement on the 

information and its d isc losure importance were reached at the th i rd round of the Delphi 

exerc ise. The experts considered both fi nancial and non-financial i nformation important 

for d isc losure but financial information was perceived as more important. The 

information and its d isclosure importance agreed to by the experts were used in the 

development of the d i sc losure index. 

10 .3.3 Development of Disclosure Index 

The fifth research objective was to develop a special purpose d isclosure index. The 

information items and their disclosure i mportance establ ished through the Delphi 

exercise, along with the disclosure qual ity criteria - pre-determined based on prior 

studies, professional bodies' recommendations and relevant local statutory requirements 

- were organised into a d isclosure index. The index was appl ied to Malaysian local 

authorities' annual reports of 2003 to 2005 to determine scores for extent and qual ity of  

disclosure of the information relevant to  assess and monitor the performance of  the local 

authorities. 

2 1 9  



1 0.3.4 Extent and Quality of D isclosure of Performance Reporting with in  the 

Annual Reports of Malaysian Local Authorities 

I n  respect of the s ixth research obj ective, the results, as reported in Chapter N i ne, show 

that overal l, the scores for the extent and qual ity of annual reports of local authorities 

are considered to be low. The expert stakeholders perceived a large variety of 

information as being important; however, the maj ority of such information was under

d i sc losed in the annual reports of local authorities. M uch of the non-financial 

i nformation, in particular future-related information, non-financial performance 

information and information related to the organi sation and its operations, was under

reported. 

1 0.3.5 Discharge of Accountability Through Annual Performance Reporting 

In  Chapter N ine, the reported results are also related to the fi nal two research objectives. 

The results ind icate the existence of an information gap between the actual and the 

expected level of disclosure. The gap suggests that the discharge of accountabi l ity o f  the 

local authorities via annual performance reporting needs more attention from higher 

authorities and pol icy makers and could be improved in the future. 

1 0.4 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR PRACTICE 

A lthough a number of current statutory requirements or authorities are supportive of the 

public's right to information in re lation to Malaysian local authorities, the research 

recommends the establ ishment of a more formal accountabil ity relationship between 

Malaysian local authorities and tax/rate payers and the public .  This is because local 

authorities accept and uti l ise a large portion of financial resources in terms of 

assessment taxes and rates from the publ ic. Measures of a more formal accountabi l ity 

relationship need to be adopted if accountabi l ity of the local authorities for performance 

to a l l  their stakeholders is to be improved. For example, a provision to require local 

authorities to prepare and external ly issue a comprehensive annual report which 

includes financial and service performance reports could be included in the Local 

Government Act 1 976 (Act 1 7 1  ). To date, Section 54 of the act only requires  the 

publ ication of annual reports; it does not provide any requirement for local authorities to 

provide the reports to the publ ic and does not clearly state the required content of the 
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reports. This lack of  guidelines on the suggested content of annual reports can constitute 

a barrier to the improvement of reporting practice (Jose Luis, 2002). For the purpose of 

improving reporting practice and the d ischarge of accountabi l ity obl igations, the current 

research recommends that local authorities need to be provided with specific guidel ines 

on how to report on thei r  performance, includ ing both financ ial and service 

performance. To this end, annual reporting guidel ines issued for statutory bodies could 

be developed and extended to l ocal authorities. ln th is  respect, the d isclosure index 

developed by stakeholders and experts for this research could provide a model of best 

practice. 

As d iscussed earlier in this chapter, the results general ly showed that the disclosure of a 

number o f  items were far below the stakeholders' d isclosure expectations. To improve 

the extent and quality of future annual reports and subsequently the discharge of wider 

accountabi l ity, there are various categories of informat ion on which local authorit ies 

should focus their attention .  These categories include future-related information ', 'non

financial performance ' and 'overview and operational information '. To provide 

information that meets the disclosure expectations of stakeholders and to improve the 

accountabi l ity of local authorities through report ing as a result, the d isc losure of the 

fol lowing items in the three categories is recommended : 

Future-related information 

• Future plans should be out l ined with reference to major services. 

• A specification of future performance targets with a description of the assessment of 

risks to be faced towards the ach ievement of the targets. Future performance targets 

with a description of the assessment of risks to be faced towards the ach ievement of 

the targets should be spec ified. 

• P lan/s about future capital improvement should be specified. 

Non-financial performance information 

• Performance measures 

);:> Performance measures related to efficiency, effectiveness, customer satisfaction 

and product ivity, in addition to input and output m easures, should be i ncluded. 
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);> Each measure shou ld  provide a basis for assessing the results for key services or 

programmes. An ana lysis of performance targets achievement by service 

provided and a comparison between performance achievement and objectives 

should be reported. 

);> Performance measure s  should reflect the objectives of the part icular service 

provided. 

);> Some indication o f  benchmarking, such as with a simi lar service provided by 

other local authorities, should be provided where re levant. 

• Performance targets 

);> The targets should be described according to service. 

);> Reference to objectives for key programmes/activ ities should be included. 

);> The capabil ity of the relevant unit or department to meet the targets should be 

explained. 

);> Comparison should be made between actual and target achievement. 

);> Comparison should  be made according to service. 

);> Factors that have had a significant effect on achievement should be described. 

);> Suggestions for performance improvement where relevant should be included. 

• Government grants 

);> The use of government grants should be specified. 

• Performance of contractors responsible for providing contracted services 

);> The contractors involved and their performance should be disc losed. 

• I mprovement programme of service del ivery system 

);> A programme that has been developed to improve the service del ive ry should be 

described. 

• Goals and objectives o f  services 

);> A c lear statement of  the goals/objectives for each service undertaken should be 

disc losed. 

Overview and operational information 

• Role and responsibi l ity o f  council lors 

);> The role and respons ib i l ity of counc i l lors should be specified. 

• Scope of authority of the local authority and other relevant agencies 

);> The scope of authority of the local authority and other relevant agencies in the 

local ity should be made clear to the stakeholders, especially serv ice recipients. 
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• Environmental management 

);> The local authority 's  environmental  pol icy should be included. 

);> Reference to statutory requirement/s should be made. 

);> Environmental protection programmes that have been carried out should be 

outlined. 

• Occupational health and safety 

);> Programme/s for occupational health and safety that has/have been carried out 

should be described. 

);> The safety record with previous years' comparison should be included. 

• Training programmes for staff 

);> Staff training programmes that have been carried out should be described. 

);> A description of the outputs and outcomes of the programmes should be 

included. 

• Factors that have influenced the current status of the overal l performance 

achievement 

);> The factors shou ld  be described. 

• Auditor general department's (the National Audit Department) rating of financial 

management 

);> l t  was agreed by the expert members that th is item should be disclosed in the 

annual reports of local authorities as the rating may indicate the accountabi l ity of 

local authorities for a proper use of financial resources. Arguably, the disclosure 

of this can help comparison of  fi nancial performance between local authorities 

with the local authority that scores the highest rating being used as a potential 

benchmark. 

I n  add ition to non-fi nancial information, some aspects of financial information 

d i sclosure could also be improved. The areas of financial information that should be 

g iven attention include the fol lowing: 

Financial 

• Revenue and expenditure 

I n  add ition to the d i sclosure of revenue according to its source and expend iture 

according to its nature or function, the d i sc losure of revenue and expenditure accord ing 

to relevant services rendered should be d isc losed. The additional d isclosure could be 

inc luded in the notes to the accounts. 
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• F ixed assets 

The disclosure of fixed assets should be broken down according to their nature such as 

whether they are operational, community or infrastructure assets. Their market values 

should also be included. Detai led information could be d isclosed in the notes to the 

accounts. 

F inal ly, the research recommends that accessibil ity to the annual reports be given 

attention, especial ly  with regard to broad stakeholder groups, including the publ ic and 

other external stakeholders who have l im ited access to an organisation's  performance 

information. I n  the publ ic accounting environment, accou ntabi l i ty involves not only 

reporting of comprehensive information but also ensuring maximum accessib i l i ty of 

reports (Coy et  al . ,  200 I ) . As the resu lts of the current research indicated poor 

accessibi l ity to, and distribution of, annual reports of local authorities' financial and 

non-financial performance information, it is recommended that external publ ication and 

distribution of annual reports be made mandatory. An economic and effective way of 

making th i s  possible is through the electronic publ ication of the reports on local 

authority websites. Alternative ly, summary facts and figures of the performance of local 

authorities could be publ ished and distributed in pamphlet form with a notification that 

the ful l  annual report is avai lable on request. In addition, a platform of meetings with 

the public and other stakeholders could also be used to communicate performance 

information. 

1 0.5 RESEARCH LIMITATIONS 

Several l im itations are identified in the current research. 

I .  The examination of performance reporting is l imited to the reporting provided 

within the annual reports of  local authorities. Other mechanisms of reporting 

performance such as budget papers and corporate plans have not been considered. 

The d ischarge of accountabi l ity through these other mechanisms may provide a 

different perspective on the practice of performance reporting by local authorities. 
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2 .  The use of a d isc losure index involves an element of  subjectivity and subsequent 

problems of val idity and re l iabi l ity, specifical ly during the process of selecting the 

index items, weighting the disc losure items for thei r  importance and the scoring of 

the reports. The element of subjectivity may l im it the conclusions that can be 

drawn.  However, by incorporati ng various sources in final ising the index items 

(from prior l iterature, a questionnaire survey and a Delphi exercise), the 

subjectivity element is min imised. The vali dity and rel iabi l ity problems are 

addressed by involving another evaluator in the scoring process. 

3. The sample size of thirty-three annual reports over the three year period - 2003 to 

2005 was l imited. Twelve annual reports in 2005 was the maximum number able to 

be obtained through personal contacts and requests during the data col lection period 

(August to November 2006). Therefore caution needs to be exercised in the 

genera l isation of the findings of the content analysis of the annual reports. 

4. The sample size of stakeholder groups, namely the groups of creditors ( 1 2), 

counci l lors ( 1 1 )  and state government (8), involved in the questionnaire survey was 

smal l .  This lim ited the conclus ions that were able to be drawn from the find ings and 

disa l lowed the findings to be general ised. 

5. The findings and discussion in relation to accountabil ity and the d i sclosure of 

informat ion items are l imited to the propositions put forward in the questionnaire. 

However, this l imitation is reconciled and val idated in  the Delphi exercise which 

involves an expert panel deciding on the final information necessary for assessing 

and monitoring the performance of local authorities and the information d i sc losure 

importance. Alternative research methods such as in-depth interviews would 

contribute more to our understanding of the accountabil ity of the Malaysian public 

sector, particularly local authorities and the j ustifications for the current practices of 

performance reporting. 

6. The actual level of disclosure has been related to annual reports of 2003, 2004 and 

2005,  whereas the expectations on infonnation and d isclosure of the experts were 

obtained through the Delphi exercise in 2007. Therefore, the conc lusions that have 

been drawn from the results of the comparison between the practice or actual level 
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o f  d isclosure in annual reports of local authorities and the expected level of 

d i sc losure are l imited. 

1 0.6 DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH 

The results and l imitations of  th i s  research provide general directions for future research 

on publ ic sector accountabi l ity and accountab i l ity reporting. 

This research is l imited to the reporting provided within the annual reports of local 

authorities. Future research may include other reporting media such as budget papers 

and corporate plans, in order to address the d ischarge of accountabi l ity through 

reporting more comprehensively. 

The sample size of each stakeholder group and of annual reports in  future research 

should be larger so that greater generalisation of  fi ndings can be made. In addition, a 

parametric statistical test of  significant differences in the perceptions between each 

stakeholder group can be carried out in order to provide robust conclusions from the 

find i ngs. 

Future research may also involve an investigation into the reasons behind the low 

qual ity of annual report disc losure of local authorities. In particular, the questions of 

why some local authorities have more comprehensive disclosure than others and why 

the d i sc losure of financial information is more extensive than non-financial information, 

need to be addressed. In-depth interviews with report preparers and regulators may be 

conducted for this purpose. 

The current research involved a content analysis  of the annual reports of 2003, 2004 and 

2005 and the level of disclosure in  the annual reports of those particu lar years was 

compared with the stakeholder d isc losure expectations that were gathered in 2007.  Since 

a greater awareness of issues relating to performance and accountabi l i ty (as the results 

of the implementation of Key Performance I nd icators and the Accountabi l ity Index 
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S ystem43 in the publ ic sector organisations including local authorit ies) may be reflected 

i n  the disclosure expectations, future research should examine disclosure in more recent 

years' annual reports. This i s  for the actual level of disclosure to be more comparable 

w ith stakeholder informational and disclosure expectations. 

I n  Laughl in ' s  ( 1 995a) M RT approach to research, the final stage i nvolves formulation 

o f  a strategy or action p lan including a report ing pol icy that conforms to stakeholders' 

p references (Van Peursem, 1 999). Future research may apply the same method of data 

co l lection via the Delphi exercise, but may a lso involve individuals or parties who have 

the power to change pol icy as Delphi panel members, in order to develop a reporting 

pol icy and standardise the reporting practice. The results of the current research have 

provided the impetus to initiate such an act ion p lan. 

The same research methods may be appl ied in future research that involves different 

publ ic sector entities and in other deve loping countries. Different contexts and 

operations of accountabi l ity may provide d ifferent results. Thi s  wi l l  contribute to a 

better understand ing of the knowledge of N PM, especial ly in re lation to performance 

accountabi l ity and especial ly in developing countries. 

I n  addition, as an extension to the current research, annual reports of Malaysian local 

authorities could be contrasted with those of local authorities in other developing 

countries as well as those in developed countries. An examination of the differences and 

s imi larities of the content and format could be carried out. 

Last but not least, the consequences of qual ity report disclosure may be investigated. 

Could higher quality d isclosure of annual reports of local authorities be associated with 

better provision of services and performance? Better provision of services may be based 

on the perceptions of the public as tax/rate payers and consumers. Performance 

assessment of local authorities could be based on aspects of efficiency, effectiveness 

and economics. In response to the questions of how and to what extent specific NPM 

reforms have actually changed publ ic sector performance (Groot & Budding, 2008), this 

k ind of research may provide additional insights. 

43 The Accountabi l ity Index System is required to be implemented in publ ic sector organisations by 
the National Audit Department commencing 2007. With this system, public sector organisations 
i nc luding local authorities are assessed on their financial management and accountabi l i ty. 
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10.7 CONCLUSION 

The results of the research h ighl ight the fact that accountabi l ity is  a complex and 

d ifficult to defi ne concept, yet, they also provide some i nsights that may assist in a 

greater understanding of accountabi l ity. I t  is suggested that in local authorities more 

formal l ines of accountabi l ity are needed and that these would improve local authorities' 

c redibi l ity and contribute to an improvement in the performance management of 

Malaysian local authorities in particular, and of the Malaysian publ ic sector as a whole. 

In respect of the key principles of N PM, local authorities would be able to effective ly 

account for their economy, efficiency, appropriateness and accessibi l ity of service 

provision and the adequacy of their internal controls. 

The informat ion requirements of the Malaysian local authorities' stakeholders appear to 

support the notion of NPM that emphasises the importance of financial and non

financial informat ion in measuring and j udging the performance of an organisation (Lee, 

2008). The information includes four types of information preferred by users of annual 

reports as identified by Daniels and Daniels ( 1 99 1 )  - information on campi iance and 

about financial  v iabil ity, operating results, efficiency and effect iveness. However, the 

d iversity amongst stakeholders that was found in the research as to the information 

required and the varying perceptions of the importance of the information for d isclosure 

supports the ex istence of multiple accountabil ity relationsh ips and various scopes of 

accountabil ity in the public sector as recognised by the l iterature. In particu lar, the 

findings support the preferences for d ifferent types of information to be reported as 

suggested by Patton ( 1 992), when accountabi l ity for different factors has occurred. 

In addition, the research supports the view that annual reports are the primary medium 

to discharge accountabi l ity to a broad stakeho1der group. It a lso supports the v iew that 

the disclosure of non-financial information provides an additional perspective from 

which to evaluate a pub l ic sector entity 's  performance. F inancial information i tems 

especially that are d isclosed w ithin traditional financial statements can only be 

considered complementary items as they are necessary but not sufficient for monitoring 

and assessing the performance of an entity. The results a lso high l ight the fact that the 

financial information is  reported better than non-financial information. This impl ies that 

the annual reports of local authorit ies apply the 'report only' approach to accountabi l ity. 

Within the framework of accountabi l ity that regards explanation or justification as part 
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of accountabi l ity, it is necessary for the annual reports to inc lude more information, 

such as explanatory narratives, in addition to financial reports (Patton, 1 992). 

Accountabi l ity, it is argued, is  in part discharged through the provision of 

comprehensive information ( Hooks et a l ., 2002b), such as information about the 

condition, performance, activities and progress of the entity (Coy & Dixon, 2004). The 

inclusion o f  comprehensive informat ion about a local authority 's  performance and its 

financial condit ion could also perm it an evaluation of financial and non-financial 

commitments re lated to the provis ion of services (Jose Luis, 2002). The evaluation of 

such comm itments forms a basis from which to j udge the performance of local 

authorities. However, the result of the research that shows under-report ing of non

financial performance information is consistent with the findings of studies carried out 

in the United Kingdom, the United States, Australia and I taly (GASB-NAPA, 1 997; 

Hyndman & Anderson, 1 995 ; Lee, 2008; Ryan et al., 2002b; Steccolini, 2004).  

Overall ,  the resu lts indicate that the extent and quality of annual reports of Malaysian 

local authorities are relatively low. Within the theoretical framework of accountabi l ity, 

the low extent and quality of annual reports and the under-reporting of relevant 

information necessary for monitoring and assessing performance would impair the 

appropriate rendering of the 'account' necessary for accountabil ity. This would be seen 

as undermi n ing accountabi l ity, in particular the publ ic and performance-based 

accountabi l ity as emphasised by NPM reform . As stated by Boyne and Law, "in the 

absence of w ider performance data, the concept of accountabi l i ty and indeed the whole 

democratic p rocess is simply a sham" ( 1 99 1 ,  p. 1 79). 

With in the context of NPM, the shift from the discharge of financial or fiduciary 

accountabi l i ty to the discharge of  managerial accountabi l ity requires annual reporting by 

public sector entities such as local authorities to include both compliance reporting and 

performance reporting (Taylor & Pincus, 1 999). However, the research results genera l ly 

fai led to support the framework o f  accountabil ity with in the context of NPM in l inking 

performance information and reporting. The results consequently imply that the 

Malaysian government's NPM reform efforts, especially those regarding accountab i l ity 

and performance, have not been smoothly and comprehensively implemented by local 

authorities, particularly with respect to the discharge of accountabil ity for performance 

of local authorit ies to the authorities' broad group of stakeholders. This reinforces the 

c laim by previous researchers that reforms rarely produce the expected outcomes 
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(Guthrie & Parker, 1 998;  Pol l itt & Bouckaert, 2000; Schick, 200 l ). The results also 

imply that the existing practice of discharging accountabi l ity through annual 

performance reporting needs revision, at least in the context of Malaysian local 

authorities. Perhaps with the growing awareness among higher authorities and local 

authority management of the importance of performance reporting and awareness from 

the public of their rights to be provided with performance reports, in  the next few years, 

annual external performance reports will play a more s ignificant role in  the discharge of 

accountabi l ity as inspired by the NPM paradigm. With specific reference to Malaysian 

local authorities, there is sti l l  far to go before the NPM notion of performance-based 

accountabi l ity is fu lly ach ieved. In particular, the d ischarge of such accountabi l ity 

through external annual reporting needs greater attention. Annual report ing needs to be 

comprehensive and cover a broader accountabi l ity based on accountabi l ity by standards 

as wel l  as accountabil ity by j udgement (Stewart, 1 984). This wi l l  provide improved 

publ ic accountabi l ity that is rooted in the be l ief  that the publ ic and other external 

stakeholders have the right to be provided with sufficient and rel iable information that 

makes it possible for them to carry out debate and j udgement on the performance of 

organisations such as Malaysian local authorities .  

With the recommendations put forward earl ier in  this chapter, it i s  hoped that the 

practice of performance report ing by Malaysian local authorities and the d i scharge of 

their accountabi lity obl igations wi l l  be improved in the future. The research has 

provided init ial data and strategies for the creation of such improvement. 

In addition, the results of the research have provided enrichment to the knowledge and 

l iterature on accountabi l ity and accountabi l i ty-based reporting in the context of NPM. 

The suggested future research could be carried out to further understand the system of 

pub l ic sector and accountabi l ity reporting within the context of NPM in developing 

countries and international ly.  
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APPENDICES 

Appendix A:  A Summary of Disclosu re Index Studies ( 1 997-2008) 

Study 

Banks et al .  

Botosan 

l nchausti 

Patton & 
Zalenka 

Craig & 
Diga 

- -· - � --

Year Country 

1 997 Canada 

1 997 us 

1 997 Spain 

1 997 Czech 
Republic 

1 998 5 ASEAN 
countries 

-- ···-· - . --

Sector 

Public -
university 

Private 

Private 

Private 

1 Private 
I 

i 

' 
- -- - --· ----

Type of Index Number of Scope of 
Items Index 

Application . 
Un-weighted 26 Financial and 
& weighted non-financial 
(for information 
importance) (entire annual 

reports) 
Weighted 2 1 6  Voluntary 
(for disclosure information 
quality) (within annual 

reports) 

Un-weighted 50 Mandatory and 
voluntary 
information 
(entire annual 
reports) 

Un-weighted 66 Mandatory and 
voluntary 
information 
(entire annual 
reports) 

Un-weighted 530 Financial, 
social and non-
financial 
information 
(within annual 
reports) 

----- - -- - -- - -

Purpose of Basis of It�ms Sele:ct�on Basis of.W eight :� · 
Index , .  Determination 
Application , . . 

. . \.· � ·-.� 

. . .  

Extent Moditied Accountabil ity MAD index (Coy et 
(quantity) Index - MAD index al., 1 993 ) that was 
and qual i ty (Coy et al., 1 993) that based on literature 
of disclosure was based on I i terature 

and annual reports 
Extent and Annual reports Researcher's 
qual ity Professional bodies' j udgement 

recommendations 
I nvestors' information 
needs survey 

Extent and Literature. n/a 
quality of Regulations. 
disclosure 

Extent of Regulations - the n/a 
disclosure Securities Act 

Extent, Statutory framework - n/a 
patent and Accounting standards 
nature of and government 
disclosure regulations 

i I I 
� - -- --- [ _____ -· ------ - - -- ----- -
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Appendix A Cont .. 

Study 
·vear r-colilltry -- - 1 sector Type of lndex T Number of 

Items 

Owusu
Ansah 

1 998 I Zimbabwe I Private Un-weighted I 2 1 4 

Wal lace et 
a l .  

1 999 I UK I Private Un-weighted I Not stated 
& weighted 

Coombs & 
Tayib 

2000 

Chen & I 2000 
Jaggi 

Depoers I 2000 

Ho & Wong I 200 1 

UK & 
Malaysia 

Hong Kong 

France 

Hong Kong 

Public 
local 
government/ 
authority 

(for disclosure 
quality) 

Un-weighted 

Private I Un-weighted 

Private I Un-weighted 

Private I Weighted 
(for 
importance) 

1 42 

65 

35 

Scope of 
Index 
Application 
Mandatory 
information 
(within annual 
r�orts) 
Cash now 
information 
(within annual 
reports) 

F inancial 
statements 
information 
( fi nancial 
r�orts) 
Mandatory 
information 
(within annual 
r�orts) 
Voluntary 
information 
(within annual 
reports) 
Voluntary 
information 
(within annual 
reports) 

Purpose of 
Index 
Application 
Extent of 
disclosure 

Extent and 
quality of 
disclosure 

Extent of 
disclosure 

Extent of 
disclosure 

Extent of 
disclosure 

Extent of 
disclosure 

Basis of hems Selection 

.. 

Regulations 

Accounting standards 
Literature 

Annual reports. 
Practitioners' advice. 

L iterature. 
Annual reports. 
Practitioners' advice. 

Basis
-
or weight 

Determination 

n/a 

Weighted according 
to relevance, 
rel iabil ity, and 
usefulness as 
perceived by 
financial analysts 

nla 

Weighted according 
to importance of each 
piece of information 
as attributed by 
analyst users (via 
survey) 
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Aooendix A C - -- - - -

Study Year Country Sector Type of Index Number of 
Items 

,. 

Laswad, 200 1 New Public - Un-weighted 4 
Fisher and Zealand local categories 
Oyelere authorities 

Wi l l iams 200 1 UK Private Un-weighted 2 1  

Robb et aL 200 1 Australia, Private Weighted 66 
Canada & (for the 
us extension of 

disclosure) 
Haniffa & 2002 Malaysia Private Un-weighted 65 
Cooke 

Chau & Gray 2002 Hong Kong Private Un-weighted Approx. 
& Singapore 1 1 0 

-· 

Scope of 
Jndex 
Application 
Internet 
reporting of 
financial 
information 

I ntellectual 
capital 
information 
(within annual 
reports) 
Non-financial 
information 
(within annual 
rerorts) 
Voluntary 
information 
(within annual 
reports) 
Voluntary 
information 
(within annual 
reports) 

Purpose .of , 
Index -i' . 
Application c' 

Type and 
extent of 
disclosure 

Extent of 
disclosure 

Extent of 
disclosure 

Extent of 
disclosure 

Extent of 
disclosure 

·-

Basis-of Items Selection 
.. ::,

, · _:;::r ��·:! , .. Basis,Of Weig�t 
·' D'eterminatiori · 

.. 

Researcher's judgement n/a 

Literature n/a 

List of non-financial Weighted according 
information desired by to the extension of 
users from A ICPA disclosure 
committee database 
L iterature. n/a 
Regulations. 

Meek et al . 's ( 1 995) .  n/a 
Regulations. 
In ternational trends and 
standard reporting 
practice. 

--
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A___I!_Q_endix A Cont.. 
Study I Year 

Ryan et al .  I 2002 

Gordon et al. I 2002 

Hooks et al. I 2002 

C�untry 

Australia 

us  

New 
Zealand 

Sector 

Public 
local 
government 

Publ ic/ 
private -
university & 
col lege 

Private & 
public 
(electricity) 

Type of Index 

Un-weighted 
& weighted 
(for 
importance) 

Un-weighted 
& weighted 
(for 
importance) 

I Un-weighted 
& weighted 
(for 
importance 
and quality 
criteria) 

Number 
of Items 

22 

75 

67 

Scope of 
Index 
�iication 
Financial and 
non-financial 
information 
(entire annual 
reports) 

Financial and 
non-financial 
(SEA) 
information 
(entire annual 
re arts) 
Mandatory and 
voluntary 
information 
(entire annual 
reports) 

Purpos

. 

e of , x I 'Ba 

. . 

si�. of I

. 

terns Sele
.
c!ion · I B�, �� �, �we

.
i�ht . .  "' 

Index ·, '::/ ·v;�> 1, ·' . · D!termmabon ' 
Application �. :, >_ ; . r .. , .c·· , " .fo1f.. , ./•. . : 
Extent and MAD index (Coy et al . , Weighted according 
qual ity of 1 993). to importance of each 
disclosure and Best practice guidel i nes piece of information 
accountabi l ity produced by independent based on: L iterature 
though bodies. Statutory and 
reporting accounting standard 

requirements 

Extent of 
disclosure 

Extent and 
quality of 
disclosure and 
accountability 
though 
reporting 

Best practice 
recommendation 
Practitioner advice 

Engstrom's ( 1 988) study I Engstrom's ( 1 988) 
study 

Literature. J Weighted according 
Expert opinions. to importance of each 

piece of information 
as attributed by 
expert stakeholder 
groups 
Weighted according 
to quality criteria 
based on: 
Professional bodies 
annual reports model 
Researcher's 
knowledge 
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Aooendix A Cont - -
Study Year ,' COUJ!,try Sector Type of Index· _Number of 

,, Items 
t :� .. . ; � 

' ·l; 
Mars ton 2003 Japan Private Un-weighted 1 0  

Vanstraelen 2003 Belgium, Private Weighted 66 
et al . Germany & (for the 

Netherlands extension of 
disclosure) 

Eng & Mak 2003 S ingapore Private Un-weighted 84 
& weighted 
(for 
importance) 

Naser & 2003 Saudi Private Un-weighted Approx: 27 
N useibeh Arabia & weighted 

(for 
importance) 

Prencipe 2004 I taly Private Un-weighted 9 segment 
& weighted items 
(for 
importance) 

Steccol ini 2004 Italy Publ ic - Un-weighted 7 sections. 
local & weighted No. of 
government (for the nature Items are 

I of disclosure) unavailable 

Sc!)pe of Index Purp_ose of ·, 
Application Index" 

. . Application:. ·� 
Financial Extent of 
information (within disclosure 
annual reports) 
Non-financial Extent of 
information (within disclosure 
annual reports) 

Voluntary Extent of 
information disclosure 
(with in  annual 
reports) 

Mandatory and Extent and 
voluntary quality of 
information disclosure 
(entire annual 
reports) 

Voluntary Extent and 
information (within importance of 
annual reports) disclosure 

F inancial and non- Extent and mix 
financial of information 
information (entire disclosure 
annual reports) 

Basis oHtems " 
' Seliction' 'x:; · ·' -��:. 

·-<'>.'" -��,(:-'; ' of} 
Marston & Leow's 
( 1 998) study 

Robb et a l . ' s  
(200 I )  study 

Literature. 
Regulations. 

Literature. 
Regulations. 

Accounting 
standards 

Literature 

· Basis�of Weight 
Deterininatiori 

n/a 

' �'�> � 

Robb et al . 's (200 1 )  
study 

Eng et a l . 's (200 1 )  
study 

Weighted according 
to importance of 
each piece of 
information as_ 
attributed by 7 user 
groups (via survey) 
Weighted according 
to importance of 
each piece of 
information as 
attributed by 
financial analysts 
(via survey) 
Weighted according 
to clarity, 
corn prehensi veness 
and 
comprehensibil ity of 
information 
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A__I!I!_endix A Cont.. 
Study I )'ear.·,, I ,.Cou�try 

Makhija & I 2004 
Patton 

Gore I 2004 

Coy & Dixon I 2004 

Cahan et al . I 2005 

Garcia-Meca I 2005 
& Martinez 

Bl iss, Gul, I 2006 
Balachandran 
& Majid 

!_".::<:<'" f."-'.�>' '/:\ 
Czech 
Republic 

us 

New 
Zealand 

1 7  countries 

Spain 

Malaysia 

Sector 

Private 

Public 
local 
government 

Publ ic 
university 

Private 

Private 

Private 

Type of Index I 'Number of 
Items 

Un-weighted 

Un-weighted 

66 

1 8 - GAAP 
index 
1 3  non
GAAP 
index 

Weighted (jor I 58 
importance 
and quality 
criteria) 

Weighted I 2 1 6  
(for 

disclosure 
quality) 
Weighted I 7 I 
(for disclosure 
quality) 

Un-weighted 
& weighted 
(for 
importance) 

66 

Scop
. 
e o

.
Qild

.· 
e 
. . 
x
. ·
t
. 

··
-. ··, ., , .

. 
PuJpo

.
�
.
e
. 

·
.
o
. ·
·
.
·
.
f'
·
·

.
·
.
�
. 
"

.
; ·; 

'

.
·
·.
[
. 
� Bas�$c;

.
of

.
lte

·lli·.
s
.
, ·. 

+
.
''

.
'
·
?·

·.·
1 �asisfo

·

·

·
· r �

. 
·e

.
ig

.
h:t,: .• �. �w.r 

, Application;_., " , r Jnde}. r . .  'z �:;;;, i� aS,ei�Ctio�'�t�;:-f �3</'. !· Dete't.tnitiati.�n - �:.r < I · . ·· .J .·<-> -''Ap):JJiC'&tiOit'�':�·.t_ .. , � · ').,: :t) ·,; .,://' :t:(,' ,(r·-� t, ;�f'! , 0 --�� : · J �: v·.,r:
· f�.-- : � ·> 

Voluntary financial I Extent of I Regulations - the I n/a 
information (within disclosure Securities Act 
annual reports) 
F inancial 
information 
(financial reports) 

Entire annual 
reports 

Voluntary 
information (with in 
annual reports) 

I ntangibles 
information (with in 
annual reports) 

Extent of 
GAAP and 
non-GAAP 
disclosure 

Extent and 
quality of 
disclosure and 
accountabi l i ty 
though 
reporting 

Extent and 
qual ity of 
disclosurt: 

Extent and 
qual ity of 
disclosure 

Voluntary I Extent of 
information (with in disclosure 
annual reports) 

Requirements of 
Treasury 
Department 
(GAAP disclosure) 
Literature (non
GAAP disclosure) 
Literature. 
Stakeholders' 
opinions through 
Delphi exercise. 

Botosan' s ( 1 997) 
study 

Literature 

Literature. 
Regulations. 

n/a 

Weighted according 
to importance of 
each piece of 
information as 
attributed by expert 
stakeholder groups 
Weighted according 
to quality criteria 
Botosan' s ( 1 997) 
study 

Weighted according 
to type of measure 
associated with each 
piece of information 
( qual itati ve/quantitat 
i ve) 
Literature 
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Study Year,: 

;. y 
Barako et aL 2006 

Hassan et aL 2006 

Hossain & 2007 
Reaz 

Christiaens & 2007 
Van 
Peteghem 
Tooley & 2007 
Guthrie 

Van Staden 2007 
& Hooks 

· · (iouritry 

{-:;;;. , . 

Kenya 

Egypt 

I ndia 

Belgium 

New 
Zealand 

New 
Zealand 

Sector • Type of Index Number ·of . 
Items 

'· 

Private Weighted 47 
(for 

importance) 

Private Un-weighted 75 

Private Un-weighted 65 

Public - Un-weighted 85 
local 
government 
Public - Un-weighted 24 
school and weighted 

(for 
informational 
value of 
disclosure) 

Private Un-weighted 32 
& 
weighted 
(jor disclosure 

------ _q7!alityl_ ___ 

Scope of Index , .�.Purpose of , . Basis ofJtems · , · Basis�of Weight . 
Application index :, ',. ",1" 

-�
Selection Determination 

' Applicatiolt . �� 1{. <.,,· , . . "" "" ; � '< 

Voluntary Extent of Literature Weighted according 
information (within disclosure to importance of 
annual reports) each piece of 

information as 
attributed by bank 
loan officers (via 
survey) 

Financial Extent of Cl FAR n/a 
information (with in disclosure Annual reports 
annual reports) Professional users 

perception of 
information 
usefulness 

Voluntary Extent of Literature n/a 
information (with in disclosure 
annual reports) 
Financial Level of Christiaens ' s  n/a 
information (within compliance ( 1 999) study 
annual reports) Regu lations 
Financial & non- Extent and Coy et al 's ( 1 993a, Weighted according 
financial informational 1 993b) studies and to quality criteria 
information (entire value of Ryan et al . 's drawn from 
annual reports) disclosure (2002) study I iterature and recent 

education 
developments 

Environmental Extent and United Nations Weighted according 
information (with in quality of Environment to qual ity criteria 
annual reports) disclosure Programme/Sustain scale drawn from 

abi l ity Index l i terature 
Literature 
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Appendix B: Question naire 

QUESTIONNAIRE 

SCHOOL OF ACCOUNTANCY 
Private Box 756 
Wellington, New Zealand 

T 64 4 801 5799 
F 64 4 801 2885 
www.accountancy.massey.ac.nz 

A N  INVESTI GATION INTO THE PERFORMANCE 

REPORTING PRACTICES AND ACCOUNTABI LITY OF 

MALA YSIAN LOCAL AUTHORITIE S  
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l .  Do you think that a local authority should be accountable for its performance? 

0 Yes, Why? 

D No, Why Not? 

2. If you think local authorities are accountable for their performance, then to 
w hom are they accountable? P lease tick (.f) your relevant response (you may tick 
more than one). 

Federal government 

State government 

Council lor 

Public as taxpayers 

Public as service consumers 

Employees 

Creditors 

Suppliers 

Auditors 

Other (please specify): 

3. Based on your understanding, accountability means; 

Accountable for expenditure made in accordance with 
rules and regulations 

Accountable for the use of financial resources 

Accountable for the provision of efficient and effective services 

Accountable for the management of entrusted public monies and 
organisational accomplishments 

Rendering an account to the higher authority only 

Rendering an account to al l stakeholders 

Other (please specify): 
__________________ _ 
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4. What information woula you expect to enable you to assess and monitor the 
performance of a local authority (LA)? How important is the disclosure of the 
information in the annual report of the LA? 

::��ftm 
·"' .f,s���·�B; . . 

':.� ·· . '.·· 
l tcJ.' 

... 
' ,. 

" 

� . 
: -� 

. '� ''-"" 
� ... - �h · .,.:.;;_.,,: 

: �,. ""Yi.;:·. 

.,.'1-' "�t�· 
<, 

... �- .c{ 
.� '-"}_:#-" · �·- · � , .. 

""�-<'4�.;.::;.,,;.' '  1\- k ' ,.,  
A. Overview and Operational 

Statement of objectives 
Mayor's/president's report 
Review of operations 
Organisation structure 
Internal control 
Environmental management 
Personnel 
Occupational health & safety 
Working environment 
Training programmes for staff 
Summary facts and figures 
Acknowledgement/award received 
from the state and federal government 
Problems i n  undertaking 
services/activities 
Reasons for current status of  
performance achievement 
Efforts in generating more revenue 
Other items - please specify: 

B. Non-Financial Performance 

Goals and objectives o f  
services/activities 
Non-financial performance targets 

" 
.,., 

k it the item -l Degree ,9f lm,portance ' -
you expect to ,.,.. ' •. 

enab!e you to ;.. __ ,... 0 = Unimpon,ant 
1 = Minor ' importance �ssess and .: � 2 ·= Quite important monitor the '· 

LA's .. 3 = .Very im(>ortant 

performance?· 4 = Extremely important 
[Please tick ( !') the degree of [Please tick ·(-') . 
importance yo�·pttach to each item] 

your relevant 
responseJ.. ,.,, 

. . ·G.;� 
Yes .• No 0 1 2 · 3 4 
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Yes No 0 1 2 3 4 

Performance Measurement 
Input measure 
Output measure1 
Impact measure3 
Efficiency measure4 
Effectiveness measure5 

Client/customer satisfaction 
measure6 
Productivity measure7 

Comparison between actual and 
target achievement 
Comparison between current and 
previous years achievement 
Report on the use of government 
grants 
Report on performance of contractors 
responsible for providing contracted 
services 
Achievement of speci fie programmes 
as ordered by the state/federal 
government 
Other items - please specify: 

C. Financial 
Auditor's report 
Financial review 
Statement of Revenue and 
E xpend iture: 
Revenue according to activities or 
services rendered 
Revenue according to source of 
revenue 
Total revenue 

1 1 nput: A mount of resources, (e.g. personnel ) that have been used for a specific service or 
programme. 

20utput: A mount of work performed (e.g. tons of waste col lected or number of customers 
served). 
3 1mpact (outcome): The impact of the service/programme/acti vity on society/customers. 
4Efficiency: The ratio of i nput to output (e.g. employee-hours per number of customers served). 
5Effectiveness: The relationshi p  between the outputs or results and objectives. 
6Ciient/Customer's satisfaction : The degree of customers' satisfaction with the service provided. 
7Productiv ity: Input per effective service provided (e.g. labour hours per satisfied customers 
served). 
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Yes No 0 1 2 3 4 

Gross expenditure according to 
services 
Net expenditure' according to services 
Expenditure classified by nature or 

function 
Total expenditure 
Total excess/surplus 
Bala nce Sheet Statement: 
Fixed assets: 

Operational assets at cost 
Operational assets at market value 
Non-operational assets at cost 
Non-operational assets at market 
value 

Community assets at cost 
Community assets at market value 
Infrastructure assets at cost 
Infrastructure assets at market 
value 

Total fixed assets 
Deferred charges 
Long-term investments 
Long-term debtors 
Current assets 
Current liabilities 
Long-term borrowings 
Deferred liabilities 
Deferred credits -government grants 
Reserves 
Cash Flows Statement: 
Operating cash flows 
Investing cash flows 
Financing cash flows 
Year end cash and cash equivalents 
Accounting Pol icies 
Financial performance rat ios : 
Revenue to number of staff 
Total assets to number of staff 
Revenue to cost of service 
Return on assets 

1 Gross Expenditure: Expenditure gross of al l service specific income. 
2 Net Expenditure: Gross expenditure minus service specific i ncome (e.g. speci fic grants, fees 

and charges). 
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Other financial performance ratios 
(please specify): 

Actual to budget comparison 
Information about cost of 
service/activity 
Other items - please specify: 

D. Futu re-Related Information 

Future Plans 
Future performance targets 
Information pertaining to future 
capital improvements 
Other items - please specify: 

Yes No 0 l 

5. Do you receive/obtai n  the annual report of a local authority? 

2 

Yes (please proceed to question 6 and the subsequent questions) D 
No 

u 

3 4 

If you do not recei ve/obtain the report, please answer why? (then proceed to question 
10): 
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6. How do you receive/obtain the annual report of a local authority? Please t ick 
(.f) your relevant response (you may tick more than one). 

Directly fro m  the local authority 

From the publ ic library 

From the local authority' s website 

Other (please specify): 

7. In what capacity do you receive/obtain the annual report of a local authority? 
Please tick (.f) your relevant response (you may tick more than one). 

A federal government authority 

A state government authority 

Management o f  local authority 

A member o f  the publ ic (taxpayer) 

A member of the public (service consumer) 

A firm using public service 

Another government department 

A counci l lor 

An employee of local authority (other than management) 

A creditor 

A suppl ier 

An auditor 

A pol itician 

A researcher 

Other (please s peci fy): 
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8. For what pu rpose do you review/use the an nual report of a local authority? Please 
tick (.f)  your relevant response (you may tick more than one). 

To understand i ts background and operations 

To analyse its financial statements 

To review the report on services/activities undertaken 

Other (please specify): 
__________________ 

_ 

I receive the report but do not use i t  D 
Why not? 

9. For what purpose do you use the performance information (financial and non
financial) i ncluded in the annual report of a local authority? Please tick ( .f) 
your relevant response (you may tick more than one). 

Dec ision-making 

Performance appraisal 

Accountabil ity 

Improvement in public service performance 

Public participation 

Other (p lease specify): 
_________________ 

_ 
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1 0. You r Profile 

a. Gender: D Male 0 Female 

b. Academic Qual ification : 

Doctor of Philosophy 

Master's degree 

B achelor's degree 

Diploma 

Other: (please specify) 

c. Age: 
30 and below 4 1 - 50 

3 1  - 40 5 1  and above 

d. Employment ( if  relevant): 

n Professional 

D Management (executive) B Technical 

Administration (clerical ) 

D Other (please specify) 
______________ _ 

e .  Monthly household gross income: 

Below RM500 

RM500 - RM I ,000 

Above RM5,000 
R RM I ,OO I - RM2,500 

RM2,50 1 - RM5 ,000 

THANK YOU FOR YOU R  T I M E  A N D  COOPE RATION 
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Appendix C :  Covering Letter to Questionnaire 

���:- ,, < ' \11 MasseyUnlverslty 
� CCJLL{(l[ OF IJUSINESS 

lliijtJI WAIU t4kial 

Date: 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

SCHOOL OF ACCOUNTANCY 
Private Box 756 
Wellington, New Zealand 

T 64 4 801 5799 
F 64 4 801 2885 
www-accountancy.massey.ac.nz 

Research Project: An investigation into the performance reporting practices and accountability of 
Malaysian local authorities 

I ,  Norida Basnan, am a lecturer at the Pusat Pengajian Perakaunan, Fakulti Ekonomi  dan Perniagaan, 
Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia and am currently undertaking ful l  time PhD research at Massey 
University, New Zealand. The research is undertaken to fulfi l  the requirements for the degree of Doctor 
of Phi losophy (PhD) in Accounting. It involves a comprehensive examination of the performance 
reporting practices of Malaysian l ocal authorities and aims to investigate whether current performance 
reporting of Malaysian local authorities meets the expectations of their stakeholders. 

I therefore hope that you can assist me i n  this research project by completing the attached questionnaire. 
The questionnaire is designed main ly to gather data on performance information items you expect to 
enable you to assess and monitor the performance of a Malaysian local authority. I would also appreciate 
i f  you could rank the importance of each information item for disclosure in an annual report. For this 
purpose, a five-point rating scale below wi l l be used. You may also add any further items you think 
worth considering. 

0 1 2 3 4 
Unimportant Minor Quite important Very important Extremely 
(item should not importance (item is of (item should be important 
be disclosed) (item should be intermediate disclosed and it is (item is 

disclosed but is of importance and it very important) tremendously 
minor should be important and it 
importance) disclosed) must be disclosed) 

The questionnaire is also designed to seek your opin ions on the accountabil ity of a Malaysian local 
authority for its performance and the use of the performance information disclosed in the annual report. 

This project is being conducted in accordance with establ ished Massey University procedures relating to 
research. An enclosed information sheet sets out the purpose of the research project, research procedure 
and your rights as a participant. 

I encourage your participation and look forward to receiving the completed questionnaire. I f  you seek 
c larification of any aspect of thi s  research project, please do not hesitate to contact me (contact detai Is are 
provided on the information sheet). 

Thank you very much for your time and co-operation. 

Yours faithfully, 

NORIDA BASNA N 

247 



Appendix C Cont .. 

INFORMATION SHEET 

AN INVESTIGATION INTO THE PERFORMANCE REPORTING 
PRACTICES AND ACCOUNT ABILITY O F  MALAYSIAN LOCAL 
AUTHORITIES 

Purpose of the research project 

The aim of the proposed research is to investigate if current performance reporting of  
Malaysian local authorities meets the expectations of  their stakeholders. In  achieving the 
aim, the main objectives are: 

l .  to identi fy the type of information that a broad group of stakeholders expect to 
enable them to assess and monitor the performance of Malaysian local authorit ies. 

2 .  to evaluate the extent and qual ity of  d isclosure o f  performance information within 
annual reports of Malaysian local authorit ies and ascertain whether the informational 
expectations of stakeholders are being met. 

Procedure 

At the first stage, the research project wi l l  involve part ic ipants completing a 
questionnaire. It is expected that the questionnaire will take between 20 to 30 minutes 
to complete. The next stage wil l  involve development of a disclosure index that wi l l  be 
used to assess the extent and quality of performance information currently disclosed in  
annual reports of  Malaysian local authorities. Final ly, the project wi l l  involve scoring 
the extent and qual ity of d isclosure. 

Ethics 

Your identity wi l l  be protected and pseudonyms wil l  be used in presenting the research 
findings (that w i l l  be embodied in a PhD thesis and reported in scholarly publ ications 
and conferences). All data gathered from this survey wil l  be locked away and only my 
supervisors and I and the examiners of the PhD thesis wil l  have access to the data. The 
data wil l  be securely disposed of five years from the date of the conclusion of the 
research project. 

This project has been evaluated by peer review and judged to be low risk. 
Consequently, it has not been reviewed by one of the University ' s  Human Ethics 
Committees. As the researcher of this project, I am responsible for the ethical conduct 
of this research. I f  you have any concerns about the conduct of th is research that you 
wish to raise with someone other than the researcher, please contact Professor Sylvia 
Rumball, Assistant to the V ice-Chancel lor (Ethics & Equity), te lephone 06 350 5249, 
emai 1 :  humaneth icspn@.massey.ac .nz. 
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Your rights as a participant 

You are under no obl igation to accept this invitation. I f  you decide to participate, your 
r ights are as fol lows: 

• To decl ine to answer any particular question; 
• To ask any questions about the study at any time during part ic ipation; 
• Your identity and your organi sation' s  name wil l  not be used unless you g 1 ve 

permission to the researcher; 
• You wil l  be given access to a summary of the project findings ( if  required) when it  

i s  concluded. 

Contact Details 

Researcher: 

Norida Basnan 
School of Accountancy 
M assey University 
Private Box 756 
Wel l ington 
New Zealand 
Tel :  +64 4 80 1 2794 ext 6 1 24 
noridabasnan@yahoo.co.nz 

Supervisors: 

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Stuart Tooley 
School of Accountancy 
M assey University 
Private Bag 1 1  222 
Palmerston North 
New Zealand 
Tel :  +64 6 356 9099 ext 2 1 73 
s .tooley@massev.ac.nz 

or Pusat Pengaj ian Perakaunan, 
Fakulti Ekonomi dan Perniagaan 
Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia 
43600 Bangi, Selangor 
Tel :  0 1 9  398 1 925 

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Jillian Jeanette Hooks 
School of Accountancy 
Massey University 
Private Bag I 029 04 
North Shore Mai l  Centre, Auckland 
New Zealand 
Tel :  +64 9 443 9700 ext 9458 
j.j.hooks@.massev.co.nz 
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Appendix D :  A Summary of Potential Items and Their Source of References 

---- I - I 2 I 3 I 4 I 5 
� OVE�Y!EW A N Q. 9PE_!!A_!IONAL _ 

f-���t�me�t oJ: o_t>j_ecti �es _ _ __ _ 

1 Malor's reportlp_!:_e�i�en(� state'!l_ent � �evie�_o[ operatiOf1S _ _ _ 
_ 

I Q_r:ganis�tjo_fl_structure 
_

_ 

; Internal control r ]nviro!i�ent re:fi:�rt 
Personnel 
Occupationa-i health

-& safety--

X 

X j - - -
' -

Eg�_l empl2_l�ent _ OE2Q_rtunit 
'[�aining_Qr<_>_gral!l�e_s_ for _g _aff __ 

_ t Sur:!:l��ry !�_!_�_ !_ tig�
_

r�s
_ 

_ ___ __ 
_ 

I I 

.r=- 1--=- -+ � - - . 
I Acknowledgment/award received from the 

��ate_��� federa�vernment 
_

__ _ 

• �r-���t:ms_in und_t:!"taki!lg�ervices/activiti�s 
Reasons for current status of performance 

L���levell)_�_!l_t 
____ ____ ____ _ _ _ _ _ _ [ Eff<2!:_ts_in  g!_fl_e!ati!lg more revenu_t:_ _ _ 

NON-FI NANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
I r- ------- - - - - - ----- ··-- -- · 

1 Go��_ and �ectiv�_�_of servi_ces/�_£tivJ!ies I tJ.�I!.: tinan�i!l_l _gerfor�nc_<! t�!]�ts___ _ _ _ 

· Performance measurement: 
I nput measures 
Output measures 
Outcome measures 
Efficiency measures 
Effectiveness measures 

. C l ient/customer satisfaction measures 

1 --.:r-�-�-j.-----. 1 - I 
--- 1 

,_____ -�- - . --i 

�-;�rT� : ( _
_ 

:-

, 

" 
�

---
---

1 � I I 
I X 
. X 
I 
I i 

-�l 
I X ' 

L-- Pro(j_u�t iv i t��!lsures__ _ _ _ _ 

1 Comparison between actual and target 
achievement 

+- __ _.. 
_

_ __ _ 

I --+-- ---·- - ·  

' -- - - ·------

X 

I 
--j-
-- .l 

- I -.. - l  -

I __ , 
I 

X 
X 
X 

SOURCE OF REFERENCE 
8 I 9 I 1 0  I 1 1  1 5  1 6  1 7  

X 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

--- 1 --- I I _ - ---
-
-- -- --±--- � 

- i - -

l -· . 

-
_1

-

L = -� .  
.. 

�- -_4. �:�--

X 

-_ . +- -· -

-

- - -

- - ---- - -
-_

_ 
-=-- -� -- --� -:��-- -- :-=- :_=--= -= 

--

-t· -- rf - "· --
-·-·· . - _11 _ - �- ---

---- . --- -- - ----
-f-- - -

-- - -- t -
- _ _L .. --+�--- 1-

-

-- . . - _ __ _ ! __ 

X X X I 
X X X I I I 11 X X X I I X 
X X I I X 

X 
X 

! I X I I I I X i . 
- t- -t- - � -- r1 - - - --

-i-- - t-

-
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! I I I i X 
I 

- _[_ __ .!.__ ·--· -- - -- -•---
- .l --- � - --_j_____ _L 
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. .  - - - - -- ... -----

-
---�--

-
-

----
Comparison between current and previous 
years achievement 
Report on the usage of government grants 
Pertormance of contractors responsible tor 

_prov iding contracted services 
Achievement of speci tic programmes as 
ordered by the state and federal 
government 
FI NANCIAL 
I N FORMATION/PERFORMANCE 
Auditor's report 
Financial review 
-Statemeni- oi· financial perfo-rmanceT-
Statement of revenue and expenditure: 

-

Income according to activities or services 
rendered 
Income according to source of income 
Total revenue 
Gross expenditure according to services 
N_'!!_ expenditl!re according to S!rvices 
Expenditure classified by nature or 

function 
Total expenditure 
Total excess/surplus 
Statement of financial position/balance 
sheet: 
Fixed assets: 

Operational assets at book value 
Operational assets at fair value 
Non-operational assets at book value 
Non-operational assets atfair value 
Community assets at book value 
Community assets at fair value 
Infrastructure assets at book value 
Infrastructure assets at fair value 

--

-, -
-
n- -

'3--

X 
X 

-

X 

I 

I 

X 
X 

l ! 
I 
I - -

X 

' 
' 
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t- -

-- -

4 5 

-
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X X 
X 

X X X 
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·· -- ---�-- -- -
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I I 
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- !  
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I 
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---
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-
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-- --
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- -
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-

1 0  1 1  1 2  
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1 7  
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1 2 3 4 
Total fixed assets 

Deferred char�es 
Long-term investments 
Lonf{-term debtors 
Current assets 
Current liabilities 
Lonf(-term borrowinf(s 
Deferred liabilities 
Deferred credits -government grants 
Reserves 
Statement of cash tlow: X X X 
Ope rat in� cashflows 
lnvestinf( cashflows 
Financing cash .flows 
Year end cash and cash equivalents 
Accounting polic ies X X 
Financial performance ratios X I 

Revenue to number of staff 
Asset to number of staff 
Revenue to cost of service 
Return on assets 

Actual to budget comparison X X 
I nformation about cost of service/activity X 
FUTURE-RELATED I N FORMATION 
Future plans ! I Future performance targets I Information pertaining to future capital ! X 
improvements 
Note: Source of reference is the study from which the particular items were selected. 
I .  Ryan et a l . (2002b) 7. OECD ( 1 994) 
2. Banks et al. ( 1 997) 8 .  Connolly and Hyndman (2004) 
3 . Anthony ( 1 978) 9. Clark (2003) 
4. Robbins and Austin ( 1 986) I 0. Boy ne (2002) 
5. Daniels and Daniels ( 1 99 1 )  1 1 . Pollanen (2005) 
6. Mack and Ryan (2004) 1 2. Tayib et al. ( 1 999) 

I 

: 

5 6 7 8 9 1 0  1 1  1 2  1 3  14  1 5  1 6  1 7  
X X 
X X 
X X 

' 
X X 
X X 
X X 
X X 
X X 
X X 
X X 

X X X X X X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

X X 
I 
I X 

X 
X 
X 

X X 

X 

I 3. The Cl PFA ( 1 993) Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting for Great Britain 
1 4 .  The Treasury Circular No.4/2007: Guidel ines for preparation and presentation of annual reports and financial 

statements o f  statutory bodies of Malaysia 
1 5 . The Financial Reporting Standards of Malaysia 
1 6. The Publ ic Admin istration Development Circular No 2/2005: Guidelines to establish key performance indicators 

and to implement performance measurement in government agencies 
1 7 . Opinions by experts (accountants, internal auditor and researchers with public sector research experience) 

! 
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Appendix E: Reasons for Local Authorities to be Held Accounta ble 

Focus . , · ·c· • , c ' ;, External ·· · ' ''� '? · · �•:. >':s� ,i--,�fntem·a(:'�:;; v . f •J ,. · · 1' · 

Customer: 

\ ,_. " ,  ,, r" , .'r •. , . Public Creditors State Gov.t ,,Councillors .. '�.· Ma,nagement '. Employees 
�. ·; <''.>.��··. •,· , ; /" • • (n ::;  399) (n =:= 1 2) (n ='6) · • (n.= 13j < \'I' . (n =•92) 1'it ·��,� ;(Ji .;i:t 144)\ • 

• Raise level of customer satisfaction 16 8 0 8 8 8 
• To increase customer confidence and trust 1 3  8 0 0 6 7 
• To ensure quality services are provided 8 0 1 7  8 1 1  9 

• To improve the qual i ty of services provided }9 � ?7 2� 216 2� Total - - - - -
Tax/ratepay��:

. 
. 26 25 67 38 29 30 

• Respons1b1hty for tax/ratepayer momes 
Public: 1 7  8 0 1 5  1 8  1 0  
• To improve publ ic image and support 1 1 7  o 0 5 3 
• To demonstrate public benefit is 25 o i5 23 13 
Total - - - - - -
Organisational: 1 3  33  1 7  8 1 2  20 

• To improve managerial performance 0 0 0 0 7 1 0  
• To improve financial control 13 33 I7 � 1

-
9 30 

Total 
Government: I 0 0 8 0 I 

• I n  return for delegated powers/responsibi l ities Q Q Q � 1 Q 
• Obligation as a government agency 1 Q Q lQ 1 1 

Total 

No reason stated 3 0 0 0 I I 
_____ ..... ... --------- ---------- --------- ----------- ---------

TOTAL ( *rounding error) 1 00% 99%* 1 0 1%*  1 0 1%* 99%* 1 00% 
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Appendix F :  Accountability Relationship (Accountabil ity to Whom?) 

- » ' ': ; ''"' External Internal 

� '.!::· ·�(����1�;Y'··�. tf�.;;·�: fr�,�:<·· .. l 
J,>ublic Creditors State Govt · r Councillors , · · , Man.ageme�t �;!Jli .. EtJlployees.� 

: . .  <n-= 399> (� ==, 12) '· (n,,=. 6) . 1: . . '(n';;;, _l3Y �.·�+ "' ·� (n\= 92) l "• ; (ll = 144) ' 
Public as tax payers 98 58 1 00 92 79 83 
Public as service consumers 92 58 83 85 73 82 
State government 68 92 1 00 92 75 7 1  
Federal government 48 58  83  77  67 55 
Counci l lors 28 1 7  83 54 47 47 
Employees 26 25 67 46 48 49 
Creditors (suppl iers/lenders) 1 0  8 67 54 30 36 
Auditors 8 8 83 3 1  30 29 
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Appendix G(i): Understanding 'Accou ntability ' :  Patterns on the Scope of Accountability 

I ndicated (a) only 
Indicated ( b) only 
Indicated (c) only 
I ndicated (d) only 

TOTA L 

I ndicated (a) only 
Indicated (a) and (b), or (b); but not (c) or (d) 
I ndicated (a) and/or (b) and (c), or (c); but not (d) 
I ndicated (a) and/or (b) and/or (c), and (d), or (d) 

TOTA L 

Notes: 

" 

40% 
======= 

4 
24 
27 
45 

--
1 00% 

======= 

·External 

go;o 
======= 

0 
8 
0 
92 

--
1 00% 

====== 

a) Accountable for expenditure made in accordance with rules and regulations. 
b) Accountable for the use of financial resources. 
c) Accountable for the prov ision of efticient and effective services. 

0% 
======= 

0 
0 
0 

1 00 

1 00% 
======= 

d) Accountable for the management of entrusted pub l ic monies and organisational accomplishments. 

30% 24% 30% 
======= ======= ======= 

0 8 6 
0 8 6 

40 24 30 
60 40 58  

1 00% 100% 1 00% 
======= ======= ======= 
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Appendix G(ii) :  Understanding 'Accountability ' :  the Direction of Accountability 

Rendering an account to the higher authority only 
Rendering an account to al l stakeholders 

TOTA L 100% 100% 1 00% 1 00% 100% 1 00% 
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Appendix H:  Mean Scores for Individual Stakeholder Type 

'!' t-' I, "; Intern·al Sta"eholders . <f'--'·1� ��,;,!: M.. &,i,, 'Exterp;a,:�(a.Keholdei'S_�. ��·.· , �: Information Item , t-r,;· :::�_ 
<·; 

Management I Council lors I Employee� 'I t :P�b lic 1 Creditors�,, . . · Stat� , 
' · • ···· .:; -� �'.:-Government 

Overview and Operational 
Statement of objectives 
Mayor's/president's report 
Review of Q.P_erations 
Organisation structure 
I nternal control 
Environmental management 
Personnel 
Occupational health & safety 
Working env ironment 
Train ing programmes for staff 
Summary facts and figures 
Acknowledgement/ward received from the state/federal government 
Problems in undertaking services/activities 
Reasons for current status ofperformance achievement 
Efforts in generating more revenue 
A verqge Mean Score 
Non-financial Performance 
Goals and o[)j_ectives of services/activities 
Non-financial performanct::_ta!g_ets 
I nput measures 
Output measures 
Impact measures 
Efficiency measures 
Effectiveness measures 
Customer satisfaction measures 
Productiv ity measures 
Comparison between actual and target achievement 
Comparison between current and previous years achievement 
Report on the use of government grants 

2.89' ·" 2.46 
2 .58 2.46 
2.66 2.85" 

2.73 2.08 
2.9 1 ' ·" 2.23"·3 

2 .89 2.62 
2 .90'·0 2.08b,c 

2 .78' · a, c 1 .694•c 

2.82' • J, a I .  92"· b 

2.88' · J, a 1 .77·· b 

2 .85 2 .23 
2 .76 2 . 1 5  
2.98 3 .08 
2.9 1 2 .85 
3 .00 3 .00 
2.84 2. 36 

3 .00 2. 1 5  
2.88 1 .3 1  
2.9 1 1 .46 
3 . 1 1 1 .77 
3 .22 2.08 
3. 1 1  2.3 1 
3 . 1 3  2 .08 
3 . 1 4  2 .08 
3 .2 1 2.46 
3.09 2.39 
3 .08 2 .69 
2.89 2.54 

2 .92··0 2.041·• 1 .83"·0 2.83 
2.8¥ 2.04'·" 2.50 2.33 
2 .74l 2 . 1 1 ' ·•· a 1 .92 2.67 
2.62L J .53 '•L 2 . 1 7  2 .50 
3.03Z,J 2.301,Z,a 3 .00" 3 .00 
3 .oo• 2.35'·· 2.83 2.33 
2.97Z,c 2 .07'· Z, a 2 .928 2. 1 7 
2 .98L,J,4,b 1 .67 ' • . 1 .923•11 1 .83" 
2 .84L,4,0 J .6 J ' • L 2 .25 1 .503•4 

2.88l,4,b 1 .68' ·· 2.50 1 .50]·4 
2.75L 1 .78'·L,a 2 .67" 2.33 
2.77L J .981'L 2.42 2. 1 7  
2.99 2.74 3 .08 2.50 
2.94 2 .90 3 . 1 7  2 .33 
3 .06 3 .0 1  2 .75 3 .00 
2.89 2. 12 2. 53 2.33 

2.92 2 .7 1 2.83 2.33 
2 .80 2.59 3 .00 2.50 
2.92 2 .84 2 .92 2. 1 7  
3 .02 3 .02 3 .00 2.67 
3 . 1 5  3 .09 3 .08 3 . 1 7  
3 .09 3.05 3 .08 3 .00 
3 . 1 2  3 .04 3 . 1 7  3 .00 
3 .06 3 . 1 3  3 .00 2.83 
3 . 1 0  3 . 1 3  3 .25 3 .00 
3 .08 3 .00 3 .67 3.00 
3 .08 3 .08 3 .58 3 .33 
3 .04 3 .0 1  3 .50 3 . 1 7  
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�������1�r?u?;!!�_:_______ - · ·----------c=.=- ·-·--1nternal 8t8keJWiders___ ·-·--

. • 

Management Councillors' Employees, " ,,, 

Performance of contractor responsible for providing contracted 
services 
Achievement of speci fic programmes as ordered by state/federal 

_government 
A vera)<e Mean Score 
Financial 
siiilemeni oi"ffevenue and Expenditure

·-- - ···- -

Revenue according to activities or services rendered 
R�venue a�or_�i�!� �ource of reve��e _ ..... . _

_ _  _ 

Total revenue 
Gross expenditure according to service 
Net expenditure according to service 
Expenditure classified by nature or function 
Total expenditure 
Total excess/surplus 
Average Mean Score 
Balance Sheet 
Operational assets at cost 
Operational assets at market value 
Non-operational assets at cost 
Non-operational assets at market value 
Community assets at cost 
Community assets at market value 
Infrastructure assets at cost 
Infrastructure assets at market value 
Total fixed assets 
Deferred charges 
Long-term investments 
Long-term debtors 
Current assets 
Current l iabi l i ties 
Long-term borrowings 

2.79 2.23 

3.0 1  2.08 

3. 04 - ---rD2 · 

3.08 
3 .02 
3 .04 
3 . 1 2  
3 .08 
3. 1 1  
3. 1 3  
3.08 
3 08 

2.8 1 
2.75 
2 .76 , 8 

2.84 
2.85 
2.74 
2 .76 
2.62 
2.67 
2.65 
2 .65 
2.65 
2.66 
2.69 
2.69 

. -- -

------· 

2.69 
2 .3 1 
2.46 
2.69 
2.3 1 
2.23 
2. 1 5  
2.92 
2. 47  

2.08 
1 . 85 
1 .62 8' 0 

1 . 77 
1 .85 
1 .77 
1 .92 
1 . 77 
2.54 
1 . 77 
1 .92 
2.00 
2 .54 
2 .46 
2 .08 

2.98 3 .00 I 2.75 I 3 .33 

3 .00 2.97 

3. 03 2. 98 

3 .05 I 3 . 1 9  

}b� --- -+t :  � ----
3 . 1 2  I 3 . 1 6  
3 . 1 5  I 3 . 1 5  
3 . 1 7  I 3 . 1 8  
3 .06 I 3 . 1 3  
3 .06 I 3 . 1 9  
3 10 I 3. 16  

2 .8¥"" 2.23 '4'8 

2.70< 1 .95 ,<,, 

2.64·· u 1 .82 ,<, ' 
2 .69< 1 .76 ,<, , 

2.72· 1 .79 ,<,
' 

2 .66" 1 .79 ,<, J 

2.64" 1 .8 1  ·"· 
J 

2 .68" . 1 .76 ·"· J 
2 .78" 1 .80 ·"· . 

2 .76< 1 .73 ,<, 8 

2.7Y I .  79 ,<,,, a 

2.76" 1 .69 ,<,,, a 

2.73" 1 .86 ·"· J 

2.78" 1 .79 ' ' J, a 

2.74" 1 .76 ,L, a, 0 

3 .08 I 3 . 1 7  

3. 14 2. 91 
·----- ·- -- ·· ·+--- -

3 .00 I 3 .00 

-

;:�� -· ---- --H: ;�--- - - ·- --

3 .25 I 2 .67 
3 .08 I 2 .00 
3.42 I 2.33 
3 .25 I 3.50 
3 .00 I 3 .67 
3. 19  I 2.88 

3 .60" 1 .83 
2.92' 2 . 1 7  
2.83 2 .00 
2.92J 2 . 1 7  
3 .00' 2.00 
2 .92' 2 . 1 7  
3 .00' 2. 1 7  
2.83J 2 . 1 7  
2.83" 2.83 
2.678 2 .83 
2.83' 3 . 1  a 

2.67a 3 .33J 
2.58 3 .50J 
2.58a 3 .50' 
2 .s8a 3 . 1 7" 
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Appendix H Cont. . .-information· Item ' Internal Stakeholders 
. ·' ; ' �, Ektern)l )Stakeliolderh� · ' .  ' 

. .. , . .  ,J\:'lanagement Councillors E
·pt· ' · pl.oy!e

.
s .,, . ... · .!��!.i . . t! 0;: · Sfs,'S+::6�,�,, 1 * , , : � .. �!�t.� . . . /'i\>,/ •. ,. 

, '" t· · � ·  •. ., • 1 ,. . ·t .. \ ·, 3� �"·" ':,. ,, · <it : � >:-. i' ·,, •• ••· : ·¥��1';<'tt'': · .  •cGoVernment h 
Deferred l iabil ities 2.82 1 . 77 2.63'" 1 .73 .<.J 2.25 3 .50J 
Deferred credits - government grants 2.70 1 .69 2 .67'' 1 .75 ·"· a 2.42 3 . 1 7a 
Reserves 2.8 1 1 .92 2.78" 1 .73 ·"· o, • 2.75" 3 .50° 
A vera�e Mean Score 2. 73 1. 96 2. 72 1 .81  2. 75 2. 73 
Cash Flow Statement 
Operating cash flows 2.79 2.92J 2.80' 1 .9 1  ,,,J, a 2.67 3 .33a 
I nvesting cash flows 2.74 1 .92 2.83' 1 .92 ·'· a 2 .33 3 .33a 
Financing cash flows 2 .76 2.23 2 .88" 1 .98 ·'· a  2 .67 3.33a 
Year end cash and cash equivalents 2.77 2.69 2 .85' 2 .00 ,L 3 .08 2.83 
A verage Mean Score 2. 76 2. 44 2.84 1 . 95 2. 69 3.2 1  
Financial Information Outside Financial Statements 
Auditor's report 3 .04 2.38 3 .04a 2 .89a 3 .25 3.50 
F inancial review 2.88 2.00 3 .04 2.9 1 2 .75 3 . 1 7  
Accounting policies 2.80 2.38 2.89" 2.23 ·" 2 .58 3 .00 
Revenue to number of staff 2.86 1 . 85 2.9 1 '· • 2 .40 ·" 2 .67 1 .50a 
Total asset to number of staff 2.90 , a, o  1 . 77"· c 2 .90'· J,c 2 .52 ·' 3 .00 1 .50J, a �evenue to cost of service 2 .94"· a 2.54 3 .03 ,J 2 .66 a, o 3 . 1 7  1 .67'·J,o 
Return on assets 3 .06 · a  2.3 1 3 .05c 2 .76 a, b, c 2.75 1 . 1 7" 
Actual to budget comparison 3 .08 2 .77 3 . 1 4  2.89 3 .08 2 . 1 7  
I n formation about cost of service/activity 3 .06 2.69 3 . 1 4  3 .04 2.83 1 .83 
A vera�e Mean Score 2. 96 2. 30 3. 02 2. 70 2. 90 2. 1 7  
Futu re-Related Information 
Future plans 3.2 1 2.85 3 .24 3 .22 3 .00 2.67 
Future performance targets 3 .2 1 3 . 1 5  3 .27 3 . 1 4  3 .08 2.67 
I n formation pertaining to future capital improvements 3 .08 2 .92 3 . 1 4  3 . 1 4  2 .92 2.67 
A vera�e Mean Score 3. 1 7  2. 97 3.22 3. 1 7  3. 00 2. 67 

M =  Management (92); C = Council lors (n = 1 3 ); E = Employees (n = 1 44); P = Public (n = 399); Cr = Creditor (n = 1 2); SG = State Government (n = 6). 
{O=unimportant; / =minor importance; 2=quite important; 3=very important; 4=extreme/y important) 
Superscript denotes combinations of mean scores that are significantly different (refer Appendix I )  and where: 1' 2 · · p <0.0 I and a, b . . . p <0.05. 
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Appendix 1 :  Test Statistics for Information Items with a Significant Difference between Stakeholder Group Means 
on the Level of ltem Importance 

_ _ _ -------------1 Information Item 
• I Z Scor� by Pairs of Stakeholder Gro,ups . ,. 

PICr 
Statement of objectives I ��or's/�resident's

_

:port 

--/-Review of operations 

Organisation structure 

Internal control 

Environmental 
management 
Personnel 

Occupational health &
safety 
Working environment 

Training programmes for 
staff 

I 

I -2. 1 05 l ( .035) 
I I 

i -2.5 1 2  
- _ :  ( .0 1 2) 

l I I 
Summary facts and figures 1 -2.057 

1 ( .040) 
Acknowledgement/award 
received from the 
state/federal government 
Operational assets at cost 

Operational assets at 
market value 

l I 
I I : -2.088 
I ( .037) 
-2.695 
( .007)_ .  

·· PISG' 

'---

(showing only differences that are signifi�ant; p values are shown in parentheses) ., ,::�;;. r �· 

P/M PlC 01!. I, .PIE 
-6.235 I 1 -7.926 
( .000) ( .000) 

I -4.23 1 t I -7.452 
( .000) ( .000) 
�4.i99 - - :2�4 1 4 -- -5 :.So2 
( .000) ( .0 1 6) I ( .OOQ2_ 
-7.575 1 -8 .365 
( .000) ( .000) -4. 1 08 I I -5.879 
( .000) ( .000) 
-3 .344 I 1 -4.975 
( .00 1 )  ( .000) 
-6.042 i -7 .995 
( .000) ( .000) 
-7.04 1- - - - -9 .8 1 4 --1 ( .000) (.000) 
-7.59 1 I I' -9.307 
( .000) ( .000) 

-7.423 I I -8.888 
( .000) . ( .000) 
-6.566 I I -7. I 73 

I ( .000) ( .000) 
-4.867 I i -5.835 
( .000) ( .000) 

-3.888 
( .000) l -5.3 1 3  

_ _GOOO)_ 

I -4.905 
. ( .000) 
. -6. 1 56 
( .000) 

Cri I Cr(M 
SG · 

-2.045 
( .04 1 )  

: -2.342 
( .0 1 9) 

I 
I 

! 

Cri CriE 
c ''t 

-2. 1 50 
( .032) 

-+-- -+-------

-2.897 
( .004) 

+ l I 
' 
! - l -· - l. -

.. 
. SG� ': 1: SGL_, .SG/E '� 
<!""' C · .c 

• &. -�z...,.� �� , : t M/C'¥""1� I M/ 'I C(E · . ., iJ�'� · t ,_, . -�·· 

----- · �-------- ·--· 1------ - ---�-
-· ------ --

-2.7 1 6  
( .007) 
-2.908 
( .004) 

I --L.- -

I I I I 
I I 

_ _  J 

-2.205 
( .027) 

-2.675 
( .007) 

I -2 . 1 53 1 -2.505 
( .03 1 )  ( .0 1 2) 

-iToo -·r-2 .527 - :· -3.o72 -____, 
c .o36) I c .o l 1 )  : c.oo2) 
-2.934 1 -2 .2 1 2  I · -2.280 
( .003 ) 1 (.027) ! (.023 )  
-3.0 1 5  I -2.479 I I -2.574 
( .003) ( .0 1 3 ) . ( .0 1 0) 

I l 
I I 

• ..l ------ ----'--
--

260 



Aooendix I C - -
Information Item · 

,.. � ). � ' 
r···r_ 

-· ·r " -� ':{· .  - ' 
- ' \-·�(>� !:-l -.. ., - "\':... t 

; 
P/Cr 

·' --· " -� � �-.. 
,, 

Non-operational assets at 
cost 
Non-operational assets at 
market value 

-2.80 1 
( .005) 
-3. 1 52 

-- - ---- ---- --- _(:_902) 
Community assets at cost -3 .220 

(.00 I )  
Community assets at -2.994 
market value ( .003 )  
Infrastructure assets at cost -3 .062 

( .002) 
Infrastructure assets at , -2.9 1 3 
market value ( .004) 
Total fixed assets � -2.466 

- -- ------ - l:.Ql.�L 
Deferred charges -2.5 1 3  

I (.0 1 2) 
Long-term investments ! -2.687 

1 ( .007) 
Long-term debtors 1 -2.3 52 

1 ( .0 1 9) 
Current assets I 
Current l iabi l i ties ! -2.067 

I ( .039) 
Long:term 

-IJOrrciwi ngs - r �-i .977 

i (.048) 
Deferred l iabi l i ties I I 

Deferred credits - I 
government grants 

,. J� � i"'- i'( :. " ' 
• ' <o 

P/SG P/M 
-6.229 
( .000) 
-7.087 

- - -- --· - __( .OOQ� 
-6.9 1 5  
( .000) 
-6.30 1  
( .000) 
-6. 1 30 
( .000) 
-5 .5 5 1  
( .000) 
-5.025 i ( .000) - -- " l - 5 .848 I < .ooo) 

-2.449 I -5.520 
( .0 1 4 )  ( .000) 
-2.908 ! -5 .983 
( .004) i ( .000) 
-2.907 I -5 . 1 38 
( .004) ( .000) 
-3.0 1 1 

J
-5.789 

_( .90�L . .  
I 

( .000) 
-2.430 I -5 .792 
(.0 1 5) (.000) 
-3 .004 -6.649 
( .003 ) ( .000) 
-2.43 1 l -5.870 
( .0 1 5 )  ( .000 ) 

·: .· .z score by :Pairs of Stakehoider G:i'oups� ,,g. . · ;• -�-.. •:... _,;�';;l.;t<•:7fr;t'<·�7'f;>� ·.,!��tr _, 
(�h�w�g, only diO:ere�ces that are sign�.ficap�; . p,yali.es'f.ir�·;sb'own·_in par��-th��. �s) , .•.. ��l:r��{�sD;'" ��i > 

. "! · '  , « • ' • 

• �I·�·ii£/' •.�,���- ( .;···-!<u�.,«..-J;.;"'ri�---�i"· !;t<i'j!l�" � �<:�:, · ,,. • 
PlC ' -� PIE 

-6.606 
(.000) 
-7.469 

- · -- .  

J.OO_Q)_ 
__ 

-7.5 1 1  
( .000) 
-7. 1 48 
( .000) 

r -6.520 
( .000) 

I -7. 1 88 
! ( .000) 

-
�.

6.964 
---- .:_OQQ)_ 

7.97 1 
( .000) 
-7.34 1 
( .000) 
-8 .00 1 
( .000) 

I -6.7 1 1  
I ( .000) l -7.577 

_ ___ 

T
(._QOO) " 
-7.3 1 5  

I (.000) 
; -6.582 
I ( .ooo) 
1 -6.865 
: ( .000) 

Cr/ Cr/M Cr/ Cr/E · 

SG c •,A" 

l 
I I 

- - - - -�-- - -- . -----

I 
I 

-

I ! 
! 
I I 

l I 
I 

I 
-- - --f---- - - -

' 

I 
I 
I 

-· --· 
-�--,-··----- -

I I 
I 
I 
I 

· SG!M':• 
" 

·- -�-

------

I 

SG/ 
c , i 

-- --

>'·SGiE.� 
<! -�-��-

-- -

,- , '\." 

-··· - . - - -� 

------ --r - -

I ! 
' 

�9G'�\;, M/ ·CfEiil 
"!._:. .  E ' 

-2. 1 99 - 1 .979 
( .028) ( .048) 

----- ---

I 
I 
I 
' 

I 
------ . I ------

I 

I 

f - -
I 

i i 

I 

i ! 
-- -- -- ·-· - --

I 
I 
I 
I 
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... �PP�!l-�.i.�_ .I __ f.?.l!.�-��-· --�- -------------·--·-------·-·-···---·----·····-------·-·--·-··--··-----------··---���---··-··----··----·-·-···-·······-·�---�-·-···--·····-··-···--�. 

Information Item 
.
·· 

· 

.. • ., ,. , , , Z Score by Pairs of Stakeholder Groups . . · · ... . · 
· - " :) • · · ' ·' · (showing only differences- that are significant; p values are. sb'o'wn in· parentheses) •·· 

�--"" t 
r J , , l , �! • :1:', ;7' :;� : �:��-r.J(':i¥i , -: , -�·>1 �_;� !�.(, ,. 

' P/Cr P/SG P/M P/C P/E Cr/ Cr/M Cri . Cr/E . SG/M " SG C '· "'��- .� 
f-::--- -- --- -- ---- -- --
Reserves -2.493 -3 .002 -6.6 1 7  -7.748 

Actual to budget 
comparison 

( .0 1 3) ( .003 ) ( .000) 1 ( .000) 
-2.478 1 -5 . 1 33 I 1 -6.832 
( .0 1 3 ) ( .000) (.000) 
-2 .362 I -4 .823 I I -6.666 ( .0 1 8) ( .000) ( .000) 

-2.324 
J..020) 

-2 .467 
( .0 1 4 ) 

-4.897 I 1 6.532 
( .000) . ( .000) 

-3 .684 
( .000) 
-3 . 1 62 
( .002) 
-2 .775 

_{_.006) i -2.084 
I ( .037) 
' -2.26 1  

l ( .024) 

- 1 .959 
( .050) 
-5. 1 85 

i ( .000) 
I -3 .9 1 9 I c .ooo) 
i -3 .073 
i__LQQn_ 
: -3.07 1 
'__{_.002) 
i -2.386 
: ( .0 1 7) 
-2.627 
( .009) 

-2.029 
(.042 )  
-2.6 1 2  
( .009) 
-2.770 
( .006) 

-2.074 
( .038) 
-2.065 
(.005) 
-2.84 1 
( .004) 

- 1 .976 
( .048 ) 

P = Publ ic (n = 399); Cr = Creditor ( n  = 1 2) ;  SG = State Government (n = 6) ;  M � Management (92); C = Counci l lors (n = 1 3 ); E = Emp1oyet:s (n = 1 44). 

-2.032 
(.042) 
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A .ppen d "  J A S  IX : ummary o f R  espouses o f R  oun d O  ne 
,, ,, �;· '"'5 _, PANEL MEMBER 

.. 
ITEM , ··" . j�- '�. - - .. :.- ;.· ',,. · :MEAN so 

I 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 1 1  1 2  
A l  3 2 4 4 3 4 2 4 3 4 4 4 3.42 0.79 

' A2 3 3 4 0 3 3 2 ' 3 4 4 4 3 3.00 L l 3 
A3 3 3 4 4 3 4 2 4 3 3 3 4 3.33 0.65 
A4 3 4 4 3 2 1 2 3 3 3 4 - 2.91 0.94 

AS 4 2 4 3 2 2 2 4 4 4 3 4 -�- 0.94 
___ _  --

A6 4 2 4 4 2 3 2 3 3 2 2 3 2.83 O.S3 

A7 3 2 3 2 2 2 2 ' 3 3 2 3 4 2.58 0.67 

AS 4 1 1 1 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3 2.58 LOS 

A9 4 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 2.92 0.5 1 
A l O  3 3 4 1 2 1 2 4 3 2 2 4 2.58 LOS 
A l l 4 2 4 4 2 4 2 2 3 3 2 4 3.00 0.95 
A l 2  2 1 3 4 2 4 2 l 4 3 3 3 - 2.82 0.9S 
A l 3  3 2 4 0 1 4 2 3 3 1 2 3 2.33 1 .23 

I 
�--� 1 4  4 2 4 0 1 4 2 ' 3 3 4 3 3 2.75 1 . 29 --

A l 5  4 3 4 4 2 4 2 i 3 3 4 3 4 3.33 0.78 
Bl 3 2 4 3 3 2 2 I 3 3 4 3 4 3.00 0.74 

B2 3 1 4 0 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 2.83 L l 9 
B3 3 1 3 2 2 4 2 ! 3 2 3 3 3 2.58 0.79 
B4 3 2 3 2 2 4 3 4 2 4 3 4 3.00 0.85 
B5 3 3 3 2 2 4 3 ' 4 2 4 3 3 3.00 0.74 
B6 3 2 3 1 2 3 3 4 2 3 3 3 2.67 0.78 
B7 3 I 3 3 2 3 3 : 4 2 4 3 4 2.92 0.90 

__!)� 3 2 4 2 _ 2_  4 2 ' 4 3 4 3 3 -�_!)_ O.S5 --- - -· -

B9 3 1 2 2 3 3 1 4 3 4 3 - 2.80 0.92 
B I O  3 3 4 2 2 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3.25 0.75 
B l l  4 2 4 3 2 4 3 4 4 4 3 3 3.33 0.7S 

r-E1 l 2  ___ 0 2 3 
_ _ _]_ 3 4 3 2 3 4 � 4 1---_28_!. - e-! - �

9
-t---- - --

B l 3  2 3 3 0 3 4 4 : 4 3 4 3 4 3.08 L l 6 
' 

B l 4  2 2 4 4 2 4 3 I 4 3 3 3 3 3.08 0.79 
C l  4 3 4 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 3.82 0.40 
C2 4 2 3 4 4 3 2 4 4 3 3 3.27 0.79 
C3 3 3 4 3 4 3 3 I 3 3 3 4 3.27 0.47 I 

C4 3 3 4 2 4 4 3 I I 3 3 3 4 3.08 0.90 

CS 3 2 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3.25 0.62 
C6 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3. 1 7  0.39 

g ___ _ _ � 2 3 3 �- 4 3 2 3 3 3 4 3.08 0.67 -- -- -- --- ------ --- -
CB 3 2 4 2 4 3 2 2 3 3 3 4 2.92 0}9 
C9 3 3 4 2 4 4 2 4 3 3 3 4 3.25 0.75 

I 

C I O  3 2 4 2 4 4 2 ; 2 3 3 3 4 3.00 0.85 
C l l 4 1 2 I 4 4 3 ' 3 3 3 4 4 3.00 L l 3 

' 
C l 2  4 1 2 1 4 4 3 2 3 3 4 4 2.92 L l 6 

' 
C l 3  4 1 2 I 4 4 2 1 2 3 3 4 2.58 1 .24 
Cl4 4 3 2 1 4 4 2 2 2 3 3 4 2.83 L03 
C l 5  4 2 2 I 4 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 2.83 0.94 

263 



A d' J C t ,ppen IX on .. 

ITEM ' PANEL MEMBER 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 

C l 6  4 3 2 I 4 3 3 3 

C l 7  4 2 - 3 4 3 3 3 

C l 8  4 3 - 3 4 3 3 I 3 

C l 9  4 I - 4 4 4 3 3 

C20 4 3 2 4 I 2 ! 2 

C2 1 4 I 2 4 4 2 I 3 -

C22 4 I - 2 4 4 3 2 

C23 4 2 - 3 4 4 3 ' 4 

C24 4 2 - 2 4 4 3 ! 2 

C25 4 3 - 2 4 4 2 3 

C26 4 3 - 2 4 4 3 2 

C27 4 2 2 2 4 2 2 2 
' 

C28 4 I - 2 4 I 2 I 2 

C29 4 2 3 2 4 4 3 4 

C30 4 I 3 2 4 4 3 4 

C J I  4 2 3 2 4 4 2 I 4 

C32 4 3 3 2 4 4 2 2 --

C33 4 4 - 2 4 4 3 3 

C34 4 2 3 0 4 2 2 I 2 

C35 4 2 2 0 4 2 2 I 2 

C36 4 2 3 0 4 3 3 2 

C37 4 2 3 2 4 3 2 I 2 

C38 4 3 4 3 4 4 3 4 
; 

C39 4 3 3 3 4 4 2 I 2 

0 1  2 4 4 4 4 4 3 3 
02 3 3 4 3 4 4 2 3 
03 2 3 4 2 4 I 2 3 

ADDITIONAL ITEMS - ROU N D  ONE 

All  4 I 

Al2 3 I --f- --,___ 

Al3 4 I 
Al4 3 ! 
AIS 2 

Al6 2 ! 
Al7 4 
Al8 4 I 
A l9 

9 

2 

2 
2 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 
3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

4 

4 

4 

4 

3 

2 

2 

3 
3 

3 

2 

3 

3 
3 

- ·--

4 

1 0  l l  
3 3 

3 3 

3 3 

3 4 

3 3 

4 4 

4 4 

3 4 

4 4 

4 4 

4 4 

4 4 

4 4 

4 4 

4 4 

4 4 

4 4 

3 4 

3 3 

3 3 

3 3 

3 4 

4 4 

4 4 

4 4 

4 4 

4 3 

r-- - --

MEAN. SD 

1 2  

4 2.92 0.90 

4 3.09 0.70 

3 3.09 0.54 

4 3.36 0.92 

3 2.73 0.90 

4 3.18 108 

4 3. 1 8  108 

4 3.45 0.69 -- ----- --- -- � 

4 3.27 0.90 

3 3.27 0.79 

3 3.27 0.79 

3 2.83 0.94 

4 2.82 us 
- 3.45 0.82 

3 3.33 0.98 

4 3.42 0.90 

3 3.25 0.87 

4 3.45 0.69 

2 2.42 108 

2 2.33 107 

2 2.67 107 -- -- ----

3 2.92 0.79 

4 3.67 0.49 

4 3.25 0.87 

4 3.58 0.67 

3 3.33 0.65 
3 2.83 0.94 

1- - -- -- - --- -
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A d" K C  • ppen IX ont. . 
ITEM PANEL MEMBER �f . 

�' '"><''�. ' - �:·;, 
I 2 3 14 5 

C30 4 2 3 2 4 
C3 1  4 2 3 2 4 
C32 4 3 2 4 
C33 4 4 2 4 
C34 4 2 0 4 
C35 4 2 0 4 � 4 2 3 ""�� 0 '" >y. 4 
C37 4 2 3;��� 2 4 
C38 

4 3 �R.-·�� 3 4 

C39 4 3 ,3. ��y 3 4 
D l  2 4 

�-�
4 4 

D2 3 3 �-��3 4 
D3 2 3 � .. -�� 2 4 
A DDITIONAL ITEMS - ROUND ONE 

A l l  4 2 �:..;'"'xi3 3 
Al2 3 2 ··; . .  'l>�4 3 
Al3 3 2 

�
4 3 

Al4 3 I 4 3 
Al5 3 2 4 I 
A l6 0 0 t' J'l 0 0 
Al7  3 2 rll\��3 2 
Al8 3 2 ·:�· 2 3 
Al9 3 2 -� 3 3 
A DDitiONAL ITEM - ROUND lWO 

A l t O  
I 

6 7 
4 3 
4 2 

14 2 

t4 3 
2 2 
2 2 
3 3 
3 2 
4 3 

4 2 
4 3 
4 2 
I 2 

2 3 
2 3 
I 3 3 2 4 2 0 2 
4 3 
4 3 
, 3 _ _ }__ 

-

-�- ··-�·· .. - ;?,;'''*" ' 
8 9 to l l  
4 4 4 4 
4 4 4 4 
2 4 4 4 
3 3 3 4 
2 2 3 3 
2 2 3 3 
2 3 3 3 
2 3 3 4 
4 3 4 4 

2 2 4 4 
3 3 4 4 

3 3 4 4 
3 3 4 3 

4 2 2 3 4 2 2 3 4 I 4 4 3 I 4 3 
3 4 4 2 2 0 0 0 
4 2 2 3 4 2 4 3 
3 4 4 3 

4 
I 

MEAN 

12  
3 3.42 
4 3.42 
3 3.25 
4 3.45 
2 2.42 
2 2.33 
2 2.67 
3 2.92 
4 3.67 

4 3.25 
4 3.58 
3 3.33 
3 2.83 

3 2.82 3 2.82 
3 3.00 3 2.75 3 2.9 1 0 0.36 3 2.82 3 3.00 
2 2.91 -'----·--· 

I I I 

so ·.� MEAN S I  

.... ·:; ·�.; ·,;,· . 

0.79 2.25 
0.90 2.32 
0.87 2.32 
0.69 2.47 
108 2.56 
107 2.64 --
107 2.77 
0.79 2.84 

· -
0.49 

2.97 
0.87 3.04 
0.67 3 .2 1  
0.65 3 . 1 7 
0.94 3 . 1 2  

0.75 
0.75 
1 . 1 3  
0.97 
1 .04 
0.81 
0 .75 
0.77 
0.70 
--- ---· 

. .  Note: Member no. 3 was unable to partiCipate m this round due to offic tal commitments. His responses 
in round one were retained and included i n  the summary. 
Figures shown in italics indicate the new responses made by members on the disclosure importance 
of each particular item. 
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Appendix L :  A Summary of Responses of Round Three 

. ,;.� ·';'." " � '/�� . ·�. MEAN " ; !' ,< 
ITEM PANEL MEMBER - \7  '/ •. MEAN SD · 81 

1 2 3 4 s 6 7 8 9 10 1 1  1 2  

AI  3 2 4 ! 4 3 4 2 4 3 4 4 4 · if-c���142 i 0.79 2.36 
A2 3 3 4 4 3 3 2 3 4 4 4 "'' 3 0.65 2.3 1 
A3 3 3 4 4 3 4 2 4 3 3 3 4 0.65 2.34 
A4 3 4 4 3 2 2 2 3 3 3 4 4 0.79 1 .96 
AS 4 2 4 3 2 2 3 4 4 4 3 4 O.B7 2.56 
A6 4 2 4 ! 4 2 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 ' t'i 0.74 2.5B 
A7 3 2 3 I 2 2 2 2 3 3 3 3 4 '" 0.65 2.4 
AB 4 2 3 ! I 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3 O.B3 2. 1 1  
A9 4 2 3 i 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 J, _0.5 _! __ 2 06 
A I O  3 3 4 ' I 2 2 2 4 3 2 3 4 ts 0.97 2. 1 2  
Al l 4 2 4 i 4  2 4 2 2 3 3 3 4 0.90 2 . 1 7  
A l 2  2 I 3 4 2 4 2 4 3 3 3 3 0.94 2.27 
A l 3  3 2 4 3 2 4 3 3 3 2 3 

: . 0.67 2.B4 
A l 4  4 2 4 if- 2 4 3 3 3 4 3 0.79 2.91 - - --- - ---- ---
A l 5  4 3 4 2 4 2 3 3 4 3 4 0.7B 3.02 
B l  3 2 4 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 4 • 0.67 2 .79 
82 3 I 4 ' 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 "'.:)�ills� 0.79 2.65 
B3 3 I 3 2 2 4 2 3 2 3 3 3 r�·-;· - m · 0.79 2 .B4 
84 3 2 3 ! 2 2 4 3 4 2 4 3 4 - "c 3.00 O.BS 3 .0 1  
85 3 3 3 I 2 2 4 3 4 2 4 3 3 ' ',)'.00 . 0.74 3 . 1  
B6 3 2 3 : 4 2 3 3 4 2 3 3 3 ,. 2.920:. 0.67 3 05 
B7 3 3 3 i 3 2 3 3 4 2 4 3 4 j. 3.0$. 0.67 3.05 
BB 3 2 4 2 2 4 2 4 3 4 3 3 1,1:!3.00 O.BS 3.09 

�--� - 3 3 j 2  2 3 3 4 3 4 3_ c-l- 3.00 0 60 3 . 1 1  
1·.�3.25 ' ---

B I O  3 3 4 I 2 2 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 0 75 3.03 
8 1 1 4 2 4 I 3 2 4 3 4 4 4 3 3 .: "'*.3.33 0 7B 3 .0B 
8 1 2  3 2 3 I 2 3 4 3 2 3 4 4 4 �-� 100, 0.85 3 
B l 3  2 3 3 I 3 4 4 4 3 4 3 4 � �':'3'.17 0 94 2.95 
8 1 4  2 2 4 I 4 2 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 h• '-113.0$, 0.79 f-- 2 .9!._ 

i 4 
-

,.. ":3.83". Cl  4 3 4 4 4 3 4 4 4 -1 4 0.39 2.94 
C2 4 2 4 J 3 4 4 3 2 4 4 3 3 ['t!t.¥"3.33': 0.7B 2 .9 1  
C3 3 3 4 i 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 ' :�3.25' 0 .45 3 . 1 3  
C4 3 3 4 I 2 4 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 '.\.tt �.lS . 0 62 3.08 
CS 3 2 4 i 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 &,;i'i 3.25� 0.62 3.09 
C6 3 3 3 ' 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 :<t�� 3.11� 0 39 3. 1 3  
C7 3 2 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 3 3 4 . ' 3.08 0.67 3 . 1 1  
CB 3 2 4 ! 2 4 3 2 3 3 3 3 4 • �;-3.00 0.74 3. 1 5  
C9 3 3 4 • 2 4 4 2 4 3 3 3 4 . �-;,;,:3.25 .. · 

0.75 3 . 1 0  
C I O  3 L _ �-- ! 2 4 4 2 _2_ 3 _l__ � -- 4 � ·t�:oo.� 0 BS 3. 1 4  

-·--· 

! I : ·t·<o3.08� --
C l l 4 2 2 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 4 1 .00 2.45 
C l 2  4 3 2 \ I  4 4 3 2 3 3 4 4 .r!F'� 3.08•· 1 .00 2 .24 
C l 3  4 2 2 I 4 4 2 3 2 3 3 4 r--- •. 2.83 • I 03 2. 1 5  
C l 4  4 3 2 I I 4 4 2 2 2 3 3 4 t:�- l-1DIJ. I 03 2. 1 4 
C l 5  4 2 2 , I 4 3 3 _l__ 2 c-L 3 _4_ '"': w"< 0.94 2. 1 6  --- -- Jl)l --
C l 6  4 3 2 I 4 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 0.90 2. 1 4  
C l 7  4 2 2 I 3 4 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 ::t'.�.OO 0.74 2. 1 5  
C l 8  4 3 2 I 3 4 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 ��-foo ' 0.60 2. 1 
C l 9  4 3 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 4 �, .. : l58r' 0.5 1 2.23 
C20 4 3 3 I 2 4 I 2 2 3 3 3 3 ... :_, 15< O.B7 2. 1 1  ... , 
C21 4 3 3 I 2 4 4 2 3 3 4 4 4 1:33. 0.78 2 . 1 5  
C22 4 3 2 I 2 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 4 'l.iC!_(iJJ.zs 0.87 2. 1 
C23 4 2 4 I 3 4 4 3 4 3 3 4 4 :•; ,3.50 0 67 2 .2 1  
C24 4 2 4 . 2 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 4 '" 3.33 . 0.89 2. 1 8  
C25 _4 

__ -� - 3 2 r-i-- 4 2 � 3 __i_ 4 �- i�'113.2S 0.75 2. 1 4  --- c- .. 'a.is 
-· 

C26 4 3 3 2 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 ' 0.75 2 . 1 0  
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A d"  L C  .ppen I X  ont.. -
;t.· ITEM PANEL MEMBER 

l 2 3 1 4  
C27 4 2 2 I 2 
C28 4 2 4 I 2 
C29 4 2 3 I 2 
C30 4 2 3 I 2 
C 3 1  4 2 3 I 2 
C32 4 3 3 2 
C33 4 4 4 i 2 
C34 4 2 3 I o 
C35 4 2 2 0 . . 
C36 4 2 3 ' o  
C37 4 2 3 2 
C38 4 3 4 ! 3 
C39 4 3 3 I 3 
0 1  2 4 4 ' 4 ---r---·----!---· 02 3 3 4 I 3 
03 2 3 4 I 2 

A ' 

5 6 7 
4 2 2 
4 4 2 
4 4 3 
4 4 3 
4 4 2 
4 4 2 
4 4 3 
4 2 2 
4 2 2 
4 3 3 
4 3 2 
4 4 3 
4 4 2 
4 4 3 
4 4 2 
4 I 2 

ADDITIONAL ITEMS - ROUNDS ONE AND TWO 
A l l  4 2 4 3 3 2 3 
Al2 3 2 3 4 3 2 3 
Al3 3 2 4 4 3 2 3 
Al4 3 I 3 4 3 3 2 
Al5 3 2 4 4 I 4 2 
Al6 0 0 2 0 0 0 ' 2 
Al7 3 2 4 3 2 4 ' 3 
Al8 3 2 3 2 3 4 I 3 
Al9 3 2 4 3 3 3 3 
Al t O  J 2 4 3 3 3 � 3 

-- MEAN-

.. , .. .. '·' MEAN SD SI _.:_ 
8 9 10 1 1  12 

I 2 3 4 4 3 0.9� 2. 1 1  
2 3 4 4 4 0.97 2. 1 5  
� 4 4 4 3 0 . 79 2.27 
4 4 4 4 3 . 0.79 2 .25 

. 
0.90 2.32 4 4 4 4 4 

2 4 4 4 3 �i1:j(·� 0.87 2.32 
3 3 3 4 4 lttf" 2.47 
2 2 3 3 2 10 8 2 . 56 
2 2 3 3 2 107 2.64 

·-------
2 3 3 3 2 :�*'i�'T 1 .07 2.77 
2 3 3 4 3 P"!f·,w. 0.79 2.84 
4 3 4 4 4 )�<:i' 3.67' 0.-19 2.97 
2 2 4 4 4 

i£3�'� 
0.87 3.04 

3 3 4 4 4 0.67 3.2 1  r--- -- -·· · 

3 3 4 4 3 !\; -�;;�·3.3.1-; 0.65 3. 1 7  
3 3 4 3 3 �,.:•:<u:J" 0.94 3. 1 2  

4 2 2 3 3 .�:t-z.n> 0.79 
4 2 2 3 3 . ' '2.83''' 0.72 
4 2 4 4 3 r' · ·  J.h 0.83 
3 2 4 3 3 -·� i 0.83 
3 4 4 2 3 '" l.OO,f 10� 
2 0 0 0 0 0.50 0.90 
4 2 2 3 3 1.92 0.79 

- �  2 4 3 3 ,».:. 3.00\t 0.74 - - (I �-'�J:IJs<· .. -- - - - -
3 4 4 3 2 0.67 
3 2 4 3 3 '.� 3.00' 0.60 

Note : Figures shown m Ital ics mdicate the new responses made by members on the disclosure Importance 
of each particular item. 
Member no. 3 continued his parti cipation by reconsidering his previous responses and giv ing scores 
for items that had been missed out in round one. 
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Appendix M: Means and Standard Deviations of Individual I tems in  Delphi 
Rounds One, Two and Three 

'g' · :[;: ,� IJEM �� ;;,�'\ _:-i 
' "'' ��- , ';, . 

I ,:J.t; Round h., . .  Round � · Round 3 '· 

' 
!f.;[;,; I:·· 

.' ' � ; ,_,;<;, , 
<t-.., ,..,; MEAN SD MEAN SD M EAN SD 

Overview and Operational 

A I  Statement o f  objectives 3 .42 0.79 3.42 0.79 3.42 0.79 

A2 Mayor' s/president' s report 3 .00 1 . 1 3 3.33 0.65 3 . 33  0.65 

A3 Review of operations 3 . 33  0.65 3 .33  0.65 3 . 33  0.65 

A4 Organisation structure 2.9 1 0.94 3.08 0.79 3 .08 0.79 

AS Internal control 3. 1 7  0.94 3 .25 0.87 3 .25  0.87 

A6 Environmental management 2 .83 0.83 3 .00 0.74 3 .00 0.74 
0.65 

---· � ---f----
A7 Personnel 2 .58 0.67 2.67 2 .67 0.65 
A8 Occupational health & safety 2 .58 1 .08 2.67 0.98 2 .83 0.83 

A9 Working environment 2 .92 0.5 1 2.92 0.5 1 2 .92 0.5 1 

A I O  Train ing programmes for staff 2 .58 1 .08 2.75 0.97 2 . 75 _QX!_ 
Summary facts and figures 3.08 6:'90 

f-C _ ____ 
A l l  3 .00 0.95 3 .08 0.90 

Acknowledgement/award 
received from state and federal 

A l 2  _government 2.82 0.98 2.83 0.94 2.83 0.94 
Chal lenges in undertak ing 

A l 3  services/activities 2.33 1 .23 2.67 0.98 2 .92 0.67 
Factors contribute to the current 
status of performance 

A l 4  achievement 2 .75 1 .29 2.92 1 .00 3 .08 0.79 
Efforts in generating more 

A l 5  revenue 3 .33 0.78 3.33 0.78 3 .3 3  0.78 
Non-Financial Performance 

Goals and objectives of 
8 1  services/activities 3 .00 0.74 3 .08 0.67 3 .08 0.67 

Non-financial performance 
82 targets 2.83 1 . 1 9 3 .08 0.79 3 .08 0.79 
83 Input measures 2 .58 0.79 2.58 0.79 2 .58 0.79 
84 Output measures 3 .00 0.85 3 .00 0.85 3 .00 0.85 
85  Impact measures 3 .00 0.74 3 .00 0.74 3 .00 0.74 
86 Efficiency measures 2.67 0.78 2.92 0.67 2 .92 0.67 
87 Effectiveness measures 2.92 0.90 3 .08 0.67 3 .08 0.67 
88 Customer satisfaction measures 3 .00 0.85 3 .00 0.85 _1:9_Q 0.85 

--- --· --'o.63 
--

89 Productivity measures 2.80 0.92 3 .00 3 .00 0.60 
Comparison between actual and 

8 1 0  target achievement 3 .25  0.75 3.25 0.75 3 .25  0.75 
Comparison between current and 

8 1 1 previous year's achievement 3 .33 0.78 3.33 0.78 3 .33  0.78 
Report on the use of government 

8 1 2  grants 2.83 1 . 1 9 2.83 1 . 1 9  3 .00 0.85 
Performance of contractors 
responsible for providing 

8 1 3  contracted services 3 .08 1 . 1 6 3 . 1 7  0.94 3 . 1 7  0.94 
Achievement of speci fie 
programmes as ordered by 

8 1 4  state/federal government 3 .08 0.79 3 .08 0.79 3 .08 0.79 
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A d" M C  t .ppen IX on .. 
.;.;: ITEM �.:# '': � >· 

"!ib 'j ' �-T ��:\· . ;<;''\ " 
Financial 
Statement of Revenue and Expenditure 

Revenue according to activities 
C l  or services rendered 

Revenue accordi ng to source of 
C2 revenue 

C3 Total revenue 
Gross expenditure according to 

C4 service 
Net expenditure according to 

CS service 
Expenditure classified by nature 

C6 or function 
C7 Total expenditure 

C8 Total excess/surplus 

Balance Sheet 
C9 Operational assets at cost 

Operational assets at market 
C I O  value 

C l l Non-operational assets at cost 

Non-operational assets at market 
C l 2  value 

Communi ty assets at cost 
-----· ----

C l 3  
Commun i ty assets at market 

C 1 4  value 

C l 5  Infrastructure assets at cost 

Infrastructure assets at market 
C J 6  value 

C l 7  Total fixed assets 

C l 8  Deferred charges 

C l 9  Long-term investments 

C20 Long-term debtors 

C2 1 Current assets 

C22 Current l iabi l i ties 

C23 Long-term borrowings 

C24 Deferred l iabi l i ties 

Deferred credits - government 
C25 grants 

C26 Reserves 

Cash Flow Statement 
C27 Operating cash flows 

C28 Investing cash flows 

C29 Financing cash flows 
--:-;-------·----

Year end cash and cash 
C30 equivalents 
C3 1 Auditor's report 

C32 Financial review 

C33 Accounting pol icies 

C34 Revenue to number of staff 

:;·. Round l ,. ,,, < "  Round 2 
MEAN. SD '' . MEAN · SD ' 

3 .82  OAO 3.82 OAO 

3 .27  0.79 3 .27 0.79 

3 .27  0.47 3.25 0.45 

3.08 0.90 3.25 0.62 

3 .25  0.62 3.25 0.62 

3 . 1 7  0.39 3. 1 7  0.39 
3.08 0.67 3.08 0.67 

2 .92 0.79 3 .00 0.74 ---- --I-

3 .25  0.75 3.25 0.75 

3 .00 0.85 3 .00 0.85 

3 .00 1 . 1 3  3 .08 1 .00 

2.92 1 . 1 6 3 .08 1 .00 ---
2 . 58  1 .24 2.83 1 .03 

2 .83 1 .03 2 .83 1 .03 

2 .83 0.94 2 .83 0.94 

2 .92 0.90 2.92 0.90 

3 .09 0.70 3.09 0.70 

3 .09 0.54 3 .09 0.54 

3 . 36  0.92 3.55 0.52 

2 . 73 0.90 2 .73 0.90 

3 . 1 8  1 .08 3.36 0.8 1 
-· - -- -

3 . 1 8  1 .08 3 .36 0.8 1 

3 .45  0.69 3.45 0.69 

3 .27 0.90 3.27 0.90 

3 . 27  0.79 3.27 0.79 

3 .27  0.79 3.27 0.79 

2 . 83 0.94 2.83 0.94 

2 .82  1 .25 3. 1 8  0.98 

3 .45 0.82 3 .42 0.79 
------1--. - ---r- --
3 .3 3  0.98 3 .42 0.79 
3 .42 0.90 3.42 0.90 

3 .25  0.87 3 .25 0.87 

3 .45 0.69 3 .45 0.69 

2 .42 1 .08 2.42 1 .08 

Round 3 
M EAN 

3.83 

3.33 

3.25 

3.25 

3 .25 

3 . 1 7  
3 .08 
3 .00 

3 .25 

3 .00 

3 .08 

3 .08 

2.83 

2.83 

2.83 

2.92 

3 .00 

3 .00 
3 .58 

2 .75 

3 .33 ----
3.25 
3.50 

3 .33 

3.25 

3.25 

2.83 

3.25 

3 .42 
·- -

3.42 

3.42 

3.25 

3.50 

2 .42 

SD 

0.39 

0.78 

0.45 

0.62 

0.62 

0.39 
0.67 
0.74 --

0.75 

0.85 

1 .00 

1 .00 - -- ·-

1 .03 

1 .03 

0.94 

0.90 

0.74 

0.60 
0.5 1 

0.87 

0.78 

0.87 
0.67 
0.89 

0.75 

0.75 

0.94 

0.97 

0.79 

0.79 
0.90 

0.87 

0.67 

1 .08 
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C35 

C36 
C37 
C38 

C39 

ITEM ' 

·-

" 

·�·--
·-

' . 

' 

Total asset to number of staff 

Revenue to cost of service 

Return on assets 

Actual to budget comparison 
Information about cost of 
service/activ i ty 

/ 

Future-Related Information 
0 1  Future plans 

02 Future performance targets 

Information pertaining to future 
03 Ci!Pital i mprovements 
Additional Items (Identified by Delphi 
Panel) 

Auditor general department's 
Al l rating of financial management 

Role and responsibility of 
Al2 counc i l lor 

Public complaints that have been 
AI3 solved 

Activity/programme that 
involved community 

Al4 participation 
AI5 Size of area of administration 

A l6  Scope of authority of  contractor 
Scope o f  authority of LA and 

Al7 other relevant agencies 
A l8  Contracted-out service/activity 

AI9 Assessment tax rates 

Improvement programme of 
A l 1 0  service del ivery system 

"Round l" ,..,•: -
MEAN 

• '"' - ,--.>.: .. »,..�: ,. 
,L 't,SD: #. 

2 .33  1 .07 

2 .67 1 .07 
2 .92 0.79 
3 .67 0.49 

3 .25 0.87 

3 .58 0.67 

3 .33  0.65 

2 .83 0.94 

· 

:Round 2 ' . ', 

·MEAN - , "'sofi: 
2.33 1 .07 

2.67 1 .07 

2 .92 0.79 

3.67 0.49 

3 .25 0.87 

3 .58 0.67 
3 .33  0.65 

2 .83 0.94 

2.82 0.75 
2 .82 0.75 

3 .00 L l 3  

2.75 0.97 
2.9 1 1 .04 

0.36 0.8 1 

2 .82 0.75 
3 .00 0.77 
2.9 1 0.70 

Rourid 3 
·<'-' MEAN'c; • 

2.33 

2.67 
2.92 
3 .67 

3.25 

3 .58 
3 .33 

2.83 

---

2.92 

2.83 

3. 1 7  

2.83 
3 .00 

0.50 

2.92 
3 .00 
3 .08 

3 .00 

SD 
1 .07 

1 .07  
0.79 
0.49 

0.87 
----

0.67 

0.65 

0.94 

--�� 

0.79 

0.72 

0.83 

0.83 
1 .04 

0.90 

0.79 
- - --

0.74 
0.67 

0.60 
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A ppen dix N:  M ulti ple-Information Items and Their Quality C riteria 

�-1 Item 
i A. Overview and O_j)_erational 
1 Statement of objectives 

i 
! 

J Mayor' s/president's report 

I I Organisation structure 

I Role and responsibi l ity of 
counci l lors 

�Area cifadmi!iisti-atlon 

Quality Criteria 

Reference to principal activities/services. 
Inc lusion of mission, goals and performance targets in specific, concise, 
understandable and realistic terminology. 
Measurable/quantitative dimensions with a given time-frame. 

·�-��,>'! __ ., "':, 

Discussion of involvement in establ ishing the goals and objectives (e.g. involvement 
of citizens, counci l members, management, employees). 
Separate titled sect ion. 

Statement specify ing the purpose and scope of the report. 
Reference to a broad spectrum of services/activities. 
Reference to a broad spectrum of achievements. 
Set in context of social, economic, and pol itical environment. 
Discussion of challenges in achieving the mission, goals and objectives. 

Organisational and decision structure. 
Composition of management. 
Composition of counci l . 
Contact information 
Link�s from council to management. 

Source of Reference of Quality Criteria 

Prior studies (for example: Coy et al . , 200 I ;  
Hooks et al . 200 1 ;  Ryan et al. 2002b; Nelson 
et al ., 2003 ). 
Professional recommendations (GASB 
(2003) : Reporting performance information, 
OAG of the UK (2000). 

Ryan et al. (2002b). 
GASB, (2003) . 
OAG of New Zealand (2002). 
Treasury Circular No.4/2007 (Ministry of 
Finance, Malaysia). 

Ryan et al. (2002b). 

Suggestion by the Delphi member. 
Speci fication of_t_!1e role _and !�_S..E_O_ ':JsJb i J_!!y_._ . 
Speci fication of the area of administration. -·-----� - - - - -----·- ·-··-Suggestion by the Delphi member. 
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l item · · ,. . ,, . JQu�iityC_I"i�,!!rla _ · . 
_ __ _ 

' . I Sou'rce of Reference of Quality 'crit�ria' I Scope of authority of local 
1 authorities and relevant agencies 

I I nternal control 

1 Environmental management 

I Personnel 
I 
L_ ------- --1 Occupational health & safety I I 
J Working environment 

I 
I Train ing programmes for staff 
I 
I 

Description of the scope of authority. 

Reference to speci fic internal control programme/system. 
Description of the operation of each internal control programme/system. 
Review of control systems. 

Environmental policies or organisation concern for the environment. 
Reference to statutory requi rementls . 
Description_ of environmenta! protection programme/s undertaken. 

Number of employees. 
Classification of personnel of each department by job type. 

Suggestion by the Delphi member. 
Ryan et al. (2002b). 

Ryan et al . (2002b). 

Ryan et al. (2002b). 

_PEeviou��ar/s_c�r:_1parison. 
_ ______ _ 

Description of programme/s tor occupational health and safet;-- I Ryan et al . (2002b) . 

Safety record. 
Previous year/s comparison. 

Specification of appropriate groups (e.g. by gender/ethnic/employment category) 
Level of positions for each group. 
Previous year/s comparison . 

Descript ion of the programme/s. 
Description of the output of the programme/s. 
Description of the outcomes of the programme/s. 

Ryan et al . (2002b). 

Suggestion by the Delphi member. 
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Summary facts and tigures 

Challenges i n  undertaking 
services/activities 

Factors uenced current 
status of performance achievement 

of fin 
Public complaints that have been 
resolved 

Explanation of each service/activity undertaken. 
Reference to a significant output of each service/activ ity. 
Reference to a sign ificant impact of each service/activity on 
the communitv/c l ients. 

Reference to each service/activity achievement. 
At least three year trends. 
Brief discussion of trends. 
Separate titled section 
Use of i l lustrations. 

allocated. 

nts. 

OAG of the UK (2000). 
Treasury Circular No.4/2007 (Ministry of 
Finance, Malaysia). 

Suggestion by the Delphi member. 
Treasury Circular No.4/2007 (Ministry of 
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Acknowledgement/award received 
from state/federal government i Efforts in generating more revenue 

1 Activity/programme that i nvolved 

I community participation 

, !!,__ l'!on-Financ!!'!f.erforman��--
· Goals and objectives of 
t services/activities 

1 Non-financial performance targets 

I i 
i 
I 

Input measures 

I 
I 

I I 
I 
I 

' > .. ' 
· '  

·:· oj· � . 
Quality Criteria 

Speci fication of the acknowledgement/award. 
Description of the efforts. 

Description of the activity/programme. 

--
-

·

-

-

-

-

-

--

-

-

---

--

-

-

-

-

·

·

-

·

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

·

- ·-
---· 

· - ·-

--

----
--·-

--
Statement of the goals/objectives by service/activity undertaken . 
Description of major strategies employed to achieve the goals and objectives. 
Discussion of risks/uncertainties faced and opportunities uti l ised in  
achieving the goals and objectives. 

Description by service/activity. 
Reference to objectives for key programmes/activities. 
Statement of the capabi l i ty in meeting the performance targets. 

Provide a basis for assessing the results for key, major 
or critical programmes and services. 
An analysis on performance targets achievement by service/activity. 
Comparing performance with objectives for key programmes/activities. 
Meeting performance indicators derived from objectives. 
Some indication of benchmar_l<i[lg. 

-
------

-

-

----r,-�---.j.: :�� --------;;r.��;�t···, ----,...-.-,...--
Source of Refer�n�� o( QualitY::Criteria� 

Suggestion by the Delphi member. 

Suggestion by the Delphi member. 
Suggestion by the Delphi member. 

- OAG o(New Zealand (i00:2). 
______ 

CCAF-FCYI (2002). 
Treasury Circular No.4/2007 (Ministry of 
Finance, Malaysia). 
Publ ic Administration Development Circular, 
No. 2 (2005) of the Prime Minister 
Department of Malaysia. 
Treasury Circular No. 4/2007 (Ministry of 
Finance, Malaysia). 

Ryan et al. (2002b). 
CCAF-FCYI (2002). 
GASB (2003). 
Publ ic Administration Development Circular, 
No. 2 (2005) of the Prime Minister 
Department of Malaysia. 
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Item 
Output measures 

Impact measures 

Efficiency measures 

Effectiveness measures 

Quality Criteria 

Provide a basis for assessing the results for key, major 
or critical programmes and services. 
An analysis on performance targets achievement by service/activity. 
Comparing performance with objectives for key programmes/activities. 
Meeting performance indicators derived from objectives. 
Some indication of benchmarking. 

Provide a basis for assessing the results for key, major 
or critical programmes and services. 
An analysis on performance targets achievement by service/activity. 
Comparing performance with objectives tor key programmes/activ i ties. 
Meeting per!ormance indicators derived from objectives. 
Some indication of benchmarking. 

Provide a basis for assessing the results for key, major 
or critical programmes and services. 
An analysis on performance targets achievement by service/activity. 
Comparing performance with objectives for key programmes/activities. 
Meeting performance indicators derived from objectives. 
Some indication of benchmarking. 

Provide a basis for assessing the results for key, major 
or cri tical programmes and services. 
An analysis on performance targets achievement by service/activity. 
Comparing performance with objectives for key programmes/activities. 
Meeting performance indicators derived from objectives. 
Some indication of benchmarkill_&. 

,-lJ 
Sourc� of �eference, o'f Q�a�ity. Criteria . J 

Ryan, et al . (2002b). 
CCAF-FCVI (2002). 
GASB (2003). 
Publ ic Administration Development Circular, 
No. 2 (2005) of the Prime Minister 
Department of Malaysia. 

Ryan et al. (2002b). 
CCAF-FCVI (2002). 
GASB, 2003 .  
Publ ic Administration Development Circular, 
No. 2 (2005) of the Prime Min ister 
Department of Malaysia. 

Ryan et al. (2002b). 
CCAF-FCYI (2002). 
GASB (2003) .  
Public Admini stration Development Circular, 
No. 2 (2005) of the Prime Minister 
Department of Malaysia. 

Ryan et al. (2002b). 
CCAF-FCVI (2002). 
GASB (2003 ). 
Public Administration Development Circular, 
No. 2 (2005) of the Prime Minister 
Department of Malaysia. 
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I 
I 
1 Item . " :_,, -� [ Customer satisfaction measures 

I 
Productivity measures 

I ---- -· 

1 Comparison between actual and 
I target achievement 

Comparison between current and J previous year's achievement 

Report on the use of government 
grants 

Qtlality Criteria 

Provide a basis for assessing the resul ts for key, major 
or critical programmes and services. 

' ), 

-

An analysis on performance targets achievement by service/activity. 
Comparing performance with objectives tor key programmes/activities. 
Meeting performance indicators derived from objectives. 
Some indication of bench marking. 

Provide a basis for assessing the results for key, major 
or critical programmes and services. 

An analysis on performance targets achievement by service/activity. 
Comparing performance with objectives for key programmes/activities. 
Meeting performance indicators derived from objectives . 

.. _+-Some indication of benc�marking. 

Comparison by service/activity. 
Description of identified factors that have had a sign i ficant 
effect on achievement. 
Suggestions tor performance improvement. 

Comparison by service/activity. 
Comparison for at least three years. 
Description of identified factors that have had a significant 

effect on the trends of the achievement. 

S_l)(!citication of the use of the grants. 

·' y., . . <· 

. ,  ' ·. . .•· .• . .• · ·. ·
. .'} � . .  ,. ·'�5--. �s. �urc'e or:ke��r�"lic�:or $��!!�; c��etia . 

�4, .1. ,. t�. 4 •· ... .� , ,� ·.lt :" -...; •C ·'*' · .. t {" · ill'!.- f\,_ �· 
Publ ic  Administration Development Circular, 
No. 2 (2005) of the Prime Minister 
Department of Malaysia. 

Publ ic Admini stration Development Circular, 
No. 2 (2005) of the Prime Minister 
Department of Malaysia. 

GASB (2003). 
CCAF-FCVI (2002). 
OAG of the UK (2000). 
OAG of New Zealand (2002). 
Treasury Circular No. 4/2007. (Ministry of 
Finance, Malaysia). 

GASB (2003) .  
OAG UK (2000). 
Treasury Circular No. 4/2007. (Ministry of 
Finance, Malaysia). 

Suggestion by the Delphi member. 
Treasury Circular No. 4/2007 (Min istry of 
Finance, Malaysia). 
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Performance of contractor 
responsible for providing 
contracted services 
Achievement of speci tic 
programmes as ordered by 
state/federal government 
Contracted-out service/activit 
Improvement programme of 
service delivery svstem 
C. Financial 

I Statement of revenue and 

I expenditure 

r I Balance sheet 

I 
' Cash flow statements 

Financial information outside 
1nancial statements: 
Auditor's report 

Financial review 

Accounting ool icies 

Soeci tication of the contractors and their oerformance. 

arison. 

Previous arison. 

Previous arison. 

Inclusion of the auditor's reoort. 

Financial review for at least two year comparison. 
Review of revenues for at least three year comparison. 
Review of expenses for at least three year comparison. 
Review of other significant financial issues for at least three year comparison. 
Exolanation of trends. 
Descriotion of account i n  

Suggestion by the Delphi member. 

Ryan et al. (2002b). 
Gore (2004). 
Christiaens and Van Peteghem, (2007). 
Ryan et al .  (2002b). 
Gore (2004). 
Christiaens and Van Petegham, (2007). 
Ryan et al. (2002b). 
Wal lace et al . ( 1 999). 

Public Admini stration Development Circular, 
No. 2 (2005) of the Prime Minister 
Department of Malaysia. 

Ryan et al.(2002b). 
Treasury Circular No.4/2007 (Ministry of 
Finance, Malaysia). 

R van et al. (2002b ) .  
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Item 
Actual to budget comparison 

I nformation about cost of 
service/activity 

Assessment tax rates 

D. Future-Related I nformation 
Future plans 

Future performance targets 

Information pertaining to future 
capital improvements 

;;,;: ' ·--, �.-, . ' 

Quality Criteria . 

• ' '  :ft'·;r �" ;; z,. ;.; -�- , � 
.-. ,, 

, '.L 11:. . •. 

•-�· ,-" ,· . .  .. !«' 

Actual and budget operating revenues with variances, l ine by l ine. 

,. 

Actual and budget operati ng expenditures with variances, l ine by l ine. 
Explanation of significant di fferences. 

Disclosure by service/programme undertaken. 
Explanations of significant difference between actual and budget. 
Previous year/s comparison. 

Disclosure of rates by type of property. 
Previous year/s rates comparison. 
Explanations of decrease/increase of rates. 

Reference to major service/activity. 

Specification of the performance targets. 
Description of the assessment of risks to be faced in working towards 

performance targets. 
Capaci ty/abi l i ty of the organisation to achieve performance targets. 

�eci fication of future ca12ital im12rovement [:llan/s. 

.. . _,;.,��:> ·;; ·:· ·� • • • . · �". :
. 

-Jf :-.'�"  ' · '  <J, ,• ' - . ' -� : . ... . :.?(014- . /�;!?� '.S:,ui-c� or R�r�;en�e �6r Q'lf'a1it; Criteria 

Treasury Circular No. 4/2007 (Ministry of 
Finance, Malaysia). 
Ryan et aL (2002b) . 

GASB (2003 ). 
CCAF-FCYI (2002). 

Suggestion by the Delphi member 

Treasury Circular No. 4/2007 (Ministry of 
Finance, Malaysia). 
OAG ofNew Zealand (2002). 

Treasury Circular No.4/2007 (Ministry of 
F inance, Malaysia). 
OAG ofNew Zealand (2002). 

Treasury Circular No. 4/2007 (M in istry or 
Finance, Malaysia). I OAG of New Zealand (2002). 

-------------------
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Appendix 0: D isclosure lndex 

Statement of objectives Reference to principal activities/services. 
Inc lusion of mission, goals and 
performance targets in specific, concise, 
understandable and rea l istic terminology. 
Measurable/quantitative dimensions with 
a given time-frame. 
D iscussion of involvement in 
establ ishing the goals and objectives (e.g. 
involvement of citizens, counci l  
members, management, employees). 
Se arate titled section. 5 3.42 

Mayor's/president's report S tatement specify ing the purpose and 
scope of the report. 
Reference to a broad spectrum of 
services/activities. 
Reference to a broad spectrum of 
achievements. 
Set in context of social, economic, and 
pol i tical environment. 
D iscussion of challenges in achieving the 
m i ssion, oats and ob· ectives. 5 3.33 

Organisation structure Organisational and deci sion structure. 
Composition of management. 
Composition of counci I .  
Contact information. 
L inkages from council to management. 5 3.08 

Role and responsibi l ity of Specification of the role and 
counci l lor res onsibi l i t  . 2 .83 
Area of administration S eci fication of the area. 3.00 
Scope of authority of LA and other 
relevant agencies 

Descri tion of the sco e of authority. 2.92 
Internal control Reference to specific i nternal control 

programme/system. 
Description of the operation of each 
i nternal control programme/system. 
Review of control system. 3 3.25 

Environmental management Environmental pol icies or organisation 
concern for the environment. 
Reference to statutory requirement/s. 
Description of the environmental 3 .00 

ro ramme/s undertaken. 3 
Personnel N umber of employees. 

C l assification of personnel of each 
department by job type. 
Previous earls corn arison. 3 2.67 

Occupational health & safety Description of programme/s for 
occupational health and safety. 
Safety record. 
Previous year/s comparison. 3 2.83 
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.
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Working environment 

Train i ng programmes for staff 

Review of operations 

Summary facts and figures 

Chal lenges in undertaking 
services/activities 

' 

Factors that influenced the current 
status of performance ach ievement 

Auditor General Department's 
rating of  financial management 

Public complaints that have been 
resolved 
Acknowledgement/award received 
from S tate and Federal 
Government 
Efforts in generating more revenue 

Activity/programme that i nvo lved 
communi ty participation 

Non-Financial Performance 

Goals and objectives of 
services/activities 

Qual,ity Criteria ' '" .. {, .�· l MPS · WI' 
,.,:·.��.' ' ' (0-4) ' 

Specification of appropriate groups (e.g. 
by gender/ethnic/ employment category). 
Level of position for each group. 
Previous year/s comparison. 
Use of i l lustrations. 

3 2.92 
Description of the programmes. 
Description of the output of the 
programme. 
Description of the outcomes of the 
programmes. 3 2.75 
Explanation of each service/activity 
undertaken. 
Reference to a sign ificant output of each 
activity/service. 
Reference to a significant impact of each 
service/activity on the 
community/cl ients. 3 3 .33 
Reference to each service/activity 
achievement. 
At least three-year trends. 
Brief discussion of trends. 
Separate title section. 
Use of i l l ustration. 5 3.08 

Specification of the chal lenges. I 2.92 

Description of the factors. I 3.08 

Specification of the rating allocated. I 2.92 

SQ<!cification of the complaints. I 3 . 1 7  

Specification of the 
acknowledgement/award. I 2.83 

Description of the efforts .  I 3.33 

Description of the activity/programme. I 2.83 

Statement of the goals/objectives by 
service/activity undertaken. 
Description of major strategies employed 
to achieve the goals and objectives. 
Description of risks/uncertainties faced 
and opportunities uti l ised in achieving 
the goals and objectives. 

3 3 .08 
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ltem:t,:4;< �' . - . Quality Criteria '·-"': MPS · .Wl . · "'' 

. �f ' . \ .(0-4) . <· '"'' .,. . . .. 
Non-financial performance targets Description by service/activity. 

Reference to objectives for key 
programmes/activities. 
Statement of the capabil ity in meeting 
the performance targets. 3 3 .08 

I nput measures Provide a basis for assessing the results 
for key, major or critical programmes 
and act ivities. 
An analysis on performance targets 
achievement by service/activity .  
Comparing performance with objectives 
for key programmes/activities. 
Meeting performance indicators derived 
from obj ectives. 
Some indication of benchmarking. 5 2 .58 

Output measures Provide a basis for assessing the results 
for key, major or critical programmes 
and act ivit ies. 
An analysis on performance targets 
achievement by service/activity. 
Comparing performance with objectives 
for key programmes/activities. 
Meeting performance indicators derived 
from objectives. 
Some indication of benchmarking. 5 3 .00 

I mpact measures Provide a basis for assessing the results 
for key, major or critical programmes 
and activit ies. 
An analysis on performance targets 
achievement by service/activity. 
Comparing performance with objectives 
for key programmes/activities. 
Meeting performance indicators derived 
from objectives. 
Some indication of benchmarking. 5 3 .00 

Efficiency measures Provide a basis for assessing the results 
for key, major or critical programmes 
and act ivit ies .  
An analysis on performance targets 
achievement by service/activity. 
Comparing performance with objectives 
for key programmes/activities. 
Meeting performance indicators derived 
from objectives. 
Some indication of benchmarking. 5 2.92 

Effectiveness measures 
Provide a basis for assessing the results 
for key, major or critical programmes 
and act ivities. 
An analysis on performance targets 
achievement by service/activity. 
Comparing performance with objectives 
for key programmes/activities. 
Meeting performance indicators derived 
from objectives. 5 
Some indication of benchmarking. 3.08 
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ltem ' <, . ���: �-:� 
Customer satisfaction measures 

Productivity measures 

Compari son between actual and 
target achievement 

Comparison between current and 
previous year's achievement 

Report on the use of government 
grants 
Performance of contractors 
responsible for providing 
contracted services 
Achievement of specific 
programmes as ordered by 
state/federal government 
Improvement programme of 
service del ivery system 
Contracted-out service/activity 

Financial 
Statement of Revenue and 
Expenditure (SORE): 
Revenue according to activities or 
services rendered 

Revenue according to source of 
revenue 
Total revenue 
Gross expenditure according to 
service 
Net expenditure according to 
service 

Quality Criteria," -, ,,•/ � ' "  'l' MPS WI ;oo: 

' •., (0-4) 
Provide a basis for assessing the resul ts 
for key, major or critical programmes 
and activities. 
An analysis on performance targets 
achievement by service/activity. 
Comparing performance w ith objectives 
for key programmes/activit ies. 
Meeting performance indicators derived 
from objectives. 
Some indication of bench marki ng. 5 3 .00 
Provide a basis for assessing the results 
for key, major or critical programmes 
and activities. 
An analysis on performance targets 
achievement by service/act ivi ty .  
Comparing performance with objectives 
for key programmes/activit ies. 
Meeting performance indicators derived 
from objectives. 
Some indication of benchmarking. 5 3 .00 
Comparison by service/activity. 
Comparison for at least three years. 
Suggestions for performance 
improvement. 3 3 .25 
Comparison by service/activity. 
Comparison for at least three years. 
Description of identi tied factors that 
have had a significant effect on the 
trends of the achievement. 3 3 .33 

Speci fication of the use of the grants. I 3 .00 

Specification of the contractors' 
performance. I 3 . 1 7  

Specification of the programme and its 
achievement. I 3 .08 
Description of the improvement 
programme. I 3 .00 
Specification of the service, act ivity and 
the agency/agencies involved. I 3 .00 

Previous year comparison. I 3 . 1 6* 

n/a I 3 .25 

n/a I 3 .25  
nla I 3 .25  

n/a I 3. 1 7  

nla I 3 .08 
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Item � 't: Quality Criteria '\ �'�. MPS WI ,, :,, ..;;' - +·-"' -.. •. . .--�� : (0•4) ... 
Expenditure classified by n ature or 
function n/a I 3.00 
Total expenditure n/a I 3 .25 
Total excess/surplus n/a I 3 .00 
Balance sheet (BS): Previous year comparison. I 3 . 1 1  * 
Operational assets at cost n/a I 3 .08 
Operational assets at market value 

n!a I 3 .08 
Non-operational assets at cost 

n/a I 2.83 
Non-operational assets at market 
value n/a I 2.83 
Community assets at cost n/a I 2.83 
Commun ity assets at market value 

n!a I 2.92 
Infrastructure assets at cost 

n!a I 3.00 
Infrastructure assets at market 
value n!a I 3.00 
Total fixed assets n/a I 3 .58 
Deferred charges n!a I 2.75 
Long-term investments n!a I 3.33 
Long-term debtors n!a I 3.25 
Current assets n/a I 3.50 
Current l iabi l ities n/a I 3 .33 
Long-term borrowings n/a I 3.25 
Deferred l i abi l i ties n/a I 3.25 
Deferred credits - government I 

_grants n!a 2.83 
Reserves n/a I 3.25 
Cash flows statement (CF): Previous year comparison. I 3 .38* 
Operating cash flows n/a I 3.42 
Investing cash flows n!a I 3.42 
Financing cash flows n/a I 3.42 
Year end cash and cash equivalents 

n/a I 3.25 
Financial information outside 

financial statements 
Auditor' s report Inclusion of the auditor' s report. I 3 .83 
Financial review Financial review for at least two-year 

comparison. 
Review of revenues for at least three-
year comparison. 
Review of expenses for at least three-
year comparison. 
Review of other significant financial 
issues for at least three year comparison. 
Explanation of trends. 5 3 .33 

Accounting policies Description of accounting pol icies, 
showing basis  of presentation. I 3.50 

Revenue to number of staff n/a I 2.42 
Total asset to number of staff 

n/a I 2 .33 
Revenue to cost of service n/a I 2.67 
Return on assets n/a I 2.92 
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A d. 0 C t ,ppen I X  on . .  
Item'' �������.·:�;''*'�·:�:'�·]:!' ' t'¥i '%f . '·"'<lt '"��� 't�� ,:'1!'. X.·l '·' MPS <:> 
. .  , I':Qualn�� 6it�da� . w�L ; ; ;,: �;:, ' 
Actual to budget comparison Actual and budget operating revenues 

with variances, l ine by l ine. 
Actual and budget operat ing 
expenditures with variances, l ine by line. 
Explanation of significant di fferences. 3 

Information about cost of Disclosure by service/programme 
service/activity undertaken. 

Explanation of significant difference 
between actual and budget. 
Previous year comparison. 3 

Assessment tax rates Disclosure of rates by type of property. 
Previous year/s rates comparison. 
Explanations of decrease/increase of 
rates. 3 

Future-Related Information 
ruture plans Reference to major service/activity. I 
Future performance targets Specification of  the performance targets. 

Description of the assessment of risks to 
be faced in working towards 
performance targets. 
Capacity/abi l ity of the organisation to 
achieve performance targets. 3 

Information pertaining to future 
capital improvements Specification of future capital 

improvement plan/s. I 
Note: MPS denotes maxtmum posstble score for extent and quality. Wl denotes wetghungs for tmportance. 

*WI for items SORE, BS and CF are based on the mean of the WI of all items in the particular category. 

# WI ,:; 
' 

/ (0-4) 

3.67 

3.25 

3 .08 

3.58 

3 .33 

2 .83 
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Appendix P (i) 

Examples of Quality Criteria Assessment for 'Statement of Objectives ' 

Local Authority 2 (LA 2): Statement of Objectives: 

• To develop a dynamic city counc i l  i n  order to enhance the quality of l ife and 
economic status of the community, consistent with the National Economics and 
Development Policy. 

• To provide cleaning and maintenance services as fol lows: 
• Waste col lection every three days. 
• Restoration of streams every ten days. 
• L awn mowing every two weeks. 

• To process bui lding plan approvals within the specific t ime frame, provided that 
completed documents have been submitted. 

• Housing/industrial proj ects - one week. 
• House renovations - eight weeks. 

Local Authority 13 (LA 13 ): Statement of Objectives: 

• To develop [LA 1 3 ] as a premier, pro mising and peaceful growth centre. 
• To provide efficient, adequate and friendly high qual ity services. 

Source: Annual reports of LA2 (2005) and LA 13 (2005) 

Assessment: 

Quality Criteria 

I Maximum Possible 
· Score: 5 

i L/\2 Assessment 
1 Score; _!_of..J.J:!!}l 

LA 1 3  Assessment I Score: I of 5 (115) 
I 

' I .  Reference to principal activities/services. 
, 2 .  Inclusion of m i ssion, goals and performance targets in specific, 
1 concise, understandable and real istic terminology. I 3 .  Measurable/quantitative dimensions with a given t ime frame. 
, 4. Discussion of involvement in establishing the goals and ' 

! objectives (for example, involvement of cit izens, council 1 
members, management, employees). : 
Se arate titled section. 

- --·  ___ _] 
I No discussion of involvement of any parties in establ ishing the goals 

. 
· and ob"ectives. Al l  other criteria are met. 

_
_ _ _

_ __j 
: A lthough included in a separate, titled section, the information on : 
! objectives, mission and performance targets were insufficient to be ! able to assess the achievement, as quantitative dimensions were not ; i i ncluded. No discuss ion of involvement of any parties in establishing � 
I the goals and objectives. · 

__ j 
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Appendix P (ii) 

Examples of Quality Criteria Assessment for 'Non-Financial Performance Targets ' 

Local Authority 13 (LA 13): Non-Financial Performance Targets: 

Planning and Development Activity: 

I .  Approval of building plans. Target :  280 applications. 
2 .  Approval o f  certificates of fitness. Target: 1 90 appl ications. 

The performance of the building unit ( i n  2005) has achieved the 94 percent level. This has been 
due to a shortage of three technical staff. Other activities, such as planning, have achieved I 00 
percent. Nevertheless, in order to improve performance achievement of the unit in 2006, the 
shortage of  staff and computers needs to be resolved without delay. 

Local Authority 5 (LAS): Non-Financial Performance Targets: 

Planning and Development Activity: Development of Area I .  

The planning for Area I i s  a detai led plan and focuses o n  development. Area I wi l l  be 
developed as a sustainable and well-planned township. Four areas, which include village 1, 
village 2, village 3 and village 4, are the vil lages in Area I .  

Source.· Annual reports of LA 1 3  (2005) and LA 5 (2005) 

Assessment: 

�Qual ity
-

Criteria I I .  D��cription by servic�/activity-:- ---- -- --- - - - - 

' 2 .  Reference t o  obj ectives. 
I Maximum Possible i 3 .  Statement o f  capabil ity to meet performance targets. 
' Score: 3 I 
I - -- I i LA 1 3  Assessment Targets were described according to act iv i ty .  There was reference to , 

Score: 3 of 3 I objectives of the activity/service, such as the objectives related to i 
� (313) 1 approvals of bui lding plans and certi ficates of fitness. The capabi l ity 1 

�------- · of the articular unit  to meet the t�Eg_�t�_ w�� _Q�scrib� 
__ _ _

_ -- 1 
LA5 Assessment No information regarding the capabi l ity to meet the targets. 1 

i Score: 2 of 3 
! (�13) -- - ------'---- ---------- ---------- ---- -

Note: The d ifferences in allocated scores were not due to the di fferences in the number of objectives or 
non-financial performance targets presented in the annual reports. Instead, the score was allocated based 
on the disclosure of the pre-determi ned qua l ity criteria of the objectives or the non-financial performance 
targets. It was found that each local authority stated all of its objectives or non-financial targets in a 
s imi lar way. For example, if an objective was d isclosed with two quality criteria, the same two criteria 
were also provided with the other objectives. Therefore, the local authority that disclosed two objectives, 
each with two quality criteria and the other local authority that disclosed four objectives each with two 
qual ity criteria were both allocated the same score of 2/5. 
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Appendix P (iii): Annual Report Scoring Model: Item-by-Item, Category and Final 
- Results of a Local Authori� 

" 

i' 
. I• 

Item' 

·. t ' ., 
; .  ' ' i  1·;:-. 

' '.�-: I#� Uq-· ..  ; .;,t 

;id; 
" � 

�-,-,;,, 
"' i=( . 

� ;0 
Weighted

_1 (AS) � · (MPS). 
Overview and Operational (00) 
A I  3 5 
A2 0 5 
A3 5 5 
A4 0 I 
A5 I I 
A6 0 I 
A7 3 3 
A8 0 3 
A9 0 3 
A I O  0 3 
A l l 0 3 
A l 2  2 3 
A l 3  2 3 
A l 4  3 5 
A l 5  I I 
A l 6  I I 
A l 7  n/a n/a 
A l 8  I I 
A l 9  I I 
A20 I I 
A2 1 I I 
Score 25.0 50.0 

Non-Financial Performance (NF) 
822 I 3 
823 0 3 
824 I 5 
825 I 5 
826 0 5 
827 0 5 
828 0 5 
829 0 5 
830 0 5 
83 1 2 3 
832 I 3 
833 0 I 
834 I I 
835 I I 
836 I I 
837 0 I 
Score 9.0 52.0 

i n  2003 

' e;," ' 

'> 
;; � ' 

.Weighted: 
/�"•"'-, ·1 •Item Score 

·" . �dual: •;. 

(wl) 
'(AS/MPS) , 

" 'x WI 

3.42 2 .05 
3 .33 0.00 
3.08 3 .08 
2.83 0.00 

3 3 .00 
2.92 0.00 
3.25 3 .2 5  

3 0.00 
2.67 0.00 
2.83 0.00 
2.92 0.00 
2.75 1 .83  
3.33 2.22 
3.08 1 .8 5  
2.92 2.92 
3.08 · 3.08 
2.92 nla 
3. 1 7  3. 1 7  
2.83 2 .83 
3 .33 3 .33 
2.83 2 .83 

3 .08 1 .03 
3.08 0.00 
2.58 0 .52 

3 0.60 
3 0.00 

2.92 0.00 
3.08 0.00 

3 0.00 
3 0.00 

3.25 2. 1 7  
3.33 1 . 1 1 

3 0.00 
3 . 1 7  3 . 1 7  
3 .08 3 .08 

3 3 .00 
3 0.00 

' .  � 
¥ 

· ' ,, :weighted: 
Category and Final Score 

<' ![4· , Max: 
Actual: · :(MPs x 

(AS X WI) " WI) % 

1 0.26 1 7. 1 0  60.0 
0.00 1 6.65 0.0 

1 5 .40 1 5 .40 1 00.0 
0.00 2 .83 0.0 
3.00 3 .00 1 00.0 
0.00 2.92 0.0 
9.75 9.75 1 00.0 
0.00 9.00 0.0 
0.00 8.0 1 0.0 
0.00 8.49 0.0 
0.00 8.76 0.0 
5 .50 8.25 66.7 
6.66 9.99 66.7 
9.24 1 5.40 60.0 
2.92 2.92 1 00.0 
3 .08 3 .08 1 00.0 

n/a n/a n/a 
3 . 1 7  3 . 1 7  1 00.0 
2 .83 2.83 1 00.0 
3.33 3 .33 1 00.0 
2.83 2.83 1 00.0 
78.0 1 53.7 50.7 

3 .08 9.24 33 .3 
0.00 9.24 0.0 
2.58 1 2.90 20.0 
3 .00 1 5 .00 20.0 
0.00 1 5 .00 0.0 
0.00 1 4.60 0.0 
0.00 1 5 .40 0.0 
0.00 1 5 .00 0.0 
0.00 1 5.00 0.0 
6.50 9.75 66.7 
3 .33 9.99 33 .3  
0.00 3 .00 0.0 
3 . 1 7  3. 1 7  1 00.0 
3 .08 3.08 1 00.0 
3 .00 3 .00 1 00.0 
0.00 3 .00 0.0 
27.7 1 56.4 1 7. 7  
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Appendix P (iii) Cont.. 
FinanCial � --�i ,$ ;., ''Ye "' . . �··� ·�t F. :. 11� '*' 
SORE I I 3 . 1 6  3 . 1 6  3. 1 6  3. 1 6  1 00.0 
C38 0 1 3.25 0.00 0.00 3.25 0.0 
C39 1 I 3.25 3 .25  3.25 3 .25 1 00.0 
C40 I 1 3 .25 3 .25 3.25 3 .25  1 00.0 
C4 1 0 I 3 . 1 7  0.00 0.00 3 . 1 7  0.0 
C42 0 1 3 .08 0.00 0.00 3 .08 0.0 
C43 1 I 3 3 .00 3.00 3 .00 1 00.0 
C44 1 I 3.25 3 .25 3.25 3 .25 1 00.0 
C45 I I 3 3 .00 3.00 3 .00 1 00.0 
SORE 6.0 9.0 18.9 28.4 66.6 

BS I I 3 . 1 1 3 . 1 1  3 . 1 1 3 . 1 1  1 00.0 
C46 0 I 3 .08 0.00 0.00 3.08 0.0 
C47 0 I 3 .08 0.00 0.00 3.08 0.0 
C48 0 I 2.83 0.00 0.00 2.83 0.0 
C49 0 I 2.83 0.00 0.00 2 .83 0.0 
C50 0 I 2.83 0.00 0 .00 2.83 0.0 
C5 1 0 I 2.92 0.00 0.00 2.92 0.0 
C52 0 I 3 0.00 0.00 3 .00 0.0 
C53 0 I 3 0.00 0.00 3 .00 0.0 
C54 I I 3 .58 3 . 58  3 .58 3 .58 1 00.0 
C55 0 I 2.75 0.00 0.00 2.75 0.0 
C56 1 I 3 .33 3 . 33  3 .33 3 . 33  1 00.0 
C57 0 I 3 .25 0.00 0.00 3.25 0.0 
C58 I I 3.5 3 .50 3 .50 3 .50 100.0 
C59 I I 3 .33 3 . 3 3  3 .33 3 . 33  1 00.0 
C60 0 I 3 .25 . 0 .00 0.00 3 .25  0.0 
C6 1  0 I 3.25 0.00 o.oo . 3 .25 0.0 
C62 0 I 2.83 0.00 0.00 2.83 0 .0 
C63 I I 3 .25 3 .25 3.25 3 .25 1 00.0 
BS 6. 0 1 9. 0  20. 1 59.0 34. 1 
CF I I 3.38 3 .38  3.38 3 . 38  1 00.0 
C64 I I 3 .42 3 .42 3.42 3 .42 1 00.0 
C65 I I 3 .42 3 .42  3 .42 3.42 1 00.0 
C66 I I 3.42 3 .42 3.42 3.42 100.0 
C67 I I 3 .25 3 .25 3 .25 3 .25 1 00.0 
CF 5.0 5. 0 16.9 1 6.9 1 00.0 
FOFS 
C68 I I 3.83 3 .83 3 .83 3 .83 1 00.0 
C69 0 5 3 .33 0.00 0.00 1 6.65 0.0 
C70 I I 3 .5 3 . 50 3 .50 3 .50 1 00.0 
C7 1 0 I 2.42 0.00 0.00 2.42 0.0 
C72 0 I 2.33 0.00 0.00 2 .33 0.0 
C73 0 I 2.67 0.00 0.00 2.67 0.0 
C74 0 I 2.92 0.00 0.00 2.92 0.0 
C75 0 3 3 .67 0.00 0.00 1 1 . 0 1 0.0 
C76 2 3 3.25 2. 1 7  6.50 9.75 66.7 
C77 0 3 3 .08 0.00 0.00 9.24 0.0 
FOFS 4.0 20. 0 13.8 64.3 2 1 .5 
F IN  
Score 2 1 .0 53.0 69.7 1 68.6 4 1 .4 
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A 

Key: 
AS = Actual score 
MPS = Maximum possible score 
W l  = Weighting for importance 
SORE = Statement of revenue and expenditure 
BS  = Balance sheet 
CF = Cash flow statement 
FOFS = F inancial information outside financial statements 
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- - - - - -- -- - -- "'" - - - -

Items Experts' ' Weiehted Score _ .• �: 
. . � . ' -, �· �r' ,. Weighting Mean % of -; ,, . ;c4¥� '• 

r ' � . t:• • '• ��.;-:, ,,, f- " for · Mean to • i . • . . -
� 

't ,;. r'"· � • ·' Importance Maximum 
. (maximum ) 

Statement of objectives 3.42 1 .82 53 .2 
Mayor's/president's report 3 .33  1 .09 32 .7 
Organisation structure 3 .08 2 . 1 8  70.8 
Role and responsibi l ity of counci l lors 2.83 0 0 
Area of admini stration 3 .00 2.9 1 97.0 
Scope of authority of the local authority and other relevant 
agencies 2.92 0.97 33.0 
Internal control 3 .25 1 .54 47.4 
Environmental management 3 .00 0.67 22.3 
Personnel 2.67 1 .67 62.5 
Occupational health & safety 2.83 0 0 
Working environment 2.92 1 .53 52.4 
Train ing programmes for staff 2 .75 0.89 32.4 
Review of operations 3 .33  2 . 1 9  65. 7  
Summary facts and figures 3 .08 1 .75 56 .8 
Chal lenges i n  undertaking services/activities 2.92 07 1  24.3 
Factors that influenced the current status of performance 
achievement 3 .08 0.75 24.3 
Auditor general department's rating of financial 
management2 2.92 n/a nla 
Public complaints that have been resolved 3 . 1 7  2 .3 1 72.9 
Acknowled�ement/award received from state and federal 
government 2.83 2.83 1 00 
Efforts in generating more revenue 3.33 1 .5 1  45.3 
Activity/programme that involved community participation 2.83 2.32 82.0 
Note: ' 0= unimportant; I = minor importance; 2 = quite important; 3 = very important; 4 = extremely important. 

Highest 
Score 

-

2.74 
3 .33 
3 .08 

0 
3 .00 

2.92 
3.25 
2.00 
2.67 

0 
2.92 
1 .83 
3.33 
2.46 

2.92 

3 .08 

n/a 
3 . 1 7  

2.83 
3.33 
2.83 

-�� , Raw (Un-:weighted) Score .• k 
Lowest- : No. :of Annual Reports . , · Average"' 
Score with .Each Level of - Raw Scone 

-lmporta'nce1 .<-: ' f"-• ,;-; .- .... ... 
.. 

0 1 2 3 4 
0 6 I 26 0 0 2 .7 
0 1 7  4 1 1  I 0 1 .8 
0 2 1 2  8 1 1  0 3 .6 
0 33  0 0 0 0 0.0 
0 I 0 0 32  0 1 .0 

0 22 0 1 1  0 0 0.4 
0 6 9 1 6  2 0 1 .4 
0 22 0 1 1  0 0 0.8 
0 1 2  1 2  9 0 0 1 .9 
0 33  0 0 0 0 0.0 
0 1 3  1 2  8 0 0 1 .6 
0 20 1 3  0 0 0 1 .0 

1 . 1 1 0 3 28 2 0 2.0 
0.62 I 24 8 0 0 2 .8 

0 25 0 8 0 0 0.2 

0 25 0 0 8 0 0.2 

nla nla nla nla nla nla n/a 
3 . 1 7  9 0 0 24 0 0.7 

2 .83 0 0 20 0 0 1 .0 
0 1 8  0 0 1 5  0 0.5 
0 6 0 27 0 0 0.8 

2 The item ·Auditor General Department's rating of financial management' was not applicable in the period of study and was not included in the evaluation. The item was included in 
the index for future application of the index. 

3 13 annual reports were al located 'nla' over the period of 2003 to 2005. 
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Appendix Q(ii) :  Item-by-Item Scores for the Period 2003 to 2005: 'Non-Financial Performance ' Category 

Items c -· . ...._ 1: � "' ...; .. .. , ,. Expef!s' Weighted Score· ' ·�  Raw (Un-weigbted Score . .  ' . · •  '/. ) .... 
I. . ' . l_., ... .. Weighting Mean % of Highest L'Owest No. of Annual Report.s , Average . • j;j". �· � i for Mean to Score Score with Each' Level of '·Raw Score 

-.. Importance M PS Im�ortance 1
• l � ' 

,:, ' ,. {maximum ) ·' 
,. 

·.-t< I . .. - " . ..,. 
0 1 2 3 4 

Goals and objectives of services/activities 3 .08 1 . 1 5  37 .3 3 .08 0 26 0 5 2 0 1 . 1  
Non-financial performance targets 3.08 0.75 24.4 3 .08 0 28 0 3 2 0 0.7 
Input measures 2.58 0.83 32.2 1 .03 0 32 I 0 0 0 1 .6 
Output measurt!S 3 .00 0.96 32.0 3 .00 0.52 32 0 0 I 0 1 .6 
Impact measures 3.00 0 0 0 0.60 33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
Efficiency measures 2.92 0 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
Effectiveness measures 3 .08 0 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
Customer satisfaction measures 3 .00 0 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
Producti vity measures 3 .00 0 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
Comparison between actual and target achievement 3.25 0.66 20.3 3 .25 0 28 0 3 2 0 0.6 
Comparison between current and previous year's 
achievt!ment 3.33 1 .82 54.6 3.33 0 1 2  0 1 9 2 0 1 .6 
Report on the use of government grants 3 .00 0.27 9 .0 3 .00 0 30 0 0 3 0 0. 1 
Performance of contractors responsible for providing 
contracted services 3. 1 7  0. 1 9 6.0 3 . 1 7  0 3 1  0 0 2 0 0. 1 
Achievement of specific programmes as ordered by 3 .08 1 .2 1  39.3 3 .08 0 20 0 0 1 3  0 
state/federal government 0.4 
Contracted-out service/activity 3 .00 1 .27 42.3 3 .00 0 19 0 0 1 4  0 0.4 
Improvement programme of service del ivery system 3.00 1 .00 33 .3 3 .00 0 22 0 0 1 1  0 0.3 
Note: ' 0= unimportant; I = minor importance; 2 = quite important; 3 = very important; 4 = extremely important. 
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-
Items 

\ 
¥; ./ 

•f
, 

' t; t :  0 1- .•. r-:�-"'· .. :· "1-���-- � i;., 7 '( �-q ".�� �-

,� 'i -��-�:>:r; ·--·��r::�:: �t:���:� �� .. ��j: "· �--:�J.�;� :. 

Statement of Revenue and Expenditure (SORE): 
Revenue according to activities or services rendered 
Rt:vt:nue according to source of revenue 
Total revenue 
Gross expenditure according to service 
Net expenditure according to service 
Expenditure classified by nature or function 
Total expenditure 
Total excess/surplus 
Balance Sheet (BS): 
Operational assets at cost 
Operational assets at market value 
Non-operational assets at cost 
Non-oQerational assets at market value 
Community assets at cost 
Community assets at market value 
Infrastructure assets at cost 
Infrastructure assets at market value 
Total fixed assets 
Deferred charges 
Long-term investments 
Long-term debtors 
Current assets 
Current l iabil ities 
Long-term borrowings 
Deferred l iabi l i ties 
Deferred cretlits - government grants 
Reserves ---- --------

Experts' 
Weighting 
for 
Importance 

-r {maximum ) 

3 . 1 6  
3.25 
3 .25 
3.25 
3. 1 7  
3.08 
3 .00 
3.25 
3.00 
3 . 1 1 
3 .08 
3.08 
2.83 
2.83 
2.83 
2.92 
3.00 
3 .00 
3 .58 
2.75 
3.33 
3 .25 
3.50 
3.33 
3.25 
3.25 
2.83 
3.25 

,. Weighted Score··, 
Mean % of Highest 

' Mean to Scoreii:: 
'• MPS 

' .· 

3 . 1 6  1 00 3 . 1 6  
0 0 0 

3 .25 1 00 3.25 
3 .25 1 00 3 .25 

0 0 0 
0 0 0 

3 .00 100 3 .00 
3 .25 1 00 3 .25 
3 .00 1 00 3 .00 
3 . 1 1  1 00 3 . 1 1 

0 0 0 
0 0 0 
0 0 0 
0 0 0 
0 0 0 
0 0 0 
0 0 0 
0 0 0 

3 .58 1 00 3 .58  
1 .08 39.3 2.75 
0.8 1 24.3 3 .33 
0.59 1 8 .2 3 .25 
3 .50 1 00 3 .50 
3 .33 1 00 3.33 
1 .87 57 .5 3 .25 
0.30 9.2 3.25 
1 .63 57.6 2.83 
3 .25 1 00 3 .25 

; ' ., "" 
Lowest 
score;_; .  

.. ,,��-' .o: 

3 . 1 6  
0 

3 .25 
3.25 

0 
0 

3 .00 
3 .25 
3 .00 
3 . 1 1 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

3 .5 8  
0 
0 
0 

3.50 
3.33 

0 
0 
0 

3 .25 

Raw.(Un�weighted Score . 
No. of' Ann.ual Reports _ · . Average 

,. 'With. Each · Level of ·_ .C.'. )Raw'Score 
' · Importance2 

·. · · ;_;, . . '· 

'9 _L ' -� . .t! ·.c· •:,· · 

. 

0 1 2 3 4 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 

33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 

33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 

33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
33 0 0 0 0 0.0 

0 0 0 3 3  0 1 .0 
20 0 1 3  0 0 0.4 
25 0 0 8 0 0.2 
27 0 0 6 0 0.2 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 

1 4  0 0 1 9  0 0.6 
30 0 0 3 0 0. 1 
1 4  0 1 9  0 0 0.6 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 
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- ·.-.-------- ' -- - - -- ---
Items > ' ' �<:<"' ·'*f r":?· 

.•. ' ·',j' .;;.� ,; .··�· 
·.� ,{;· �-(' . �'&''if� ,. . : .n #:· '"l'<' �:�� : �· 't . • )'f#,'M"'-·'-� 

; i -��;!�·�;�� ,��-�} 1�;�-- ' 
· Y IL 

h � ·;;: ,,� ».:�' . -
' 

� - 1 

'·'!-�' . > ,. ' -� .. �x�:· ::· G .: r .:; ·i::'' · 
,, 

Cash Flows Statement (CF): 
Operating cash flows 
Investing cash flows 
Financing cash flows 
Year end cash and cash equivalents 
Financial Information Outside Financial Statements: 
Auditor's report 
Financial review 
Accounting pol icies 
Revenue to number of staff 
Total asset to number of staff 
Revenue to cost of service 
Return on assets 
Actual to budget comparison 
I nformation about cost of service/activity 
Assessment tax rates 

'Eipetts' 
weigilthlg 

�for, q)i,,) t' -� .. 
�· Impottance .. ·�.· 
(maximum ) 

3.38 
3 .42 
3 .42 
3.42 
3 .25 

3 .83 
3.33 
3 .50 
2 .42 
2.33 
2.67 
2.92 
3.67 
3.25 
3 .08 

, . W ei2hted Sc<)re. %, fi ,.i;; �·.::'!>r$: 
Mean % of t .  Highest� >Lowesfti: 

isc()r�t":�f 
'<< . . •>.,",,· · Meani tti � ·. Sc0re"7U• ;:.o>f;1•• . , ' MPS � • .  ; ,_ f' � ;: '':e�!;;' ;.; '1>; --�/!hi, 

3 .38 1 00 3 .38 3 .38 
3 .42 1 00 3 .42 3 .42 
3 .42 1 00 3 .42 0 
3.2 1 1 00 3 .42 3 .42 
3.25 1 00 3 .25 3.25 

3 .83 1 00 3 .83 3.83 
1 .09 28.5 2 .66 0 
3.50 1 00 3.50 3 .50 

0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 

0.74 20.2 2.45 0 
1 . 1 2  34.5 2 . 1 7  0 
0. 1 2  3 .4 1 .03 0 

���8"'� �>' Raw (Un�wei!hted Score:! -��A�<: �- ':No� of Annu'ai' R�):lott.s:' . *t .Av�ra'gef· *:!��ttli .. :Elich ' .L�v�l?()f '� '� ·Ri'W'scote , 
�J4:"�q·:'?lj!><:;.':. �"'rt< · �ti: "-\2·, �/�;·f>··�· ·f·Jf�·� ·�: :�*S .v ·  ·· .-�·, . . 1:--r mpo ance,,, ·"· .,.,:.",;<" .,._ . <. ••·· ,, 
:.-- · :�:-;o •,.:! ' · ;;· :;,{<"!" ';' -c'' ; �  •r.: ··,;,�;A; ,\ <-�.\:?J�:- ,: · ;:r : :-1-( �.�i¥ 

0 1 2 3 4 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 
2 0 0 3 1  0 0.9 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 

0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 
2 1  0 1 2  0 0 1 .6 
0 0 0 33 0 1 .0 

33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
33 0 0 0 0 0.0 
23 0 1 0  0 0 0.6 
9 14  1 0  0 0 1 .0 

29 4 0 0 0 0.2 ----------
Note: 1 Maximum possible score for items SORE; BS; CF are the mean of the weighting for importance of all items in each particular category and not based on stakeholders' expectations. 

2 0= unimportant; I = minor importance; 2 = quite important; 3 = very important; 4 = extremely important. 
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Appendix Q(iv): Item-by-Item Scores for the Period 2003 to 2005: 'Future-Related Information ' Category 

Items 

< • •  : �iiFt:;;� ::. �; J''r_ .'.··�·'.: . .  
Experts'''' Wei2hted Scor�-i('$"il· �: �: �-)�' >'' >-· ·Raw (Un:.weil!'bted :score;,��:,, . 
Weighting Mean % of .Highest Lowest, No. of Annual -Reports ,, Average 
for Mean to . score . Score with Each Level of . Raw Score 
Importance ,, MPS ."\ ' .•,,: ' lmportance1 
(maximum )- ,, :;.>c ,"' � . �� � 

.• .. ;!- I<' �,. 

0 1 2 3 4 
Future plans 3 . 58  0.76 2 1 .2 3 . 58  0 26 0 0 7 0 0.2 
Future performance targets 3 .33  0.30 9.0 3 .33 0 28 3 0 2 0 0.3 
Information pertainin);( to future capital improvements 2.83 0.09 3 .2 2.83 0 32 0 I 0 0 0.0 
Note: ' 0= unimportant; I = minor importance; 2 = quite important; 3 = very important; 4 = extremely important .  
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